

# ABSTRACT BOOK 2022





The Conference is organised by the Students' Scientific Society of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences

The content of the abstract book is redacted.
The Students' Scientific Society of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences did not have control over the abstracts.
The authors remain responsible for the content of their respective abstracts.
All abstracts presented in the conference were reviewed.
Edited by Jorė Rinkevičiūtė
Cover by Neringa Bogdanovaitė
© Chudanta' Caiantifia Caaiata
© Students' Scientific Society of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences
Kaunas, 2022



#### Organising committee

- 1. Assoc. prof. Lina Jankauskaitė, MD, PhD, *Scientific Advisor of the Organising Committee*
- 2. Karolina Grinkevičiūtė, *Chairwoman of the Organising Committee*
- 3. Joana Ažukaitė
- 4. Neringa Bogdanovaitė
- 5. Eglė Gulbinaitė
- 6. Deimantė Krutulytė
- 7. Gvidas Mikalauskas
- 8. Gabija Misytė
- 9. Redita Norvaišaitė
- 10. Jorė Rinkevičiūtė
- 11. Paulina Samsonaitė
- 12. Ignas Simanauskas
- 13. Karolina Tuzaitė



#### **Conference winners**

Session	Abstract title	Authors
Odontology and Maxillofacial surgery	Relationship Between Orthodontic Treatment of Class II and Temporomandibular Disorders: A Systematic Review	Justina Šikšnelytė, Raimonda Guntulytė, Kristina Lopatienė
Cardiology	Quantitative Flow Ratio suitability for evaluation of the physiology significance of intermediate non-culprit arteries stenosis for STEMI patients in the acute phase	Nojus Jodka, Mindaugas Barauskas, Greta Žiubrytė, Ramūnas Unikas
Surgery	Applicability of five risk prediction models for patients after the repair of ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm	Saulė Bikauskaitė, Rokas Kireilis, Linas Velička
Basic Sciences	Characteristic patterns of Meckel's diverticulum in patients treated in Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics in 2002-2019	Ugnė Kulnickaitė, Lina Poškienė
Obstetrics & Gyneacology, Neonatology and Paediatrics session	Symptom analysis of paediatric patients with abdominal pain that predict hospitalisation	Eglė Gelšvartaitė, Andrius Daugėla, Lina Jankauskaitė
Anaesthesiology & Intensive Therapy	The effects of small dose ketamine on early postanaesthesia recovery after intraoperative remifentanil infusions in obese patients.	Viltė Jocaitytė, Darija Savinova, Aurika Karbonskienė



Session	Abstract title	Authors
Internal Meidicine	Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms in Lithuania 2020: a single-center analysis	Gabrielė Cibulskaitė , Rokas Stulpina, Ugnius Mickys
Radiology	Crohn's disease activity indices reflecting treatment response	Augustina Gylienė, Vestina Strakšytė
Neurosciences	Mir-200a-3p Expression In The Serum Of Patients With Parkinson's Disease	Violeta Vintortaitė, Aistė Pranckevičienė, Andrius Radžiūnas, Augustina Mišeikaitė, Giedrė Miniotaitė, Paulina Vaitkienė
Public Health	Awareness and attitude of women in Kelmė city towards primary and secondary cervical cancer prevention	Aistė Ogulevičiūtė, leva Armonaitė, Dovilė Dėnaitė, Olga Meščeriakova
Poster	Association Between Study Load Of The High School Graduates And Subjective Mental Health During The COVID-19 Pandemic	Arminas Zizas, Austėja Judickaitė, Olga Meščeriakova



#### Abstracts' reviewers

- 1. Martynas Špečkauskas, MD, PhD
- Assoc prof. Vilma Jūratė Balčiūnienė, MD, PhD
- 3. Prof. Reda Žemaitienė, MD, PhD
- 4. Assoc. prof. Loreta Kuzmienė, MD, PhD
- 5. Justina Kačerauskienė, MD, PhD
- 6. Assoc. prof. Laura Malakauskienė, MD, PhD
- 7. Assoc. prof. Gitana Ramonienė, MD, PhD
- 8. Eglė Savukynė, MD
- 9. Assoc. prof. Kristina Jarienė, D, PhD
- 10. Prof. Laima Maleckienė, MD, PhD
- 11. Prof. Eglė Bartusevičienė, MD, PhD
- 12. Assoc. prof. Eglė Machtejevienė, MD, PhD
- 13. Prof. Danguolė Česlava Rugytė, MD, PhD
- 14. Vilma Traškaitė-Juškevičienė, MD
- 15. Inna Jaremko, MD
- 16. Tomas Bukauskas, MD, PhD
- 17. Prof. Andrius Macas, MD, PhD
- Assoc. prof. Aurika Karbonskienė, MD, PhD
- 19. Alina Vilkė, MD, PhD
- 20. Assoc. prof. Žilvinas Endzinas, MD, PhD
- 21. Assoc. prof. Tomas Vanagas, MD, PhD
- 22. Prof. Antanas Gulbinas, MD, PhD
- 23. Prof. Algimantas Tamelis, MD, PhD
- 24. Assoc. prof. Virgilijus Krasauskas, MD, PhD
- 25. Prof. Giedrius Barauskas, MD, PhD
- 26. Prof. Žilvinas Dambrauskas, MD, PhD
- 27. Assoc. prof. Paulius Lizdenis, MD, PhD
- 28. Prof. Linas Venclauskas, MD, PhD
- 29. Assoc. prof. Saulius Švagždys, MD, PhD
- 30. Prof. Tadas Latkauskas, MD, PhD
- 31. Rūta Navardauskaitė, MD
- 32. Prof. Birutė Žilaitienė, MD, PhD
- 33. Raimonda Klimaitė, MD
- 34. Prof. Juozas Kupčinskas, MD, PhD
- 35. Prof. Laimas Virginijus Jonaitis, MD, PhD

- 36. Prof. Jolanta Justina Vaškelytė, MD, PhD
- 37. Prof. Diana Žaliaduonytė, MD, PhD
- 38. Prof. Aras Puodžiukynas, MD, PhD
- 39. Rūta Dirsienė, MD, PhD
- 40. Mindaugas Vieželis, MD
- 41. Assoc. prof. Indrė Čeponienė, MD, PhD
- 42. Egle Rumbinaite, MD, PhD
- 43. Prof. Olivija Gustienė, MD, PhD
- 44. Assoc. prof. Neringa Balčiūnienė, MD, PhD
- 45. Prof. Andrius Pranskūnas, MD, PhD
- 46. Prof. Dalia Adukauskiene, MD, PhD
- 47. Assoc. prof. Aurika Vanckavičienė, PhD
- 48. Assoc. prof. Lina Spirgienė, PhD
- 49. Prof. Inga Arūnė Bumblytė, MD, PhD
- 50. Prof. Edita Žiginskienė, MD, PhD
- 51. Prof. Rūta Vaičiūnienė, MD, PhD
- 52. Prof. dr. Rasa Tamelienė, MD, PhD
- 53. Assoc. prof. Aušrelė Kudrevičienė, MD, PhD
- 54. Prof. Dalia Stonienė, MD, PhD
- 55. Prof. Renata Balnytė, MD, PhD
- 56. Prof. Antanas Vaitkus, MD, PhD
- 57. Gintautė Samušytė, MD, PhD
- 58. Assoc. prof. Dalia Mickevičienė, MD, PhD
- 59. Greta Pšemeneckienė, MD, PhD
- 60. Andrius Radžiūnas, MD, PhD
- 61. Karolis Bareikis, MD
- 62. Assoc. prof. Sigita Liutkauskienė, MD, PhD
- 63. Prof. Elona Juozaitytė, MD, PhD
- 64. Rokas Jurkonis, MD, PhD
- 65. Linas Zeniauskas, MD
- 66. Milda Kuprytė, MD
- 67. Loreta Pilipaitytė, MD, PhD
- 68. Prof. Rytis Rimdeika, MD, PhD
- 69. Prof. Vesta Steiblienė, MD, PhD
- 70. Prof. Darius Leskauskas, MD, PhD
- 71. Assoc. prof. Kristina Biekšienė, MD, PhD



- 72. Agnė Slapšinskaitė-Dackevičienė, PhD
- 73. Prof. Kristina Berškienė, PhD
- 74. Prof. Algidas Basevičius, MD, PhD
- 75. Assoc. prof. Donatas Vajauskas, MD, PhD
- 76. Assoc. prof. Eglė Jonaitienė, MD, PhD
- 77. Prof. Ida Liseckienė, MD, PhD
- 78. Gediminas Raila, MD, PhD
- 79. Assoc. prof. Gediminas Urbonas, MD, PhD
- 80. Prof. Aleksandras Antuševas, MD, PhD
- 81. Rokas Nekrošius, MD
- 82. Prof. Darijus Skaudickas, MD, PhD
- 83. Aušra Lukošiūtė Urbonienė, MD, PhD
- 84. Assoc. prof. Lina Jankauskaitė, MD, PhD
- 85. Algirdas Dagys, MD
- 86. Aušra Šnipaitienė, MD
- 87. Assoc. prof. Rosita Kiudelienė, MD, PhD
- 88. Assoc. prof. Marijus Leketas, PhD
- 89. Prof. Gintaras Janužis, PhD
- 90. Prof. Gintaras Juodžbalys, PhD
- 91. Assoc. prof. Eglė Slabšinskienė, PhD
- 92. Sandra Petrauskienė
- 93. Prof. Julija Narbutaitė, PhD
- 94. Assoc. prof. Arūnas Vasiliauskas, PhD
- 95. Eglė Ramanauskaitė
- 96. Assoc. prof. Greta Lodienė, PhD
- 97. Assoc. prof. Tadas Venskutonis, PhD
- 98. Jelena Gudač
- 99. Prof. Gediminas Žekonis, PhD
- 100. Gintarė Zakarienė. PhD
- 101. Prof. Jūratė Šiugždaitė, PhD
- 102. Prof. Gintaras Zamokas, PhD
- 103. Assoc. prof. Violeta Baliukonienė, PhD
- 104. Prof. Mindaugas Šarkūnas, PhD
- 105. Prof. Alius Pockevičius, PhD
- 106. Jurgita Vladičkienė, PhD
- 107. Prof. Rūta Ustinavičienė, MD, PhD
- 108. Prof. Ričardas Radišauskas, PhD
- 109. Assoc. prof. Snieguolė Kaselienė, PhD
- 110. Lina Škėmienė, PhD
- 111. Prof. Abdonas Tamošiūnas, PhD
- 112. Assoc. prof. Giedrė Baltrušaitytė, PhD

- 113. Prof. Vilma Kriaučionienė, PhD
- 114. Assoc. prof. Polina Šedienė, PhD
- 115. Rasa Žutautienė, PhD
- 116. Prof. Janina Petkevičienė, PhD
- 117. Assoc. prof. Junona Silvija Almonaitienė, PhD
- 118. Prof. Apolinaras Zaborskis, PhD
- 119. Rita Raškevičienė, PhD
- 120. Prof. Dalia Antinienė, PhD
- 121. Aušra Rimaitė, PhD
- 122. Ingrida Pilkionienė
- 123. Assoc. prof. Giedrė Širvinskienė, PhD
- 124. Assoc. prof. Lina Danusevičienė, PhD
- 125. Jolanta Žilinskienė
- 126. Assoc. prof. Eimantas Peičius. PhD
- 127. Prof. Saulius Sadauskas, MD, PhD
- 128. Assoc. prof. Edita Mašanauskienė, MD, PhD
- 129. Prof. Daiva Rekienė, MD, PhD
- 130. Prof. Albinas Naudžiūnas, MD, PhD
- 131. Assoc. prof. Vita Špečkauskienė, PhD
- 132. Jūratė Tomkevičiūtė
- 133. Rasa Traberg, MD
- 134. Prof. Ilona Sadauskienė, PhD
- 135. Assoc. prof. Natalija Bulatova, PhD
- 136. Prof. Aleksandr Bulatov, PhD



#### Contents

DRAL PRESENTATION SESSIONS	16
ANAESTHESIOLOGY AND INTENSIVE THERAPY SESSION	17
Comparison of status epilepticus scoring scales for predicting mortality in Neurosurgical intensive care unit	18
Monitoring the Implementation of the Surgical Safety Checklist	20
Nutritional assessment of critically ill patients in the NICU according to ESPEN guidelines	22
Preanesthetic evaluation and non-cardiac surgery: experience at Kaunas Clinics	24
The value of suprainguinal fascia iliaca blockade for the treatment of postopera pain after primary hip replacement surgery: a pilot study	
Should healthy individuals be considered as non-fluid responders?	29
The type of anaesthesia and outcomes of mechanical thrombectomy in patients wi acute ischemic stroke	
The effects of small dose ketamine on early postanaesthesia recovery after intraoperative remifentanil infusions in obese patients	33
BASIC SCIENCES SESSION	35
Nevus-associated melanoma: histological subtype association with genger, age, anatomical localization	
The effect of IL-3, IL-5 and GM-CSF on adhesion and proliferative properties blood eosinophil subtypes in asthma	
Associations of polymorphism of the NRAS gene and risk factors with Larynge Squamous Cell Carcinoma	
Evaluation of the impact of MMP8 rs11225395 and MMP14 rs1042704 in the development of Dupuytren's contracture	43
Association of age-related macular degeneration and macular pigment optical density with rs11057841 SNP in the SCARB1 gene.	
Associations of GJD2 and RASGRF1 gene variants with refractive errors	48
Pilot study of TBEV detection and replication in permanent cell cultures	51
Characteristic patterns of Meckel's diverticulum in patients treated in Hospital Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics in 2002-2019	
Ultrastructural alterations of intracardiac nerves in spontaneously hypertensive a	
CARDIOLOGY SESSION	58



	failureprogram
	QFR vs. visual-estimation guided PCI in STEMI patients: evaluation of the quality of life at 6-month follow up
	Quantitative Flow Ratio suitability for evaluation of the physiology significance of intermediate non-culprit arteries stenosis for STEMI patients in the acute phase 63
	Association of myocardial injury biomarkers and left ventricular functional parameters in STEMI patients treated with PPCI
	The association between acute coronary syndrome and local Earth magnetic field intensity changes
	Relation of myocardial strain and structural parameters in STEMI patients after Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. Cardiac MRI study
	Assessment of right heart pressures, geometry and function in pulmonary hypertension patients: correlation between echocardiographic and right heart catheterization data
	The impact of obesity on in–hospital clinical outcomes after recanalisation of chronic total occlusions
П	NTERNAL MEDICINE SESSION78
	Associations between Helicobacter pylori infection and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
	Efficacy of different treatment strategies in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in Hospital of LUHS Kauno Klinikos
	Factors affecting survival time in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma
	Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms in Lithuania 2020: a single-center analysis
	Analysis of early post-transplant period complications in renal transplant recipients
	Health sciences students' knowledge of hepatitis B virus and its primary prevention 90
Ν	IEUROSCIENCES SESSION93
	Measuring alexithymia in healthcare professionals: Which factors are related to it?94
	Mir-200a-3p Expression In The Serum Of Patients With Parkinson's Disease96
	The effect of blood pressure on optical coherence tomography parameters99
	MRI findings association with multiple sclerosis disease course and disability 101
	IL-10 gene rs1800871 single nucleotide polymorphism in patients with multiple



	sclerosis103
	A Genetic Risk Score to Aid Differentiation of ON at presentation105
	Changes in the prevalence of glaucoma and glaucoma suspects in Lithuania during 2001-2020
	Efficacy of artificial intelligence in detecting diabetic retinopathy from retinal fundus images. A systematic review
0	BSTETRICS&GYNEACOLOGY, NEONATOLOGY AND PAEDIATRICS SESSION.114
	Pregnant women knowledge and attitude towards fetal ultrasound115
	Breastfeeding of newborns born in the Baby-friendly Hospital in the first year of life
	Symptom analysis of paediatric patients with abdominal pain that predict hospitalization
	Impact of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus on Breastfeeding Practice121
	The opportunities of lung ultrasound in children with COVID-19123
	The negative impact of the COVID-19 lockdown on children with ASD: A systematic literature review
	Analysis of management approaches of ectopic tubal pregnancy and their effectiveness
	Vaccination status and parents attitude to vaccination of pediatric patients with rheumatic diseases
	Comparison of the applied treatment method for gestational diabetes mellitus and obstetric complications
0	DONTOLOGY AND MAXILLOFACIAL SURGERY SESSION136
	The efficiency of photobiomodulation therapy on patients with temporomandibular joint disorder (TMD). Systematic literature review
	Evaluation of Postoperative Pain and Discomfort in Patients Undergoing Surgical Exposure of Impacted Maxillary Canines
	Relationship Between Orthodontic Treatment of Class II and Temporomandibular Disorders: A Systematic Review
	Efficacy of Conservative Treatment of Peri-implantitis: A Systematic Review145
	Impact of pathologic tooth migration on oral health related quality of life in adult subjects with periodontitis. A systematic review
	Blood type and dental status
	Comparison of the expression of Ki-67 marker in ameloblastoma and odontogenic



keratocyst: a systematic literature review	153
Association between apical periodontitis and root canal treatment in patients with type II diabetes. Systematic review.	
The incidence of complications after replanting avulsed permanent teeth	158
PUBLIC HEALTH SESSION	162
Attitudes of health care professionals towards COVID-19 vaccine	163
Analysis of sensitising components of hair dye products available on the Lithuani market	
Emotional state and job satisfaction in hospital staff	166
Medical students' knowledge of post-exposure prophylaxis for blood-borne viral infections	169
Awareness and attitude of women in Kelmė city towards primary and secondary cervical cancer prevention	172
Different attitudes of patients with multiple sclerosis towards COVID-19 vaccinati	ion
Burnout, depression and anxiety among healthcare workers	
How asthma symptoms are associated with the quality of life among LUHS studer	
Comparison of incidence from burns in Lithuania by place of residence, gender ar	
RADIOLOGY SESSION	184
The influence of angiographic factors on the treatment tactics of acute superiomesenteric artery occlusion	
An Overview of Single-Centre Experience in Endovascular Therapy for Acute Superior Mesenteric Artery Occlusion	187
Assessing burnout in radiologists	189
The added value of SPECT/CT over planar images of lung perfusion scintigraph the diagnosis of pulmonary embolism	y in
Incidence of SPECT/CT findings non-related to pulmonary embolism in patients referred for lung perfusion scintigraphy with suspected pulmonary embolism	193
Crohn's disease activity indices reflecting treatment response	195
SURGERY SESSION	198
Applicability of five risk prediction models for patients after the repair of ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm	



	The influence of different cardioplegia on the development of postoperative lu complications after open-heart surgery	_
	The influence of co-morbidities and smoking on respiratory system complication after open-heart surgeries	
	Postoperative hypophosphatemia as a prognostic factor for postoperative pancre fistula: a systematic review	
	Percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy: indications, complications and outcomes	; 207
	Early outcomes of open surgical treatment of stenosing tenosynovitis	.210
PO	STERS	.212
Α	NAESTHESIOLOGY AND INTENSIVE THERAPY SESSION	.213
	Does paracetamol in adjunct to NSAIDS reduce analgesia demand in children undergoing surgery	.214
	Effect of anterior femoral nerve branches block on early functional recovery at total knee arthroplasty: a pilot study	
	Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with cytoreductive surgery: anesthesiologist perspective of 2-year experience in Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas Clinics	.219
	Influence of Epidural Analgesia on Pregnant Women with Cardiovascular Disease	e 222
	The effects of low dose ketamine on postoperative pain and adverse events after intraoperative remifentanil infusions	
	Atrial fibrillation rate and relations between complications after a coronary bypas grafting surgery	
В	SASIC SCIENCES SESSION	.229
	Morphological findings at autopsy of people who died from alcoholic liver steato and liver cirrhosis	
	Autopsy findings in motor vehicle occupants involved in fatal traffic accidents	. 232
	Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Cartilage Tissue Regeneration in Osteoarthritis	.234
	ERK5 AND H2AX EXPRESSION IN MONOCYTES AND MACROPHAGES EXPOSED TONANOPARTICLES AND AIR POLLUTANTS; EXPERIMENTAL STUD	
	Toxic effects of alcohol on cells of the central nervous system	. 239
	Urban dust cytotoxicity in human alveolar epithelial cells (A549) with depleted glutathione	.241
	Implications of miR-9 in cigarette smoke effects in naïve and desialylated hu	man



	alveolarepithelial cells (A549)	243
	The efficacy of nusinersen treatment in spinal muscular atrophy: a systematic review	245
	Impact of experimental hyperglycemia on blood lactate changes in healthy anesthetized swine	. 249
С	ARDIOLOGY SESSION	.252
	The heart failure patients' functional condition impact on the changes in cardiac biomarkers	253
	Analysis of patients diagnosed with Covid 19 virus after cardiac surgery in HLUHS	
	Assessment of the inhibitors of connexins-43 using Quantitative structure-activit relationship (QSAR) model	У
	Evaluation of cardiac conduction abnormalities and arrhythmia in patients with pulmonary hypertension	. 260
Iľ	NTERNAL MEDICINE SESSION	.263
	Long Covid-19 Syndrome: a systematic literature review	264
	Associations between dyspepsia and obesity in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease patients	. 268
	Correlation between Health and Demographic Peculiarities of Patients Suffering from Chronic Rheumatic Diseases and Attitude towards Remote Consulting by Rheumatologists	. 270
	Changes in the mortality from peptic ulcer disease in Lithuania during 1985-2018	272
	THE VALUE OF METFORMIN IN PANCREATIC DUCTAL ADENOCARCINOMA TREATMENT	275
	Thoracic endometriosis syndrome: a systematic literature review	
	COVID-19 infection impact on urogenital system: a systematic literature review	
	Patients' knowledge about modifiable risk factors of GERD	
IN	IEUROSCIENCES SESSION	.288
	The relation between cerebrospinal fluid oligoclonal bands status and disease related featuresin multiple sclerosis patients.	289
	Oligoclonal bands in relation to paraclinical features in patients with the clinic isolated syndrome	_
	Suicide rates inside penitentiary institutions in Lithuania, the UK, the USA an Australia: anarrative literature review	



Mental health literacy - definition, importance, associations with sociodemographic factors: a systematic literature review296	6
NURSING AND REHABILITATION SESSION299	9
Assessment of patient awareness and satisfaction300	0
A study of the experiences of loved ones involved in decision-making at the and of life	2
Nurses attitude to the safe administration of medicines during inpatient treatment.	5
Effect of anti-fatigue mat on muscle electric activity in legs and gluteal region30	7
Nurse managers' emotional intelligence and leadership styles309	9
OBSTETRICS & GYNEACOLOGY, NEONATOLOGY AND PAEDIATRICS SESSION	
312	2
Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome and its relation to pregnancy313	3
Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes of Post-COVID-19 Multisystem Inflammatory Syndrome in Children: A Systematic Review31	
An analysis of communication between obstetric specialists and primary care providers during postpartum care in Manitoba, Canada319	9
Effect of delayed cord clamping on neonatal bilirubin levels, jaundice, phototherapy and polycythemia. Systematic review and meta-analysis322	1
The effect of melatonin on ovarian function and IVF outcomes: a systematic literature review	5
Impact of gestational thrombocytopenia on prevalence of postpartum hemorrhage and blood transfusion329	9
ODONTOLOGY AND MAXILLOFACIAL SURGERY SESSION332	2
Orthodontic malocclusions and craniocervical posture: a systematic review 33	3
Morphological features of impacted maxillary central incisors: a systematic review	5
Comparison of students' and dentists' knowledge of the impact systemic diseases have on the dental extraction procedure	8
Evaluation of microleakage of light-curing composite used in orthodontic after thermal cycles. An in vitro study340	0
Force degradation of latex and non-latex orthodontic elastics: systemic review343	3
Relationship between orthodontic malocclusion and fingerprints: systematic review	
34	5



	Porcelain Veneers Fracture Resistance Systematic Review	.349
	Evaluation of the efficacy of osseodensification in enhancing primary and second stability of dental implants	-
	Teriparatide administration as an adjunctive treatment in BRONJ patients: a systemic literature review	. 355
P	PUBLIC HEALTH SESSION	.358
	Change of electrical injuries in Lithuania in 2016-2020	. 359
	Impact of comorbidity on quality of life among hypertensive patients in LUHS KC Family Medical Clinic	
	Conspiracy theories and opinions about the origin of pandemic in the student population of Latvia during the COVID-19 outbreak	. 363
	The influence of sleep duration and quality on athletes: a systematic literature review	. 366
	Trends in esophageal cancer mortality in Lithuania, 2001-2020	. 368
	Screening tools for child abuse used in primary health care: a systematic literature review	
	Association between study load of the high school graduates and subjective ment health during the COVID-19 pandemic	

## Oral presentations

## Anaesthesiology& Intensive Therapy



## Comparison of status epilepticus scoring scales for predicting mortality in Neurosurgical intensive care unit

#### **Authors**

#### Monika Kropaitytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Neringa Balčiūnienė

Neurosurgery Intensive Care Unit, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Status epilepticus is a neurological emergency that requires immediate treatment to prevent further neurological damage [1]. Status epilepticus is the second most dangerous neurological emergency with mortality ranging from 7.6 to 39% [2]. Both under- and over- treatment carry their own risks – from prolonged seizures and neurological complications to iatrogenic damage from unnecessarily aggressive treatment [3]. The use of prognostic tools such as the Status Epilepticus Severity Score (STESS), the Epidemiology-Based Mortality Score in Status Epilepticus (EMSE), and its modification EMSE-EAC could help reduce in-hospital mortality by identifying high-risk patients with status epilepticus. The patients are scored based on consciousness, age, comorbidities, history of seizures, their types, and etiology. Individuals with higher STESS and EMSE scores are more likely to have bad outcomes.

#### Aim

The aim of this study is to determine the value of two prognostic tools – STESS and EMSE-EAC – for predicting mortality after status epilepticus.

#### Methods

The study was conducted using the retrospective data of 47 patients who experienced status epilepticus and were hospitalized in the LUHS KC Neurosurgical intensive care unit (NICU) during 2016-2020. Inclusion criteria were: status epilepticus, age  $\geq$  18 years. The data included all components of the STESS and the EMSE: etiology, age, comorbidities, state of consciousness, worst seizure type, history of previous seizures.



The STESS was calculated as suggested by its developers. Due to partially incomplete data in medical records, EMSE was modified to EMSE-EAC (etiology, age, comorbidity). Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 27. Receiver operating characteristics were used to determine the area under the curve (AUC), and the Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used to calculate the sensitivity and specificity of the prognostic scales. A significance level of 0.05 was chosen for testing the statistical hypotheses.

#### Results

The data of 47 patients were analyzed. Average age  $50.74\pm17.06$  years (range 20-82). The average hospitalization time was  $18.86\pm15.01$  days (range 1-59), average NICU timewas  $4.96\pm6.76$  days (range 0-35). 87.23% of seizures were generalized-convulsive and the remaining 12.77% were attributed to a broad category of "simple- or complex-partial, absence, myoclonic seizures". In-hospital mortality was 8.51%. The optimal cutoff point for EMSE-EAC was 34, with sensitivity being 100.00%, and specificity 83.70% (AUC=0.881, p=0.013),  $\chi 2=14,309$ , p = 0.002. The positive predictive value (PPV) of EMSE-EAC-34 is 100.00% and the negative predictive value (NPV) is 36.36%. AUC for STESS scale was 0.677, p=0.245,  $\chi 2=0.658$ , p = 0.583.

#### **Conclusions**

Neither EMSE-EAC nor STESS was accurate enough to predict in-hospital mortality. The EMSE-EAC scale could be used to determine patients with a better prognosis. Both the STESS and EMSE-EAC scores are not practical enough to be used in daily practice in the NICU.

- 1. Nelson SE, Varelas PN. Status Epilepticus, Refractory Status Epilepticus, and Super- refractory Status Epilepticus. Continuum Lifelong Learning in Neurology. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2018;24(6):1683-1707.
- 2. Paris M, Reddy U. Update on the management of status epilepticus. Curr Opin Neurol. 2021;34(2):172-181
- 3. Reindl C, Knappe RU, Sprügel MI, Sembill JA, Mueller TM, Hamer HM, et al. Comparison of scoring tools for the prediction of in-hospital mortality in status epilepticus. Seizure [Internet]. 2018;56:92–7.



#### Monitoring the Implementation of the Surgical Safety Checklist

#### **Authors**

#### Barbora Stankevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Goda Aldakauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vilma Traškaitė-Juškevičienė

Department of Anaesthesiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Andrius Macas**

Department of Anaesthesiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

In 2009 Surgical Safety Checklist (SSC) containing of three parts: "Sign in" (SI), "Time out" (TO) and "Sign out" (SO) was first introduced by The World Health (WHO) [1]. Nowadays it is used globally to ensure patient safety during perioperative period [2]. Since the checklist was launched mortality, surgical site infections and postoperative complications decreased by approximately 50% [2]. Nevertheless, for successful implementation, it is crucial to have all operating room (OR) personnel engaged in the adherence to the Checklist [3]. In 2020 the SSC was adapted in the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (LUHS) Kaunas Clinics.

#### Aim

The aim of this study was to evaluate the accuracy of use of the Checklist one year after its implementation in the Hospital of LUHS Kaunas Clinics.

#### Methods

The data for this observational study was collected in Urology, General Surgery and Ear, nose and throat diseases (ENT) departments of the Hospital of LUHS Kaunas



Clinics, Lithuania from November 1st to December 31st 2021. Data was gathered by the independent nonbiased concealed observers via objective monitoring of all three checklist components taking place in ORs. Statistical analysis of the data was performed using the IBM SPSS Statistics 22 software package. A significance level of 0.05 was chosen to test statistical hypotheses.

#### Results

During the two-month period 69 surgeries were observed: 25 in General Surgery, 21 in Urology and 23 in ENT. In only 3 % of the operations, use of the entire checklist was observed, in 21 % use of only separate parts were observed and in 76% no parts of it were applied. The use of the checklist during the SI section was more common in the Urology department ( $\chi$ 2=13.944 p < 0.05), while adherence to the protocol during the TO sectionwas better in the General Surgery department ( $\chi$ 2 =12.056, p < 0.05). The age of the surgeon and the anaesthesiologist did not have any significant importance on the adherence to the SSC. Questions regarding antibiotic administration (27.54 %), surgical site (24.64 %), the duration of the operation (23.19 %) and blood loss (21.74 %) were the most frequently asked and confirmed by the surgical team. However, the least prevalent questions included the risk of hypothermia, the use of pulse oximetry and presence of the consent forms. The overall implementation of the Checklist was extremely poor with ENT adhering to it the worst, with only 2 (8.7 %) SI and 1 (4.35 %) TO conversations in 23 surgeries.

#### Conclusions

Despite many benefits the WHO's SSC offers, compliance with it in Kaunas Clinics remains incomplete. To achieve better adherence to the Checklist it is crucial to promote engagement of the whole surgical team.

- Pugel AE, Simianu VV, Flum DR, Patchen Dellinger E. Use of the surgical safety checklist to improve communication and reduce complications. J Infect Public Health.
   May-Jun. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4417373/.
- 2. Br J Surg. GlobalSurg Collaborative. Pooled analysis of WHO Surgical Safety Checklist use and mortality after emergency laparotomy. 2019 Jan. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6492154/.
- 3. Schwendimann R, Blatter C, Lüthy M, Mohr G, Girard T, Batzer S, Davis E, Hoffmann



H. Adherence to the WHO surgical safety checklist: an observational study in a Swiss academic center. Patient Saf Surg. 2019 Mar 12;13:14. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6419440/.

## Nutritional assessment of critically ill patients in the NICU according to ESPEN guidelines

#### **Authors**

#### Barbora Stankevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Goda Aldakauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Neringa Balčiūnienė

Neurosurgery Intensive Care Unit, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Critically ill patients, especially with acute neurologic injury, are in higher risk of malnutrition because of a hypermetabolic state which results in an excessive release of stress hormones and pro-inflammatory cytokines that alter energy and protein metabolism and eventually leads to malnutrition. Malnutrition is associated with adverse clinical outcomes, therefore the proper nutritional support is essential for these patients.

#### Aim

To analyse the nutrition support of enterally fed patients admitted to the Neurosurgery Intensive Care Unit (NICU) of the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (LUHS) Kaunas Clinics and to compare according to the latest European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism (ESPEN) guidelines.



#### Methods

The data for this observational study was collected from November 10th to December 10th 2021. Data was gathered by independent nonbiased concealed observers via objective information collection from prescriptions. All patients who spent more than 24h in the ICU on enteral nutrition were included in the study. Nutritional needs were assessed using VCO2 parameter, when possible, or formula of 20-25 kcal/kg in the absence of VCO2 and using adjusted body weight for patients with BMI >30. The results were compared with the ESPEN guidelines for clinical nutrition in the intensive care unit. Statistical analysis of the data was performed using the IBM SPSS Statistics 22 software package. The Chi- square test was used to determine the relationship between variables. A significance level of 0.05 was chosen to test statistical hypotheses.

#### Results

The approval for study was given by the Bioethics Center of LUHS (protocol number BEC- MF-61). The nutrition of 26 patients, 19 men and 7 women with the mean age of  $66.08\pm14.792$  (range 29 -92) was assessed. 11 patients (42.3%) were hospitalised after a stroke, 11 (42.3%) after brain trauma, 2 (7.7%) had a neuro-infection and 2 (7.7%) had other diagnoses. Patient's mean BMI was 27.43 $\pm4.99$  (range 18.59 - 42.9). The average time to start feeding was 2 days, but for 3 patients (11.5%) nutritional therapy started on day 3 or later and the reasons for this remained unclear. Caloric needs were met in 19 (73.1%) patients and protein needs in 20 (76,9%) patients in  $3.89\pm2.998$  and  $5.05\pm3.649$  days respectively, but only 61,6% (16) of patients reached their caloric intake within the recommended period of 7 days. Patients with a BMI of 25-29,99 were more likely to not reach their caloric needs and to have their calory and protein requirements calculated according to ideal or adjusted body weight instead of normal body weight ( $\chi$ 2 = 12.505, p = 0.014).

#### Conclusions

Most of the NICU patients the enteral feeding was started according ESPEN guidelines and caloric intake and protein requirements were reached. The overweight patients were at higher risk of malnutrition.

#### References

1. Tavarez T, Roehl K, Koffman L. Nutrition in the Neurocritical Care Unit: a New Frontier. Curr Treat Options Neurol. 2021Mar. Available from:



https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8009929/

- Osooli F, Abbas S, Farsaei S, Adibi P. Identifying Critically III Patients at Risk of Malnutrition and Underfeeding: A Prospective Study at an Academic Hospital. Adv Pharm Bull. 2019 Jun. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6664107/
- 3. Singer P, Reintam Blaser A, M. Berger M, Alhazzani W, C. Calder P, P. Casaer M, Hiesmayr M, Mayer K, Montejo JC, Pichard C, Preiser JC, R.H. van Zanten A, Oczkowski S, Szczeklik W, C. Bischoff S. ESPEN guideline on clinical nutrition in the intensive care unit. 2018 Aug. Available from: <a href="https://www.espen.org/files/ESPEN-guidelines/ESPEN\_guideline-on-clinical-nutrition-in-the-intensive-care-unit.pdf">https://www.espen.org/files/ESPEN-guidelines/ESPEN\_guideline-on-clinical-nutrition-in-the-intensive-care-unit.pdf</a>

### Preanesthetic evaluation and non-cardiac surgery: experience at Kaunas Clinics

#### **Authors**

#### Mantė Eidininkienė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Jelena Cesarskaja

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Mantas Eidininkas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Andrius Macas**

Department of Anaesthesiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Number of recent studies show different opinions about preoperative testing and its benefit to the patient [1]. Current guidelines and expert opinion encourage specific



testing in selected patients, especially with comorbidities [2]. Using Revised Cardiac Risk Index (RCRI) score when evaluating cardiac risk is a recommended sign of good anesthesia practice [3]. We share our findings and local experience with patients undergoing non- cardiac surgeries.

#### Aim

To investigate preanesthetic evaluation possibilities based on the patient's laboratory and instrumental tests available on a day of hospitalization.

#### **Methods**

The approval (No. BEC-MF-441) for this retrospective research, conducted from June 2021 to September 2021, was granted by the LUHS Biomedical Research Ethics Committee. Inclusion criteria for the research were: patients older than 18 years old, planned non- cardiac operation. The data was collected from the depersonalized medical documentation of 117 patients, who were hospitalized at the Hospital of LUHS, Department of Surgery. The gathered data include sex, age, comorbidities, operation type, ASA score, revised cardiac risk index (RCRI) and both laboratory and instrumental tests. These tests involve general and biochemical blood tests, coagulation panels, electrocardiograms (ECG) and others.

#### Results

The study involved 117 patients: 27.4% men and 72.6% women. The average age of the patients was 53 years. The majority of them (84.6%) were multimorbid with comorbidities in cardiovascular (49.6%), endocrine system (38.5%), gastrointestinal (14.5%), neurological (13.7%) and respiratory system (12%). 71.8% of them had two or more comorbidities. The mean of the ASA score was 1.97, whereas cardiac risk index mean was 1.12. The analysis of available preoperative laboratory and instrumental tests showed thatonly 57% of the patients had their ECG on a day when operation was scheduled, 64% of them had general and 62% had biochemical blood tests. The most common additional test was the coagulation panel (n=41). The stomach reduction surgery was performed in most cases (n=22), hernia repair takes second place in frequency (n=19). We found that 25 patients had 2 or more cardiac risk index points. 15 individuals were assessed having 2 points, 14 of them had ECG and 11 of them had additional tests on a day of hospitalization. 9 patients were evaluated having 3 RCRI points, but only 3 of them had ECG and additional tests. Only 1 patient was evaluated for 4 RCRI points, he had ECG but no additional tests done. 72% of patients who were at increased cardiac risk according to RCRI (2 or more points) had ECG when they



came for surgical treatment. Unfortunately, no significant correlations were found between ASA or RCRI score and available preoperative tests.

#### **Conclusions**

Majority of the patients with a higher cardiac risk according to RCRI score present ECG for their preanesthetic evaluation. No significant associations were found between patients ASA or RCRI scores and preoperative tests.

#### References

- 1. Bierle DM, Raslau D, Regan DW, Sundsted KK, Mauck KF. Preoperative Evaluation Before Noncardiac Surgery. Mayo Clin Proc. Mayo Clin Proc; 2020;95:807–22.
- 2. De Hert S, Staender S, Fritsch G, Hinkelbein J, Afshari A, Bettelli G, et al. Preoperative evaluation of adults undergoing elective noncardiac surgery: Updated guideline from the European Society of Anaesthesiology. Eur J Anaesthesiol. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2018;35:407–65.
- 3. Duceppe E, Parlow J, MacDonald P, Lyons K, McMullen M, Srinathan S, et al. Canadian Cardiovascular Society Guidelines on Perioperative Cardiac Risk Assessment and Management for Patients Who Undergo Noncardiac Surgery. Can J Cardiol. Pulsus Group Inc.; 2017;33:17–32.

## The value of suprainguinal fascia iliaca blockade for the treatment of postoperative pain after primary hip replacement surgery: a pilot study

#### **Authors**

#### Mantė Eidininkienė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Goda Aldakauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania



#### **Arūnas Gelmanas**

Department of Anaesthesiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Hip replacement is a common and painful surgery with moderate to severe pain in the postoperative period despite multimodal analgesia [1]. Recent studies have demonstrated that peripheral regional blocks like suprainguinal fascia iliaca blockade (SFIB) might be a preferable procedure for pain management and may reduce the amount of consumed painkillers [2]. However, the role of SFIB for postoperative analgesia after this type of surgery remains questionable [3]. We share our pilot research with patients undergoing primary hip replacement surgery.

#### Aim

To evaluate the effectiveness of pain relief after primary hip replacement surgery using suprainguinal fascia iliaca blockade.

#### Methods

The approval (No. BEC-MF-250) for the research was granted by the LUHS Biomedical Research Ethics Committee. Prospective, double-blinded, randomized pilot study was conducted at the Clinic of Anesthesiology, LUHS. Preoperatively, patients were blindly randomized into two groups: SFIB group and control group. Neither the patient nor the independent investigator were not informed whether they received the blockade or not. Evaluation of pain: at 3, 6, 24 and 48 hours postoperatively, patients were assessed for subjective hip pain using a visual analog scale (VAS) and the location of pain on the operated leg at rest, in active and passive 45° flexion positions. The need for additional painkillers has been reported. The statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics software (v. 23.0). Interpretation involved evaluating frequencies, means, calculating Paired Samples T-test. Results were considered statistically significant at p<0.05.

#### **Results**

10 patients were examined: 9 men and 1 woman. The mean of age was 65.5. Patient characteristics or operations did not differ between groups. No statistical significance was found in the SFIB group compared with the control group in terms of pain at 3, 6



and 24 hours after surgery. 48 hours postoperatively, pain in the passive and active  $45^{\circ}$  flexion was lower in the blockade group than in the control group. In the passive  $45^{\circ}$  flexion position, average VAS pain score was 2.1. The mean pain score was 1.8 with SFIB and 2.4 without block. These findings were not significantly associated (p= 0.120). In the active  $45^{\circ}$  flexion position, the mean of pain was described 2.2 by VAS. Blockade group had a mean pain score of 1.8, while in the control group the average pain score was 2.6. Unfortunately, no strong correlation was observed between these groups (p= 0.053). Furthermore, 50% of the individuals received additional painkillers, of which 40% in the blockade group and 60% in the control group.

#### Conclusions

Our collected data suggest that postoperative pain management with suprainguinal fascia blockade may be valuable after hip replacement surgery. However, a larger study involving more individuals is needed to make the data more reliable.

- 1. Desmet M, Balocco AL, Van Belleghem V. Fascia iliaca compartment blocks: Different techniques and review of the literature. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. Baillière Tindall; 2019;33:57–66.
- 2. Wang YL, Liu YQ, Zhang XL, Ding L, Tong F, Chen HY, et al. Ultrasound-guided, direct suprainguinal injection for fascia iliaca block for total hip arthroplasty: A retrospective study. World J Clin Cases. Baishideng Publishing Group Inc; 2021;9:3567.
- 3. Desmet M, Vermeylen K, Herreweghe I Van, Carlier L, Soetens F, Lambrecht S, et al. A Longitudinal Supra-Inguinal Fascia Iliaca Compartment Block Reduces Morphine Consumption After Total Hip Arthroplasty. Reg Anesth Pain Med. BMJ Publishing Group Ltd; 2017;42:327–33.



## Should healthy individuals be considered as non-fluid responders?

#### **Authors**

#### Jelena Cesarskaja

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Mantė Eidininkienė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Andrius Pranskūnas

Department of Intensive Care, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

In critical care, evaluating a patient's fluid responsiveness by observing a cardiac output changes using passive leg raising (PLR) method is safe and reasonable practice [1]. PLR has been developed to help predict whether volume expansion will significantly increase a patient's cardiac output and improve hemodynamics [2]. However, it is not profoundly explored how healthy individuals living ordinary lifestyle respond to PLR. Understanding the physiological mechanisms behind the PLR we formulated a hypothesis that healthy individuals are non-fluid responders.

#### Aim

To evaluate the changes of healthy individuals systemic circulation during passive leg raising test and determine their fluid responsiveness.

#### Methods

We conducted a trial at LUHS Hospital Kaunas Clinics Department of Intensive care, where 21 healthy volunteers were examined. The protocol for the trial was approved by LUHS Biomedical Research Ethics Committee (No.BEC-MF-03). All volunteers who participated in the study signed an informed consent form. Criteria for inclusion in the trial group: age of the volunteers from 18 to 65, no history of chronic illness, healthy at



the present time. A passive leg raising test was performed and systemic circulation changes were registered by non-invasive impedance cardiography monitor before the PLR and after. Systemic hemodynamics data of the participants was collected. An increase in cardiac output (CO)  $\geq 10\%$  was considered a positive test result and a person considered being a fluid responder accordingly. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 22.0

#### Results

The study involved 21 volunteers, 7 of them were males (33.3%) and 14 females (66.7%). The age median of the participants was 23 (24-26) years. The median of mean arterial pressure before the test was 93 (88-103) mmHg. We discovered a significant decrease of the heart rate before and after the passive leg raising: 78 (67-88) bpm vs. 73 (61-82) bmp, p=0.001. The analysis also showed significant increase of cardiac output median before the PLR test 6.8 (5.6-8.1) I/min in comparison after the test 7.8 (5.9-8.7) I/min, p=0.004. A significant CO increase (>10%) was noted in 9 patients, meaning that 43% of study participants were fluid responders. In the rest 12 patients (57%) no significant CO changes were found, showing that they could be non-fluid responders.

#### **Conclusions**

9 out of 21 participants had a significant CO increase of >10%, which shows a positive response to PLR. These results suggest that there could be both fluid responders and non responders in the observed healthy population.

- 1. Douglas IS, Alapat PM, Corl KA, Exline MC, Forni LG, Holder AL, et al. Fluid Response Evaluation in Sepsis Hypotension and Shock: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Chest. ElsevierInc.; 2020;158:1431–45.
- 2. Monnet X, Marik P, Teboul JL. Passive leg raising for predicting fluid responsiveness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Intensive Care Med 2016 4212. Springer; 2016;42:1935–47.



## The type of anaesthesia and outcomes of mechanical thrombectomy in patients with acute ischemic stroke

#### **Authors**

#### Viktorija Lileikytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Karolis Brasas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vaidas Matijošaitis

Department of Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Ischemic stroke is the second most common cause of death after ischemic heart disease and the leading cause of a long-term disability [1, 2]. Mechanical thrombectomy (MTE) is one of the methods to reach brain reperfusion. Two types of anaesthesia are used in MTE: conscious sedation (CS) or general anaesthesia (GA). However, the impact of the type of anaesthesia used during mechanical thrombectomy on patient outcomes remains controversial [3].

#### Aim

The aim of this study is to evaluate the association between the type of anaesthesia used during mechanical thrombectomy and hospital outcome of acute ischemic stroke treatment.

#### Methods

Acute stroke patients treated in the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (LUHS) Kaunas Clinics and undergoing MTE were included. Patients were divided into two groups according to the type of anaesthesia: GA and CS. Demographic, clinical and logistic data were evaluated. Favourable hospital improvement was defined as decreased National Institutes of Health Stroke scale



(NIHSS) score by  $\geq$  4 points from baseline. Favourable hospital outcome was considered modified Rankin Scale (mRs) 0 - 2 score on discharge and favourable radiologic landmark - successful reperfusion (mTICI = 2b - 3). All analyses were performed using SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) version 24.0. The difference or relationship was considered statistically significant when the significance of the applied criteria was p <0.05.

#### Results

A total of 73 patients were included in the study. 40 patients (54,8%) received GA and 33 (45,2%) – CS. The probability of experiencing any stroke related complication was significantly lower in CS group (75,0% vs. 48,5%, p =0.020). No significant difference was found in the rates of hospital improvement between GA and CS groups (65,0% vs. 63,6%, p=0.904). There was a trend of better hospital outcome in CS group (27,5% vs. 45,5%, p=0,111), but not statistically significant. Rate of successful reperfusion was similar across two groups (82,5% vs. 87,9%, p=0.740). The median door to groin time (DGT) was 138,5 (IQR 66) minutes in GA and 120,0 (IQR 89) minutes in CS group. Rates of NIHSS were similar in both GA and CS groups before MTE (11,58 vs 12,90, p=0,270) and 7 days after (5,45 vs 7,09, p=0,270). No significant difference was found between the rates of hospital NIHSS improvement when comparing GA and CS groups (5,74 vs 6,00, p=0,859).

#### **Conclusions**

Our study showed that patients who received GA or CS during MTE had similar hospital outcome and rates of successful reperfusion. The probability of experiencing any stroke related complication was significantly lower and a trend of better hospital improvement was observed in CS group. Further studies are needed to evaluate influence of anaesthesia choice and to determine the prognostic factors of clinical outcome after mechanical thrombectomy.

- 1. Murphy SJ, Werring DJ. Stroke: causes and clinical features. Medicine (Abingdon). 2020Sep;48(9):561-566.
- 2. Avan A, Digaleh H, Di Napoli M, Stranges S, Behrouz R, Shojaeianbabaei G, et al. Socioeconomic status and stroke incidence, prevalence, mortality, and worldwide burden: an ecological analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. BMC Med. 2019 Oct 24;17(1):191.



3. Feil K, Herzberg M, Dorn F, Tiedt S, Küpper C, Thunstedt DC, Hinske LC, Mühlbauer K, Goss S, Liebig T, Dieterich M, Bayer A, Kellert L; GSR Investigators. General Anesthesia versus Conscious Sedation in Mechanical Thrombectomy. J Stroke. 2021 Jan;23(1):103-112.

## The effects of small dose ketamine on early postanaesthesia recovery after intraoperative remifentanil infusions in obese patients.

#### **Authors**

#### Viltė Jocaitytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Darija Savinova

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Aurika Karbonskienė

Department of Anaesthesiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Safe and rapid recovery of patients after anaesthesia is one of the important factors for good operating room turnover. Intraoperative low dose ketamine is an attractive adjuvant to traditional pain management protocols enabling to reduce opioid consumption and side effects of them. (1) However, the rate of recovery of patients after anaesthesia must also be taken into account when developing methods of anaesthesia and postoperative analgesia. (2)

#### Aim

Assess the significance of low dose ketamine for early postanaesthesia recovery of obesepatients by comparing postoperative recovery time and vital signs.



#### Methods

A prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. The study included 53 bariatric patients undergoing laparoscopic gastric bypass with remifentanil-based anaesthesia in HLUHS. Patients were given 0,3 mg/kg for lean body mass (LBM) ketamine (test, group K=23) or placebo injection (control, group S=30) during anaesthesia induction. Vital signs (arterial blood pressure (BP), heart rate, saturation (SpO2)) were evaluated postoperatively every 2 minutes after termination of remifentanil infusion as well as spontaneous respiration recovery time, time of extubation, eye opening, recovery of orientation and beginning of response to verbal command.

#### Results

The groups were similar in terms of demographic data, body mass index, total dose of remifentanil (p>0,05). When assessing patients' postanaesthetic recovery, we did not notice a significant difference between the control and test groups in spontaneous respiration recovery time, time of extubation, eye opening, recovery of orientation and beginning of response to verbal command (p>0,05), but the data differed when comparing postoperative vital signs. The heart rate and SpO2 values were similar in both groups, but differences were found in values of BP (median systolic BP: 131 (103;165) mmHg (S group) and 118 (88;154) mmHg (K group), p<0,05; median diastolic BP: 76 (54;99) mmHg(S group) and 64 (41,87) mmHg (K group), p<0,05).

#### **Conclusions**

A low dose ketamine during anaesthesia induction was not relevant for the early recovery of obese patients after anaesthesia. Values of vital signs were within normal limits in both groups, but slightly lower BP was observed in the test group. Based on this data, it can be concluded that the small dose (0,3mg/kg for LBM) of ketamine during induction of anaesthesia does not adversely affect patients' postoperative recovery and does not have any impact on operating room turnover.

- 1. Imani F, Varrassi G. Ketamine as adjuvant for acute pain management. Anesthesiol. Pain Med. 2019 ;9(6):e100178. Available from: https://brief.land/aapm/articles/100178.html DOI:10.5812/AAPM.100178.
- 2. Grady MV, Mascha E, Sessler DI, and Kurz A. The effect of perioperative intravenous lidocaine and ketamine on recovery after abdominal hysterectomy. Anesth. Analg. 2012;115(5):1078-1084. DOI: 10.1213/ANE.0B013E3182662E01.

## **Basic Sciences**



## Nevus-associated melanoma: histological subtype association with genger, age, and anatomical localization

#### **Authors**

#### **Rokas Kireilis**

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Saulė Bikauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Jurgita Makštienė

Department of Pathological anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Nevus-associated melanoma (NAM) is a malignant cutaneous tumor, which arises from melanocytes, and is defined by the coexistence of nevus components and melanoma features on histopathologic examination [1]. According to Pampena et al., NAM is significantly associated with younger age, superficial spreading histological subtype, and localization of the trunk [2].

#### Aim

To evaluate nevus-associated melanoma histological subtype association with gender, age, and anatomical localization.

#### Methods

The approval (No.: BEC-MF-150) for the research was granted by the Centre for Bioethics of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (LUHS). This retrospective study analyzed the data from 2005 to 2020 of the Hospital of LUHS Kaunas Clinics, the department of Pathological anatomy. We found 125 pathological records of nevus-associated melanoma. All patients were divided into four groups by age (1-18; 19-39; 40-60; >60). Localization was divided into 5 areas: head-neck, upper extremities,



lower extremities, abdominal-chest, and back-trunk. Melanomas were classified into four subtypes: superficial spreading; nodular; lentigo maligna; acral lentiginous. The statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics software (v. 28.0). Chisquare test ( $\chi$ 2) was used for testing relationships on categorical variables, and to evaluate test of independence. Also, data differences were considered statistically significant at p $\leq$ 0.05.

### Results

A statistically significant association was established with the histological subtype of melanoma and the anatomical localization. Superficial spreading melanomas were more often diagnosed on the upper extremities (86.4%) and back-trunk (70.6%) rather than head-neck area (26.7%) ( $\chi$ 2=59.98; p<0.001). Lentigo maligna melanomas were located mainly in head-neck (46.7%) compared to the other localizations ( $\chi$ 2=59.98; p<0.001). No significant association was established with melanoma histological subtypeand gender (p=0.882), neither age groups (p=0.138).

### **Conclusions**

According to our study, the histological subtype of melanoma is statistically significantly associated with anatomical localization (p<0.001). However, no significant association was established with histological subtype and gender, nor age groups.

- 1. Vezzoni, R.; Conforti, C.; Vichi, S.; Giuffrida, R.; Retrosi, C.; Magaton-Rizzi, G.; et al. Is There More Than One Road to Nevus-Associated Melanoma? Dermatology Practical & Conceptual. 2020, 10(2).
- 2. Pampena, R.; Lai, M.; Piana, S.; Lallas, A.; Pellacani, G.; Longo, C. Nevus-associated melanoma: facts and controversies. G Ital Dermatol Venereol. 2020, 155(1), 65-75.



# The effect of IL-3, IL-5 and GM-CSF on adhesion and proliferative properties of blood eosinophil subtypes in asthma

#### **Authors**

#### Airidas Rimkūnas

Laboratory of Pulmonology, Department of Pulmonology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Andrius Januškevičius

Laboratory of Pulmonology, Department of Pulmonology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Eglė Jurkevičiūtė

Laboratory of Pulmonology, Department of Pulmonology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Jolita Palačionytė

Department of Pulmonology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### leva Janulaitytė

Laboratory of Pulmonology, Department of Pulmonology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Kęstutis Malakauskas

Laboratory of Pulmonology, Department of Pulmonology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Introduction

Two different subtypes of blood eosinophils have recently been identified [1] as inflammatory-like eosinophils (iEOS-like) and resident-like eosinophils (rEOS-like) which differ in biological properties. The  $\beta$  common chain cytokines granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), interleukin (IL)-3, and IL-5, also known as eosinophilopoetins, have many common functions on eosinophils [2]. Thus, we hypothesized that eosinophilopoetins could differently affect eosinophils subtypes in asthma



### Aim

To investigate IL-3, IL-5 and GM-CSF effect on blood eosinophils subtypes proliferative properties and adhesion to airway smooth muscle cells (ASMC) in asthma.

# Methods

We included 10 allergic asthma (AA), 8 severe eosinophilic asthma (SEA) patients and 7 healthy control subjects (HS). Eosinophils were isolated from peripheral blood by using high-density Ficoll centrifugation and magnetic separation methods. Subtyping of eosinophils was based on magnetic beads-conjugated antibodies against L-selectin. Eosinophils adhesion was evaluated by measuring eosinophils peroxidase activity in combined cell cultures (absorbance at 490nm, expressed as % of adhered eosinophil number from max added, calculated from control point absorbance value). ASMC proliferation was measured by AlamarBlue assay. Significant differences between two independent groups were determined by Mann–Whitney U-test; within one group-Wilcoxon matched-pairs two-sided test. Data presented as mean ± SEM. Minimumlimit for statistically significant values was p<0.05.

## Results

IL-3, IL-5 and GM-CSF significantly enhanced iEOS-like cells adhesion to ASM cells -  $66.6\pm4.2$ ,  $67.5\pm5.5$  and  $86.3\pm3.3\%$  vs.  $50.5\pm4.2\%$  respectively in AA and  $78\pm3.6$ ,  $80.2\pm3.3$ ,  $89.5\pm2.6\%$  vs.  $58.9\pm3.6\%$  in SEA (p<0.05), while only GM-CSF had a significant effect on rEOS-like cells -  $87\pm1.8\%$  vs.  $61.4\pm2.9\%$  (p=0.01) in AA and  $89.5\pm1.8\%$  vs.  $72.3\pm3.0\%$  in SEA, p=0.006. In HS group only GM-CSF significantly enhanced adhesion - iEOS-like cells  $65.8\pm4.5\%$  vs.  $46.6\pm4.7\%$  (p=0.0071) and rEOS-like cells by  $72.3\pm1.8\%$  vs.  $53\pm3.3\%$ , p=0.005. IL-5 and GM-CSF-activated iEOS-like and rEOS-like cells of both asthma groups demonstrated significantly enhanced effect on ASM cells proliferation compared to non-activated eosinophils - AA iEOS-like by  $29.5\pm5.7$  and  $32\pm3.8\%$  vs.  $9.1\pm1.4\%$  (p<0.05), rEOS-like by  $9.5\pm5.7$  and  $9.5\pm5.7$  and  $9.5\pm5.7$  meanwhile SEA iEOS-like by  $9.5\pm5.7$  and  $9.5\pm5.7$ 

#### **Conclusions**

GM-CSF enhance the adhesion of both eosinophil subtypes while IL-3 and IL-5 only



the adhesion of iEOS-like cells in asthma. Moreover, IL-5 and GM-CSF enhance the proliferative properties of eosinophil subtypes in both asthma groups, while IL-3 had an effect only on rEOS-like cells in AA group.

### References

- 1. Mesnil C, Raulier S, Paulissen G, et al. Lung-resident eosinophils represent a distinct regulatory eosinophil subset. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(9):3279-3295. doi:10.1172/JCI85664.
- 2. Dougan M, Dranoff G, Dougan SK. GM-CSF, IL-3, and IL-5 Family of Cytokines: Regulators of Inflammation. Immunity. 2019;50(4):796-811. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2019.03.022.

# Associations of polymorphism of the NRAS gene and risk factors with Laryngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma

### **Authors**

# Roberta Pocevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Ruta Insodaitė

Institute of Biology Systems and Genetics Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Alina Smalinskienė

Institute of Biology Systems and Genetics Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Vykintas Liutkevičius

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania



#### Introduction

Tumors that form in the head and neck are often malignant carcinomas. Carcinoma is the sixth most common cancer type in the world. About 25% of head and neck tumors are laryngeal squamous cell carcinomas (LSCC). 200 cases of LSCC are diagnosed every yearin Lithuania and often diagnosed in the elderly men population. Risk factors like smoking, alcohol abuse, gender, and older age are strongly associated with the pathogenesis of the LSCC as well as genetic factors. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in NRAS proto- oncogene can affect the onset of oncological LSCC disease. The investigated NRAS rs14804 G>A polymorphism is in the 3'UTR regulatory sequence, associated with the miRNA binding site, and results in increased expression of the NRAS gene. Our hypothesis is that changed NRAS gene expression may lead to LSCC occurrence.

### Aim

Determine the NRAS rs14804 gene polymorphism in patients with LSCC and the control group. Also, to evaluate the role of polymorphism and risk factors that may influence the pathogenesis of LSCC.

# Methods

Genomic DNA and clinical data were collected from 324 adult men with LSCC. The control group was formed from 357 healthy men. Genomic DNA was isolated from peripheral blood leukocytes by DNA salting-out method. Genotyping of NRAS rs14804 was performed using the RT-PCR method, and the obtained results were processed with the statistical data analysis program - "IBM SPSS Statistics 26". Data were evaluated by comparing patients with LSCC and the control group. Age, smoking, alcohol consumption of patients and the control group were compared using the  $\chi^2$  criterion. The homogeneity of the distribution of polymorphism genotypes between patients and controls was compared using the  $\chi^2$  criterion. A binary logistic regression analysis was performed to estimate the odds ratio with a 95% confidence interval (CI) for LSCC to occur in genotype inheritance and allele carrier models.

#### Results

We found no statistically significant differences between the NRAS rs14804 genotypes and allele frequencies of the study groups. According to the dominant inheritance model, NRAS rs14804 SNP statistically significantly by 1,2 times (p=0.032) reduce the risk of developing LSCC. The risk is lower for G allele carriers by 1,51 times (p=0.028).



Having a G allele at over 61 years of age decreases the risk of developing LSCC by 2,45 times (p=0.039). After assessing the impact of risk factors, we found that 61 years and older age, smoking, and alcohol consumption statistically significantly increase the risk of developing LSCC, respectively: 3,273 (p=0.034), 3,149 (p<0.001), 146,944 (p<0.001).

### **Conclusions**

Individuals with the NRAS rs14804 GG genotype and the G allele have a statistically significant reduction in disease risk and for persons older than 61 years and those with the G allele, the risk is lower. Assessing the impact of environmental factors, we found that 61 years and older, smoking and alcohol consumption statistically significantly increase the risk of developing LSCC.

- 1. Gökçe KS, Gökçe G, Kütük M, Gürses Cila HE, Nazıroğlu M. Curcumin enhances cisplatin-induced human laryngeal squamous cancer cell death through activation of TRPM2 channel and mitochondrial oxidative stress. Sci Rep. 2019 Nov 28;9(1):17784.
- 2. Steuer CE, El-Deiry M, Parks JR, Higgins KA, Saba NF. An update on larynx cancer. CA Cancer J Clin. 2017 Jan;67(1):31-50.
- 3. McCormick F. KRAS as a therapeutic target. Clin Cancer Res. 2015 Apr 15;21(8):1797-801.
- 4. Cicenas J, Tamosaitis L, Kvederaviciute K, Tarvydas R, Staniute G, Kalyan K, et al. KRAS, NRAS and BRAF mutations in colorectal cancer and melanoma. Med Oncol. 2017 Feb;34(2):26.
- 5. Kodaz H, Kostek O, Hacioglu MB, Erdogan B, Kodaz CE, Hacibekiroglu I, et al. Frequency of RAS mutations (KRAS, NRAS, HRAS) in human solid Cancer. EJMO. 2017;1(1):1-7.
- 6. Nocini R, Molteni G, Mattiuzzi C, Lippi G. Updates on larynx cancer epidemiology. Chin J Cancer Res. 2020 Feb;32(1):18-25.
- 7. Adeel M, Faisal M, Rashid A, Usman S, Khaleeq U, Abbas T, et al. An overview of laryngeal cancer treatment at a tertiary care oncological center in a developing country. Cureus. 2018 Jun 1;10(6):e2730.
- 8. Murugan AK, Munirajan AK, Tsuchida N. Ras oncogenes in oral cancer: the past 20 years. Oral Oncol. 2012 May;48(5):383-92.
- 9. Thompson LD. Laryngeal dysplasia, squamous cell carcinoma, and variants.



Surg Pathol Clin. 2017 Mar;10(1):15-33.

- 10. Alcantara KMM, Malapit JRP, Yu RTD, Garrido JAMG, Rigor JPT, Angeles AKJ, et al. Non-redundant and overlapping oncogenic readouts of non-canonical and novel colorectal cancer KRAS and NRAS mutants. Cells. 2019 Dec 3;8(12):1557.
- 11. Yang T, Wen Y, Li J, Tan T, Yang J, Pan J, et al. NRAS and KRAS polymorphisms are not associated with hepatoblastoma susceptibility in Chinese children. Exp Hematol Oncol. 2019 May 9;8:11.
- 12. Garren B, Stephan M, Hogue JS. NRAS associated RASopathy and embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma. Am J Med Genet A. 2020 Jan;182(1):195-200.
- 13. Jin M, Li Z, Sun Y, Zhang M, Chen X, Zhao H,et al. Association analysis between the interaction of RAS family genes mutations and papillary thyroid carcinoma in the Han Chinese population. Int J Med Sci. 2021 Jan 1;18(2):441-7.
- 14. Muñoz-Couselo E, Adelantado EZ, Ortiz C, García JS, Perez-Garcia J. NRAS-mutant melanoma: current challenges and future prospect. Onco Targets Ther. 2017 Aug 8;10:3941-
- 15. Thomas NE, Edmiston SN, Orlow I, Kanetsky PA, Luo L, Gibbs DC, et al. Inherited genetic variants associated with melanoma BRAF/NRAS subtypes. J Invest Dermatol. 2018 Nov;138(11):2398-404.
- 16. Fernández-Mateos J, Seijas-Tamayo R, Adansa Klain JC, Pastor Borgoñón M, Pérez- Ruiz E, Mesía R, Del Barco E, et al. Genetic susceptibility in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma in a spanish population. Cancers (Basel). 2019 Apr 7;11(4):493.
- 17. de Miguel-Luken MJ, Chaves-Conde M, Carnero A. A genetic view of laryngeal cancer heterogeneity. Cell Cycle. 2016 May 2;15(9):1202-12.

# Evaluation of the impact of MMP8 rs11225395 and MMP14 rs1042704 in the development of Dupuytren's contracture

# **Authors**

# Lorena Masionytė

The Institute of Biology Systems and Genetic Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania



# Urtė Zitkevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Roberta Pocevičiūtė

The Institute of Biology Systems and Genetic Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Ruta Insodaitė

The Institute of Biology Systems and Genetic Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Gediminas Samulėnas

Department of Anaesthesiology of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Alina Smalinskienė

The Institute of Biology Systems and Genetic Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

Dupuytren's contracture (DC) is a fibroproliferative pathology, resulting in finger joint contractures and hand disability. DC is associated with unbalanced degradation of the extracellular matrix (ECM), that is why matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) might play an important role in its pathogenesis. The main function of MMPs is the degradation of various types of collagen and other ECM and non-ECM substrates. The MMP8 rs11225395 single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) leads to a C to T change in the promoter region, it alters MMP8 promoter activity, gene and protein expression and affects MMP8 function. MMP14 rs1042704 SNP results in the missense mutation, therefore, the translated MMP14 protein exhibits significantly lower collagenolytic activity compared to the wild-type enzyme.

## Aim

To investigate the contributions of MMP8 rs11225395 and MMP14 rs1042704 functional SNPs and lifestyle factors to the development of DC.



### Methods

Genomic DNA and clinical data were collected from 219 individuals (116 DC patients and 103 healthy controls). DNA was extracted from leukocytes by salt-precipitation method. RT-PCR was performed for detecting the SNPs of the MMP8 and MMP14. The obtained results were processed and the impact of lifestyle factors was evaluated with the statistical data analysis program "IBM SSPS Statistics 26".

### Results

To evaluate the associations of MMP8 and MMP14 SNPs with the previous onset of the disease, the DC patients were divided into groups (>56 and  $\leq$ 56) according to the age when first symptoms appeared. Statistical analysis showed that 16.8% of DC patients carrying the MMP14 rs1042704 AA genotype observed first symptoms of DC at less than 56 years of age (p = 0.040). It was revealed that AA genotype also increases the risk of DC development 2.16-fold (95% CI: 2.160-7.824; p = 0.024) while G allele carriers has 2.16-fold lower risk (OR 0.463; 95% CI: 0.278-0.678; p = 0.024). Risk analysis was conducted to examine the impact of lifestyle factors and their combination with analyzed SNPs on DC. The most high-risk factor (OR 14.00) of DC development was for individuals who have a combination of smoking, manual labor and MMP14 rs1042704 minor A allele (95% CI: 1.807-108.450; p = 0.010).

#### Conclusions

MMP14 rs1042704 AA genotype increases the risk of developing first symptoms at a younger age. MMP14 rs1042704 minor A allele together with smoking and manual labor was found to be the most high-risk factor. These results suggest MMP14 rs1042704 become a marker for predicting the disease. However, MMP8 rs11225395 may not be significantly associated with the development of the disease.

- 1. Grazina R, Teixeira S, Ramos R, Sousa H, Ferreira A, Lemos R. Dupuytren's disease: where do we stand? EFORT Open Rev. 2019;4(2):63-9.
- 2. Millar E, Knight R. Dupuytren's contracture a review of pathology and treatment. WJMER. 2015;10(1):12-6.
- 3. Juurikka K, Butler GS, Salo T, Nyberg P, Åström P. The role of MMP8 in cancer: a systematic review. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(18):4506.
- 4. Xia XD, Alabi A, Wang M, Gu HM, Yang RZ, Wang G. Membrane-type I matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP), lipid metabolism and therapeutic implications. J



Mol Cell Biol. 2021;13(7):513-26.

5. Itoh Y, Ng M, Wiberg A, Inoue K, Hirata N, Paiva KBS. A common SNP risk variant MT1-MMP causative for Dupuytren's disease has a specific defect in collagenolytic activity. Matrix Biol. 2021;97:20-39.

# Association of age-related macular degeneration and macular pigment optical density with rs11057841 SNP in the SCARB1 gene.

### **Authors**

# leva Žvykaitė

Institute of Biology Systems and Genetics Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Edita Kuncevičienė

Institute of Biology Systems and Genetics Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences

#### Rasa Liutkevičienė

Department of Ophthalmology, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Medicine Academy; Neuroscience Institute, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Medicine Academy, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Brigita Budienė

Department of Ophthalmology, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Medicine Academy, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Alvita Vilkevičiūtė

Department of Ophthalmology, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Medicine Academy, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Alina Smalinskienė

Institute of Biology Systems and Genetics Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania



### Introduction

No analogous studies have been performed to analyse the rs11057841 SNP in the SCARB1 gene in patients with various forms of age-related macular degeneration (AMD). However, analysis of scientific literature suggests a possible relationship between the SCARB1 gene and the pathogenesis of AMD, as the gene encodes HDL receptors that play an important role in cholesterol and lutein metabolism and may be involved in the formation of cholesterol-containing drusen. Also, there has been observed an association between macular pigment and lipoproteins that transport lutein and zeaxanthin. The SCARB1 gene is involved in lipid pathways, so mutations in this gene may result in impaired lutein and zeaxanthin transportation and lower macular pigment optical density (MPOD).

### Aim

To evaluate the association of rs11057841 SNP in the SCARB1 gene with AMD and macular pigment optical density.

### Methods

To determine the effect of genetic and environmental factors on macular pigment optical density, the twin method was used, 108 twins were examined by the twin method. To evaluate the influence of the SCARB1 rs11057841 polymorphism on MPOD values, the study examined a group of individuals and determined MPOD characteristics using the heterochromatic photometry method. This group consisted of 67 individuals. To investigate the significance of rs11057841 SNP in the SCARB1 gene for AMD, the study enrolled 101 patients with AMD and 171 healthy subjects. Exclusion criteria were applied:cataract, previous interventions that may have affected refraction and refusal to participate in the investigation. DNA from peripheral blood leukocytes were purified using the DNA salting-out method and the concentration was measured with a spectrophotometer. The genotyping test was carried out using the real-time polymerase chain reaction method. The results were assessed using IBM SPSS Statistics methods of statistical analysis, including intraclass correlation, chisquared test, binary logistic regression, and Student's t-test.

#### Results

This study showed statistically significant differences in the mean MPOD value in the right and left eyes between subjects with the wild-type CC genotype and subjects with the CT genotype, a genotype that has a single risk allele. A decrease in the mean



MPOD value was observed both in the right eye (p=0.037) in the Group II with the CT genotype (0.110 DU) compared to CC genotype subjects (0.117 DU), and in the left eye of CT genotype subjects (0.109 DU) compared to CC genotype subjects (0.114 DU) (p=0.038).

#### Conclusions

Individuals with the CT genotype and a single risk allele had statistically significantly lower mean MPOD values in both eyes compared to subjects with the wild-type CC genotype.

#### References

- 1. Lambert NG, ElShelmani H, Singh MK, Fiona C. Mansergh FC, Wride MA, Padilla M et al. Risk factors and biomarkers of age-related macular degeneration. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2016 Sep;54:64-102.
- 2. Lem DW, Davey PG, Gierhart DL, Rosen RB. A systematic review of carotenoids in the management of age-related macular degeneration. Antioxidants (Basel). 2021 Aug 5;10(8):1255.

# Associations of GJD2 and RASGRF1 gene variants with refractive errors

#### **Authors**

### Tomas Muškieta

Institute of Biology Systems and Genetics Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences

# Edita Kuncevičienė

Institute of Biology Systems and Genetics Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences

### Rasa Liutkevičienė

Department of Ophthalmology, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Medicine Academy



# Margarita Sriubienė

Institute of Biology Systems and Genetics Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences

# Alina Smalinskienė

Institute of Biology Systems and Genetics Research, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences

## Ingrida Grabauskytė

Department of physics, mathematics and biophysics, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences

### Introduction

Most of our information about the world around us comes from our visual system. When this system functions well, relevant objects in our field of vision are imaged and focused on the retina. Refractive errors are among the most frequent treatable "diseases" [1]. Refractive errors occur when the refractive system of the eye fails to correctly focus rays of light from an object onto the retinal plane [2]. Refractive errors are the most common vision defect affecting all age groups and their number is always growing [3]. Knowledge of the prevalence of refractive errors and risk factors can help plan effective measures to reduce them.

#### Aim

To identify GJD2 (rs634990, rs524952) and RASGRF1 (rs8027411, rs4778879, rs28412916) gene variants in subjects with refractive errors and control subjects. To evaluate the significance of GJD2 (rs634990, rs524952) and RASGRF1 (rs8027411, rs4778879, rs28412916) gene variants for ocular refractive errors. To evaluate the associations of GJD2 (rs634990, rs524952) and RASGRF1 (rs8027411, rs4778879, rs28412916) gene variants with the degree of myopia and hyperopia.

### Methods

The study included 373 individuals with refractive errors and 104 ophthalmologically healthy subjects. DNA was extracted from peripheral blood leukocytes using the salting- out method. The quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) method was chosen for genotyping. Statistical calculations and analysis of the results were performedusing "IBM SPSS Statistics" software.



### Results

Five polymorphisms in two genes were studied: GJD2 rs634990, GJD2 rs524952, RASGRF1 rs8027411, RASGRF1 rs4778879, RA SGRF1 rs28412916. The TT genotype of the GJD2 SNP rs634990 increases the risk of hyperopia and astigmatism 2.36-fold, while the CT genotype decreases the risk of hyperopia and astigmatism 0.51-fold (p<0.05). The AT genotype of the GJD2 rs524952 reduces the risk of hyperopia and astigmatism 0.53-fold (p<0.05).

The TG genotype of RASGRF1 rs8027411 reduces the risk of high myopia in the right eye 0,09-fold (p<0,05). The AT genotype reduces the risk of mild hyperopia in the right eye 0,26-fold (p<0,05).

#### **Conclusions**

The TT genotype of the GJD2 gene rs634990 SNP increases the risk of possible hyperopia with astigmatism 2.36-fold. Both heterozygous genotypes of the GJD2 gene SNPs reduce the risk of hyperopia with astigmatism 0.51-fold. The TG genotype of the RASGRF1 rs8027411 SNP reduces the risk of high myopia. The AT genotype of the GJD2 rs524952 reduces the risk of high hyperopia.

- 1. Schiefer U, Kraus C, Baumbach P, Ungewiß J, Michels R. Refractive errors: Epidemiology, Effects and Treatment Options. Dtsch. Ärztebl. int. 2016 Oct;113(41):693.
- 2. Williams KM, Verhoeven VJ, Cumberland P, Bertelsen G, Wolfram C, Buitendijk GH, et al. Prevalence of refractive error in Europe: the European eye epidemiology (E 3) consortium. Eur J Epidemiol. 2015 Apr 1;30(4):305-15.
- 3. Hashemi H, Fotouhi A, Yekta A, Pakzad R, Ostadimoghaddam H, Khabazkhoob M. Global and regional estimates of prevalence of refractive errors: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Curr Ophthalmol. 2018 Mar 1;30(1):3-22.



# Pilot study of TBEV detection and replication in permanent cell cultures

### **Authors**

# Paulina Sidaugaitė

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Veterinary Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Arūnas Stankevičius

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Veterinary Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Introduction

Tick borne encephalitis virus (TBEV) is one of the most common and important endemic zoonotic agent transmitted via infected ticks' saliva during bite (1). Morbidity remains high in Lithuania compared to other European countries (2). Using RT-PCR method it was previously confirmed that minimum infectious rate of ticks with TBEV is only 0,34% (3). Therefore, initial TBEV concentration in ticks is often way too low to be detected with direct molecular methods. Published data also shows that after the infected ticks suck blood, virus titer significantly increases by 500 times (4).

### Aim

To investigate prevalence of TBEV in questing ticks and ticks after blood suck from dogs and to determine effectiveness of virus replication and isolation in permanent cell cultures.

#### Methods

Questing ticks (n=128) and ticks after blood suck from dogs (n=61) were collected from various Lithuanian regions. 8 questing ticks were grouped per pool. Each full of blood tick was tested separately. Suspensions were made in the laboratory. RNA was extracted from suspensions using "GeneJet RNA Purification Kit" (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and tested by RT-qPCR. In this reaction Luminaris Probe qPCR Mastermix, TBEV-specific primers and probe were used as described earlier (5). Tick suspension samples were also used for TBEV isolation in Neuro-2a and Marc-145 permanent cell



cultures. Isolation success was assessed by RT-qPCR as before. Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 27.0 program. McNemar test was used to evaluate the identification of the virus prior and post cell culture sampling. Value p < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

### Results

Out of 16 questing tick pools, 6 (38%) were positive for TBEV-RNA at first. After the second cell line passage, 12/16 (75%) tested tick pools were positive for TBEV in Neuro-2a and 11/16 (68,8%) in Marc-145 cell cultures. Number of positive samples increased statistically significantly by 37% and 30,8% (p=0,031) after TBEV isolation in Neuro-2a and Marc-145 cell culture accordingly. 32/62 (52%) samples of ticks that blood suck fromdogs were positive for TBEV at first and 24/62 (39%) after the second Neuro-2a passage (p=0,152). None of the TBEV isolated samples caused cytopathic effect in Neuro-2a cells. However, it was observed in Marc-145 after the second passage and the average TBEV titer was TICD<sub>50</sub>/ml 3,87  $\pm$ 0,33 log<sub>10</sub>.

### **Conclusions**

Tick borne encephalitis virus detection increases significantly after replication in permanent cell cultures. TBEV caused cytopathic effect only in Marc-145 cells after replication.

- 1. Simmonds P, Becher P, Bukh J, Gould EA, Meyers G, Monath T, et al. ICTV virus taxonomy profile: Flaviviridae. J Gen Virol. 2017;98(1):2–3.
- 2. Report S. Tick-borne encephalitis. 2021; (March).
- 3. Pautienius A, Dudas G, Simkute E, Grigas J, Zakiene I, Paulauskas A, et al. Bulk milk tank samples are suitable to assess circulation of tick-borne encephalitis virus in high endemic areas. Viruses. 2021;13(9).
- 4. Belova OA, Burenkova LA, Karganova GG. Different tick-borne encephalitis virus (TBEV) prevalences in unfed versus partially engorged ixodid ticks Evidence of virus replication and changes in tick behavior. Ticks Tick Borne Dis [Internet]. 2012;3(4):240–6.
- 5. Schwaiger M, Cassinotti P. Development of a quantitative real-time RT-PCR assay with internal control for the laboratory detection of tick borne encephalitis virus (TBEV) RNA. J Clin Virol. 2003;27(2):136–45.



# Characteristic patterns of Meckel's diverticulum in patients treated in Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics in 2002-2019.

#### **Authors**

# Ugnė Kulnickaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Lina Poškienė

Department of Pathological anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Meckel's diverticulum is the most common anomalous development of the gastrointestinal system that results from an incomplete vitelline canal. Meckel's diverticula are usually clinically asymptomatic but it can also cause life-threatening complications, which are associated with acid-secreting heterotopic mucosa of Meckel's diverticulum. (1) Therefore, it is essential to search and identify pathophysiological characteristics in detail in order to prevent complications.

#### Aim

The aim of this study was to review and analyze clinical and morphological data on the diagnosis of Meckel diverticulum.

### Methods

This was a retrospective study of 117 patients who were treated in the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health sciences Kaunas Clinics and underwent surgery for Meckel diverticulum between 2002 to 2019. Parameters for Meckel's diverticula included gender, age, histological mucosa type, presence of complications. Data were analysed statistically using SPSS 27.0 software. Were used descriptive statistics to data. Differences between the variables assessed using the chi-square ( $\chi$ 2) test. The results were statistically significant when p <0,05.



### Results

Total of 116 patients: 74 (%) children and 42 (%) adults were diagnosed with Meckel's diverticulum after pathology testing. The age of the pediatric patients ranged from 1 to 17 years (median, 7,33 years). Meanwhile, the age of adult patients ranged from 18 to 84 (median, 52,31 years). Histology revealed 3 types of mucosa: mucosa of the small intestine (66,4%, n=77), ectopic gastric mucosa (30,2%, n=35) and combination of gastric and pancreatic tissue (3,4%, n=4). Gender had no statistically significant change for the type of mucosa (p=0,081). However, we found a significant correlation between mucosa type and age group (p=0,000). Ectopic mucosa (gastric and combination types) was more common in children group (n=35, 31,2%), (p=0,0001). A correlation was found between mucosa type and presence of complications in men group (p=0,001). The study revealed that complications were more frequently present in men who have atopic mucosa type (p=0,0001). In children group, complications were also statistically significantly more frequent in children who had tissue heterotopy (p=0,001).

#### **Conclusions**

According to our results, presence of complications is associated with tissue heterotopy in Meckel's diverticulum mucosa. In children, Meckel's diverticulum with heterotopy is more likely to cause complications because of acid-secretion. Complications in adults group presented less commonly since they are most likely to be associated with intestinal structural changes and functional disorders.

- 1. Peranteau WH, Smink DS. Appendix, Meckel's, and other small bowel diverticula. In: Zinner MJ, Ashley SW, eds. Maingot's Abdominal Operations, 12th ed. New York: McGraw- Hill; 2013. pp. 623-47
- 2. Trifan A Târcoveanu E, Danciu M Huţanaşu C Cojocariu C Stanciu C.. Gastric heterotopic pancreas: An unusual case and review of the literature. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis. 2012; 21(21): 209–12.
- 3. Deshpande V, Raghunath BV, Sarin Y, Sinha S. Heterotopic pancreas causing duodenal obstruction in a patient previously treated for choledochal cyst. J Indian Assoc Pediatr Surg. 2012; 17(17): 40.
- 4. Kim DW Kim JH Park SH Lee JS Hong S Kim M Ha HK.. Heterotopic pancreas of the jejunum: associations between CT and pathology features. Abdom Imaging. 2015; 40(40):38–45.
- 5. Kuru S, Kismet K. Meckel's diverticulum: clinical features, diagnosis and management. Rev Esp Enferm Dig. 2018;110(11):726-732.



# Ultrastructural alterations of intracardiac nerves in spontaneously hypertensive and normotensive rats

### **Authors**

# Rugilė Martinaitytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Ernesta Pilnikovaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Neringa Paužienė

Institute of Anatomy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Intrinsic cardiac autonomic nervous system plays a major role in the regulation of physiological heart functions [1, 2]. Intrinsic autonomic dysfunction arises from diseases, such as arterial hypertension (AH), which leads to structural and functional remodeling of the heart tissue [3]. Hypertension-induced cardiac damage could result in several complications such as myocardial ischemia [3], arrhythmias and heart failure [4, 5]. Therefore, it is of particular importance to elucidate the origin of autonomic cardiac innervation defects in the background of AH.

### Aim

To determine and compare the impact of AH on the structural organization of the intracardiac nerves in spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and age-matched normotensive Wistar-Kyoto (WKY) rats.

# Methods

Cardiac nerves of the atria and ventricles in old (48-53 weeks) SHR (n=2) and WKY (n=2) rats were studied. Ultrathin samples were examined with a Tecnai BioTwin Spirit G2 transmission electron microscope using 2900x. Images were taken using Eagle 4K camera employing TIA software (FEI) and analyzed manually with a software package AxioVision. Unmyelinated (UNF) and myelinated (MNF) nerve fibers were evaluated:



the number of axons inside UNF and number of MNF in the nerve were counted; axons area, myelin sheath area, and nerve area were measured. From gathered data G-ratio (the ratio of the axon diameter to the diameter of the myelin sheath) and area occupied by UNF axons were calculated. Abnormalities of nerve fibers (artefacts, deformation of myelin sheath or Schwann cells) were marked. Statistical data was analyzed by IBM SPSS 20.0, results were described as n, mean  $\pm$  standard error and compared by the Stjudent's t-test or Chi-square test, p-value<0.05.

#### Results

In SHR UNF (WKY n=4203, SHR n=4954) were seen as less compact and with incorporation of collagen inside. In SHR UNF axon area (WKY  $1.32\pm0.02$ , SHR  $1.18\pm0.02~\mu m2$ , p<0.001) was decreased while axon-free area of nerve increased (WKY  $43.96\pm0.79$ , SHR  $49.69\pm0.64\%$ , p<0.001) indicating axonal degeneration.

In cardiac nerves, the density of MNF (WKY n=487, SHR n=338) decreased in SHR (WKY=17.7±2.22, SHR=8.5±1.30 /1000µm2, p<0.001). There were more abnormalities of myelin sheath such as loss of compactness, formation of loops in SHR atria. Only 1% of SHR MNF did not contain any changes ( $\chi$ 2=65.66, df=11, p<0.001). The artefacts in the atrial Schwann cells ( $\chi$ 2=15.06, df=3, p=0.002) and in the ventricular axons ( $\chi$ 2=16.73, df=4, p=0.002) were found in both groups, although, SHR MNF seemed to be more damaged. A decrease in SHR axon diameter (WKY 1.7±0.05 µm, SHR 1.43±0.1 µm, p=0.01), as well as lower G-ratio (WKY 0.61±0.02, SHR 0.44±0.03, p<0.001) reflect axonal degeneration.

#### **Conclusions**

Nerve fibers' degeneration was more expressed in SHR, this could indicate the damaging effect of AH. However, changes of nerve ultrastructure were found in both SHR and WKY rats. This could show a possible genetic predisposition for AH because both groups of rats originated from the same genetic line.

- 1. Goldberger J. J, Arora R., Buckley U, & Shivkumar K. Autonomic nervous system dysfunction. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2019;73(10):1189–1206.
- 2. Hasan W. Autonomic cardiac innervation. Organogenesis. 2013;9(3):176–193.



- 3. Kuroda K. Hypertensive cardiomyopathy: A clinical approach and literature review. World Journal of Hypertension. 2015;5(2):41.
- 4. Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, Agabiti Rosei E, Azizi M, Burnier, M, et. al. 2018 ESC/ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension. European Heart Journal. 2018:39(33):3021–3104.
- 5. Aksu T, Gupta D, Pauza D. H. Anatomy and physiology of Intrinsic Cardiac Autonomic Nervous System. JACC: Case Reports. 2021;3(4):625–629.

# Cardiology



# Changes in left ventricle function and structure in patients participating in Heart failure program

#### **Authors**

# Olesia Ivanova

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Simona Dužinaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

## Jolanta Laukaitienė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

The amount of patients suffering from heart failure (HF) is growing significantly every year [1]. Some guidelines are set to reduce possible consequences and improve patients' quality of life. One of the main guidelines is the HF management program. This program includes four visits to the hospital. During the meetings, topics of self-care (nutrition, physical activity, harmful habits) are analyzed, while patients are taught about HF and diagnostic tests are performed [2]. One of the most important tests is the cardiac examination test - transthoracic echocardiography. Important aspects, such as myocardial structure, function, and hemodynamics are assessed during ultrasound evaluation [3].

# Aim

The aim is to investigate changes between left ventricle structure and systolic function parameters before and after 4 visits of the HF program.

## Methods

The study was approved by the Bioethics center of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (No. BEC-MF-184). It included 99 patients with HF who had completed all 4



visits of the HF program. The data were retrospectively enrolled into the study from the first and last visits. The left ventricular systolic function and structure changes were assessed echocardiographically. Systolic function was reflected by ejection fraction (EF), calculated by Simpson's method. The structure was reflected by the left ventricle end-diastolic diameter (LVEDD). Changes in the results of these tests were monitored and cardiac function benefits were assessed. The statistical analysis was performed with a statistical tool (SPSS version 28.0.1.0). Data significance was evaluated using Paired Samples T-test. The result was statistically significant at p<0.05.

### Results

There were 99 participants overall, 14.1% (n=14) women and 85.9% (n=85) men. The mean age was 63 (SD 20) years. The EF mean of the first visit for women was 35.43% (normal range 54-74%) and for men – 24.99% (normal range 52 - 72%). The fourth visit results accordingly were 35.07% and 29.61%. These results show that there were no statistically significant differences for women between the first and the last visit (p>0.05), while for men a statistically significant difference was found after the completion of the HF program (p<0.05). While measuring changes in LVEDD, mean for women at the first visit was 54.77 mm (normal range 37.8-52.2 mm); for men – 62.46 mm (normal range 42.0-58.4 mm), during the fourth visit: 52.31 mm and 60.09 mm, respectively. Comparing changes in LVEDD showed a statistically significant difference after the HF program for men (p<0.05), whilst no significant difference was found for women (p>0.05).

#### **Conclusions**

Patients enrolled in the HF program have shown improvement in parameters (EF and LVEDD) measured echocardiographically. Additionally, the improvement in both results is considered statistically significant for men, but not for women. It may be considered that the statistically insignificant results for women were found because the number of female participants was too small.

- 1. Bragazzi NL, Zhong W, Shu J, Abu Much A, Lotan D, Grupper A, et al. Burden of heart failure and underlying causes in 195 countries and territories from 1990 to 2017. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2021 Dec 29;28(15):1682-1690. doi: 10.1093/eurjpc/zwaa147.
- 2. McDonagh TA, Metra M, Adamo M, Gardner RS, Baumbach A, Böhm M, et al.



2021 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J. 2021 Sep 21;42(36):3599-3726. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab368.

3. Fitzsimons S, Doughty RN. Role of transthoracic echocardiogram in acute heart failure. Rev Cardiovasc Med. 2021 Sep 24;22(3):741-754. doi: 10.31083/j.rcm2203081.

# QFR vs. visual-estimation guided PCI in STEMI patients: evaluation of the quality of life at 6-month follow up

### **Authors**

# Nojus Jodka

Faculty of Medicine, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania

# leva Apanavičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania

# Arnoldas Leleika

Faculty of Medicine, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania

# Mindaugas Barauskas

Department of Cardiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania

# Greta Žiubrytė

Department of Cardiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania

# Ali Aldujeli

Department of Cardiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania

# **Tautvydas Rugelis**

Department of Cardiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania

#### Ramūnas Unikas

Department of Cardiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania



#### Introduction

Quantitative flow ratio (QFR) is a relatively new method to evaluate significant physiology stenosis without additional risks for the patients. Here, we present data on quality of life in patients who survived STEMI, and non-culprit lesion PCI was performed guided by QFR.

#### Aim

This study was aimed to investigate outcomes differences of QFR-guided versus angiography-guided non-culprit lesion PCI in STEMI patients.

### Methods

In total, 76 patients with STEMI and at least one non-culprit lesion with intermediate (50- 90%) diameter stenosis and a reference diameter  $\geq 2$  mm according to visual estimation have been included in this prospective single-center study between February 2021 and June 2021. All patients were randomized into two groups: (1) QFR-guided PCI; (2) visual-estimation- guided PCI. The primary endpoint was the impact of non-culprit lesion revascularization strategy on quality of life (QOL) estimated by Seattle angina score. The physical limitation and angina frequency according to the Seattle score were classified as minimal (scores 75–

100), mild (50–74), moderate (25–49), and severe (0–24). We considered a composite endpoint of major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) as a secondary endpoint within 3 months of hospital discharge. Our out-patient examination obtained the three-month follow-up in all of the cases. Additionally, an assessment of functional status and QOL was evaluated by questionnaire forms answered by study participants. Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS 28.0 software. The chosen level of significance was p<0.05.

# Results

Of all, 35 (46.1%) patients were randomized to the QFR-guided PCI group, and 41 (53.9%) patients were included in the angiography-guided PCI group. The six-month follow-up showed slightly lower incidences of MACE in the QFR-guided PCI group (11.62% vs. 21.15%, p=0.012). In addition, there were no significant differences in quality of life six-month in minimal (40.5% vs. 39.6%, p >0.05) and mild (54.8% vs. 54.2%, p>0.05) physical activity limitation according to Seatle angina score after PCI. Meanwhile, significantly more patients in the angiography-only PCI group suffered moderate physical limitation (4.65 % vs. 11.54%, p=0.015) during daily physical exertion.



#### **Conclusions**

As experts recommend, physiology-guided PCIs improve patient outcomes. QFR-guided PCIs improve patients' quality of life as more of them could do daily physical activity without moderate limitations than angiography-only-guided PCIs. This is why QFR application in clinical practice may increase patient outcomes after PCI.

# References

- 1. Ziubryte G, Jarusevicius G. Fractional flow reserve, quantitative flow ratio, and instantaneous wave-free ratio: a comparison of the procedure-related dose of ionising radiation. Postępy w Kardiologii Interwencyjnej = Advances in Interventional Cardiology 2021;17:33.
- 2. Xu B, Tu S, Qiao S, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy of Angiography-Based Quantitative Flow Ratio Measurements for Online Assessment of Coronary Stenosis. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 2017;70:3077–3087.
- 3. Barauskas M, Žiubrytė G, Barauskienė G, et al. Systemic analysis of diagnostic performance and agreement between fractional fl ow reserve and quantitative fl ow ratio. Cor et Vasa 2021;63:683–687.

Quantitative Flow Ratio suitability for evaluation of the physiology significance of intermediate non-culprit arteries stenosis for STEMI patients in the acute phase.

### **Authors**

### Nojus Jodka

Faculty of Medicine, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania

### Mindaugas Barauskas

Department of Cardiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania

# Greta Žiubrytė

Department of Cardiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania Ramūnas Unikas

Department of Cardiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania



### Introduction

Most of the experts recommend physiology-guided PCIs worldwide. The treatment based on physiology evaluation greatly protects patients from major adverse cardiac events in the future. A gold standard physiology evaluation method is fractional flow reserve (FFR). However, the use of FFR in non-culprit arteries in acute coronary syndrome (ACS) patients remains an issue worldly because it requires more time, pressure wire manipulations, and the use of adenosine. The combination of all these domains is inappropriate to be used for STEMI patients. Quantitative Flow Ratio (QFR), a novel non-invasive FFR value computation method that has an excellent agreement to FFR in clinical decision comparison, is an advantageous physiology evaluation method.

#### Aim

This study was aimed to study numerical and treatment decision-making differences between QFR measurements in the non-culprit lesion in STEMI patients performed at ACS procedure and during the second-stage procedure before PCI.

### Methods

In total, 81 vessels of 68 patients who had STEMI and second stage PCI other than culprit artery between June 2021 and December 2021 have been included in this single-center study. For all included patients, QFR analyses were performed twice – at ACS PCI (QFR 1) and during the second stage procedure before PCI and at least three months later (QFR 2). For the difference evaluation, head-to-head numerical comparison and differences in treatment decision-making were chosen. Statistical analysis was performed using the software package SPSS 28.0. The chosen level of significance was  $\rm p < 0.05.$ 

#### Results

Of all included arteries, 46 (56.8%) were left anterior descending (LAD), 25 (30.9%) were left circumflex (LCx), and 10 (12.3%) were right coronary arteries (RCA). A good agreement was found in all investigated lesions, r=0.931, p<0.001. After dividing all lesions according to coronary artery (CA) following results were found LAD r=0.911, p<0.001, LCx r=0.977, p

< 0.001 and RCA 0.946, p < 0.01. The secondary and even more research was differences in clinical treatment decision-making, which generally showed strong agreement between the 1st and the 2nd QFR analyses, r = 0.980, p < 0.001. After dividing according to coronary arteries, good results were found in all: LAD r = 1.0, p < 0.001



0.001; LCx r=1.0, p<0.001; RCA r=0.843, p<0.001. There was only one disagreement in RCA between the 1st and 2nd QFR analyses. In this case, the 1st QFR was non-significant (0.85), and the second was marginal (0.80).

## **Conclusions**

QFR is a novel physiology evaluation method that can be performed within a couple of minutes and requires only coronary artery angiograms. Furthermore, it has an excellent agreement between the acute phase and at 3-month follow-up period. Therefore, wider QFR application in ACS is reliable for treatment decision-making and can be used as a single physiology evaluation method for physiology-guided PCIs. It decreasing the patients' risk and increasingthe quality of life.

- 1. Barauskas M, Žiubrytė G, Barauskienė G, et al. Systemic analysis of diagnostic performance and agreement between fractional fl ow reserve and quantitative fl ow ratio. Cor et Vasa 2021;63:683–687.
- 2. Ziubryte G, Jarusevicius G. Fractional flow reserve, quantitative flow ratio, and instantaneous wave-free ratio: a comparison of the procedure-related dose of ionising radiation. Postępy w Kardiologii Interwencyjnej = Advances in Interventional Cardiology 2021;17:33.
- 3. Milzi A, Dettori R, Marx N, et al. Quantitative flow ratio (QFR) identifies functional relevance of non-culprit lesions in coronary angiographies of patients with acute myocardial infarction. Clinical Research in Cardiology 2021;110:1659.
- 4. Xu B, Tu S, Qiao S, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy of Angiography-Based Quantitative Flow Ratio Measurements for Online Assessment of Coronary Stenosis. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 2017;70:3077–3087.



# Association of myocardial injury biomarkers and left ventricular functional parameters in STEMI patients treated with PPCI.

#### **Authors**

#### Olesia Ivanova

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Simona Dužinaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### leva Jonauskienė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# **Tomas Lapinskas**

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Olivija Gustienė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Agneta Virbickienė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Acute myocardial infarction (MI) - is a condition characterized as extensive myocardial damage with active inflammatory response which leads to left ventricular (LV) remodeling and functional impairment [1]. Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR) is a gold standard method for assessing LV function, which is the key prognosticator in ST elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) patients [2]. Additionally, CMR enables us to incorporate myocardial strain, which is more specific approach in detecting early or subclinical LV functional changes [3]. Combining this sensitive technique with



biomarkers for myocardial necrosis and inflammation may allow us to detect high-risk STEMI patients and improve the prognosis of adverse cardiac events [4].

#### Aim

To investigate the relationship between LV functional parameters from CMR and laboratory biomarkers in patients presenting with acute STEMI treated with primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PPCI)

# Methods

The study included 30 patients with acute STEMI. Laboratory tests, such as troponin I, leukocytes, neutrophils, hs-CRP (high sensitivity - C reactive protein) and CRP were examined after PPCI. Baseline CMR was performed 2-5 days after ACS (n=30). Follow-up imaging was performed 6 months later (n=26). CMR analysis included the quantification of LV ejection fraction, as well as the measurement of global longitudinal (GLS) and global circumferential (GCS) strain using the eature tracking technique. These parameters were carried out using Medis 3.2 software. The differences between baseline and follow-up CMR parameters were compared, and the correlations between CMR results and laboratory findings were investigated. The statistical analysis was carried out using SPSS version 28.0.1.0.The result was declared statistically significant when the calculated p value was less than 0.05.

#### Results

The mean age of the participants was 60 ( $\pm 11$ ). At the follow-up, there was a significant improvement in LVEF ( $44.17\pm9.61\%$  vs.  $47.52\pm11.30\%$ ; p<0.05), GLS ( $-19.29\pm3.74\%$  vs. -  $21.87\pm5.65\%$ ; p<0.05), and GCS ( $-24.22\pm5.70\%$  vs.- $26.28\pm6.91\%$ ; p<0.05) compared to the baseline. Additionally, there was a moderate correlation between troponin I and baseline GLS (r=0.462; p=0.010), GCS (r=0.452; p=0.012) and LVEF (r=-0.432; p=0.017) as well as follow-up GLS (r=0.444; p=0,026) and LVEF (r=-0.544; p=0.004). Moderate correlation was also found between CRP and follow-up GCS (r=0.520; p=0.008). There were no statistically significant differences between other laboratory and LV functional parameters.

#### **Conclusions**

A significant improvement in LV functional parameters 6 months after the ACS was observed. Troponin I was significantly associated with all measured LV functional parameters. Moreover, CRP was significantly associated with follow-up GCS



#### References

- Vanhaverbeke M, Veltman D, Pattyn N, De Crem N, Gillijns H, Cornelissen V, Janssens S, Sinnaeve PR. C-reactive protein during and after myocardial infarction in relation to cardiac injury and left ventricular function at follow-up. Clin Cardiol. 2018 Sep;41(9):1201-1206. doi: 10.1002/clc.23017. Epub 2018 Sep 20. PMID: 29952015; PMCID: PMC6221028.
- 2. Assuncao-Jr AN, Dantas-Jr RN, do Val RM, Gianotto P, Marin ADS, Golden M, Gutierrez MA, Parga JR, Nomura CH. Clinical evaluation of left ventricular function and morphology using an accelerated k-t sensitivity encoding method in cardiovascular magnetic resonance. Insights Imaging. 2019 Jun 13;10(1):62. doi: 10.1186/s13244-019-0750-6. PMID: 31197500; PMCID: PMC6565778.
- 3. Mangion K, McComb C, Auger DA, Epstein FH, Berry C. Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Myocardial Strain After Acute ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction: A Systematic Review. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2017 Aug;10(8):e006498. doi: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.117.006498. PMID: 28733364.
- 4. Navinan MR, Mendis S, Wickramasinghe S, Kathirgamanathan A, Fernando T, Yudhisdran J. Inflammation in ST- elevation myocardial infarction: risk factors, patterns of presentation and association with clinical picture and outcome, an observational study conducted at the Institute of Cardiology-National Hospital of Sri Lanka. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2019 May 14;19(1):111. doi: 10.1186/s12872-019-1104-5. PMID: 31088357; PMCID: PMC6518612.

# The association between acute coronary syndrome and local Earth magnetic field intensity changes

### **Authors**

# Gabrielė Jakuškaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Giedrė Vanagaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Gediminas Jaruševičius



Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Greta Žiubrytė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Alfonsas Vainoras

Institute of Cardiology, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Although a number of risk factors and comorbidities are known to contribute to the progression of ischemic heart disease, environmental factors such as the geomagnetic field are also known to have a significant impact on cardiovascular regulation. Further research is needed to assess if geomagnetic field strengthening in high frequency ranges causes a negative effect on cardiovascular diseases [1-4].

#### Aim

To identify correlation between changes in local Earth magnetic field intensity and patients with ST segment elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) and non-ST segment elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI).

### Methods

A retrospective study of 1667 patients, who were admitted to the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics between 1st January and 31st December 2019 due to acute coronary syndrome (STEMI and NSTEMI), were included into the study. Local Earth magnetic field was measured by a magnetometer located in Baisogala, Lithuania. Data from the magnetometer was collected daily, and weekly averaged. We assessed the correlations between average weekly geomagnetic field strength in six different frequency ranges (Hz): P1 (SDelta) [0-3.5]; P2 (STheta) [3.5-7.0]; P3 (SAlpha) [7.0-15.0]; P4 (SBeta) [15.0-32.0]; P5 (SGamma) [32.0-65.0]; P6 [0-65.0] and average number of STEMI and NSTEMI cases per week. Study period was divided into 4 seasons: Winter (December - February), Spring (March - May), Summer (June - August), Autumn (September - November). Microsoft Excel and IBM SPSS Statistics version 27.0 were used for analysis. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test showed that data was normally distributed. Data was analyzed using descriptive statistics and Pearson correlation coefficient (r). The relationship between the two quantitative



features was considered weak if the correlation coefficient (r) was up to 0.3, moderate-between 0.3 and 0.75, and strong if it was greater than 0.75. P value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## **Results**

There were a total of 1667 patients in the study, 1073 (64.37%) were male and 594 (35.63%) were women. Mean ages of men were 65.2 (SD=12.22) and 74.01 (SD=11.01) for women. Out of all cases, 726 (43.55%) were STEMI and 941 (56.45%) - NSTEMI. Analyzing the data of 2019, it was observed that the presence of a stronger magnetic field in the frequency range 32-65 Hz increased statistically significantly in the STEMI group during the winter season (r

= 0.583, p = 0.036), while in the NSTEMI group no reliable correlations were found (r = 0,116, p = 0,706). There were no significant geomagnetic field strength changes in other frequency ranges (0-3.5 Hz; 3.5-7.0 Hz; 7.0-15.0 Hz; 15.0-32.0 Hz; 0-65.0 Hz) during the winter season in both STEMI and NSTEMI groups. No reliable correlations were found in geomagnetic field changes in the spring, summer, and fall season groups.

#### **Conclusions**

Based on the described data, increased local geomagnetic field strength in high frequency (SGamma) range correlates with a higher number of STEMI cases.

- 1. Benjamin EJ, Muntner P, Alonso A, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2019 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Vol. 139, Circulation. 2019. 56–528 p.
- 2. Gmitrov J, Gmitrova A. Geomagnetic Field Effect on Cardiovascular Regulation. Bioelectromagnetics. 2004;25(2):92–101.
- 3. Wu H, Chang W, Deng Y, Chen X, Ding Y, Li X, et al. Effect of simulated geomagnetic activity on myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats. Brazilian J Cardiovasc Surg. 2019;34(6):674–9.
- 4. Jaruševičius G, Rugelis T, McCraty R, Landauskas M, Berškienė K, Vainoras A. Correlation between changes in local earth's magnetic field and cases of acute myocardial infarction.Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(3):1–12.



# Relation of myocardial strain and structural parameters in STEMI patients after Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. Cardiac MRI study

#### **Authors**

### Arnoldas Leleika

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Agneta Virbickienė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences. Kaunas. Lithuania

#### Justina Jurevičiūtė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Neda Jonaitienė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Olivija Gustienė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# **Tomas Lapinskas**

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Mortality in ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) patients has decreased significantly over the last decade due to improved reperfusion strategies [1]. Cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) has great accuracy in quantifying functional and structural myocardial parameters such as myocardial strain, infarct size (IS), area-at-risk (AAR) and microvascular obstruction (MVO) in STEMI patients [2]. According to recent studies, combining functional and structural CMR measures is more accurate than LVEF alone to



assess early and late prognosis following STEMI [3].

#### Aim

To evaluate the relationship between CMR myocardial functional and structural parameters in patients presenting with acute STEMI treated with primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PPCI).

### Methods

Fifty-one patient were included in our study. Initial CMR was performed 2-5 days after the diagnosis of STEMI, while a follow-up study was completed 6 months later. Analysis of CMR images was performed using Medis Suite 3.2 software. Left ventricular global longitudinal strain (LVGLS), global circumferential strain (LVGCS), right ventricular strain (RVS), left atrium strain (LAS), and the right atrium strain (RAS), were analyzed using the feature tracking technique. Structural parameters (IS, AAR, MVO) were evaluated for 31 patients. The differences between functional baseline and follow-up CMR parameters were compared, and the correlations between functional and structural measures were investigated. The statistical analysis was performed with SPSS version 28.0.1.0. The result was statistically significant when the calculated p-value was less than 0.05.

## Results

Mean of age was  $59.1\pm10.5$  years. From baseline to follow-up there was significant improvement in GLS (-19.80±3,86% vs. -23.28±5.35%; p<0.05), GCS (-26.34±6.10% vs. - 27.48±11.95%; p<0.05), RVS (-23.00±6.23% vs. -25.50±10.54%; p<0.05) and LAS (18.16±6.10% vs.  $21.20\pm6.23\%$ ; p<0.05). RAS did not change significantly at follow-up. At baseline mean of IS was  $44.40\pm18.75\%$ , AAR -  $52.89\pm18.40\%$  and MVO -  $8.73\pm7.82\%$ . Baseline GLS correlated moderately significantly with baseline IS (p<0.001; r=0.693) and follow-up IS (p=0.004; r=0.545), AAR (p<0.001; r=0.660), and weakly correlated with MVO (p=0.031 r=0.395).

Moreover, significant moderately correlations according were detected with baseline GCS and baseline AAR (p=0.002; r=0.547), IS (p=0.002; r=0.543) and follow-up IS (p=0.019; r=0.455). Also there was significant correlation between baseline LAS and baseline IS (p=0.045; r=- 0.375). There were no significant correlations between RAS, RVS and structural myocardial parameters.



#### Conclusions

In our study, we observed a significant improvement in myocardial strain parameters 6 months after STEMI. Additionally, correlations demonstrated that myocardial strain is closely related to structural changes, particularly infarct size. The combination of these parameters is becoming more valuable in cardioprotective studies focusing on myocardial ischaemic reperfusion injury following PPCI.

#### References

- 1. Bonanad C, Monmeneu J V, Lopez-Lereu MP, Hervas A, de Dios E, Gavara J, et al. Prediction of long-term major events soon after a first ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction by cardiovascular magnetic resonance. Eur J Radiol. 2016;85(3):585–92.
- 2. Hashemi D, Motzkus L, Blum M, Kraft R, Tanacli R, Tahirovic E, et al. Myocardial deformation assessed among heart failure entities by cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging. ESC Hear Fail. 2021;8(2):890–7.
- 3. Holzknecht M, Reindl M, Tiller C, Reinstadler SJ, Lechner I, Pamminger M, et al. Global longitudinal strain improves risk assessment after ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: a comparative prognostic evaluation of left ventricular functional parameters. Clin Res Cardiol. 2021 Oct;110(10):1599–611.

Assessment of right heart pressures, geometry and function in pulmonary hypertension patients: correlation between echocardiographic and right heart catheterization data

#### **Authors**

#### Žemyna Kurnickaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Viktorija Janonytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania



#### Aušra Krivickienė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Eglė Ereminienė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences. Kaunas. Lithuania

#### Introduction

Right heart catheterization (RHC) is a gold standard test used to determine pulmonary hypertension (PH) after PH is suspected by echocardiography. Research into how the invasively measured pressures of the right heart and pulmonary artery (PA) correlates with right-sided heart geometrical and functional parameters is currently lacking.

#### Aim

To analyze the correlation between transthoracic 2D echocardiographic and RHC derived parameters of PA pressures, right heart chambers size and right ventricular (RV) function

#### Methods

This prospective study consisted of 41 patients with PH (mean pulmonary artery pressure (PAP)  $44\pm16,38$ mmHg, Wedge pressure  $12,68\pm7,59$ mmHg), confirmed by RHC. RV end diastolic diameter, RV longitudinal systolic function parameters (RV S', TAPSE), right and left atrium diameters and mean and maximal systolic PA pressures were evaluated using 2D echocardiography. RHC parameters were as follows: mean and maximal PA pressures, Wedge and right atrium pressures. Pearson correlation analysis was performed and two-tailed probability value <0,05 was considered statistically significant.

#### Results

The average age was 57  $\pm$ 14 years with the majority of women (62,5%). 56% of the study patients were in I, 27% in II, 2% in III and 15% in IV PH WHO group. There was a significant correlation between non-invasively (using echocardiography) and invasively (using RHC) measured mean and maximal PAP (R=0,37, p=0,01 and R=0,399, p=0,013, respectively). Their was ively measured mean PA pressure correlated with right



ventricular diastolic diameter (R=0,403, p=0,008), however no correlation with RV longitudinal function parameters (S' and TAPSE, p= 0,222 and p= 0,212, respectively) was found. The invasively measured Wedge pressure had a significant correlation with left atrial diameter (R=0,452, p=0,003), but not with left ventricular ejection fraction (p=0,221).

#### **Conclusions**

Although RHC is the gold standard of pulmonary artery pressures estimation, echocardiography, as a more accessible examination, may provide clinically useful measures of PA mean and maximal pressures in PH patients. The mean pulmonary artery pressure estimated by RHC has a significant correlation with right ventricular diastolic diameter, but not with RV longitudinal function parameters.

#### References

- 1. Humbert M, Vachiery J-L, Gibbs S, Lang I, Torbicki A, Simonneau G, et al. 1093/eurheartj/ehv317) and the. Eur Respir J [Internet]. [cited 2022 Feb 15]; Available from: http://www.escardio.org/guidelines
- 2. Sarah B, Ashrith G, Sandeep S. Evaluation, Diagnosis, and Classification of PulmonaryHypertension. Methodist Debakey Cardiovasc J [Internet]. Methodist DeBakey Heart & Vascular Center; 2021 [cited 2022 Feb 15];17:86. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8298121/

### The impact of obesity on in-hospital clinical outcomes after recanalisation of chronic total occlusions

#### **Authors**

#### Eglė Labanauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Ali Aldujeli

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Rima Braukylienė



Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Ramūnas Unikas

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences. Kaunas. Lithuania

#### Introduction

Recanalisation of chronic total occlusions (CTOs) in interventional cardiology is one of the most challenging and complex procedures [1]. Coronary artery CTOs can be identified in one in every five patients who show clinical indications for coronary angiography [2]. Obesity is linked to a heightened risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) [3]. Currently, no data are available about the impact of BMI on success rates among CTO patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI).

#### Aim

To investigate the impact that BMI has on success rates, complications, and procedure characteristics among a large group of CTO patients who underwent percutaneous coronary intervention.

#### Methods

The study retrospectively included 420 patients who underwent PCI for at least one chronic total occlusion in the LUHS Kaunas Clinics. All patients were grouped by their BMI level based on the World Health Organisation classification: from 18.5 to 24.9 kg/m²=normal weight; from 25 to 29.9 kg/m²=overweight; from 30 to 34.9 kg/m²=obesity; greater than or equal to 35 kg/m²=very obese. In order to subdivide the patients according to the complexity of the CTO– PCI, the Japanese–CTO (J–CTO) score was used prior to the interventions. The definition of success in the procedure was a restoration of TIMI grade 3 flow and recanalisation of CTO. Each patient had a composite safety endpoint evaluation. This summarized complications: stroke, cardiac tamponade, vascular complications, or in–hospital death. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 20.0 software. The value of p<0.05 was considered as statistically significant.



#### Results

Males (62%) made up the majority of patients and were younger than female patients (67  $\pm$  7.1 years vs. 72.2  $\pm$  4.4 years; p<0.001). Mean BMI was 26.8 kg/m² ( $\pm$  6.5 kg/m²). From the 420 patients the following BMIs were recorded: normal weight-42 (10%); overweight-252(60%); obese-100 (23.8%); very obese-26 (6.2%). Positive correlations were detected between BMI and cardiovascular risk factors: normal BMI patients had higher HDL cholesterol (p<0.05) and lower triglycerides (p<0.05). The amount of contrast medium used increased as the BMI increased (p=0.012) also as fluoroscopy time (p=0.03). Procedure duration of normal patients was lower as compared to patients with non-normal BMIs (p=0.024). There was no statistically significant difference in procedural complications (p=0.12). The complications that did occur were mostly vascular. In 3 cases cardiac tamponade occurred. Similarly, 3 patients were diagnosed with acute stroke after CTO-PCI. No in-hospital deaths were recorded.

#### **Conclusions**

This retrospective study indicates that BMI has no statistically significant impact on in– hospital outcomes in patients with chronic total occlusion after percutaneous coronary intervention.

- 1. Konstantinidis N, Pighi M, Dogu Kilic I, et al. New Advances in Chronic Total Occlusions. Interv Cardiol. 2014; 9(3): 208–212.
- 2. Fefer P, Knudtson ML, Cheema AN, et al. Current perspectives on coronary chronic total occlusions: the Canadian Multicenter Chronic Total Occlusions Registry. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012; 59(11): 991–997.
- 3. Chen Yu, Copeland WK, Vedanthan R, et al. Association between body mass index and cardiovascular disease mortality in east Asians and south Asians: pooled analysis of prospective data from the Asia Cohort Consortium. BMJ. 2013; 347: f5446.

# **Internal Medicine**



### Associations between Helicobacter pylori infection and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease

#### **Authors**

#### Monika Šataitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Sigita Gelman

Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

The relationship between Helicobacter pylori (HP) infection and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a matter of debate and the results remain controversial, although meta-analysis indicate a positive association between HP infection and NAFLD. By confirming the link, new insights might be provided in the management of NAFLD.

#### Aim

The aim of this study was to determine the association between HP infection and NAFLD.

#### Methods

We performed a retrospective study involving 120 patients diagnosed with NAFLD at the LUHS KC Department of Gastroenterology in 2020. Inclusion criteria were age

 $\geq$ 18 years, diagnosis of NAFLD and other causes of hepatitis ruled out. Analyzed data: liver enzymes and total serum bilirubin, body mass index (BMI), obtained attenuation parameter and liver stiffness measurements using FibroScan. HP infection was assessed and patients were grouped according to infectivity. Diagnosis of HP infection was based on the results of a serum anti-HP IgG antibody test or histology. Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS 28.0 Statistics software. Data significance was evaluated using Mann-Whitney U-test and Student's T-test. Data differences were considered statistically significant at p <0.05.



#### Results

Out of 120 patients with NAFLD 58 (48,3%) were men and 62 (51,7%) were women. Mean age of the participants was 51,6 $\pm$ 12,9 years. HP infection was diagnosed in 24 patients (20%). Alanine transaminase (ALT) and aspartate transaminase (AST) were significantly higher in HP-negative patients (p=0,019 and p=0,001 accordingly). Gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) and total serum bilirubin were insignificantly higher in HP-negative patients (p>0,05). Alkaline phosphatase (ALP) was similar in both HP-positive and HP-negative groups (p>0.05). Although average BMI was similar in both groups (p>0,05), average steatosis, steatosis grade and fibrosis, fibrosis stage were insignificantly higher in HP-negative patients (p>0,05).

#### **Conclusions**

One fifth of patients with NAFLD had HP infection, which corresponds with the prevalence of infection in general population. According to our retrospective analysis, there is no connection between NAFLD and HP infection.

- 1. Wei L, Ding HG. Relationship between Helicobacter pylori infection and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: What should we expect from a meta-analysis? Medicine (Baltimore). 2021 Aug 6;100(31):e26706. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000000026706.
- 2. Mantovani A, Turino T, Altomari A, Lonardo A, Zoppini G, Valenti L, Tilg H, Byrne CD, Targher G. Association between Helicobacter pylori infection and risk of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: An updated meta-analysis. Metabolism. 2019 Jul;96:56-65. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2019.04.012.
- 3. Abo-Amer YE, Sabal A, Ahmed R, Hasan NFE, Refaie R, Mostafa SM, Mohamed AA, Khalil M, Elagawy W, Abd-Elsalam S. Relationship Between Helicobacter pylori Infection and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) in a Developing Country: A Cross-Sectional Study. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2020 Mar 2;13:619-625. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S237866. PMID: 32184641;
- 4. Okushin K, Takahashi Y, Yamamichi N, Shimamoto T, Enooku K, Fujinaga H, Tsutsumi T, Shintani Y, Sakaguchi Y, Ono S, Kodashima S, Fujishiro M, Moriya K, Yotsuyanagi H, Mitsushima T, Koike K. Helicobacter pylori infection is not associated with fatty liver disease including non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a large-scale cross-sectional study in Japan. BMC Gastroenterol. 2015 Feb 19:15:25. doi: 10.1186/s12876-015-0247-9.



- 5. Wang J, Dong F, Su H, Zhu L, Shao S, Wu J, Liu H. H. pylori is related to NAFLD but only in female: A Cross-sectional Study. Int J Med Sci. 2021 Apr 2;18(11):2303-2311. doi: 10.7150/ijms.50748.
- 6. Han YM, Lee J, Choi JM, Kwak MS, Yang JI, Chung SJ, Yim JY, Chung GE. The association between Helicobacter pylori with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease assessed by controlled attenuation parameter and other metabolic factors. PLoS One. 2021 Dec 13;16(12):e0260994. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0260994.

# Efficacy of different treatment strategies in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in Hospital of LUHS Kauno Klinikos

#### **Authors**

#### Danielė Jonušaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### leva Petkutė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Šarūnas Simenas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Egidijus Morkūnas

Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the fifth most common cancer which has an increasingly high mortality rate worldwide [1]. It is predicted that the incidence and mortality of HCC will significantly increase in the next decade [2].



#### Aim

To assess the efficacy of different treatment methods in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in the Hospital of LUHS Kauno Klinikos and to compare survival times with global BCLC guidelines.

#### Methods

We retrospectively analyzed 105 patients treated in the Hospital of LUSH Kauno Klinikos with an HCC diagnosis in 2012-2022. Patients were divided into 2 groups based on their Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) stage at the time of diagnosis: 39 (37.14%) patients in Group A with stages 0-A (very early, early) and 66 (62.86%) patients in Group B with stages B-D (intermediate, advanced, terminal). Treatment methods were grouped into 4 groups: transarterial embolization (TAE+TACE), systemic, radical (radiofrequency ablation, tumor resection, liver transplantation) and multiple (2 or more combined). Outcomes were compared between groups A and B, survival times were compared with BCLC guidelines [3]. The normality of data was assessed with Kolmogorov–Smirnov, Shapiro-Wilk tests. For descriptive statistics, median values (min-max) were used. For nonparametric statistics, a Mann–Whitney test was performed for a comparison between two groups and Kruskal-Wallis for more than two groups. Statistical significance: p<0.0.

#### Results

The most used treatment method was radical (48.7%, n=19) in group A and systemic in group B (40.9%, n=27). In both groups, patients survived the longest after receiving multiple treatment methods: in group A: 38.5 months (15-120; p=0.031), in group B: 23 months (2-89). Patients treated with radical treatment methods survived 31 months (1-139; p=0.031) in group A vs.15 months (0-89) in group B. Those who underwent transarterial embolization survived 17 months (6-22; p=0.031) in group A vs.19 months (1-91) in group B. Patients who received systemic treatment survived 38 months (23-44; p=0.031) in group A vs.13 months (1-46) in group B. Median survival time in group A was 30 months (3-139, p<0.001) which is shorter than predicted survival time for patients with BCLC 0-A stages (>60 months). Patients in group B survived 17.5 months (0-91, p<0.001) which is also shorter than BCLC predictions for patients with B (>30 months) or C (>24 months) stages.

#### **Conclusions**

Multiple treatment methods are the most effective therapeutic strategy with the



longest survival time for HCC patients with BCLC stages 0-A as well as B-D. Patients treated with multiple treatment methods survived longer because in the early 0-A stages treatment usually starts with radical procedures, followed by other treatment methods when the disease is progressing, whereas in B-D stages treatment usually right from the start consists of several treatment methods combined.

Our patients in both BCLC stages 0-A and B-D reached shorter survival times compared with BCLC guideline.

#### References

- 1. Jindal A, Thadi A, Shailubhai K. Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Etiology and Current anFuture Drugs. J Clin ExpHepatol. 2019;9(2):221-232.
- 2. Liang L, Xing H, Zhang H, Zhong J, Li C, Lau WY, Wu M, Shen F, Yang T. Surgical resection versus transarterial chemoembolization for BCLC intermediate-stage hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. HPB (Oxford). 2018 Feb:20(2):110-119.
- 3. Reig M, Forner A, Rimola J, Ferrer-Fàbrega J, Burrel M, Garcia-Criado Á, Kelley RK, Galle PR, Mazzaferro V, Salem R, Sangro B, Singal AG, Vogel A, Fuster J, Ayuso C, Bruix J. BCLC strategy for prognosis prediction and treatment recommendation: The 2022 update. J Hepatol. 2021 Nov 19:S0168-8278(21)02223-6.

### Factors affecting survival time in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma

#### **Authors**

#### Šarūnas Simenas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Danielė Jonušaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### leva Petkutė



Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Egidijus Morkūnas

Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is a malignant primary liver cancer. In recent years, the number of diagnoses and mortality rate of HCC has been increasing in many regions of the world [1]. It is very important to identify prognostic factors for survival time of HCC patients.

#### Aim

The aim of this study is to identify factors that affect the survival time of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma before they undergo a specific treatment.

#### Methods

This retrospective study analysed 127 patients with diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) who were treated in The Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (LSMU) Kauno klinikos between 2016 June and 2020 December (LSMU Centre for Bioethics permission No. BE-2-31). The following data were collected: the concentration of the first time measured alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) in serum, Child- Pugh classes, patients age and sex, diameter of the largest tumour node, multinodular/non-multinodular HCC. The normality of data was assessed with Kolmogorov–Smirnov, Shapiro-Wilk tests. For descriptive statistics means (SD), median values (min-max) were used. For nonparametric statistics, a Mann–Whitney U - test was performed for a comparison between two groups and Kruskar-Wallis for more than two groups. The association between two quantitative variables was counted with Spearman's correlation coefficient. Statistically significant difference is when p<0,05.

#### Results

The mean of patient age was 63,99 ( $\pm 10,066$ ). The median of survival time in months was 20 (0–139). The difference between men (19 (0-139) and women (22 (0-91) was not statistically significant (p=0,998). There were 88 (69,29%) patients with Child-



Pugh class A, 20 (15,75%) - class B, 10 (7,88%) class C, and 9 (7,09%) with an unknown class. The median of survival time of patients with Child-Pugh class A liver function was 22,5 (0-139), B - 8 (0-89), C - 2,5 (0-30) months with statistically significant difference (p<0,001). The median of survival time of multinodular HCC patients was 13,50 (0-139), for non-multinodular patients - 22 (0-120) (p=0,05). There was a statistically significant correlation between the diameter of the biggest tumour node and survival time (R=-0,359, p<0,001). However, there was no statistically significant correlation between the concentration of first time measured AFP and the survival time (R=-0,167, p=0,125).

#### **Conclusions**

Liver function (defined as Child-Pugh class) and the size of tumour both affect the survival time of HCC patients and they are important for predicting the prognosis.

#### References

1. Singal AG, El-Serag HB. Hepatocellular carcinoma from epidemiology to prevention: translating knowledge into practice. Clinical gastroenterology and hepatology 2015;13(12):2140-2151.

## Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms in Lithuania 2020: a single-center analysis

#### **Authors**

#### Gabrielė Cibulskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Vilnius University, Vilnius Lithuania

#### **Rokas Stulpinas**

Faculty of Medicine, Vilnius University, Vilnius Lithuania

#### Ugnius Mickys

National Center of Pathology, Vilnius Lithuania



#### Introduction

According to the current classification of tumors of the digestive system, the neuroendocrine spectrum is split into well differentiated neuroendocrine tumors (NETs, graded into G1-G3) and poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas (NECs, small cell and large cell types), both of which can also be a component of mixed neuroendocrine-non-neuroendocrine neoplasms (MiNEN).[1,2] The tumor grading system has been constantly changing in search of the most appropriate way to group these neoplasms, causing organ-specific diagnostic differences.[1,2] This analysis reports the rate of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (GEP NENs), as well as reflects shifts in classification, to facilitate diagnostic improvement.

#### Aim

To analyze 2020 pathology reports in National Center of Pathology (Lithuania) and summarize the whole spectrum of GEP neuroendocrine lesions with emphasis on their location.

#### Methods

A total of 209 cases with confirmed lesions of neuroendocrine origin diagnosed in the NCP (Lithuania) during a one-year period of 2020 were identified and further analyzed. The pathologic diagnoses were obtained from "PathIS" information system using filters for key phrases and disease classification codes. Descriptive statistics were obtained using MS Excel after manually categorizing the unstructured data.

#### Results

Of 209 cases (consisting of neuroendocrine hyperplasia, non-neuroendocrine tumors with partial neuroendocrine differentiation, NETs, NECs and MiNENs), 160 (81 biopsy specimens, 67 surgical resections and 12 consultations) were first time NEN diagnoses. Of 160 NENs, 48 (30%) were of pulmonary origin, 64 (40%) were of GEP origin, 33 (21%) originated from other locations, 15 (9%) cases were metastasis of unknown origin. GEP NENs were most prevalent in stomach (27; 42%), pancreas (13; 20%) and colon (11; 17%), 5 (8%) cases were found in the appendix, the rest originated in the duodenum (2; 3%), ampulla of Vater (2; 3%) and small intestine (2; 3%). Sporadic GEP NENs were diagnosed in the esophagus and the rectum. 7 GEP MiNENs were found in the stomach (3; 43%), colon (3; 43%) and a. of Vater (1; 14%). 1/7 GEP MiNEN cases had a NET G1 component, 5/7 had a NEC component, and 1/7 was a G3 amphicrine MiNEN. The rest of 57 GEP NENs were categorized as G1 (30;



53%), G2 (13; 23%), G3 (14; 24%) 2 were NET G3s and 12 were NECs). 59/64 (92%) GEP NEN cases had their Ki-67 proliferative index assessed. In 33 (51%) cases the index was <3%, in 9 (14%) it ranged 3-20%, in 17 (27%; 10 NECs, 7 NET G3s) it was above 20%. 5 (8%) GEP NEN cases were not evaluated for Ki-67.

#### Conclusions

As data from previous years shows, the most common GEP NENs origin sites in Lithuania remain the stomach, pancreas and colon. These persistent differences from the most common NEN sites reported in USA (rectum and small intestine) could be an interesting topic for further investigation. Incidence of gastric NENs has increased, though this deviation is likely sporadic and depends on local diagnostic approach.

- 1. Gill AJ. Why did they change that? Practical implications of the evolving classification of neuroendocrine tumours of the gastrointestinal tract. Histopathology;78(1):162–70. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/his.14172
- 2. Nagtegaal ID, Odze RD, Klimstra D, Paradis V, Rugge M, Schirmacher P, Washington KM, Carneiro F, Cree IA, WHO Classification of Tumours Editorial Board. The 2019 WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. Histopathology. 2020 m.
- 3. La Rosa S. Challenges in High-grade Neuroendocrine Neoplasms and Mixed Neuroendocrine/Non-neuroendocrine Neoplasms. Endocr Pathol https://doi.org/10.1007/s12022-021-09676-z
- 4. La Rosa S, Marando A, Sessa F, Capella C. Mixed Adenoneuroendocrine Carcinomas (MANECs) of the Gastrointestinal Tract: An Update. Cancers https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3712682/



### Analysis of early post-transplant period complications in renal transplant recipients

#### **Authors**

#### Karolina Stankevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Gerardas Savulionis**

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Kristina Petrulienė

Department of Nephrology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Kidney transplantation (KT) is the treatment of choice for end-stage kidney disease. Despite the advances, the risk of early post-transplant complications (PTC) remains high. Complications associated with delayed graft function (DGF), immunosuppressive therapy as well as urological and infectious causes can lead to increased morbidity, prolonged hospital stay or a need for a second surgical procedure.

#### Aim

To analyze the frequency of complications and DGF in renal transplant recipients during the early post-transplant period and to determine independent factors affecting the complications and DGF rate.

#### Methods

We performed a retrospective epidemiological study of patients, who underwent KT in 01/01/2020 - 31/07/2021 period at the Hospital of LUHS Kaunas Clinics. Data were collected using anelectronic medical record syste and a special questionnaire. For statistical analysis, we used SPSS v. 27.0. For the evaluation of continuous variables, the statistical mean and standard deviation were used. Kolmogorov–Smirnov



statistics were used to evaluate sample normality distribution. Comparison between groups was performed using the Student's t-test and Mann–Whitney U test. Spearman rank correlation was used to evaluate the relationship between sets of data. The logistic regression analysis has been conducted during which the odds ratios (OR) for appearing DGF (need for dialysis, within 1 week after kidney transplantation) and other early complications, that appeared during the first hospitalization after the surgery, have been established. Significant values were considered when p < 0.05.

#### Results

A total of 59 kidney recipients were included in the study: 23 (39%) women and 36 (61%) men, mean age  $49.9\pm12.9$  years. 62.7% of patients suffered from early PTC. The most common complications were: infectious complications (IC) (47.5%), complications of immunosuppression (22.1%), lymphatic system complications (10.2%), hematoma (6.8%), urine leakage (3.4%), acute rejection (3.4%). 50.8% of patients had a DGF. Patients age and gender didn't affect DGF, however, women were more likely to experience other PTC. OR for experiencing postoperative complications (95% CI) among women was higher 4.75 [1.236-16.758] than among men (p=0.012). Women were more likely to suffer from IC (95% CI) OR 4.57 [1.482 -14,102] compared to men (p=0.007). We analyzed correlation between recipients body mass index (BMI) and DGF. Patients, who have suffered from DGF had a mean BMI of 27.9 kg/m², meanwhile, recipients without DGF had a BMI of 25.1 kg/m² (p=0.035). BMI>25 was an independent prognostic factor for DGF (OR 3.606; 95% CI 1.214-10.71; p=0.019).

#### **Conclusions**

Our data showed that 62.7% of patients suffered from early post-transplant complications, most commonly infectious complications. Women were more likely to experience early post-transplant and infectious complications compared to men. More than half of the patients had a delayed graft function and it was more common among patients who were overweight.

- 1. Kidney transplantation in adults: Overview of care of the adult kidney transplant recipient UpToDate.
- 2. Calixto Fernandes MH, Schricker T, Magder S, Hatzakorzian R. Perioperative fluid management in kidney transplantation: a black box. Critical care (London, England). 2018 Jan 25; 22(1).
- 3. Bruintjes MHD, D'ancona FCH, Zhu X, Hoitsma AJ, Warlé MC. An Update on



- 4. Early Urological Complications in Kidney Transplantation: A National Cohort Study. Annals of Transplantation. 2019; 24:617.
- 5. Illesy L, Szabo-Pap M, Toth F, Zadori G, Zsom L, Asztalos L, et al. Bacterial Infections After Kidney Transplantation: A Single-Center Experience. Transplantation Proceedings. 2016 Sep 1;48(7):2540–3.

### Health sciences students' knowledge of hepatitis B virus and its primary prevention

#### **Authors**

#### Vita Karpavičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Karina Statkevičienė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Gediminas Kiudelis

Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Studies show that a full course of hepatitis B virus (HBV) vaccination provides protection for at least 15 years (sometimes for life) (1, 2) and the majority (>95%) of immunocompetent adults are able to recover spontaneously after infection (3). However, despite decades of HBV vaccine and effective antiviral drugs use since 1998, approximately 250 million people remain infected worldwide (4). The spread of the virus may be facilitated by asymptomatic course of the disease in 50-70% of adolescents and adults. It is also known that HBV can survive outside the body for at least 7 days (5). Prevention and management of HBV for all health science students before starting practical work is one of the pillars of an infection control strategy.



#### Aim

To assess and compare the knowledge of students from different faculties of the LUHS about HBV and its prevention.

#### Methods

The study was conducted using an original anonymous survey. Considering the highest risk of blood-borne infections in the future profession, it was decided to include students from 3 faculties in the survey: the Faculty of Dentistry (FD), Nursing (FN) and Medicine (FM). Data analysis was performed using SPSS statistics 25.0,  $\chi^2$  test of homogeneity and Fisher's exact test.

#### Results

A total of 149 students' answers about HBV and its prevention was included in the analysis: 41 from the FD, 45 from the FN and 63 from the FM. The students were similarly distributed in terms of duration of study: 80% of students were studying in higher than the 2nd year. 55.7% of students were under the mistaken belief that a person with HBV infection is more likely to experience certain symptoms than to have an asymptomatic course of the disease, with no significant difference between faculties (p=0.177). 83.9% of respondents thought that spontaneous recovery after HBV infection is not common (all students were equally wrong, p=0.869). When asked about the resistance of HBV to environmental factors, 49.7% of students said that HBV remains viable on surfaces for up to 24 hours, and 30.9% thought that it could survive for 3 days. FN students were more likely to choose the correct answer (26.7%), but there was no significant difference between groups (p=0.198). 51.7% of respondents incorrectly believed that a full course of the vaccine always provides protection for life. However, 87.9% of students rated the risk of HBV in their future occupation as higher than moderate, and 83.2% agreed that it is recommended to be vaccinated with HBV vaccine/know their immunological status before starting practical work. During the study year, information about HBV received by medical students was more often forgotten (61.9%), while FD (78%) and FN (60%) students stated that they received too little or no information at all.

#### Conclusions

The results show no significant difference in students' knowledge of HBV between faculties. The information received during the study year is insufficient especially for students of the Faculties of Dentistry and Nursing.



- 1. Hustache S, Moyroud L, Goirand L, Epaulard O. Hepatitis B vaccination status in an at-risk adult population: long-term immunity but insufficient coverage. European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases 2017 36:8 [Internet]. 2017 Mar 11 [cited 2022 Feb 7];36(8):1483–9. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10096-017-2957-0
- 2. Hepatitas B ULAC [Internet]. [cited 2022 Feb 7]. Available from: http://www.ulac.lt/ligos/H/hepatitas-b
- 3. Tripathi N, Mousa OY. Hepatitis B [Internet]. 2021 Jul 18 [cited 2022 Feb 7];1–7. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK555945/
- Nguyen MH, Wong G, Gane E, Kao JH, Dusheiko G. Hepatitis B Virus: Advances in Prevention, Diagnosis, and Therapy. Clinical Microbiology Reviews [Internet].
   2020 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Feb 7];33(2). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7048015/
- 5. Kwak HD, Kim SH, Seo YS, Song KJ. Detecting hepatitis B virus in surgical smoke emitted during laparoscopic surgery. Occupational and Environmental Medicine [Internet]. 2016 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Feb 7];73(12):857–63. Available from: https://oem.bmj.com/content/73/12/857

## Neurosciences



### Measuring alexithymia in healthcare professionals: Which factors are related to it?

#### **Authors**

#### **Urte Andriusaityte**

Faculty of Medicine, Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania

#### Giedre Bulotiene

Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, National Cancer Institute, Vilnius, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Alexithymia describes limited skills to emotion processing and recognition, characterizing an alexithymic person as not being able to differenciate between bodily sensations and emotions. The prevalence of alexithymia in the general population samples is reported to range from 10% to 13%. There are some analyses describing correlation between alexithymia and various medical conditions, such as burnout syndrome or depression. Since statistically the medical population is prone to experience higher level of stress and other mentally detrimental factors, it is worth investigating alexithymia in healthcare workers.

#### Aim

Evaluate the rate of alexithymia and its relation to different sociodemographic factors in healthcare professionals.

#### Methods

The research data were collected using anonymous self-rating questionnaires for 257 doctors. The Lithuanian version of the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) was used to assess the prevalence of alexithymia: a score of 52 and more indicated alexithymia or a tendency for alexithymia whilst a score of 51 and less indicated no alexithymia. An additional questionnaire composed of different multiple choice and scaling questions was designed to rank the available answers, related to an experienced stress level, a tendency to seek psychological help, sociodemographic (age, gender) and work-related (branch of medicine) information. Data was processed using R Commander.



#### Results

In 28.4% of participants (n=254) alexithymia or a tendency for alexithymia was present. The mean of alexithymia score was 45.2, median 44. Further analysis of TAS-20 mean scores revealed, that there was no significant difference between gender (47.0 vs 45.0, P=0,372; comparing males and females), maturity (categorized as  $\leq$ 39 and  $\geq$ 40 years old; 45.9 vs 44.8, P=0,252) and branches of medicine (surgical 44.0 vs therapeutic 45.6, P=0,825), comparing them in different categories linked to alexithymia. Alexithymic healthcare workers had a significantly higher average stress level (7,81) compared to non-alexithymic ones (6,55),P<0,05.

#### **Conclusions**

The results of this pilot study shows that almost a third of medicine-practicing individuals has alexithymia or a tendency for alexithymia, which is a higher number if compared to the general population. Furthermore, alexithymic healthcare professionals experience significantly higher stress level. Since alexithymia could be an explanatory variable for higher stress levels, these results might be used to develop individual-directed interventions.

- 1. Pappa S, Ntella V, Giannakas T, Giannakoulis VG, Papoutsi E, Katsaounou P. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and insomnia among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Brain Behav Immun. 2020 Aug;88:901-907. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.026. Epub 2020 May 8. Erratum in: Brain Behav Immun. 2021 Feb;92:247.
- 2. Zhang X, Bai X, Bian L, Wang M. The influence of personality, alexithymia and work engagement on burnout among village doctors in China: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health. 2021 Aug 4;21(1):1507. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11544-8.
- 3. Franco P, Tesio V, Bertholet J, Gasnier A, Gonzalez Del Portillo E, Spalek M, Bibault JE, Borst G, Van Elmpt W, Thorwarth D, Mullaney L, Røe Redalen K, Dubois L, Chargari C, Perryck S, Heukelom J, Petit S, Lybeer M, Castelli L. Professional quality of life and burnout amongst radiation oncologists: The impact of alexithymia and empathy. Radiother Oncol. 2020 Jun;147:162-168. doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2020.05.017. Epub 2020May 15.
- 4. Iorga M, Socolov V, Muraru D, Dirtu C, Soponaru C, Ilea C, Socolov DG. Factors Influencing Burnout Syndrome in Obstetrics and Gynecology Physicians. Biomed Res Int. 2017;2017:9318534. doi: 10.1155/2017/9318534. Epub 2017 Dec 5.



- 5. Li S, Zhang B, Guo Y, Zhang J. The association between alexithymia as assessed by the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale and depression: A meta-analysis. Psychiatry Res. 2015 May 30;227(1):1-9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.02.006. Epub 2015 Feb 19.
- 6. Avci D, Duran S, Oz YC, Basak I. Suicide probability in psychiatric patients' primary caregivers: The role of care burden, alexithymia and some risk factors. Arch Psychiatr Nurs. 2021 Oct;35(5):457-464. doi: 10.1016/j.apnu.2021.06.013. Epub 2021 Jun 29.
- 7. Riethof N, Bob P, Laker M, Zmolikova J, Jiraskova T, Raboch J. Alexithymia, traumatic stress symptoms and burnout in female healthcare professionals. J Int Med Res. 2020 Apr;48(4):300060519887633. doi: 10.1177/0300060519887633. PMID: 32326854; PMCID: PMC7218454.
- 8. Aldaz E, Aritzeta A, Galdona N. The association between alexithymia, emotional intelligence and burnout among nursing assistants working in nursing home settings: A cross-sectional study. J Adv Nurs. 2019 Nov;75(11):2786-2796. doi: 10.1111/jan.14153. Epub 2019 Aug 8.

### Mir-200a-3p Expression In The Serum Of Patients With Parkinson's Disease

#### **Authors**

#### Violeta Vintortaitė

Laboratory of Molecular Neurobiology, Neuroscience Institute, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Augustina Mišeikaitė

Laboratory of Molecular Neurobiology, Neuroscience Institute, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Giedrė Miniotaitė

Laboratory of Molecular Neurobiology, Neuroscience Institute, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Paulina Vaitkienė



Laboratory of Molecular Neurobiology, Neuroscience Institute, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Aistė Pranckevičienė

Department of Health Psychology, Faculty of Public Health, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Andrius Radžiūnas

Department of Neurosurgery, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disorder that results in bradykinesia and tremor due to the death of dopaminergic neurons. PD progresses for several years before a clinical diagnosis is made and its treatment isn't curative [1]. Recently, miRNA (microRNA) interference has been extensively studied due to it's affects in many biological processes, including manifestation of neurodegenerative diseases [2]. MiRNA molecules formed in various body cells can be packaged into extracellular vesicles (EV), then infiltrate the extracellular space and travel through biological fluids providing long lasting expression of disease – related genes [3]. EV miRNAs are expecting to help differentiate diseases, their stages and their progression.

#### Aim

The aim of this study was to determine EV miR-200a-3p expression in the serum of patients with PD.

#### Methods

MiRNA expression was evaluated by age, sex, the onset of the disease, its duration, severity of symptoms and selected method of treatment for 88 individuals with PD. 36 control group patients received medicational treatment, 39 deep brain stimulation and 13 gamma knife surgery. EV miRNAs were isolated from collected samples of blood serum, transcribed into cDNA and its expression was measured by RT-PCR. Statistical analysis was performed usingStudent's t test, ANOVA criteria and Pearsons correlation coefficient in GraphPad Software Inc.Prism 8.



#### **Results**

The results revealed that patients who were assigned for surgical PD treatment showed quantitively higher levels of miR-200a-3p in their blood samples than patients in control group when using ANOVA criteria. It was also noticed that 95% of control group experienced no to moderate PD symptoms, whereas 90% of patients in surgical treatment groups faced mild to severe intensity of tremor and bradykinesia. All patient data were pooled into groups by intensity of their symptoms to address whether the severity of PD was associated with increased miR-200a-3p expression levels. ANOVA test confirmed that as symptoms of bradykinesia become more intense, miR-200a-3p levels increase gradually. Similar miR-200a-3p changes were observed as symptoms of tremor intensify, but these results were not statistically significant. Unfortunately, miR-200a-3p levels were not affected prior and post surgical treatment when using paired Stjudent's t test. Also, no statistically relevant miR-200a-3p expression levels were observed regarding gender, patients age, the onset of the disease and its duration.

#### **Conclusions**

In conclusion, primary data suggest that patient groups with elevated EV miR-200a-3p expression levels experience stronger PD related symptoms and require surgical treatment. More detailed studies of miR-200a-3p expression levels are needed to support obtained results which could be useful in clinical practice to facilitate diagnosis, prognosis and therapeutic applications for patients with PD.

- 1. Cacabelos R. Parkinson's disease: from pathogenesis to pharmacogenomics. Int J Mol Sci. 2017 Mar 4:18(3):551.
- 2. O'Brien J, Hayder H, Zayed Y, Peng C. Overview of microRNA biogenesis, mechanisms of actions, and circulation. Front Endocrinol. 2018 Aug 3;9:402.
- 3. Xia X, Wang Y, Huang Y, Zhang H, Lu H, Zheng JC. Exosomal miRNAs in central nervous system diseases: biomarkers, pathological mediators, protective factors and therapeutic agents. Prog Neurobiol. 2019 Dec;183:101694.



## The effect of blood pressure on optical coherence tomography parameters

#### **Authors**

#### Kristupas Suslavičius

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Guoda Laurinavičiūtė

Institute of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania

#### Introduction

According to 2019 Eurocast data, more than 22% of people in Europe had high blood pressure, which is associated with cardiovascular, cerebrovascular and eye diseases [1][2]. Over the last decade, greater efforts have been made to find links between high blood pressure and reductions in ganglion cell-inner plexiform layer (GC-IPL) and retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) thickness [3][4][5].

#### Aim

To evaluate the effect of blood pressure on optical coherence tomography (OCT) parameters in women with healthy retina.

#### Methods

The pilot prospective study included women  $\geq 50$  years who had an eye examination in the Consultation Center of Republican Vilnius university hospital in 2021. Age, primary arterial hypertension (PAH), anamnesis of drugs, home monitoring blood pressure (systolic and diastolic) were recorded, best-corrected visual acuity (BCVA), eye pressure (air-puff tonometry) were measured, biomicroscopy, ophthalmoscopy, OCT (Cirrus 5000, Zeiss, 2016), RNFL (Optic Disk Cube 200 x 200) and macula scans (GC-IPL thickness, inner limiting membrane-retinal pigment epithelium (ILM-RPE) thickness (Macular Cube 512 x 128)) were performed. T-test,Pearson correlation coefficient and variance inflation factor metric were calculated using IBM SPSS 23.0 software.



#### Results

The study included 50 women (100 eyes) without a diagnosis of retinal disease or glaucoma. The median age was 64 (51-86) years. 48.8% of the subjects had a previous diagnosis of PAH, for which they were treated. There was no statistically significant difference in age between subjects with PAH and without a diagnosis of PAH. The mean blood pressure was: systolic

129.34 mmHg ( $\pm$ 12.98) and diastolic 81.68 mmHg ( $\pm$ 8.98). The median BCVA was 0.9 (0.2-1), the mean eye pressure – 17,57 mmHg ( $\pm$ 3.53). A strong negative correlation was found between age and BCVA (r=-0.68, p<0.01). Age also correlated negatively with GC-IPL (r=-0.44, p<0.05). A moderate negative correlation was found between systolic blood pressure and average RNFL and GC-IPL thickness (r=-0.45; r=-0.51, p<0.01). Strong multicollinearity between age, systolic blood pressure and GC-IPL thickness was observed. We found very weak or not significant correlations between diastolic blood pressure and OCT scan results: average RNFL, GC-IPL and ILM-RPE thickness (r=-0.22; r=-0.06; r=-0.11; p>0.05). Group of PAH had statistically significant higher blood pressure and lower average RNFL and GC-IPL thickness in comparison with subjects with no PAH (p<0.05), but no difference in ILM-RPE thickness was observed (p>0.05).

#### **Conclusions**

Higher systolic blood pressure might be related to the reduction of retinal GC-IPL and RNFL thickness. Subjects with diagnosed PAH have higher blood pressure and lower average RNFL and GC-IPL thickness.

- 1. Eurostat. Cardiovascular diseases statistics Eurostat. Eurostat Stat Explain [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Feb 9];(October 2015):14. Available from: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/
- 2. Fraser-Bell S, Symes R, Vaze A. Hypertensive eye disease: a review. Vol. 45, Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology. Clin Exp Ophthalmol; 2017. p. 45–53.
- 3. Lim H Bin, Lee MW, Park JH, Kim K, Jo YJ, Kim JY. Changes in Ganglion Cell–Inner Plexiform Layer Thickness and Retinal Microvasculature in Hypertension: An Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography Study. Am J Ophthalmol. 2019 Mar 1;199:167–76.
- 4. Pappelis K, Jansonius NM. U-shaped effect of blood pressure on structural OCT metrics andretinal perfusion in ophthalmologically healthy subjects. Investig



Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2021Sep 1;62(12).

5. Peng Q, Hu Y, Huang M, Wu Y, Zhong P, Dong X, Wu Q, Liu B, Li C, Xie J, Kuang Y, Yu D, Yu H, Yang X. Retinal Neurovascular Impairment in Patients with Essential Hypertension: An Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography Study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2020 Jul 1;61(8):42.

### MRI findings association with multiple sclerosis disease course and disability

#### **Authors**

#### leva Vienažindytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Jelena Cesarskaja

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Denas Andrijauskis**

Yale University New Haven Hospital, New Haven, USA

#### Renata Balnytė

Department of Neurology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Magnetic resonance imaging is an obligatory element in the diagnostic process of MS [1]. Furthermore, it can also work as a biological marker of the severity and progression of this

disease [2]. In our research we are investigating the association mentioned above and sharingfindings from a local MS center.



#### Aim

To identify and investigate MRI findings at the moment of MS diagnosis and its association with disease course and disability.

#### Methods

We included 120 patients with multiple sclerosis diagnosis who were treated at the Hospital of LUHS Kaunas Clinics Neurology Department. The MRI data was collected from medical documentation. Disability assessment was made according to EDSS on diagnosis and latest visit to the clinic. MSSS score was calculated using a conversion table based on EDSS score and duration of disease in years. Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics software (v. 23.0) using Mann-Whitney U Test and  $\chi$ 2.

#### Results

The study involved 44 male (36.7%) and 76 female (63.3%) patients with an age median of 44years (19-60). Most frequent change found in MRI at the time of diagnosis was periventricular lesions (96.7%, n=116). Periventricular lesions were most frequent in RRMS patient group (98.2%, n=54, p>0.05) as well as corpus callosum lesions (89.1%, n=49, p>0.05). Lesions in brainstem were mostly found in PPMS patients (75%, n=9, p>0.05), cerebellum and subcortical lesions in SPMS (54.7%, n=29 and 60.4%, n=32, p>0.05). Lesions in the cervical and other parts of the spinal cord showed a tendency to be found in PPMS type patients (25%, n=3 and 16.7%, n=2, p>0.05). These differences were only seen in our research descriptive statistics while statistically significant differences between localization and disease course are absent. MRI changes on diagnosis and also a number of different localizations had no statistically significant differences between disease courses. EDSS score on diagnosis had no statistically significant differences between different localizations of MRI findings. MSSS score median for all patients was 7.11 (0.64-9.95). Only patients with lesions in brainstem on diagnosis MRI, MSSS score median was statistically significantly higher compared to those who had not (7.60(0.64-9.95) vs. 6.48(0.77-9.34), p=0.02).

#### **Conclusions**

At the moment of MS diagnosis MRI lesions found in brainstem, cerebellum and spinal cord could be associated with a more severe form of MS (mostly found in PPMS and SPMS patients). Lesions found in brainstem can also predict the possibility of a higher disability progression (MSSS score median 7.6 (0.64-9.95), p=0.02). The lack of statistically significant correlations might be associated with a limited sample of lesions in different localizations.



#### References

- 1. Polman, C. H., Reingold, S. C., Banwell, B., Clanet, M., Cohen, J. A., Filippi, M., Wolinsky,
- 2. J. S. (2011). Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2010 Revisions to the McDonald criteria. Annals of Neurology, 69(2), 292–302. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.22366
- 3. Rovira, À., & León, A. (2008). MR in the diagnosis and monitoring of multiple sclerosis: An overview. European Journal of Radiology, 67(3), 409–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2008.02.044

### IL-10 gene rs1800871 single nucleotide polymorphism in patients with multiple sclerosis.

#### **Authors**

#### Ugnė Masilionytė

Faculty of Medicine, Academy of Medicine, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences

#### Greta Gedvilaitė

Laboratory of Ophthalmology, Neuroscience Institute, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Rasa Liutkevičienė

Laboratory of Ophthalmology, Neuroscience Institute, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic autoimmune disease of the central nervous system that causes demyelination and neurodegeneration [1]. It is the most common disease in young people, affecting approximately 2.3 million people worldwide. MS is characterized byprogressive neurological and ophthalmological symptoms: fatigue, insomnia, mobility disfunction, impaired visual acuity, partial or complete loss of visual functions [2]. Recently, more and more attention is paid to the research for new genetic markers importance for the development and progression of MS. Genetic



factors importance for the pathogenesis of MS have been identified as IL-16, IL2RA gene polymorphisms, decreased CXCL8 (IL-8) gene expression [3 - 6]. One of the genetic factors that may be associated with development of MS in the clinical course could be the IL-10 gene polymorphism.

#### Aim

To determine the relationship between IL-10 rs1800871 genotypes and alleles in patients withMS.

#### Methods

The study enrolled 75 patients with MS and 197 healthy controls. Samples of DNA from peripheral blood were purified by salting-out and commercial kit. The genotyping test was carried out using the method of RT-PCR. The results were assessed using the statistical analysisprogram "IBM SPSS Statistics 27.0"

#### Results

Our data demonstrated no statistically significant differences of IL-10 rs1800871 gene polymorphysm between patients with MS and healthy controls ( AA/AG/GG prevelance 1.3%,41.3% and 57.3% vs. 6.7%, 36.3% and 57%, p = 0.184). Analysis revealed that IL-10 rs1800871AA, AG and GG genotypes did not statistically significantly differ between MS and control group males (3.6%, 35.7% and 60.7% vs. 6.1%, 36.7% and 57.1%, p = 0.875) as well as in females group (0%, 44.7% and 55.3% vs. 6.9%, 36.1% and 56.9%, p = 0.138).

When analysing subjects by age ( $\leq$  30 and >30) AA/AG/GG prevelance in both groups had no any statistical significance. Group  $\leq$  30 (0%, 45.5% and 54.5% vs. 7.7%, 36.5% and 55.8%, p =0.217), group >30 (5.6%, 38.1% and 59.5% vs. 2.4%, 36% and 58.4%, p = 0.707).

#### **Conclusions**

IL-10 rs1800871 gene polymorphism had no predominant effect on the development of MS.

#### References

1. Correale J, Gaitán MI, Ysrraelit MC, Fiol MP. Progressive multiple sclerosis:



from pathogenic mechanisms to treatment. Brain. 2017 Mar 1;140(3):527-546.

- 2. Browne P, Chandraratna D, Angood C, Tremlett H, Baker C, Taylor B, et al. Atlas of Multiple Sclerosis 2013: a growing global problem with wide spread in equity. Neurology 2014;83(11):1022–4.
- 3. Farrokhi M, Masoudifar A, Derakhshan A, Saadatmand S, Rouhi-Boroujeni H, Etemadifar M, Rezaei-Zarji S, Javid A, Nobakht R, Deyhimi M, Ekramnia A, Ebrahimi M, Sheikh S, Ansaripour S, Amani-Beni A, Jahanbani-Ardakani H. The Association of Interleukin-16 Gene Polymorphisms with IL-16 Serum Levels and Risk of Multiple Sclerosis. Immunol Invest. 2017 Feb 2:1-9.
- 4. Zong-Li Xia, Qing-Mei Qin & Qing-Ying Zhao (2018) A genetic link between CXCR5 and IL2RA gene polymorphisms and susceptibility to multiple sclerosis, Neurological Research, 40:12, 1040-1047
- 5. Shohreh Almasi, Mohammad Reza Aliparasti, Mehdi Farhoudi, Zohreh Babaloo, Behzad Baradaran, Fatemeh Zamani, Homayoun Sadeghi-Bazargani, Somaiyeh Mostafaei & Elyar Sadeghi Hokmabadi (2013) Quantitative evaluation of CXCL8 and its receptors (CXCR1 and CXCR2) gene expression in Iranian patients with multiple sclerosis, ImmunologicalInvestigations, 42:8, 737-748,
- 6. Balnytė R, Rastenytė D, Vaitkus A, Skrodenienė E, Vitkauskienė A, Ulozienė I. Associations of HLA DRB1 alleles with IgG oligoclonal bands and their influence on multiple sclerosis course and disability status. Medicina (Kaunas). 2016;52(4):217-222. doi: 10.1016/j.medici.2016.07.004. Epub 2016 Jul 28.

### A Genetic Risk Score to Aid Differentiation of ON at presentation

#### **Authors**

#### **Pavel Loginovic**

University of Exeter Medical School, Exeter, UK

#### **Richard Oram**

Institute of Biomedical and Clinical Science, University of Exeter Medical School, Exeter, UK; Royal Devon & Exeter, NHS Foundation Trust, Exeter, UK



#### Introduction

Optic neuritis (ON) is a rare yet potentially treatable cause of blindness, which typically affects young adults, with an estimated incidence of 2500 new cases annually in the UK(1). ON may be the first presentation of multiple sclerosis (MS) or systemic autoimmune disease. In ON cases associated with MS (MS-ON), which comprise approximately a third of presenting ON cases, vision usually recovers to near-baseline over time, and current evidence does not support treatment with corticosteroids. However, there is a time-critical and potentially sight- saving role for urgent immunosuppression in cases of ON not associated with MS. Currently, clinicians judge whether presenting ON is likely to be associated with MS based on clinical characteristics, such as sex and age of the patient.

Genetic risk scores (GRS) have been previously shown to improve the classification/diagnosis of autoimmune diseases, mostly due to strong HLA allele association. (2)

#### Aim

We aimed to assess the discriminative and predictive performance of an MS genetic risk score (MS-GRS) in people with optic neuritis without a prior diagnosis of MS.

#### Methods

Our data source was UK Biobank (UKBB), which is a large collection of phenotypic and genetic data on 500,000 individuals from the UK. We then analysed demographic characteristics such as sex, age, smoking status, the birth latitude of each group. Utilising the data from large genome-wide association studies (GWAS), we developed an MS genetic risk score (MS-GRS) based on 308 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) from outside of the HLA region (3), and 8 HLA alleles + 2 SNPs for the HLA-GRS. (4) We scored the non-HLA alleles using log odd ratios as weights using PLINK2, and calculated an interaction HLA-GRS in Python. We assessed the power of MS-GRS to discriminate between MS cases (n=2368) and healthy controls (n=481113) using receiver-operator characteristics-area under the curve (ROC-AUC). We analysed the ability of MS-GRS to stratify people presenting with ON by the risk of subsequent MS by MS-GRS quartiles and plotted Kaplan-Meier MS-free survival analysis.

#### Results

We retrieved 2368 MS cases (Female:male ratio: 2.59, mean age at diagnosis ± SD:



 $44.52\pm12.39$ ), 687 cases of ON (F:M ratio: 2.00, mean age at diagnosis  $\pm$  SD:  $45.24\pm14.54$ ). Our MS-GRS was discriminative of MS cases (ROC-AUC = 0.757). People with ON only had a statistically lower MS-GRS (p-value < 0.0001), while the MS-GRS distribution in individuals with MS-ON was not different from MS only. Using multivariable survival regression analysis, we showed that MS-GRS significantly enhances stratification of presenting ON by a risk of developing subsequent MS.

#### **Conclusions**

MS-GRS may aid stratification of presenting ON and may be a valuable addition in predicting the risk of developing subsequent MS. Utilising genetic information may aid clinical decision-making in high stakes environment. and will result in precision-based treatment of ON, helpingto avoid unnecessary administration of aggressive treatment.

- 1. Braithwaite T, Subramanian A, Petzold A, Galloway J, Adderley NJ, Mollan SP, Plant GT, Nirantharakumar K, Denniston AK. Trends in optic neuritis incidence and prevalence in the UK and association with systemic and neurologic disease. JAMA neurology. 2020 Dec 1;77(12):1514-23.
- 2. Oram RA, Patel K, Hill A, Shields B, McDonald TJ, Jones A, Hattersley AT, Weedon MN. A type 1 diabetes genetic risk score can aid discrimination between type 1 and type 2 diabetes in young adults. Diabetes care. 2016 Mar 1;39(3):337-44.
- 3. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium\*†, ANZgene, IIBDGC, WTCCC2. Multiple sclerosis genomic map implicates peripheral immune cells and microglia insusceptibility. Science. 2019 Sep 27;365(6460):eaav7188.
- 4. Moutsianas L, Jostins L, Beecham AH, Dilthey AT, Xifara DK, Ban M, Shah TS, Patsopoulos NA, Alfredsson L, Anderson CA, Attfield KE. Class II HLA interactions modulate genetic risk for multiple sclerosis. Nature genetics. 2015 Oct;47(10):1107.



### Changes in the prevalence of glaucoma and glaucoma suspects in Lithuania during 2001-2020

#### **Authors**

#### Karina Statkevičienė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vita Karpavičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Loreta Kuzmienė

Department of Opthalmology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Glaucoma is an optic neuropathy, which is caused by progressive death of retinal ganglion cells (1). It is characterised by cupping of the optic nerve and visual field loss (2). Glaucoma can be asymptomatic until a severe stage and it is expected that almost 50-90% of patients remain undiagnosed worldwide (3). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), glaucoma is the 2nd leading cause of blindness globally (4). This disease is a multifactorial and the most common cause is increased intraocular pressure (5). Glaucoma can affect people of all ages, but it is more prevalent in people over 40 due to the rapid increase in aging populations worldwide (6). Based on prevalence studies, it was estimated that in 2020 about 76 million people suffered from glaucoma and in 2040 this number will reach approximately 111.8 million (7).

#### Aim

The aim of this study was to assess trends in the prevalence of glaucoma and glaucoma suspects in Lithuania during the period of 2001-2020.

#### Methods

Retrospective data analysis was performed. Data on glaucoma suspects, open-angle,



angle- closure, secondary and other types of glaucoma (ICD-10 code H40-H42) in Lithuania during 2001-2020, was obtained from the Institute of Hygiene. The prevalence of glaucoma and glaucoma suspects in adults and children was calculated per 100 000 population. Changes in the prevalence of glaucoma by age and sex during 2001-2020 were assessed using Joinpoint regression analysis (8).

#### Results

In 2020, the overall prevalence of glaucoma and glaucoma suspects was  $3137/100\,000$  of the population. Based on international research forecasts the estimated number of cases in Lithuania may actually to reach  $6274/100\,000$  population or more. The prevalence of glaucoma and glaucoma suspects in Lithuania has increased about 3.5-fold over 20 years. During 2001-2020, the average annual increase among adults was 6.6% per year (p<0.001), while among children was 3.2% per year (p<0.001). The prevalence of glaucoma and glaucoma suspects was higher in women than men, with the average ratio of 1.7:1. Comparing the resultsamong the patients older than 40 years, the prevalence of glaucoma and glaucoma suspects increased with age: in the 40-59 age group the average prevalence was  $1254/100\,000$ , in the 60-79 age group was  $6488/100\,000$ , and in the 80+ age group reached  $11621/100\,000$ . During 2001-2020, the highest increase of glaucoma and glaucoma suspects was observed in patients older than 80 years (6.0%/year, p<0.001), with the ratio of 1:3.Conclusions

The prevalence of glaucoma and glaucoma suspects over the past 20 years in Lithuania was increasing. This could be due to the significant improvement in eye examination and diagnostic tools. In addition, older people are more likely to develop glaucoma.

- 1. Jonas JB, Aung T, Bourne RR, Bron AM, Ritch R, Panda-Jonas S. Glaucoma. The Lancet [Internet]. 2017 Nov 11 [cited 2022 Feb 8];390(10108):2183–93. Available from: http://www.thelancet.com/article/S0140673617314691/fulltext
- 2. Schuster AK, Erb C, Hoffmann EM, Dietlein T, Pfeiffer N. The Diagnosis and Treatment of Glaucoma. Deutsches Ärzteblatt International [Internet]. 2020 Mar 27 [cited 2022 Feb 8];117(13):225. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7196841/
- 3. Nayak BK, Maskati QB, Parikh R. The unique problem of glaucoma: Underdiagnosis and over-treatment. Indian Journal of Ophthalmology [Internet]. 2011 Jan [cited 2022Feb 10];59(Suppl1):S1. Available from:



/pmc/articles/PMC3038498/

- 4. Bourne RRA, Steinmetz JD, Saylan M, Mersha AM, Weldemariam AH, Wondmeneh TG, et al. Causes of blindness and vision impairment in 2020 and trends over 30 years, and prevalence of avoidable blindness in relation to VISION 2020: The Right to Sight: An analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. The Lancet Global Health [Internet]. 2021 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Feb 8];9(2):e144–60.

  Available from:
  - http://www.thelancet.com/article/S2214109X20304897/fulltext
- 5. Stein JD, Khawaja AP, Weizer JS. Glaucoma in Adults—Screening, Diagnosis, and Management: A Review. JAMA [Internet]. 2021 Jan 12 [cited 2022 Feb 8];325(2):164–
- 6. 74. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2774838
- 7. Tham YC, Li X, Wong TY, Quigley HA, Aung T, Cheng CY. Global prevalence of glaucoma and projections of glaucoma burden through 2040: A systematic review and meta- analysis. Ophthalmology [Internet]. 2014 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Feb 8];121(11):2081–90. Available from: http://www.aaojournal.org/article/S0161642014004333/fulltext
- 8. Allison K, Patel D, Alabi O. Epidemiology of Glaucoma: The Past, Present, and Predictions for the Future. Cureus [Internet]. 2020 Nov 25 [cited 2022 Feb 10];12(11). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7769798/
- 9. Joinpoint Regression Program, Version 4.8.0.1 April 2020; Statistical Methodology and Applications Branch, Surveillance Research Program, National Cancer Institute. Available from: https://surveillance.cancer.gov/joinpoint/

## Efficacy of artificial intelligence in detecting diabetic retinopathy from retinal fundus images. A systematic review.

#### **Authors**

#### Gabrielius Dailidė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Saulius Lagunavičius



Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vilma Jūratė Balčiūnienė

Department of Ophthalmology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is a complication of diabetes mellitus, which damages the blood vessels of retina. Early diagnosis and treatment are important for proper management and reduced risk of vision loss [1]. Artificial intelligence (AI) based algorithms have been used to detect DR [2].

#### Aim

The purpose of this review is to evaluate scientific literature about the efficacy of AI in detecting diabetic retinopathy from retinal fundus images.

#### Methods

Systematic literature review was carried out following PRISMA guidelines. "PubMed" and "ScienceDirect" databases were used for the search of scientific literature. Keywords and combinations of possible synonyms used for search were selected using the Medical Subject Headings dictionary. Both databases were last searched on 15th of February 2022.

Articles were selected according to inclusion and exclusion criteria, developed using PICO method. Eligible studies met the following inclusion criteria: used artificial intelligence to detect DR and evaluated the accuracy of it by sensitivity (Se), specificity (Sp) and AUROC (area under the receiver operating characteristic curve), the index test was compared with ophthalmologists' diagnosis as a ground truth and the diagnosis was made solely based on retinal images captured by fundus photography. For inclusion the publication had to be published in the last 10 years, written in English and have open access to full text.

Case reports, literature reviews, systematic reviews and meta-analyses were excluded from this review. Two reviewers independently screened the titles and the abstracts of the citations from the literature search. Risk of bias was evaluated according to QUADAS-2 criteria.



#### Results

Out of the 2322 scientific publications collected with keywords and filters, 158 potentially relevant studies were left after the elimination of duplicates and a brief analysis of titles and abstracts. Full texts were further screened for final inclusion and 15 studies from 14 scientific publications were included in this systematic review. Part of studies were done using publicly available datasets [3-10], while others collected their own data [11-16]. Sample size in studies varied from 321 to 75137 images, with a total sample size of 150179 images included in this review. Average Se of Al-based algorithm was 92.58%, ranging from 76.2% to 100% by Roychowdhury et al. [6] with Sp of 53.16% and AUROC of 0.904. Average Sp was 87.22%, with lowest of 53.16% and highest of 98.5% by He et al. [12] with Se of 90.79% and AUROC of 0.946. Average AUROC was 0.937, with a variation of 0.843 to 0.9905 by Li et al. [13] with Se of 96.93% and Sp of 93.45%.

#### Conclusions

Our results show that AI-based algorithms can accurately detect DR in retinal fundus images. These systems should be considered of use in clinical practice to save time and reduce costs.

- Bourne RRA, Steinmetz JD, Saylan M, Mersha AM, Weldemariam AH, Wondmeneh TG, et al. Causes of blindness and vision impairment in 2020 and trends over 30 years, and prevalence of avoidable blindness in relation to VISION 2020: the Right to Sight: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. The Lancet Global health [Internet]. 2021 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Feb 17];9(2):e144–60. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33275949/
- 2. Wang S, Zhang Y, Lei S, Zhu H, Li J, Wang Q, et al. Performance of deep neural network- based artificial intelligence method in diabetic retinopathy screening: a systematic review and meta-analysis of diagnostic test accuracy. European journal of endocrinology [Internet]. 2020 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Feb 17];183(1):41–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32504495/
- 3. Zhang X, Li F, Li D, Wei Q, Han X, Zhang B, et al. Automated detection of severe diabetic retinopathy using deep learning method. Graefe's archive for clinical and experimental ophthalmology = Albrecht von Graefes Archiv fur klinische und experimentelle Ophthalmologie [Internet]. 2021 Sep 30 [cited 2022 Feb 15]; Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/34591173



- 4. Gargeya R, Leng T. Automated Identification of Diabetic Retinopathy Using Deep Learning. Ophthalmology. 2017 Jul 1;124(7):962–9.
- 5. Wang Y, Yu M, Hu B, Jin X, Li Y, Zhang X, et al. Deep learning-based detection and stage grading for optimising diagnosis of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews. 2021 May 1;37(4).
- 6. Roychowdhury S, Koozekanani DD, Parhi KK. DREAM: Diabetic Retinopathy Analysis Using Machine Learning. IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics. 2014 Sep 1;18(5):1717–28.
- 7. Cao P, Ren F, Wan C, Yang J, Zaiane O. Efficient multi-kernel multi-instance learning using weakly supervised and imbalanced data for diabetic retinopathy diagnosis. Computerized Medical Imaging and Graphics. 2018 Nov 1;69:112–24.
- 8. Baget-Bernaldiz M, Pedro RA, Santos-Blanco E, Navarro-Gil R, Valls A, Moreno A, et al. Testing a deep learning algorithm for detection of diabetic retinopathy in a spanish diabetic population and with messidor database. Diagnostics. 2021 Aug 1;11(8).Shah P, Mishra D, Shanmugam M, Doshi B, Jayaraj H, Ramanjulu R. Validation of Deep Convolutional Neural Network-based algorithm for detection of diabetic retinopathy-Artificial intelligence versus clinician for screening. Indian Journal of Ophthalmology. 2020 Feb 1;68(2):398–405.
- 9. Saxena G, Verma DK, Paraye A, Rajan A, Rawat A. Improved and robust deep learning agent for preliminary detection of diabetic retinopathy using public datasets. Intelligence- Based Medicine. 2020 Dec 1;3–4:100022.
- 10. Arenas-Cavalli JT, Abarca I, Rojas-Contreras M, Bernuy F, Donoso R. Clinical validation of an artificial intelligence-based diabetic retinopathy screening tool for a national health system. Eye (Basingstoke). 2022 Jan 1;36(1):78–85.
- 11.He J, Cao T, Xu F, Wang S, Tao H, Wu T, et al. Artificial intelligence-based screening for diabetic retinopathy at community hospital. Eye (Basingstoke). 2020 Mar 1;34(3):572–6.
- 12.Li F, Liu Z, Chen H, Jiang M, Zhang X, Wu Z. Automatic detection of diabetic retinopathy in retinal fundus photographs based on deep learning algorithm. Translational Vision Science and Technology. 2019 Nov 1;8(6).
- 13. Wang XN, Dai L, Li ST, Kong HY, Sheng B, Wu Q. Automatic Grading System for Diabetic Retinopathy Diagnosis Using Deep Learning Artificial Intelligence Software. Current Eye Research. 2020;45(12):1550–5.
- 14. Ming S, Xie K, Lei X, Yang Y, Zhao Z, Li S, et al. Evaluation of a novel artificial intelligence- based screening system for diabetic retinopathy in community of China: a real-world study. International Ophthalmology. 2021 Apr 1;41(4):1291–9
- 15.Pei X, Yao X, Yang Y, Zhang H, Xia M, Huang R, et al. Efficacy of artificial intelligence- based screening for diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice. 2022 Feb 1;184.

# Obstetrics & Gynaecology Neonatology and Paediatrics



## Pregnant women knowledge and attitude towards fetal ultrasound

#### **Authors**

#### Vaida Žitinevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Lina Adomaitienė

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Obstetric ultrasonography is one of the main tools providing objective information about the fetal health during pregnancy as well as having additional psychological value developing maternal bond [1]. Even though it has been already more than six decades since the first fetal ultrasound examination [2], there are still considerable amount of myths and misinformation spread among pregnant women regarding safety of obstetric ultrasonography [3].

#### Aim

To evaluate pregnant women knowledge and attitude towards obstetric ultrasonography.

#### Methods

An online survey designed by authors was conducted from October 11 to December 11 in 2021. It was addressed to women who gave birth in no more than one month period or is in the ninth month of pregnancy and consisted of demographic questions, obstetrical history and True/False statements concerning obstetrical ultrasound examination safety in 3D/4D vs. 2D, sound waves effect on fetal hearing, ultrasound examination accuracy determining sex, weight, gestational age etc. The study was approved by the Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Ethics Committee. Calculations were performed using Microsoft Excel and IBM SPSS 27.0 software, using Chi-square and Mann Whitney-U tests. Results with values of p<0.05 were considered statistically significant.



#### Results

There were 167 pregnant women with single pregnancies who participated in the survey. 76,6% (n=128) of women declared that ultrasound is completely safe during pregnancy and there was no significant correlation between age and attitude towards ultrasound safety during pregnancy (p=0.165). However, results suggest that multiparous women tend to rely on ultrasound safety more often than the first-time pregnant women (92.9% vs. 68.8%, p=0.027). Responding to True/False statements regarding fetal ultrasound, women showed that their knowledge is above average and the median of correctly answered questions is 5 (SD=1.53) out of 8. Only 39,5 % respondents knew that "3D/4D ultrasound is not always more accurate than 2D" and 55,1% thought that "ultrasound examination can accurately determine duration of pregnancy". Nevertheless, 89,8% knew that "ultrasound waves cannot adversely affect fetal hearing" and 86,8% were aware that "ultrasound examination of the fetus does not determine fetal sex with 100% accuracy". No statistically significant correlation between correctly answered questions and the number of previous pregnancies was observed (p=0.327), although women under 25 answered statistically significant more questions correctly than in an age group of 25-35 years (Z=-2.603; p=0.009).

#### **Conclusions**

Younger women have more information regarding safety of obstetric ultrasonography, however there is no evidence that the age of the mother has impact on her attitude towards its' safety, and vast majority consider it safe. Although multiparous women tend to rely on ultrasound safety more often.

- 1. Simó Sandra, Zúñiga Laura, Izquierdo María Teresa, Rodrigo Maria F. Effects of ultrasoundon anxiety and psychosocial adaptation to pregnancy. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2019;22(4):511–8.
- 2. Donald I, Marcvicar J, Brown T. Investigation of abdominal masses by pulsed ultrasound. The Lancet. 1958;271(7032):1188–95.
- 3. Pleş Liana, Hamoud Bashar Haj, Dimitriu Mihai Cornel Traian, Cîrstoveanu Cătălin, Socea Bogdan, Ionescu Antoniu-Crîngu, et al. Psycho-Emotional Impact of Anomaly Ultrasound Scan in Romanian Pregnant Women. Heal Multidiscip Digit Publ Inst. 2021;9(11):1415.



## Breastfeeding of newborns born in the Baby-friendly Hospital in the first year of life

#### **Authors**

#### Paulina Samsonaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Marija Vaitkevičiūtė

Department of Neonatology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Dalia Stonienė

Department of Neonatology, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

The WHO recommends that children initiate breastfeeding within the first hour of birth and be exclusively breastfed for the first 6 months of life and from the age of 6 months, children should begin eating complementary foods while continuing to breastfeed for up to 2 years and beyond if possible [1]. Lithuania has created favorable conditions for breastfeeding according to the WHO recommendations. At the present time there are 17 (65 %) maternity hospitals in the country, that have the name of a Baby-Friendly hospital [2]. According to the data of the Lithuanian Institute of Hygiene in 2015 32 % of infants under 6 months of age were exclusively breastfed and in 2019 – 37,8 % [3]. A small number studies have been conducted in Lithuania on the peculiarities of breastfeeding. After identifying the breastfeeding problems faced by Lithuanian mothers, it is possible to improve breastfeeding courses for pregnant and lactating women, recognize the risk factors and pay more attention to breastfeeding the newborn in the hospital.

#### Aim

To analyze the peculiarities of breastfeeding cessation in infants born in a Baby-Friendly hospital.



#### Methods

A mixed (retrospective + prospective) study was performed to examine 642 healthy and full term infants ≥37 weeks who were born to healthy women in 2019 LSMU KK in the Perinatal Center Level III with a Baby-Friendly hospital name and exclusively breastfed from birth. 642mothers who gave birth were interviewed about breastfeeding characteristics by telephone. Data were analyzed using "The IBM SPSS Statistics 23" statistical analysis package.

#### Results

Up to 6 months of age were breastfed 76,8% and until 12 months of age - 59.4% of all newborns. The most common causes for breastfeeding cessation were personal reasons (26.2%) and infant rejecting breast (25.2%). When analyzing breastfeeding termination for upto 3months of age and 3–5 months of age it was found that the most common reason was insufficient lactation / hungry infant (46.1%, 49.3%). Mothers who breastfed for only up to 3 months of age were more likely to use social networks, as a source of information about breastfeeding, than mothers who breastfed for longer period of time. Mothers who were breastfeeding for 3–5 months of age used literature (14.1%) as a source of information more often than those who breastfed until 12 months of age (p<0.05). The most common source of information about breastfeeding among women who breastfed 6-11 months of age (44.6%) and  $\geq$ 12 months of age (42.2%) was personal experience.

#### **Conclusions**

Three-quarters of newborns born in a Baby-Friendly hospital were breastfed for up to 6 months of age and more than half  $\geq 12$  months of age. The most common reason for breastfeeding cessation until 6 months of age was insufficient lactation/hungry infant and  $\geq 12$  months of age - personal reasons. All mothers, regardless of how long they breastfed, mostly relied on personal experience as a source of information about breastfeeding.

- 1. Breastfeeding. Available at: https://www.who.int/health-topics/breastfeeding#tab=tab\_2. Accessed April 3, 2021
- 2.Ten steps to successful breastfeeding. Available at: https://www.who.int/activities/promoting-baby-friendly-hospitals/ten-steps-to-successful-



breastfeeding#:~:text=Ten%20steps%20to%20successful%20breastfeeding%2 0WHO%20an

d%20UNICEF,to%20implement%20the%20Ten%20Steps%20to%20Successful% 20Breastfeed ing. Accessed April 3, 2021

3. Vaikų mityba. Available at: https://sam.lrv.lt/lt/veiklos-sritys/visuomenes-sveikatos-prieziura/mityba-ir-fizinis-aktyvumas-2/vaiku. Accessed April 3, 2021

## Symptom analysis of paediatric patients with abdominal pain that predict hospitalization

#### **Authors**

#### Eglė Gelšvartaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Andrius Daugėla

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Lina Jankauskaitė

Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Acute abdominal pain is one of the most common complaints at the paediatric emergency department (PED) (1). It is highly important to distinguish between the cases which need urgent surgical treatment, such as appendicitis, and those which can be treated at home (2). Timely hospitalization can be crucial for the effective treatment of acute conditions (3).

#### Aim

In this study, we aimed to analyse what symptoms could predict the hospitalization of



children with abdominal pain at Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno klinikos PED.

#### Methods

We performed a retrospective epidemiological study of PED patients with abdominal pain 1st- 30th of September 2018. Data were collected using electronic medical record system. The analysed month was selected randomly. We included referral time, age, symptoms, clinical examination data, final diagnosis at PED, and outcomes and compare between divided age- groups (older and younger than 10 years old). P value <0.05 was defined as significant.

#### Results

In total, we analysed a retrospective data of 254 children. 47.2% of them were male. The majority of children were older than 5 years (n=207). Girls presenting with abdominal pain were older compared to boys (10.04 (9.26-10.82) vs. 8.4 (7.57-9.22) respectively, p=0.005). 160 (63%) of paediatric patients with abdominal pain presented within 24h from the onset ofpain. 89 (35%) children were hospitalized. 49 of them were diagnosed with appendicitis, 5 had other surgical abdominal conditions, 25 had gastroenteritis. There was no significant difference in hospitalization based on age groups or such symptoms as fever, nausea/vomiting or decreased appetite. However, patients with reported abdominal pain migration were hospitalized more frequently (40% vs. 60%, p=0.015). Moreover, children with peritoneal irritation were more frequently hospitalized (25.8% vs. 74.2%, p<0.001). However, in the multivariant analysis, only children with peritoneal irritation were 9 times more likely to be hospitalized compared with others (95% CI [3,125, 26,917]; p <0.001; OR (adjusted to age) 7.97, 95% CI [2.62 – 24.28]; p <0.001). None other factors, such as lab tests or results of abdominal ultrasound were associated with hospitalization.

#### **Conclusions**

Assessing the data of patients presenting with abdominal pain to the PED it is apparent that symptom of peritoneal irritation was more likely to be associated with hospitalization. It is not surprising, as peritoneal irritation is highly sensitive diagnostic factor for appendicitis. No other symptoms were significant in predicting hospitalization.



#### References

- 1. Coca Robinot D, Liébana De Rojas C, Aguirre Pascual E. Abdominal emergencies in pediatrics. Radiologia. 2016 May 1;58 Suppl 2:80–91.
- 2. Wang N, Lin X, Zhang S, Shen W, Wu X. Appendicolith: an explicit factor leading to complicated appendicitis in childhood. Arch Argent Pediatr. 2020;118(2):102–8.
- 3. Prada Arias M, Salgado Barreira A, Montero Sánchez M, Fernández Eire P, García Saavedra S, Gómez Veiras J, et al. [Appendicitis versus non-specific acute abdominal pain: Paediatric Appendicitis Score evaluation]. An Pediatr. 2018 Jan 1:88(1):32–8.

### Impact of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus on Breastfeeding Practice

#### **Authors**

#### Emilija Barauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Gabrielė Noreikytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Dalia Stonienė

Department of Neonatology, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) rate from 2015 to 2019 increased >4 times in Lithuania[1]. According to the literature, women with GDM are less likely to start breastfeeding than women without GDM. Mothers who start breastfeeding a newborn do it shorter and are ~3 times less likely to feed a newborn exclusively with breast milk (BM)[2-6].



#### Aim

To evaluate the influence of gestational diabetes mellitus on breastfeeding practice during the first month after delivery.

#### Methods

A prospective study at LUHS Hospital Kaunas Clinics. The study protocol was evaluated by the Bioethics Center with permission. Medical records of 82 healthy full-term newborns who were born between 2021 October 1st-November 31st by healthy nulliparous women were analyzed. All mothers agreed to participate in the study. Newborns were divided into two groups: mothers with GDM and mothers without GDM (NGD). Of 32 women with GDM, 20 mothers had type A1 GDM and the remaining 12 mothers had type A2 GDM. Mothers' telephone surveys 1 month after delivery were performed to assess breastfeeding and related problems. Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS 26.0 version. Descriptive analysis, correlation criteria were used to analyze data, statistically significantly different at p<0,05. Obtained results reflect the tendencies of this research group, though further research is needed.

#### Results

Mothers' age (mean  $\pm$  SD) was  $29 \pm 4.03$  years. 70.7% gave birth vaginally, 29.3% -by Csection. Newborn's APGAR scores (median(min-max)) at 1 min. 9(7-10), at 5 min. 10(8-10), birth weight was  $3469.29 \pm 543.53$  g. 85.7% of newborns had skin-to-skin contact in the delivery/operative room, 81.3% of newborns were breastfed during the first 2 hours. 39% of newborns were in the GDM group, 61% - NGD. There was no significant difference between newborn groups. Group of GDM newborns was significantly more frequently supplemented with formula (F) on the second day of life (40.6% compared with 12% NGM)(p=0.007). During the first month of life, 73.2% of neonates were fed BM, 13.4% were fed with a combination of BM and F, 13.4% were fed only with F. There was no significant difference in how mothers feed a newborn during the first month of life between GDM and NGD groups (p=0.164). The most common reason for supplementation at the hospital (68.6%) and 1 month after birth (77,3%) was insufficient milk production. There was no significant difference in hospital due to insufficient lactation between the GDM and NGD groups (GDM 34.4% compared with 26% NGD)(p=0.416), but after one month, the GDM group newborns were significantly more likely to be fed with supplementation due to lactation deficiency (GDM 12.5% compared with 0.0% NGD)(p=0.10).



#### **Conclusions**

Group of GDM newborns was significantly more frequently supplemented with formula on the second day after birth. After one month, neonates in the GMD group were significantly more likely to be fed with supplementation due to lactation issues.

#### References

- 1. Birth medical data. [Internet link] Institute of Hygiene Health Information Center [cited 2021-11-17]. Access: <a href="https://hi.lt/lt/gimimu-medicininiai-duomenys.html">https://hi.lt/lt/gimimu-medicininiai-duomenys.html</a>
- 2. Sergio Verd, Diego de Sotto, Consuelo Fernandez, Antonio Gutierrez. The Effects of Mild Gestational Hyperglycemia on Exclusive Breastfeeding Cessation. Journal "Nutrients", 2016.
- 3. <u>Komal Manerkar</u>, <u>Jane Harding</u>, <u>Cathryn Conlon</u>, <u>Christopher McKinlay</u>. Maternal gestational diabetes and infant feeding, nutrition and growth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. British Journal of Nutrition, 2020.
- 4. Phung Thi Hoang Nguyen, Colin W Binns, Cong Luat Nguyen, Anh Vo Van Ha, Tan Khac Chu, Dat Van Duong et al. Gestational Diabetes Mellitus Reduces Breastfeeding Duration: A Prospective Cohort Study. Breastfeeding Medicine Journal, 2019.
- 5. Catherine R. Chamberlain, Alyce N. Wilson, Lisa H. Amir, Kerin O'Dea, Sandra Cambell, Dympna Leonard et al. Low rates of predominant breastfeeding in hospital after gestational diabetes, particularly among Indigenous women in Australia. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public HEalth, 2017.
- 6. Reena Oza-Frank, Jennifer J. Moreland, Kelly McNamara, Sheela R. Geraghty, Sarah A. Keim. Early Lactation and Infant Feeding Practices Differ by Maternal Gestational Diabetes History. Journal of Human Lactation, 2016.

#### The opportunities of lung ultrasound in children with COVID-19

#### **Authors**

#### Monzer Abdallah

V.N.Karazin Kharkiv National University, Ukraine



#### Alhaffar Abir

V.N.Karazin Kharkiv National University, Ukraine

#### Rzhevska Olga

V.N.Karazin Kharkiv National University, Ukraine

#### Moiseienko Natalia

St. Zinaida Sumy Children's Clinical Hospital, Ukraine

#### Introduction

During the COVID-19 pandemic, lung ultrasound (US) has gained an incentive for development.

The preference of lung US should be given in the following cases: 1- young children (CT difficult for them), 2- if necessary to diagnose a large number of patients, 3- when transport of ill children is impossible. Furthermore, "Pocket" US (POCUS) are easier to disinfect. Also, the absence of radiation makes it possible to re-examine and evaluate dynamics changes. However, a downside is that US signs of lung involvement are not highly specific.

#### Aim

To establish the features of ultrasound pictures of lung lesions in children with COVID-19.

#### Methods

During the period of Oct. – Dec. 2021, 565 children received a lung US at the St. Zinaida Sumy Children's Clinical Hospital, of which 492 children were diagnosed with interstitial syndrome of varying severity. The etiology of pneumonia was established on the basis of PCR data (detection of RNA of SARS-CoV-2 virus in nasopharyngeal swab) and ELISA method (IgM to SARS-CoV-2 in blood). US was carried out on a FUJIFILM (Hitachi) ARIETTA 50 ultrasound scanner (Japan), linear sensor 10-12 Hz. The Commission on Bioethics of V. N. Karazin Kharkiv National University found that the study meets the ethical principles of medical research conducted on humans (protocol 12 from 07.12.2021).



#### Results

75% of the COVID-19 patients had bilateral lesions in the lower lobes of both lungs. The following typical features were identified: multiple bilateral B-lines ("caput medusae") that were fixed, broad and confluent. With the progression of the disease, the number of B-lines increases, they merge up to the appearance of a single echopositive image –"white lung" as a reflection of interstitial syndrome. The next most frequently (71%) diagnosed symptom is a change in the pleural line (increase in thickness and its unevenness). Less common (39%) small subpleural consolidations were determined. With COVID-19, consolidated cells are always determined against the background of interstitial syndrome.

Studies during the influenza A (H1N1 and H7N9) cases allowed to establish US features of viral pneumonia: signs of interstitial syndrome (B-lines), small subpleural consolidated, multifocal bilateral changes. Thus, COVID-associated pneumonia is determined by the same ultrasound signs, as with any other viral pneumonia.

#### **Conclusions**

The US signs of COVID-19 are: multiple bilateral B-lines; with the progression of the disease, appearance of a "white lung", as a reflection of the interstitial syndrome; increase in thickness or unevenness of the pleural line; subpleural consolidations. It has been established that these US signs are not specific and are determined in viral pneumonia of any other etiology. Therefore, the diagnosis of COVID-pneumonia in children should be based on a set of data from clinical, laboratory and instrumental methods. Lung US does not replace and cannot be opposed to lung CT, but is a promising additional method for diagnosing pathological changes in the lungs.

- 1. Copetti R. Is lung ultrasound the stethoscope of the new millennium? Definitely yes! Acta Med. Acad.2016; 45 (1): 80–81. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27284804/ DOI: 10.5644/ama2006-124.162
- 2. Qian-YI Pang, Xiao-Ting Wang, Li-Na Znang. Findings of lung ultrasonography of novel corona virus pneumonia during the 2019–2020 epidemic. Chinese Critical Care Ultrasound Study Group (CCUSG). Intensive care Medicine. volume 46, pages 849–850(2020) Available from: http://www.proquest.com/docview/2400058799 DOI:10.1007/s00134-020-05996-6



- 3. Tsai N.W., Ngai C.W., Mok K.L. et al. Lung ultrasound imaging in avian influenza A (H7N9) respiratory failure. Crit. Ultrasound J. 2014, 6 (1): 6. Available from: <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24949191/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24949191/</a> DOI: 10.1186/2036-7902-6-6.
- 4.Tsung J.W., Kessler D.O., Shan V.P. Prospective application of clinician-performed lung ultrasonography during the 2009 H1N1 influenza A pandemic: Distinguishing viral from bacterial pneumonia. Crit. Ultrasound J. 2012; 4 (1): 16. Available from: <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22862998/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22862998/</a> DOI: 10.1186/2036-7902-4-16.
- 5. Volpicelli G., Lamorte A., Villen T. What's new in lung ultrasound during the COVID-19 pandemic. Intensive Care Med. 2020; 46 (7): 1445–1448. Available from: <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32367169/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32367169/</a> DOI: <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32367169/">10.1007/s00134-020-06048-9</a>

## The negative impact of the COVID-19 lockdown on children with ASD: A systematic literature review

#### **Authors**

#### Gabija Raižytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Greta Butkutė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

In 2020 countries imposed strict lockdowns due to COVID-19 causing disruptions in families' routines and negatively affecting children's with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) mental health [1]. Children with ASD comprise a particularly vulnerable population during COVID-19 not only due to disrupted routines, but also due to limited access to therapy, which result in changes of symptoms [2, 3].



#### Aim

The aim of this systematic literature review is to present current knowledge of the negative impact of the COVID-19 lockdown on children with ASD.

#### Methods

A PubMed and Researchgate databases search was done according to PRISMA guidelines. Following combination of keywords were used: (autism AND covid) AND (impact OR effect). Also, filters "child: birth-18 years", "language: English" were applied. The screening process included reading titles and abstracts. The most relevant articles were selected and their backward and forward citations were also inspected. Selected studies were fully read, resulting in an overall number of 14 articles included in this systematic literature review.

#### Results

After analyzing the literature, we summarized the results in the following four aspects. 1) Behavior changes and overall worsening of the symptoms (p <0.05): increased motor and vocal stereotypies, mannerisms, moodiness, irritability and aggression [4-12]. Certain authors found no significant worsening in problem behaviors (PB), and aggression [13, 5]. At least a

third of the children with ASD showed an increased intensity or frequency in PB [14, 8]. In comparison to children without PB, children who had already had PB prior to the pandemic were twice as likely to display more frequent or intense PB (p<0,001) [14]. 2) Comparing children who followed their routines with those who did not, the latter had greater levels of anxiety (p<0,001) [11]. 3) In contrast to the pre-pandemic period, sleep quality, and sleep- related problems worsened [6, 7, 12]. Difficulty falling asleep, bedtime anxiety, and daytime sleepiness increased (p<0,05) [15, 16]. Yet, there were different findings showing either increase or no change in night awakenings, hypnic jerks, rhythmic movement disorder, restless sleep, and sleepwalking [7, 15, 16]. 4) Decreased functioning due to lockdown was linked to reduced levels of pleasant emotions (p<0,001) [4].

#### **Conclusions**

In conclusion, this systematic literature review indicates several negative effects of the COVID-19 lockdown on children with ASD. Firstly, there was an overall increase in problem behavior. Secondly, children with ASD who did not maintain routines had higher mean levels of anxiety. Additionally, sleep disturbances increased. Also,



decreased functioning was associated with lower levels of positive emotions. However, we found inconclusive results regarding aggression, hypnic jerks, rhythmic movement disorder, restless sleep, sleepwalking, and nocturnal awakenings. Lastly, we found a single research regarding no changes in problem behavior.

- 1. Bellomo TR, Prasad S, Munzer T, Laventhal N. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children with autism spectrum disorders. J Pediatr Rehabil Med. 2020;13(3):349-354. 2. Logrieco MG, Casula L, Ciuffreda GN, Novello RL, Spinelli M, Lionetti F, et al. Risk and
- 2. protective factors of quality of life for children with autism spectrum disorder and their families during the COVID-19 lockdown. An Italian study. Res Dev Disabil. 2022; 120:104130.
- 3. Levante A, Petrocchi S, Bianco F, Castelli I, Colombi C, Keller R, et al. Psychological impact of covid-19 outbreak on families of children with autism spectrum disorder and typically developing peers: an online survey. Brain sci. 2021;11(6):808.
- 4. Di Renzo M, Di Castelbianco FB, Vanadia E., Petrillo M, D'Errico S, Racinaro L, et al. Parent-reported behavioural changes in children with autism spectrum disorder during the COVID-19 lockdown in Italy. Contin Educ. 2020;1(1):117–125.
- 5. Goswami JN, Sondhi V, Simalti AK, Bamal M, Roy S. Effects of lockdown during corona pandemic on children with neurodevelopmental disorders a questionnaire-based survey. Turk J Pediatr. 2021;63(4):648-659.
- 6. Huang S, Sun T, Zhu Y, Song S, Zhang J, Huang L, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children with ASD and their families: an online survey in China. Psychol Res Behav Manag. 2021;4(14):289-297.
- 7. Nunez A, Le Roy C, Coelho-Medeiros ME, Lopez-Espejo M. Factors affecting the behavior of children with ASD during the first outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. Neurol Sci. 2021;42(5):1675-1678.
- 8. Masi A, Mendoza Diaz A, Tully L, Azim SI, Woolfenden S, Efron D, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the well-being of children with neurodevelopmental disabilities and their parents. Front Psychiatry. 2021;12:733905.
- 9. Fong HX, Cornish K, Kirk H, Ilias K, Shaikh MF, Golden KJ. Impact of the COVID-19 lockdown in Malaysia: an examination of the psychological well-being of parent-child dyads and child behavior in families with children on the autism spectrum. Front Psychiatry 12:733905.
- 10. Amorim R, Catarino S, Miragaia P, Ferreras C, Viana V, Guardiano M. The impact of COVID-19 on children with autism spectrum disorder. Rev Neurol.



2020;71(8):285-291. 11. Mutluer T, Doenyas C, Genc HA. Behavioral implications of the COVID-19 process for

- 11. autism spectrum disorder, and individual's comprehension of and reactions to the pandemic conditions. Front Psychiatry. 2020;11:561882.
- 12. Siracusano M, Segatori E, Riccioni A, Emberti Gialloreti L, Curatolo P, Mazzone L. The impact of COVID-19 on the adaptive functioning, behavioral problems, and repetitive behaviors of Italian children with autism spectrum disorder: an observational study. Children (Basel). 2021;8(2):96.
- 13. Colizzi M, Sironi E, Antonini F, Ciceri M, Bovo C, Zoccante L. Psychosocial and behavioral impact of COVID-19 in autism spectrum disorder: an online parent survey. Brain Sci. 2020;10(6):341.
- 14. Bruni O, Melegari MG, Breda M, Cedrone A, Finotti E, Malorgio E, et al. Impact of COVID-19 lockdown on sleep in children with autism spectrum disorders. J Clin Sleep Med. 2022;18(1):137-143. Bruni O, Breda M, Ferri R, Melegari MG. Changes in sleep patterns and disorders in children and adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorders and autism spectrum disorders during the COVID-19 lockdown. Brain Sci. 2021;11(9):1139.
- 15. Liu JJ, Bao Y, Huang X, Shi J, Lu L. Mental health considerations for children quarantined because of COVID-19. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2020;4(5):347-349

## Analysis of management approaches of ectopic tubal pregnancy and their effectiveness

#### **Authors**

#### Eligija Teleišytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Eglė Bartusevičienė

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Ectopic pregnancy occurs approximately in 2% of all pregnancies and can be life



threatening. The most common location is the fallopian tube which accounts for 96% [1]. There are 3 management approaches: expectant management, methotrexate (MTX) therapy and surgery. Historically, ectopic pregnancy was managed surgically but in current practice MTX therapy is preferred for properly selected women [2].

#### Aim

To analyse treatment methods of tubal pregnancy (TP) and their effectiveness in 2021 at the Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (LUHS).

#### Methods

A prospective analysis of TP management approaches was conducted at the Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, LUHS from 1 of January to 31 of December, 2021 (bioethics approval No.BEC-MF-196). All women who were treated during this period of time and agreed to participate were included in the study. Women were divided into 3 groups depending on the TP treatment method. Data collected from medical records and completed patient questionnaires included management method and its effectiveness, human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) dynamics until unreachable level and women's awareness and satisfaction of treatment. Statistical analysis was performed using the data collection with IBM SPSS 26.0.

#### Results

A total of 72 women were included in this study: 34 (47.2%) undergone surgery, 31 (43.1%) were eligible for MTX therapy and 7 (9.7%) had expectant management. Follow-up questionnaire was completed by 50 women (response rate-69.4%), 25 of which had surgery, 21-MTX therapy and 4-expectant management. Other treatment approach was required for 6 women. MTX therapy was necessary for 1 woman in the expectant management group (effectiveness-75.0%), 4 women required surgery after MTX therapy (effectiveness-80.9%) and 1 woman needed re-operation because of severe abdominal pain and heavy bleeding after surgery (effectiveness-96.0%). Adverse effects occurred in 6 (28.6%) women treated with MTX, most common was nausea (66.7%). A total of 34 women followed hCG dynamics until the level was undetectable. The average time in weeks did not differ between groups (p=0.764) and was  $3.7 \pm 0.6$  for expectant management,  $4.5 \pm 2.6$  for MTX therapy and  $3.6 \pm 2.0$  for surgery. There was no statistical significance between groups regarding women's awareness. Overall, 43 (86.0%) women agreed that information on TP and its management approaches were understandable (p=0.650) and 48 (96.0%) understood



the choice of treatment method used (p=0.831). A total of 32 (64.0%) women were satisfied with the management approach and that did not differ between groups (p=0.909).

#### **Conclusions**

More than half (52.8%) women with TP received conservative management approach. The most effective management approach was surgical, followed by MTX therapy. The average time in weeks until hCG reached undetectable level did not differ between treatment methods. The majority of women were well informed and two thirds were satisfied with the treatment.

#### References

- 1. Tulandi T. Ectopic pregnancy: Epidemiology, risk factors, and anatomic sites. Available at: www.uptodate.com. Last updated: Nov 16, 2021.
- 2. Tulandi T. Ectopic pregnancy: Methotrexate therapy. Available at www.uptodate.com. Last updated: Sep 07, 2021.

## Vaccination status and parents attitude to vaccination of pediatric patients with rheumatic diseases

#### **Authors**

#### Andželika Šlegerytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medicine Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Gintarė Butenytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medicine Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Aušra Šnipaitienė

Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Milda Šeškutė



Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Pediatric patients with autoimmune diseases are more prone to different infections preventable by routine vaccination (1, 2). However, with increasing antivaccination movements and different immunosuppressive treatments prescribed, vaccination coverage remains low in this children population (3).

#### Aim

To assess the vaccination status of children with rheumatic diseases and the attitude of parents towards vaccination of children with chronic rheumatic diseases.

#### Methods

An anonymous questionnaire was used to find out the attitude of parents towards vaccination of children with rheumatic diseases during the visit to pediatric rheumatologist in an out- patient clinic of tertiary care Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno klinikos. The survey lasted between January 2020 and January 2022. Data analysis was performed using SPSS software. P value <0.05 was considered significant.

#### Results

The questionnaire was distributed to 36 parents, response rate was 58.3 % (n=21). The most common disease among the children whose parents responded to the questionnaire was juvenile idiopathic arthritis (85.7%). The mean age of patients was 12.11 years (SD 4.79). 14 patients (66.7%) were under any kind of immunosuppressive treatment for 3 months or more. The majority of parents (95.2%) claimed to know about the higher risk for infections due to the disease and immunosuppressive treatment. 81% of patients were vaccinated according to the national immunization schedule. Even though 47.6% of the respondents indicated that their child with rheumatic disease had received additional vaccines (the most common was against tick-borne encephalitis), 78.95% respondents stated not having heard that children with a chronic disease could get additional vaccination. More than a half of parents (61.9%) stated they did not consider the disease to be a contraindication for vaccination. However, we



found no correlation between this group of parents (p=0.606) or between the group of those who assume they get sufficient information about vaccines (p=0.389) and the rate of additional vaccination. 19 (90.5%) respondents indicated that the most information about vaccines is provided by their general practitioner 76.2% of respondents would accept the physician's suggestion to vaccinate their child and 68.75% of respondents, who answered the question, would like to discuss the vaccination questions with a general practitioner or pediatric rheumatologist.

#### **Conclusions**

The majority of patients in this survey were fully vaccinated according to the national immunization schedule. A number of patients have also been vaccinated with additional vaccines. Most parents presume that their child's disease is not a contraindication for vaccines and would agree to vaccinate their child by the recommendations of a physician. The survey results showed the need for additional information for parents regarding vaccinations for children with rheumatic diseases.

- 1. Sousa S, Duarte AC, Cordeiro I, Ferreira J, Gonçalves MJ, Meirinhos T, Rocha TM, Romão VC, Santos MJ. Efficacy and Safety of Vaccination in Pediatric Patients with Systemic Inflammatory Rheumatic Diseases: a systematic review of the literature. Acta Reumatol Port. 2017 Jan-Mar; 42(1):8-16. English.
- 2. Groot N, Heijstek MW, Wulffraat NM. Vaccinations in pediatric rheumatology: an update on current developments. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2015;17(7):46. doi:10.1007/s11926-015-0519-y
- 3. Blanchard-Rohner G. Vaccination in Children With Autoimmune Disorders and Treated With Various Immunosuppressive Regimens: A Comprehensive Review and Practical Guide. Front Immunol. 2021;12:711637. Published 2021 Aug 2. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.711637



## Comparison of the applied treatment method for gestational diabetes mellitus and obstetric complications

#### **Authors**

#### Gintarė Galdikaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Atėnė Simanauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Gitana Ramonienė

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

The increasing frequency of diagnosis of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) requires more attention to be paid to diagnosis—related treatment [1]. GDM is classified according to P. White: A1 – glycemia is corrected by lifestyle changes (diabetic diet and physical activity), A2 – lifestyle changes and insulin therapy. Insulin therapy is given if despite adequate lifestyle changes there are 3 or more pathological glycemias per week [2]. International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPS) recomended to emphasize the importance of understanding how different treatment method affects outcomes for these women [3].

#### Aim

To determine obstetric complications related to GDM treatment method.

#### Methods

A retrospective case-control study was performed using the data from the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology of the Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (LUHS) Birth Registry in 2020 to compare two groups of women with GDM: Group I – White A1, Group II – White A2. Data analyzed using IBM Statistics SPSS for frequencies, t and  $\chi$  2 tests. Results with values of p < 0.05 considered statistically significant.



#### Results

Majority of women 620 (70.5 %) patients were treated with White A1. Women in group I were younger (76.5%, p = 0.024), in contrast, in group II were older (30.8% p = 0.013). The pregestational BMI of group II were statistically significantly higher (27.9 kg/m², p = 0.011). Obesity was more common in group II (35.0%, p = 0.001). Weight gain during pregnancy was higher in group II (12.4 kg, p = 0.001). GDM more frequently was diagnosed with the fasting glucose test in the first trimester between women in group II (69.6%, p = 0.005) and with OGTT in group I (39.4%, p = 0.014). In regards of glycemic control, fasting and OGTT after 1 hour were higher in group II (5.5 mmol/l, p = 0.008; 9.3 mmol/l, p = 0.017). Polyhydramnios and macrosomic newborns were more diagnosed in group I (10.0%, p = 0.041; 13.9%, p = 0.033). Large for gestational age newborns were more found in group II (15.4%, p = 0.047). Induction of labor more frequently used in group II (65.0%, p = 0.001), according to method, amniocentesis and prostaglandin administration were more often used (34.6%, p = 0.017; 22.3%, p = 0.035). In group II patients, induction of labor was more commonly finished with the caesarean section (10.8%, p = 0.021).

#### **Conclusions**

GDM is commonly treated with lifestyle changes and a diabetic diet. Indications for concomitant insulin therapy is significantly more frequent in obese women. There were significant links between the treatment method for GDM and these obstetric complications: polyhydramnios, macrosomic and larger for gestational age newborns, induction of labor, because glucose intolerance in group II is higher and more difficult to correct and complicated.

- 1. Dickens L T, Thomas C C. Updates in gestational diabetes prevalence, treatment, and health policy. Curr Diab Rep. 2019; 19(6):33.
- 2. Lietuvos akušerių-ginekologų draugija: Nėščiųjų diabeto metodika. 2019. Available from:
- 3. Farrar D, Simmonds M, Bryant M, Sheldon TA, Tuffnell D, Golder S, et al. Treatments for gestational diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2017;7(6):e015557.

## Odontology & Maxillofacial Surgery



# The efficiency of photobiomodulation therapy on patients with temporomandibular joint disorder (TMD). Systematic literature review

#### **Authors**

#### Augustė Jasiūnaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### leva Gudelevičiūtė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Algirdas Balčiūnas

Department of Prosthodontics, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

TMD is a relevant topic among dental patients: its prevalence in the society is larger than 5% and more than 12% of patients have experienced clinical symptoms (1). Such disorders are multietiological – they are caused by biological, behavioural, social and cognitive factors (2). TMDs are usually treated noninvasively (3). In the recent decade, more and more discussions arise about photobiomodulation therapy potentially being an effective non-invasive treatment for TMD patients.

#### Aim

To assess the efficiency of photobiomodulation's application while treating TMDs.

#### Methods

Data was retrieved according to PRISMA criteria. Electronic databases: PubMed, Cohrane Library, and Science Direct. Keywords: photobiomodulation therapy, low-level laser therapy, TMD, TMJ disorder, treatment. PICO question: is the application of photobiomodulation treatment on TMD patients more effective than a control group or other methods? 32 sources were sampled from 100. By applying sampling criteria



(photobiomodulation clinical trials on treating TMDs, studies not older than 10 years, full text), 10 publications in English were chosen and used in the review. The risk of bias wasassessed using the Cohrane risk of bias tool (RoB 2).

#### Results

VAS pain scale value in painful areas decreased in 3,65 points while applying photobiomodulation therapy on TMD patients using a GaAlAs laser (energy density – 105 J/cm2) (5,9). Photobiomodulation significantly reduces pain by palpating the TMJ area (p<0,05) (7,8). Photobiomodulation significantly increases maximum values of the mouth opening amplitude (p<0,05) (10,13). By comparing nonpainful values of mouth opening in placebo and photobiomodulation groups, significant differences were not found (p>0.05) (7,10). Differences between pain values were also not found by comparing the efficiencies of photobiomodulation and occlusal splint (p>0.05) (6,11). A significantly better infrared radiation impact is noticed in VAS values (p=0.039) in 2 studies, which assessed photobiomodulation's efficiency with infrared (790nm) and red (660nm) radiations, 180 days after the last intervention (4,12).

#### **Conclusions**

Photobiomodulation increases maximum mouth opening. Photobiomodulation and placebo evenly increase maximum mouth opening. Photobiomodulation and occlusal splints reduce pain evenly. Infrared laser radiation more effectively reduces pain than redlaser radiation.

- Liu F, Steinkeler A. Epidemiology, diagnosis, and treatment of temporomandibular disorders. Dent Clin North Am. 2013;57(3):465–79.
- 2. Scrivani SJ, Keith DA, Kaban LB. Temporomandibular disorders. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(25):2693–705.
- 3. Aisaiti A, Zhou Y, Wen Y, Zhou W, Wang C, Zhao J, et al. Effect of photobiomodulation therapy on painful temporomandibular disorders. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):9049.
- 4. Pereira TS, Flecha OD, Guimarães RC, de Oliveira D, Botelho AM, Ramos Glória JC, et al. Efficacy of red and infrared lasers in treatment of temporomandibular disorders-a double-blind, randomized, parallel clinical trial. Cranio [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2021Dec 19];32(1):51–6. Available from:



https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24660647/

- 5. Borges RMM, Cardoso DS, Flores BC, da Luz RD, Machado CR, Cerveira GP, et al. Effects of different photobiomodulation dosimetries on temporomandibular dysfunction: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Lasers Med Sci [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2021 Dec 19];33(9):1859–66. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29850961/
- 6. Rodrigues M da F, Rodrigues ML, Bueno KS, Aroca JP, Camilotti V, Busato MCA, et al. Effects of low-power laser auriculotherapy on the physical and emotional aspects in patients with temporomandibular disorders: A blind, randomized, controlled clinical trial. Complement Ther Med [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2021 Dec 19];42:340–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30670264/
- 7. Monteiro L, Ferreira R, Resende T, Pacheco JJ, Salazar F. Effectiveness of photobiomodulation in temporomandibular disorder-related pain using a 635 nm diode laser: A randomized, blinded, and placebo-controlled clinical trial. Photobiomodul Photomed Laser Surg [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2021 Dec 19];38(5):280–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32427553/
- 8. Magri LV, Bataglion C, Leite-Panissi CRA. Follow-up results of a randomized clinical trial for low-level laser therapy in painful TMD of muscular origins. Cranio [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 Dec 19];39(6):502–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31585522/
- 9. da Silva MAMR, Botelho AL, Turim CV, da Silva AMBR. Low level laser therapy as an adjunctive technique in the management of temporomandibular disorders. Cranio [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2021 Dec 19];30(4):264–71. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23156967/
- 10. Ahrari F, Madani AS, Ghafouri ZS, Tunér J. The efficacy of low-level laser therapy forthe treatment of myogenous temporomandibular joint disorder. Lasers Med Sci [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2021 Dec 19];29(2):551–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23318917/
- 11. Demirkol N, Sari F, Bulbul M, Demirkol M, Simsek I, Usumez A. Effectiveness of occlusal splints and low-level laser therapy on myofascial pain. Lasers Med Sci [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2021 Dec 19];30(3):1007–12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24504660/
- 12. Douglas De Oliveira DW, Lages FS, Guimarães RC, Pereira TS, Botelho AM, Glória JCR, et al. Do TMJ symptoms improve and last across time after treatment with red (660 nm) and infrared (790 nm) low level laser treatment (LLLT)? A survival analysis. Cranio [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2021 Dec



19];35(6):372–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28218006/

13. Sancakli E, Gökçen-Röhlig B, Balık A, Öngül D, Kıpırdı S, Keskin H. Early results of low-level laser application for masticatory muscle pain: a double-blind randomized clinical study. BMC Oral Health [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2021 Dec 19];15(1):131. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26496720/

## **Evaluation of Postoperative Pain and Discomfort in Patients Undergoing Surgical Exposure of Impacted Maxillary Canines**

#### **Authors**

#### Mariam Varoneckaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Grytė Zabielskaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Dalia Smailienė

Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

In orthodontic practices impacted maxillary canines (IMC) are quite frequent, with up to 23.5% of cases [1]. Combined surgical-orthodontic treatment is commonly used to resolve this condition, however it causes discomfort and postoperative pain [2]. Patients need to be informed about the procedures that will be performed, especially about the pain and discomfort they cause [3].

#### Aim

To evaluate pain and discomfort related to surgical exposure of impacted maxillary canines.



#### Methods

Permit (No BEC-OF-128) was obtained from the Bioethics Centre of LUHS to perform a retrospective study. Data of 25 patients (17 female, 8 male) with the mean age of 15 (range 12-21), treated with combined surgical-orthodontic approach was analyzed retrospectively. Data was obtained from pre-treatment CBCT and discomfort evaluation questionnaire, created based on previous studies [3-5]. The questions included: level of discomfort during surgery (0-10), level of pain (0-10) in the evening, one, two days and a week after surgery. CBCT analysis consisted of evaluation of IMC mesiodistal inclination, horizontal, vertical dislocation from alveolar process edge, labiopalatal localization, length of IMC eruption path [6,7]. IBM SPSS Statistics software was used. To carry out research objectives a non-parametric Spearman correlation coefficient, Mann-Whitney U test, intraclass correlation coefficient and Cohen's Kappa coefficient were used. Value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### Results

Average level of discomfort during the procedure was 2.8 (SD=2.3). Pain level the evening after the surgery was 3.3 (SD=2.1), on the second day - 2.8 (SD=2.7), the third day - 1.7 (SD=2.2), a week after, the average pain level was 0.5 (SD=0.8). Pain level differed significantly between different days (p<0.001). The pain after the procedure was not statistically significantly related to age or gender (p>0.05). The level of discomfort during the procedure did not differ significantly in the labial and palatal IMC groups with the mean scores of 3.5 and 2.6 respectively (p>0.05). In addition, neither labial or palatal location of IMC nor the impaction being unilateral or bilateral had effect on the level of pain during different stages of measuring (p>0.05). The average mesial inclination of IMC in the palatal group was 49° and in the labial - 59°. Impaction depth in palatal and labial IMC groups was 10.06 mm and 3.55 mm respectively. Impaction height in the palatal group was 11.93mm, in the labial - 15.93 mm. Eruption path length in the palatal group was 14.52 mm and in the labial - 16.86 mm. Impaction height, depth, eruption path length and IMC inclination were not statistically significantly related to discomfort and pain (p>0.05).

#### **Conclusions**

Pain the evening after intervention was rated the highest and decreased over time. There was no significant relation between the discomfort and the location of the impacted tooth. Patient's gender or age did not have an impact on discomfort and pain.



#### References

- 1. Al-Zoubi H, Alharbi AA, Ferguson DJ, Zafar MS. Frequency of impacted teeth and categorization of impacted canines: A retrospective radiographic study using orthopantomograms. Eur J Dent. 2017;11(1):117-121
- 2. Sajnani AK. Permanent maxillary canines review of eruption pattern and local etiological factors leading to impaction. J Investig Clin Dent. 2015 Feb;6(1):1-7
- 3. Gharaibeh TM, Al-Nimri KS. Postoperative pain after surgical exposure of palatally impacted canines: closed-eruption versus open-eruption, a prospective randomized study. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod
- 4. Chaushu S, Becker A, Zeltser R, Branski S, Vasker N, Chaushu G. Patients perception of recovery after exposure of impacted teeth: a comparison of closed- versus open-eruption techniques. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2005 Mar;63(3):323-9.
- 5. Björksved M, Arnrup K, Lindsten R, Magnusson A, Sundell AL, Gustafsson A, Bazargani F. Closed vs open surgical exposure of palatally displaced canines: surgery time, postoperative complications, and patients' perceptions: a multicentre, randomized, controlled trial. Eur J Orthod. 2018 Nov 30;40(6):626-635
- 6. Schubert M, Proff P, Kirschneck C. Improved eruption path quantification and treatment time prognosis in alignment of impacted maxillary canines using CBCT imaging. Eur J Orthod. 2018 Nov 30;40(6):597-607
- 7. Oberoi S, Knueppel S. Three-dimensional assessment of impacted canines and root resorption using cone beam computed tomography. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2012 Feb;113(2):260-7

## Relationship Between Orthodontic Treatment of Class II and Temporomandibular Disorders: A Systematic Review

#### **Authors**

#### Justina Šikšnelytė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania



#### Raimonda Guntulytė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Kristina Lopatienė

Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Temporomandibular disorders (TMD) is a complex of diseases with multifactorial etiologyand might manifest as limitation of mandibular movement and mouth opening, joint clicking or locking as well as pain located in the masticatory muscles and/or temporomandibular joint (TMJ) [1,2]. The usual orthodontic treatment option for Class II is fixed appliances such as Herbst and braces. It is thought that orthodontic treatment causes TMD, however, the results of numerous clinical trials, evaluating this relationship are different and demanding thorougher investigation [3-5].

#### Aim

To evaluate the influence of Class II orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances on temporomandibular disorders.

#### Methods

The protocol of the systematic review is according to PRISMA requirements. An electronic search with keywords "orthodontic treatment", "temporomandibular joint disorder" was carried out on December 15, 2021 in Pubmed, ScienceDirect, Web of Science, Google Scholar, ResearchGate and Plos One databases. Inclusion criteria were: research articles published less than 10 years ago, written in English, evaluating the influence of Class II orthodontic therapy with fixed appliances on the development of symptoms of TMD or on the improvement of the symptoms. Exclusion criteria: the subjects with craniofacial syndromes, cleft lip and/or palate, systemic arthritic and muscular diseases, skeletal asymmetries, previous trauma of the orofacial region or orthognathic surgery. The quality of each study was evaluated using the Joanna Briggs Institute's (JBI) critical appraisal checklists for cross-sectional and cohort studies.



#### Results

A total of 1370 initially identified articles were found and full texts of 46 articles were read and assessed for eligibility, 5 of them (2 cross-sectional and 3 cohort studies) were included in this review. 544 subjects were involved in the studies consisting of 490 (323 Angle Class II) patients treated orthodontically using Herbst and/or braces and 54 subjects of the control group. The signs and symptoms of TMD (clicking, tenderness in masticatory muscles, myofascial pain) were assessed using questionnaires and clinical examinations. One retrospective cohort study [6] found an increase in TMD symptoms during the orthodontic treatment, however, the symptoms were mostly relieved upon completion of the therapy. There was an actual improvement in myofascial pain after orthodontics. As reported by the other studies [7,8] comparing orthodontic and control groups, TMD manifestation was observed at a similar frequency and these subjects did not differ significantly according to TMD symptoms. The studies by Ortega et al. [9] and Ruf et al. [10] stated that no statistically significant relationship was found between orthodontic therapy and TMD development.

#### **Conclusions**

There is no significant evidence that orthodontic therapy is a predisposing factor for temporomandibular disorders. However, the symptoms of TMD might be improved during orthodontic treatment of Class II patients.

- 1. Okeson J.P. (2015) Temporomandibular Disorders: Etiology and Classification. In: Kandasamy S., Greene C., Rinchuse D., Stockstill J. (eds) TMD and Orthodontics. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-19782-1\_2 List T, Jensen RH. Temporomandibular disorders: Old ideas and new concepts. Cephalalgia [Internet]. 2017;37(7):692–704. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28068790/
- 2. McNamara JA. Orthodontic treatment and temporomandibular disorders. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontics [Internet]. 1997 Jan 1;83(1):107–17. Available from:https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9007933/
- 3. Leite RA, Rodrigues JF, Sakima MT, Sakima T. Relationship between temporomandibular disorders and orthodontic treatment: a literature review. Dental Press J Orthod [Internet]. 2013;18(1):150–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23876963/



- 4. Coêlho TG da S, Caracas HCPM. Perception of the relationship between TMD and orthodontic treatment among orthodontists. Dental Press J Orthod [Internet]. 2015;20(1):45–51. Available from: https://www.scielo.br/j/dpjo/a/FgxpQmd5JyBSHrWR9whySXg/?lang=en
- 5. Ugolini A, Garbarino F, Di Vece L, Silvestrini-Biavati F, Lanteri V. Determining risk factors for the development of temporomandibular disorders during orthodontic treatment. Appl Sci (Basel) [Internet]. 2020;10(22):8216. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/app10228216
- 6. Heredia-Rizo AM, Rodríguez-Blanco C, Oliva-Pascual-Vaca Á, Torres-Lagares D, Albornoz-Cabello M, Piña-Pozo F, et al. Masticatory mechanosensitivity, mouth opening and impact of headache in subjects with a history of orthodontics use: a cross- sectional study. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2014;50(4):411–8.
- 7. Giray B, Sandry S. Modifications in Class I and Class II Div. 1 malocclusion during orthodontic treatment ant their association with TMD problems. Cranio [Internet]. 2021;39(1):65-73. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08869634.2019.1572282
- 8. Antunes Ortega ACB, Pozza DH, Rocha Rodrigues LLF, Guimarães AS. Relationship between orthodontics and temporomandibular disorders: A prospective study. J Oral Facial Pain Headache [Internet]. 2016 Spring;30(2):134–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.11607/ofph.1574
- 9. Ruf S, Bock NC. Long-term (≥15 years) effects of Class II treatment: a longitudinal and cross-sectional study on signs and symptoms of temporomandibular disorders. Eur J Orthod [Internet]. 2019;41(2):172-9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ejo/cjy040

# Efficacy of Conservative Treatment of Peri-implantitis: A Systematic Review

#### **Authors**

#### Raimonda Guntulytė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania



### Justina Šikšnelytė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Nomeda Basevičienė

Departament of Dental and Oral Diseases, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

One of the most common late biological complications in implantology is periimplantitis. Over the past decades, a variety of interventions, alone or in combination, has been investigated for the conservative treatment of peri-implantitis. It includes debridement with curettes, ultrasonic devices or via air abrasion, additionally probiotics, antibiotics or local anti-infective therapy can be added.

#### Aim

To evaluate the efficacy of non-surgical treatment methods of peri-implantitis.

#### Methods

A comprehensive electronic database search was carried out in compliance with PRISMA. The search with keywords "peri-implantitis", "therapy", "non-surgical" was performed on January 26, 2022 in Pubmed, ScienceDirect and Web of Science online libraries. Inclusion criteria were: research articles published less than 5 years ago, written in English, the follow-up must have been up to 6 months at least, the treatment outcomes had to include changes in probing depth (PD) and/or bleeding on probing (BOP) and/or radiologic marginal bone-level (MBL). The quality of all the included studies was assessed by the

Cochrane Collaboration's tool (RoB 2).

#### Results

After an initial search, 227 articles were found and 22 full texts were read, 6 were included in this review. Summarizing the risk of bias for each study, 1 study [1] was classified as having a high risk, the remaining 5 studies had a low risk of bias [2-6]. Three studies [3-5] had up to 6 months of follow-up, and the rest [1,2,6] included up to



1 year of follow-up. Altogether 519 patients were involved in the studies. Four studies [3-6] showed a significant improvement in PD and BOP scores. Three [1,4,6] studies reported a change in MBL following treatment, but only one [6] of them was significant. No significant difference in PD and BOP change was found in the systemic metronidazole (MTZ) (400 mg) + amoxicillin (AMX) (500 mg) and non-surgical debridement (NSD) in the treatment of peri-implantitis [2]. No significant difference in PD and BOP change was observed between the adjunct drops and lozenges containing L. reuteri and NSD [3] as well as erythritol airpolishing and ultrasonic therapy [1]. NSD with the additional use of desiccant material reduces PD more (p = 0,0229) than the adjunct glycine powder [4]. The additional insertion of chlorhexidine digluconate (CHX) chips reduced PD significantly more (p = 0,01) compared to NSD alone [5]. Also, the additional systemic MTZ (250 mg) significantly reduced PD and increased radiographic bone-level more (p <0,05) than the NSD with irrigation of 0.12% CHX alone [6].

#### **Conclusions**

The additional desiccant material was more effective than the glycine powder and the adjunct systemic MTZ or CHX chips were more efficient than the NSD alone in the treatment of peri-implantitis. The erythritol airpolishing was as limited in effectiveness as an ultrasonic scaling. Also, no additional effects have been observed with the use of L.reuteri probiotics or the systemic use of MTZ + AMX in combination with NSD.

- 1. Hentenaar DFM, De Waal, Yvonne C M, Stewart RE, Van Winkelhoff AJ, Meijer HJA, Raghoebar GM. Erythritol airpolishing in the non-surgical treatment of peri-implantitis: A randomized controlled trial. Clinical oral implants research 2021 Jul;32(7):840-852. Shibli JA, Ferrari DS, Siroma RS, Figueiredo LCd, Faveri Md, Feres M. Microbiological and clinical effects of adjunctive systemic metronidazole and amoxicillin in the non- surgical treatment of peri-implantitis: 1 year follow-up. Brazilian oral research 2019;33(suppl 1):e080.
- 2. Laleman I, Pauwels M, Quirynen M, Teughels W. The usage of a lactobacilli probiotic in the non-surgical therapy of peri-implantitis: A randomized pilot study. Clin Oral Implants Res 2020 -01;31(1):84-92.
- 3. Merli M, Bernardelli F, Giulianelli E, Carinci F, Mariotti G, Merli M, et al. Short-term comparison of two non-surgical treatment modalities of periimplantitis: Clinical and microbiological outcomes in a two-factorial randomized controlled trial. Journal of Clinical Periodontology



2020;47(10):1268-1280.

- 4. Machtei EE, Romanos G, Kang P, Travan S, Schmidt S, Papathanasiou E, et al. Repeated delivery of chlorhexidine chips for the treatment of periimplantitis: A multicenter, randomized, comparative clinical trial. Journal of Periodontology 2021;92(1):11-20.
- 5. Blanco C, Pico A, Dopico J, Gándara P, Blanco J, Liñares A. Adjunctive benefits of systemic metronidazole on non-surgical treatment of periimplantitis. A randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Clin Periodontol 2022 -01:49(1):15-27.

# Impact of pathologic tooth migration on oral health related quality of life in adult subjects with periodontitis. A systematic review

#### **Authors**

#### Mariam Varoneckaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Grvtė Zabielskaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Eglė Zasčiurinskienė

Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Periodontitis is one of the most frequent oral diseases which prevalence is up to 40% of the adult population [1]. Loss of periodontal attachment leads to pathologic tooth migration, tooth mobility and compromised smile aesthetics, which can affect physical and psychosocial well-being [2].



#### Aim

To assess the current evidence on the relationship between pathologic tooth migration and oral health related quality of life (OHRQoL) in subjects with periodontitis.

#### Methods

A systematic literature review was performed according to PRISMA statement. The search was performed using databases of Pubmed, Research Gate, the Cochrane and ScienceDirect between January 5 and January 21. Following keywords were used: "periodontitis", "oral health-related quality of life", "pathologic tooth migration", "tooth mobility", "clinical attachment loss". Inclusion criteria: studies in English language analysing Oral Health Impact Profile (OHIP) or Oral Health-Related Quality-of-Life (OHRQoL) of adult patients with periodontitis, tooth mobility and pathologic tooth migration. The research scope excluded case series or reports, systematic reviews, and pilot studies. Electronic search was supplemented by manual searches and reference links. Eligible literature was assessed for the risk of bias using the Appraisal tool for cross – sectional studies (AXIS tool) and was critically appraised by two authors [3].

#### Results

Database search yielded 49 articles. After checking the titles for relevancy, 11 articles were selected for the full-text analysis. After applying selection criteria, 6 studies were included in this systematic review with a total number of 1312 patients with periodontitis. The overall estimated quality of the included studies was good. Five of them investigated the effect of different forms of periodontitis on OHRQoL [4,5,6,7,8]. Four articles demonstrated significantly higher results on the impact of OHRQoL for patients with full mouth mean clinical attachment loss above 3 mm or probing depth 4-6 mm (severe periodontal attachment loss group) [4,5,6,8]. Hovewer, another study proved, that OHRQoL statistically significantly depends on periodontitis, but the severity of periodontitis is not an influential factor on patients' OHRQoL [7]. A statistically significantlink was displayed between tooth mobility and it was one of the most affected parameters of OHRQoL, especially its psychological factor (p<0.05) [9].

#### **Conclusions**

There is lack of evidence on the impact of tooth mobility and pathologic tooth migration on OHRQoL. According to the current literature, periodontal disease is linked with poorer oral health related QoL, however factors, which affect it are still unclear and should be further analysed.



- 1. Kwon T, Lamster IB, Levin L. Current concepts in the management of periodontitis. Int Dent J. 2020 Dec 5. doi: 10.1111/idj.12630. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 33277943.
- 2. Needleman I, Garcia R, Gkranias N, et al. Mean annual attachment, bone level, and tooth loss: a systematic review. J Clin Periodontol.2018;45(Suppl 20):S112–S129.
- 3. Downes MJ, Brennan ML, Williams HC, Dean RS. Development of a critical appraisal tool to assess the quality of cross-sectional studies (AXIS). BMJ Open. 2016 Dec 8;6(12):e011458. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011458. PMID: 27932337; PMCID: PMC5168618.
- 4. Levin L, Zini A, Levine J, Weiss M, Lev RA, Hai A, Chebath-Taub D, Almoznino G. Dental anxiety and oral health-related quality of life in aggressive periodontitis patients. Clin Oral Investig. 2018 Apr;22(3):1411-1422. doi: 10.1007/s00784-017-2234-8. Epub 2017 Oct 11. PMID: 29022175.
- 5. Kutsal D, Bilgin Çetin M, Durukan E, Bulut Ş. Evaluation of the effect of periodontitis on quality of life using Oral-Dental Health-Related Quality of Life-United Kingdom scale. Int J Dent Hyg. 2021 Aug;19(3):305-312. doi: 10.1111/idh.12501. Epub 2021 Apr 12. PMID: 33797852.
- Llanos AH, Silva CGB, Ichimura KT, Rebeis ES, Giudicissi M, Romano MM, Saraiva L.Impact of aggressive periodontitis and chronic periodontitis on oral health-related quality of life. Braz Oral Res. 2018;32:e006. doi: 10.1590/1807-3107bor- 2018.vol32.0006. Epub 2018 Feb 8. PMID: 29451591.
- 7. Salari A, Alavi FN. Effect of Severity of Chronic Periodontitis on Oral Health-Related Quality of Life. Maedica (Bucur). 2021 Jun;16(2):239-245. doi: 10.26574/maedica.2021.16.2.239. PMID: 34621346; PMCID: PMC8450657. Ng SK, Leung WK. Oral health-related quality of life and periodontal status. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2006 Apr;34(2):114-22. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0528.2006.00267.x. PMID: 16515675.
- 8. Eltas A, Uslu MÖ. Evaluation of oral health-related quality-of-life in patients with generalized aggressive periodontitis. Acta Odontol Scand. 2013 May-Jul;71(3-4):547-52. doi: 10.3109/00016357.2012.696698. Epub 2012 Jul 2. PMID: 22746288.



### Blood type and dental status

#### **Authors**

#### Yuliia Chekh

Poltava State Medical University, Ukraine

#### Introduction

Dental status is a complex and multi-component concept that combines the status of teeth and dentition, oral hygienic status, periodontal condition and state of oral mucosa. The parameters of dental status can be influenced by many factors, some of which are genetically determined. Recent findings regarding to the fact that periodontal pathologies can be determined with genetically inclinations according to the blood type antigens of the ABO system [1, 2]. The associative connections of the blood type with dental caries have also been revealed [3, 4]. Identifying connection between dental status parameters and antigens of the blood type in the future allows to identify high-risk groups and increase the effectiveness of primary prevention of dental diseases.

#### Aim

Study the connection between indicators of dental status and blood types of respondents.

#### Methods

34 young people aged 20-27, who are graduates of Poltava State Medical University, took part in the research. All participants were examined with the determination of the hygienic index by Green-Vermillion, the prevalence and intensity of caries (CFE), papillary- marginal-alveolar index of PMA (modified by Parma). Blood types according to the ABO system was recorded during the subjective examination.

#### Results

The majority of participants in the study, namely 17 people (50%) had blood type II. 26.5% noted that they have I blood group, and people with III and IV blood groups were only 11.8%. The prevalence and intensity of carious lesions in the subjects



did not differ significantly in respondents with different blood groups. Whereas the respondents with blood group I had a significantly worse GI, compared with people with other blood groups (p<0,01 between I and II gr; p<0,01 between I and IV gr.). Study participants with II, III and IV blood groups were characterized by oral hygienic status, which did not differ significantly in numerical representation (p>0,05)... 75% of respondents with blood group III found various forms of periodontal tissue damage. Among the respondents with blood groups I and II, persons with periodontal disease and healthy periodontal tissues were approximately halved. Respondents with type IV blood had the lowest number of people with periodontal disease.

#### **Conclusions**

The results of the study may indicate the connection between the parameters of dental status and blood type. The obtained research results require further detailed study and comprehensive analysis.

- 1. заболеваний у детей : автореф. дисс. На соискание уч. степени д-рамед. наук: спец.
- 2. 14.01.22 «Стоматология» / О. В. Деньга. К., 2001. 33 с
- 3. Мельничук Г. М. Генералізованй пародонтит і пародонтоз: маркери спадкової схильності, патогенетичні механізми метаболічних порушень та їх комплексна корекція : автореф. дис. на здобуття наук. ступеня д-ра мед. наук : спец. 14.01.22
- 4. «Стоматологія» / Г. М. Мельничук. Одеса, 2008. 33 с.
- 5. Остапко Е. И. Ассоциативные связи генетических маркеров крови с кариесом зубов у детей, страдающих хроническим заболеванием органов пищеварения / Е.И.
- 6. Остапко // Генетические маркеры в антропогенетике и медицине : тез. 4-го Всесоюзного симпозиума. Хмельницкий, 1988.— С. 208—209.
- 7. Соколова І. І. Особливості патогенезу,



клініки, діагностики і лікування генералізованого пародонтиту в осіб зі спадковою схильністю до його розвитку : автореф. дис. на здобуття наук. ступеня дра мед. наук: спец. 14.01.22

8. «Стоматологія» / І.І.Соколова. — К., 2008. — 35 с.

# Comparison of the expression of Ki-67 marker in ameloblastoma and odontogenic keratocyst: a systematic literature review

#### **Authors**

#### Gerda Kilinskaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Reda Vaičiūnaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Jan Pavel Rokicki

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

The development and progression of odontogenic cysts and tumors are associated with incorrect adhesion of molecules, proliferation of cells, angiogenesis and osteolysis [1]. Ki- 67 is a proliferation marker (nuclear non-histone protein) used in the diagnosis and prognosis of pathological lesions, mainly in human tumors [2]. This marker helps to assess the aggressive potential of lesions, mostly by measuring cell proliferation index (PI) [3]. Ki- 67 marker differences of proliferative activity in odontogenic keratocyst and ameloblastoma are considered, because it could play a role in biological aggressive behavior [4].



#### Aim

The aim of this study is to compare the proliferation index in ameloblastoma and odontogenic keratocyst in order to find out which lesion has a higher potential for aggression.

#### Methods

A systematic search was conducted in five electronic databases, including Pubmed, Wiley Online, Cochrane Library and ScienceDirect. The protocol of the study was conducted in line with the PRISMA statement. Combinations including keywords "ameloblastoma",

"odontogenic tumor", "odontogenic keratocyst", "immunohistochemical markers" were used. According to the PICOS schema, the study included prospective trials (S) in which adult patients diagnosed with ameloblastoma or odontogenic keratocyst (P), which immunohistochemical expression of Ki-67 were investigated (I) in different lesions (C) in order to evaluated the aggressive potential of lesions (O). The criteria for the study inclusion were full-text studies published in English, clinical studies with humans.

#### Results

In total, 4014 were initially identified in the electronic databases. After the final screening of 42 full texts, 5 studies were included in the final evaluation. In studies comparing the amount of positive cells between ameloblastoma and odontogenic keratocyst were observed that positive cells was found more in odontogenic keratocyst from 11.57 % to 46.4% in two studies, which means that odontogenic keratocyst is more aggressive. These results can confirm a study, which observed a statistical significant difference between the PI range of ameloblastoma (2.20-5.92) and odontogenic keratocyst (8.29-20.49). Other authors also showed that the proliferation index also was higher in odontogenic keratocyst (31.1%) than in ameloblastoma (6%) by 25.1%. Although the rate of PI was considerably lower in another study, there was also a statistical difference between ameloblastoma (5.12%) and odontogenic keratocyst (9.22%) immunostaining by 4.1%. The PI was very different in all studies, but can be concluded that the expression of the Ki-67 marker was statistically significantly higher in odontogenic keratocyst than in ameloblastoma, which causes biological aggressive behavior (P<0.05).



#### **Conclusions**

The higher the proliferation index was found in odontogenic keratocyst than in ameloblastoma. The higher expression of the Ki-67 marker of odontogenic keratocyst highlights more aggressive behavior of these cystic lesions.

- 1. Darling MR, Woodford R, Cuddy KK, Jackson-Boeters L, Hayter A, Inkaran J, Diamandis EP, Khan Z. Kallikrein-related peptidase expression in odontogenic cysts and tumors: An immunohistochemical comparative study. J Investig Clin Dent. 2017 Nov;8(4.
- 2. Jaafari-Ashkandi Z, Mehranmehr F, Roosta E. MCM3 and Ki67 proliferation markers in odontogenic cysts and ameloblastoma. J Oral Biol Craniofac Res. 2019 Jan- Mar;9(1):47-50.
- 3. F. Martín-Hernán, J. Campo-Trapero, J. Cano-Sánchez et al. A comparative study of the expression of cyclin D1, COX-2, and KI-67 in odontogenic keratocyst vs. ameloblastoma vs. ortho keratinized odontogenic cyst, Revista Española de Patología.
- 4. Brito-Mendoza L, Bologna-Molina R, Irigoyen-Camacho ME, Martinez G, Sánchez- Romero C, Mosqueda-Taylor A. A Comparison of Ki67, Syndecan-1 (CD138), and Molecular RANK, RANKL, and OPG Triad Expression in Odontogenic Keratocyst, Unicystic Ameloblastoma, and Dentigerous Cysts. Dis Markers. 2018 Jul 29;2018:7048531.
- 5. Escobar E, Peñafiel C, Gómez-Valenzuela F, Chimenos-Küstner E, Pérez-Tomás R. Cyclooxygenase-2 protein expression modulates cell proliferation and apoptosis in solid ameloblastoma and odontogenic keratocyst. An immunohistochemical study. J Oral Pathol Med. 2021 Oct;50(9):937-945.
- 6. Metgud R, Gupta K. Expression of cell cycle and apoptosis-related proteins in ameloblastoma and keratocystic odontogenic tumor. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2013 Dec;17(6):518-21.



# Association between apical periodontitis and root canal treatment in patients with type II diabetes. Systematic review

#### **Authors**

#### Mariam Varoneckaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Danielė Oleinikaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Karolina Budreikaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Type II diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a chronic endocrine disease affecting over 6% of world population [1]. Sustained hyperglycaemia plays a role in inhibited healing and chronic inflammation which can lead to complications after root canal treatment, such as apical periodontitis [2]. For diabetic patients with long-term poor glycaemic control, dentists should evaluate oral conditions, glycaemic control status, and treat infections accordingly[3]

#### Aim

To evaluate the relationship between apical periodontitis and root canal treatment in patients with type II diabetes.

#### Methods

The systematic review adhered to PRISMA guidelines and databases of PubMed, ScienceDirect, The Cochrane library were used to perform the search. The search was carried out between November 15 and November 30 in the year 2021. Following searchterms were used: "Diabetes", "Periodontitis", "Root canal". Inclusion criteria were: studies in English not older than 10 years, studying adult patients with T2DM



after root canal treatment. Case reports, systematic reviews, meta-analyses, animal studies were excluded from the search.

#### Results

Primary database search yielded 313 results. After checking the content and relevance of the articles, 4 articles were used with a total of 15810 patients. Out of 4 studies, 3 concluded that apical periodontitis after root canal treatment was statistically significantly more frequent in patients with T2DM than in control groups [2,4,5]. However, the results from another study showed that there is no significant correlation between T2DM and post-treatment apical periodontitis (p>0.05) [6]. A study performed by Yip et al. also investigated the effect of glycaemia control on the outcome of endodontic treatment – the results showed a significant association between AP and poor glycaemia control [2]. Another author found similar results as Yip et al, as in poorly controlled T2DM group, apical periodontitis lesions were statistically significantly more frequent than in well controlled T2DM group [4].

#### **Conclusions**

A statistically significant relationship was found between T2DM patients and the occurrence of apical periodontitis in most studies. In addition, a link between glycaemia control and post-treatment apical periodontitis was found which could have a great impact on managing endodontic patients with T2DM.

- 1. Khan MAB, Hashim MJ, King JK, Govender RD, Mustafa H, Al Kaabi J. Epidemiology of Type 2 Diabetes Global Burden of Disease and Forecasted Trends. J Epidemiol Glob Health. 2020;10(1):107-111. doi:10.2991/jegh.k.191028.001
- 2. Yip N, Liu C, Wu D, Fouad AF. The association of apical periodontitis and type 2 diabetes mellitus: A large hospital network cross-sectional case-controlled study. J Am Dent Assoc. 2021 Jun;152(6):434-443. doi: 10.1016/j.adaj.2021.01.005. Epub 2021 Mar29. Hsu YJ, Chen YH, Lin KD, Lee MY, Lee YL, Yu CK, Kabasawa Y, Huang HL. Clinical Outcomes and Oral Health-Related Quality of Life after Periodontal Treatment with Community Health Worker Strategy in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Controlled Study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021 Aug 7;18(16):8371. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18168371



- 3. Sisli SN. Evaluation of the Relationship between Type II Diabetes Mellitus and the Prevalence of Apical Periodontitis in Root-Filled Teeth Using Cone Beam Computed Tomography: An Observational Cross-Sectional Study. Med Princ Pract. 2019;28(6):533-538. doi: 10.1159/000500472. Epub 2019 Apr 19.
- 4. Martinho JP, Coelho A, Oliveiros B, Pires S, Abrantes AM, Paulo S, Carvalho AC, Carrilho E, Paula A, Carvalho L, Seiça R, Botelho MF, Marto CM, Spagnuolo G, Matafome P, Ferreira MM. Impairment of the angiogenic process may contribute to lower success rate of root canal treatments in diabetes mellitus. Int Endod J. 2021 Oct;54(10):1687-1698. doi: 10.1111/iej.13572. Epub 2021 Jul 10.
- 5. Marotta PS, Fontes TV, Armada L, Lima KC, Rôças IN, Siqueira JF Jr. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and the prevalence of apical periodontitis and endodontic treatment in an adult Brazilian population. J Endod. 2012 Mar;38(3):297-300. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2011.11.001. Epub 2011 Dec 22.

## The incidence of complications after replanting avulsed permanent teeth

#### **Authors**

#### Ignas Mickevičius

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Karolina Budreikaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Marijus Leketas

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Teeth avulsions account for 0.5 to 16 % of all dental injuries [1]. Prognosis after such



injury depend on the actions taken at the place of accident and promptly after them[2]. Replantation remains the treatment of choice but cannot always be carried out immediately. Because of delayed tooth replantation, various complications may occur.

#### Aim

To determine the incidence of complications after replanting avulsed permanent teeth under varying conditions

#### Methods

An electronic search was carried out according to PRISMA guidelines through Pub Med, ResearchGate and Google scholar databases with keywords: "dental trauma", "avulsion", "root resorption", "ankylosis", "total luxation", "complications" "replantation". A focus question based on PICO was formed: What is the incidence of complications (O) after replantation of permanent teeth(I) for patients who suffered avulsion (P) under varying conditions (C) such as: transport mediums, extra-oral time, stage of root development? Systematic reviews, meta-analyses, case reports, in vitro, animal studies were excluded. Only full-text articles clinical trials and randomized controlled trials between the years 2012 and 2022 were included. The risk of bias was assessed using the Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for randomized trials(RoB 2)and ROBINS-I tool for non- randomized studies.

#### Results

A total of 220 articles were found. 14 were selected for full text analysis. 9 fit the final inclusion criteria. Delayed replantation has poor long-term prognosis [2,3]. After replantation of the tooth, various complications can occur: ankylosis(AN), pulp necrosis(PN), inflammatory external root resorption(IERR), and replacement resorption(RR) [3,4]. 7 out of 8 studies that included mature teeth replantation reported PN followed by endodontic treatment. Advanced root development stages in teeth with immature roots were also a strong predictor of PN (78.2%). [5] Immature root development showed significantly less PN (P < 0.05) compared to teeth with full root formation. [6] All included studies indicate 16,66%-57.6% incidence of RR, 22.5%-36,97% IERR and 8,33%-65,8% AN after replantation.[9,10,11,12] Dry time before replantation varied greatly in each study 5 minutes - 7 days with standard deviations of 82-151 minutes.[7] Storage medium was significant (P < 0.05) for development of ankylosis-related resorption and only root development for pulp necrosis.[6] The incidence of periodontal ligament necrosis of replanted teeth stored in a physiologic medium in one study was 61.3% (19/31), which was significantly lower than that of



replanted teeth stored in a non - physiologic medium (94/114,82.5%) (P = 0.025). [8]

#### **Conclusions**

1) Incidence of complications such as PN, AN, IERR and RR, depend on extra-oral time, transport medium and maturity of the root. 2) The longer the extra-oral time, the more periodontal tissue damages irreversibly. 3) Treatment of dental avulsions is usually delayed which explains the occurrence of pulpal and periodontal complications.

- 1. Day P, Flores M, O'Connell A, Abbott P, Tsilingaridis G, Fouad A et al. International Association of Dental Traumatology guidelines for the management of traumatic dental injuries: 3. Injuries in the primary dentition. Dental Traumatology. 2020;36(4):343-359.
- 2. Bourguignon C, Cohenca N, Lauridsen E, Flores M, O'Connell A, Day P et al. International Association of Dental Traumatology guidelines for the management of traumatic dental injuries: 1. Fractures and luxations. Dental Traumatology. 2020;36(4):314-330.
- 3. Kallel I, Douki N, Amaidi S, Ben Amor F. The Incidence of Complications of Dental Trauma and Associated Factors: A Retrospective Study. International Journal of Dentistry. 2020;2020:1-8.
- 4. Biederman W. Etiology and treatment of tooth ankylosis. American Journal of Orthodontics. 1962;48(9):670-684.
- 5. Amaro R, Santos L, Lima T, Coste S, Barbato Ferreira D, Côrtes M et al. Pulp healing in immature replanted permanent teeth: A competing risk analysis. Dental Traumatology. 2021;37(3):447-456.
- 6. Tsilingaridis G, Malmgren B, Skutberg C, Malmgren O. The effect of topical treatment with doxycycline compared to saline on 66 avulsed permanent teeth a retrospective case-control study. Dental Traumatology. 2015;31(3):171-176. Coste S, Silva E, Santos L, Barbato Ferreira D, Côrtes M, Colosimo E et al. Survival of Replanted Permanent Teeth after Traumatic Avulsion. Journal of Endodontics. 2020;46(3):370-375.
- 7. Wang G, Wang C, Qin M. A retrospective study of survival of 196 replanted permanent teeth in children. Dental Traumatology. 2019;35(4-5):251-258.
- 8. Müller D, Bissinger R, Reymus M, Bücher K, Hickel R, Kühnisch J. Survival and complication analyses of avulsed and replanted permanent teeth.



Scientific Reports. 2020;10(1).

- 9. Day P, Gregg T, Ashley P, Welbury R, Cole B, High A et al. Periodontal healing following avulsion and replantation of teeth: a multi-centre randomized controlled trial to compare two root canal medicaments. Dental Traumatology. 2011;28(1):55-64.
- 10. Bastos J, Côrtes M, Silva J, Goulart E, Colosimo E, Gomez R et al. A study of the interleukin-1 gene cluster polymorphisms and inflammatory external root resorption in replanted permanent teeth. International Endodontic Journal. 2014;48(9):878-887.
- 11. Estrela C, Guedes O, Bandeca M, Borges Á, de Alencar A, de Araújo Estrela C. Analysis of 261 avulsed permanent teeth of patients treated in a dental urgency service. Journal of Dental Research and Review. 2015;2(1):25.

# Public Health



### Attitudes of health care professionals towards COVID-19 vaccine

#### **Authors**

#### Gabrielė Bartkutė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Dovilė Banaitytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Jolanta Sauserienė

Department of Family Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

COVID-19 caused a global pandemic in 2019, two years later it remains a leading cause of death [1]. The WHO declared that vaccination provides strong protection against severe illness, hospitalization and may reduce the chance of onward virus transmission [2]. The opinions of healthcare professionals (HCPs) on the COVID-19 vaccine may affect the public perception of vaccination and management of the pandemic [3].

#### Aim

To evaluate the attitude toward vaccination against COVID-19 infection of Lithuanian healthcare professionals.

#### Methods

An anonymous online survey, that consisted of 16 original questions that were prepared by the authors, was conducted from August to December of 2021 in Lithuania. The study included 860 Lithuanian healthcare workers: physicians, resident physicians, and nurses. Statistical calculations were performed using SPSS 28.0 software. Statistically significant findings were assumed with p <0.05. Chi-square and z tests were used to determine a relationship between categorical variables ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ).



#### Results

Out of 860 HCPs, 88.3% were female, 11.7% - male, 37.3% - physicians, 20.1% resident physicians, and 42.6% - nurses. 90.3% were vaccinated, 74.7% of unvaccinated HCPs were not planning to get vaccinated. 74.0% would consider revaccination. Physicians were morelikely to get vaccinated compared to the nurses (96.6% vs. 86.9%, respectively; p < 0.001). The main reasons for vaccination were a desire to protect themselves (39.8%), to protect others (32.3%), recommendations from the government (12.4%), and pressure in the workplace (5.7%). 55.4% of unvaccinated participants stated that the reason is side effects and doubts about the effectiveness of the vaccine, and about 20.0% have immunity after COVID-19 infection. Unvaccinated HCPs, that do not consider vaccination, significantly less often recommend vaccination for their relatives (0.7% vs. 50.5%, respectively; p<0.001) and patients (1.4% vs. 41.0%, respectively; p<0.001)respectively; p<0.001) in comparison to vaccinated HCPs. 67.9% stated that they have sufficient knowledge about COVID-19 vaccines and 29.8% would like to know more. HCPs, that are not vaccinated and do not consider vaccination, significantly more often stated, that they are not sufficiently informed about the vaccination compared to those, who are more aware of it (13.7% vs. 3.3%, respectively; p < 0.001).

#### **Conclusions**

Over 90% of HCPs were vaccinated, three-fourths would consider revaccination. Physicians were more likely to get vaccinated compared to the nurses. The reasons behind vaccination were: a wish to protect themselves and others, recommendations from the government, and pressure in the workplace. The main reasons for refusing vaccination are side effects and doubts about the effectiveness of the vaccine and acquired immunity after COVID-19. The majority of HCPs, that are unvaccinated and do not consider vaccination, stated that they are lacking knowledge about it. They significantly less often recommend vaccination for their relatives and patients.

- 1. Sharma A, Tiwari S, Deb MK, Marty JL. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2): a global pandemic and treatment strategies. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 2020 Aug 1;56(2):106054. [accessed 17 Jan 2022] Available from:
- 2. /pmc/articles/PMC7286265/
- 3. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): Vaccines. [accessed 17 Jan 2022] Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/questions-and-answers/item/coronavirus-disease- (covid-19)-



vaccines?fbclid=IwAR2loAO5hHxImHSp2PIBtgfA1D-zvXXFE0QFQphTi\_1KehrPJaNbHZ0dE\_g

Oruç MA, Öztürk O. Attitudes of health care professionals towards COVID-19 vaccine - a sequence from Turkey. Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics. 2021;17(10):3377–83. [accessed 17 Jan 2022] Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34142925/

## Analysis of sensitising components of hair dye products available on the Lithuanian market

#### **Authors**

#### Indrė Stražnickaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania

### Austėja Samuolytė

Faculty of Medicine, Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania

#### Laura Malinauskienė

Clinic of Chest Diseases, Immunology and Allergology, Faculty of Medicine, Vilnius University, Lithuania.

#### Introduction

The prevalence of sensitising ingredients in hair dyes raises concerns about a higher incidence of allergic and dermatological diseases among the general consumers and hairdressing professionals. [1] [2]

#### Aim

The aim of the study was to determine the most common hair dye allergens in the Lithuanian market and the average allergen number in different price intervals, according to marketing slogans and the type of store it was sold at.

#### Methods

The sensitising agents in the ingredient labels of 89 different hair dye products were



evaluated in accordance with the hairdressing series (Chemotechnique, Vellinge, Sweden). The average number of allergens was determined according to the sales location, the price interval and the advertising slogan.

#### Results

The 10 most common ingredients were: m-aminophenol, toluene-2,5-diamine sulfate, resorcinol, panthenol, p-aminophenol, cocamidopropyl betaine, 2-methylresorcinol, methylisothiazolinone + methylchloroisothiazolinone, p-phenylenediamine (PPD), sodium metabisulfite.  $2.7 \pm 2.2$  allergens were found in hair dye products sold in general stores,  $5.4 \pm 1.8$  in pharmacies,  $3.8 \pm 1.9$  in professional stores,  $1.6 \pm 2.9$  in "eco" stores. Products in the  $(0 \in 5 )$  price range had  $2.6 \pm 2.0$  allergens,  $[5 \in 10 )$  had  $2.9 \pm 2.3$ ,  $>10 \in 3.9 \pm 2.6$  allergens. Products labelled as "professional" had on average  $3.6 \pm 1.8$  allergens, products without a slogan had  $2.5 \pm 2.2$  allergens.

#### **Conclusions**

79.8% of the hair dye products in the Lithuanian market contained sensitising ingredients. Products with the highest average number of allergens were sold in the pharmacy and were priced at more than 10€. Products labelled as "professional" had the highest average allergen number.

#### References

- 1. Chu, Christopher, James G. Marks, and Alexandra Flamm. "Occupational contact dermatitis: common occupational allergens." Dermatologic Clinics 38.3 (2020): 339-349.
- 2. SCCS (Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety). (2013). Memorandum on hair dye chemical sensitisation. Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety. Brussels. ISBN 978 92 79 30078 3.

### Emotional state and job satisfaction in hospital staff

#### **Authors**

#### Jūratė Koreivaitė

Faculty of Public Health, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences,



Kaunas, Lithuania

### Kastytis Šmigelskas

Department of Health Psychology, Faculty of Public Health, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

COVID-19 pandemic has a lot of impact on health care workers (1,6,9). Research shows that during the coronavirus outbreak people working in hospitals experience stress, anxiety, depression, and insomnia (9). Subsequently, medical staff is experiencing medium levels of perceived stress at the time of outbreak (1,6). Moreover, non-adaptive emotion regulation strategies may be a risk factor for burnout among medical staff (5). At the same time cognitive emotion regulation strategies may reduce that risk (2). Even though medical workers are satisfied with their job overall, research shows that they are not happy with their pay (11).

#### Aim

Aim of the study is to evaluate hospital workers' job satisfaction, perceived stress, used methods of emotion regulation, and to assess the relationships between those phenomena.

#### Methods

The cross-sectional study has been held from July 5 to August 20, 2021 in Šakiai Hospital, Lithuania. In total, 121 staff members' forms were included in the analysis. All Šakiai Hospital staff, who agreed to participate, were selected to the research. 8,3% of them were medical doctors, 24% was nursing staff, 9,9% was junior medical staff, 4,9% - management staff, 16,5% - technical staff and 36,4 did not mark their position. Statistical analysis was made using MS Excel and IBM SPSS Statistics 21. Stress level has been measured using Perceived Stress Scale (3). For emotion regulation evaluation, Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (4) has been used. Job satisfaction was assessed using 4 subscales (Pay, Supervision, Operating conditions, Coworkers) of Job Satisfaction Survey (8). ANOVA test was used to compare means of job satisfaction and emotion regulation among different work positions. For associations among all phenomena, Pearson (r) and Spearman (rho) correlation was used.



#### Results

Most of staff (74.4%) was satisfied with their coworkers and the minority (20.7%) was satisfied with their pay. There is a significant difference of job satisfaction among various work positions. Hospital staff experience medium stress (94.2%). Workers use both – adaptive (M=29,73) and non-adaptive (M=17,08) emotion regulation strategies. Negative correlation between perceived stress and satisfaction with pay (r=-0,21; p=0,021) as wellas satisfaction with supervision (rho=-0,30; p=0,001) and satisfaction with coworkers (rho=-0,26; p=0,005) has been found. Additionally, correlation between cognitive reappraisal emotion regulation and perceived stress (r=-0,19; p=0,041) was found.

#### **Conclusions**

Hospital workers experience medium levels of stress. Emotion regulation strategies, both cognitive reappraisal and expressive suppression, are used equally and at medium intensity. Most of respondents are satisfied with coworkers and supervisors, however they are not happy with their pay and ambivalent with operating conditions. Weak to medium correlations between perceived stress and job satisfaction as well as cognitive reappraisal was found.

- 1. Babore A, Lombardi L, Viceconti ML, Pignataro S, Marino V, Crudele M, et al. Psychological effects of the COVID-2019 pandemic: Perceived stress and coping strategies among healthcare professionals. Psychiatry Res [Internet]. 2020;293(113366):113366. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113366
- 2. Bamonti P, Conti E, Cavanagh C, Gerolimatos L, Gregg J, Goulet C, et al. Coping, cognitive emotion regulation, and burnout in long-term care nursing staff: A preliminary study. J Appl Gerontol [Internet]. 2019;38(1):92–111. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0733464817716970
- 3. Cohen S. Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United States. Spacapan S, Oskamp S, editors. Sage Publications, Inc; 1988.
- 4. Gross JJ, John OP. Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. J Pers Soc Psychol [Internet]. 2003;85(2):348–62. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.348
- 5. Jackson-Koku G, Grime P. Corrigendum: Emotion regulation and burnout in



- doctors: a systematic review. Occup Med (Lond) [Internet]. 2019;69(4):304. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqz071
- 6. Norkienė I, Kvedaraitė M, Geležėlytė O, Dumarkaitė A, Trusauskaitė-Kunevičienė I, Daniūnaitė I, et al. Medicinos personalo psichikos sveikata pandemijos metu. Slauga Mokslas ir praktika. 2020;1(12):28–32.
- 7. Phillips AC. Perceived Stress. In: Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2013. p. 1453–4.
- 8. Spector PE. Measurement of human service staff satisfaction: development of the Job Satisfaction Survey. Am J Community Psychol [Internet]. 1985;13(6):693–713. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/bf00929796
- Spoorthy MS, Pratapa SK, Mahant S. Mental health problems faced by healthcare workers due to the COVID-19 pandemic-A review. Asian J Psychiatr [Internet]. 2020;51(102119):102119. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102119
- 10. Vannikov-Lugassi M, Shalev H, Soffer-Dudek N. From brooding to detachment: Rumination longitudinally predicts an increase in depersonalization and derealisation.
- 11. Psychol Psychother [Internet]. 2021;94 Suppl 2(S2):321–38. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/papt.12279
- 12. Zhou H, Han X, Zhang J, Sun J, Hu L, Hu G, et al. Job satisfaction and associated factors among medical staff in tertiary public hospitals: Results from a national cross-sectional survey in China. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2018;15(7). Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15071528

### Medical students' knowledge of post-exposure prophylaxis for blood-borne viral infections

#### **Authors**

#### Karina Statkevičienė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vita Karpavičiūtė



Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Gediminas Kiudelis

Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

The risks associated with blood-borne pathogens, especially human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis B virus (HBV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV), in healthcare workers and students are often ignored and insufficient attention is paid to post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP). It is important to know that HIV PEP can be initiated within 72 hours after exposure (1), while HBV PEP is effective if administered within 7 days (ideally within 24 hours) (2, 3). The use of post-exposure antiviral therapy against HCV remains controversial (4) and is not used in Lithuania.

#### Aim

To assess and compare medical students' knowledge and self-assessment of PEP for blood-borne viral infections between courses.

#### Methods

The study was conducted using an anonymous survey. Clinical medicine starts from the 3rd year, during this year students are introduced to PEP, therefore 3–5-year students were included in the study (6<sup>th</sup> year students were not included due to low participation). Data analysis was performed using SPSS statistics 25.0, the  $\chi^2$  test with z-test and Bonferroni correction, Fisher's exact test were applied.

#### Results

A total of 162 students participated in the survey: 54 third-year, 52 fourth-year and 56 fifth-year. Although 92.6% of the students had heard of HBV PEP, only 38.3% correctly identified both PEP methods (revaccination and immunoglobulin): the  $5^{th}$  year students responded better (57.1%), while the  $4^{th}$  year students answered the worst (15.4%) (comparing with  $3^{rd}$  year p=0.011, with  $5^{th}$  year p<0.001). 75.3% of students mistakenly believe that HBV PEP becomes delayed and ineffective after 24 hours post-exposure, with no significant difference between groups (p=0.349). Slightly better student



knowledge was observed for HIV PEP: 40.7% of students reported that its effectiveness could be expected if antiretroviral drugs were administered within 72 hours of the incident. However, 18.5% of respondents had never heard of HIV PEP (no difference between courses, p=0.074). 51.9% of students incorrectly answered that HCV PEP is also available;  $4^{th}$  year students were the least likely to be wrong (69.2% correct; comparing with  $3^{rd}$  year p=0.001, with  $5^{th}$  year p=0.018).  $5^{th}$  year students rated their knowledge of PEP most critically (50% rated it as minimal; the answers differed only between  $5^{th}$  and  $3^{rd}$  year students, p=0.007). Overall, no students rated their knowledge as good/very good. More than 2-thirds of  $4^{th}$  and  $5^{th}$  year students said that they received enough information about PEP during the study years, unfortunately, much was forgotten, while 44.4% of  $3^{rd}$ year students said they received insufficient or no information at all.

#### **Conclusions**

The results showed that during the study year, medical students are indeed introduced to PEP. However, both the students' responses and the subjective assessment of their knowledge showed that knowledge about PEP is insufficient to start medical practice safely. The knowledge of the students did not differ much depending on the course in which they were studying.

- 1. Siedner MJ, Tumarkin E, Bogoch II. HIV post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP). BMJ [Internet]. 2018 Nov 29 [cited 2022 Feb 3];363:k4928. Available from: https://www.bmj.com/content/363/bmj.k4928.long
- 2. EMI Guidelines Appendix 8 Hepatitis B post-exposure prophylaxis (reviewed May 2016). Available from: https://www.hpsc.ie/a-z/EMIToolkit/appendices/app8.pdf
- 3. Schillie S, Vellozzi C, Reingold A, Harris A, Haber P, Ward JW, et al. Prevention of Hepatitis B Virus Infection in the United States: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. MMWR Recomm Rep [Internet]. 2018 Jan 12 [cited 2022 Feb 3];67(1):1-31. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5837403/
- 4. Chilaka VN, Hassan R, Konje JC. Post-exposure prophylaxis for Blood-Borne Viral (BBV) Infections. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol [Internet]. 2020 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Feb 3];255:83-91. Available from: https://www.ejog.org/article/S0301-2115(20)30670-9/fulltext



# Awareness and attitude of women in Kelmė city towards primary and secondary cervical cancer prevention

#### **Authors**

#### Aistė Ogulevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **leva Armonaitė**

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Dovilė Dėnaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Olga Meščeriakova

Department of Health Management, Faculty of Public Health, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Cervical cancer (CC) is one of the most common cancer in Lithuania [1]. To reduce the incidence of CC, primary and secondary prevention programs are being used – vaccination against human papillomavirus (HPV) and participating in CC screening program [2,3]. Nevertheless, more than 5 thousand women are still receiving abnormal cervical screening test results every year and for more than 500 of them these changes develop into CC [4]. After analyzing causes of current situation, the main problem for ensuring good CC prevention is lack of knowledge. Women do not know what causes CC and how it can be prevented. Women's awareness of CC prevention is particularly low in rural areas of the country [5].

#### Aim

To assess the awareness and attitude of women in the city of Kelmė about the primary and secondary prevention of CC.



#### Methods

Anonymous expeditionary questionnaire survey was conducted in February 2019 in Kelmėcity. 203 women in the age group of 25-60 years old were interviewed (response rate – 61.1%). Hypotheses about dependence between different variables were verified by calculating the chi square ( $\chi^2$ ) and z criteria. The differences between the variables were considered statistically significant when P<0.05.

#### Results

68% of respondents knew that the main risk factor for CC is HPV. 20.7% of them did not know this information and even 11.3% stated that HPV is not a major risk factor for CC development. Respondents that were employed (74.8%) or had a higher education (85.2%) were more likely to be aware that HPV is the main risk factor for a CC comparing to unemployed (38.5%) and with lower than higher education (50.6%, P<0.05). 29.6% respondents were aware that primary prevention for CC is HPV vaccination but only 10.3% respondents said there was enough information about the HPV vaccine. None of the respondents had been vaccinated against HPV and only 11.8% of the respondents had vaccinated their daughters. 36.4% of respondents were against HPV vaccination. Respondents with higher (50%) and lower than higher (41.9%) education were more likely to remain against HPV vaccination (P<0.05). The main reason (60.7%) for this attitude was lack of information about HPV vaccines. Only 65% of respondents participated in CC screening program. Respondents aged 51-60, unemployed, having lower education and unmarried were more likely choose not to participate in CC screening program comparing to those aged 25–39 and 40–50, employed, with higher education and married or not married but living with a partner. Respondents that were not participating in the selective CC screening program noted lack of information (53.5%) and lack of time (35.2%) as the main reason.

#### **Conclusions**

Kelmė women lack of information and education on the importance of HPV vaccination

and CC screening. In the opinion of women in Kelmė it is important to increase an availability of information on HPV vaccines and importance of this primary CC prevention program, especially for woman that are older and with a lower education.



#### References

- 1. World health organization. International agency for research on cancer. Global cancer observatory. Available from: <a href="https://gco.iarc.fr/">https://gco.iarc.fr/</a>.
- 2. World Health Organization. Introducing rubella vaccine into national immunization programmes: a step by step guide (No. WHO/IVB/15.07). World Health Organization. 2015.
- 3. Užkrečiamųjų ligų ir Aids centras. Pranešimai spaudai. Skiepijimai nuo ŽPV per porą metų padidėjo. Prieiga per internetą <a href="http://www.ulac.lt/naujienos/pranesimai-spaudai/skiepijimai-nuo-zpv-per-pora-metu-reiksmingai-padidejo">http://www.ulac.lt/naujienos/pranesimai-spaudai/skiepijimai-nuo-zpv-per-pora-metu-reiksmingai-padidejo</a>.
- 4. World Health Organization. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Lithuania. Available from: <a href="https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/populations/440-lithuania-fact-sheets.pdf">https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/populations/440-lithuania-fact-sheets.pdf</a>.
- 5. Tuncer HA, Tuncer SF. Women's knowledge, awareness and attitudes toward newly implemented national HPV-based screening in Turkey. Journal of Cancer Policy, 2019:22,100205.

### Different attitudes of patients with multiple sclerosis towards COVID-19 vaccination

#### **Authors**

#### Dovilė Bučaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Justina Valinčiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Dalia Mickevičienė

Department of Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences. Kaunas. Lithuania



#### Introduction

During the COVID-19 pandemic, vaccination became an important tool to prevent severe illness [1]. COVID-19 vaccines are safe and effective for people with multiple sclerosis (MS) [2]. However, coronavirus outbreak has also raised awareness of vaccine skepticism. In the US and other countries, some studies evaluated the link between willingness to get vaccinated against COVID-19 and sociodemographic factors or MS exacerbation [3–6]. In Lithuania, specific reasons for vaccine hesitancy among people with MS have not been described. We created a survey from 1 November 2021 to 1 February 2022 to estimate positive and negative attitudes of COVID-19 vaccination among patientswith MS.

#### Aim

To evaluate the peculiarities of vaccination against COVID-19 infection in patients with MS and their attitude towards vaccination.

#### Methods

The study was approved by Bioethics center of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (LUHS) (BEC-MF-153). The research was performed at LUHS Kaunas Clinics Neurology unit and Diseases of Nervous System Outpatient unit. 100 people with MS were asked to fill an original questionnaire, in total 80 patients responded. Survey was about patients' sociodemographic aspects, MS exacerbation, COVID-19 vaccination and their attitudes towards this process. Data was analyzed with IBM SPSS Statistics 27.0, with calculation of the Qui-square and Mann – Whitney U test and p-value (statistically significant if < 0.05) for each hypothesis.

#### Results

Among 80 respondents, 63.1% were female and 32.1% were male. Mean respondents age was 39  $\pm$  9.8 years. 78.6% (n=66) of patients were vaccinated and only 16.7% (n=14) were not. Vaccinated respondents age median - 37  $\pm$  9.9 years, non-vaccinated age median - 47  $\pm$  8.0 years. Most popular positive opinions were that COVID-19 vaccines have more benefits than harm 57.1%, willingness to get an immunity 63.1% and mostly agreed negative view was a fear of side effects 84.6%. Intended uptake was strongly associated with younger age (p=0.021), higher education level (p=0.008) and employment status (p=0.028). There was no further link between other sociodemographic factors such as gender, residency, and even with exacerbation of MS during 2020 1 January - 2022 1 February (p>0.05).



#### **Conclusions**

Even though there was some hesitancy about Covid-19 vaccination, people with MS were more likely to take COVID-19 vaccine because of their positive attitude towards this process. Willingness to vaccinate was associated with respondents' age, education level and employment status.

- 1. Achiron A, Dolev M, Menascu S, Zohar D-N, Dreyer-Alster S, Miron S, et al. COVID- 19 vaccination in patients with multiple sclerosis: What we have learnt by February 2021. Mult Scler. 2021 May;27(6):864–70.
- 2. Kelly H, Sokola B, Abboud H. Safety and efficacy of COVID-19 vaccines in multiple sclerosis patients. J Neuroimmunol. 2021 Jul;356:577599.
- 3. Ehde DM, Roberts MK, Humbert AT, Herring TE, Alschuler KN. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy in adults with multiple sclerosis in the United States: A follow up survey during the initial vaccine rollout in 2021. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2021 Sep;54:103163.
- 4. Huang Y, Rodgers WJ, Middleton RM, Baheerathan A, Tuite-Dalton KA, Ford D V, et al. Willingness to receive a COVID-19 vaccine in people with multiple sclerosis UK MS Register survey. Vol. 55, Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. 2021. p. 103175.
- 5. Serrazina F, Sobral Pinho A, Cabral G, Salavisa M, Correia AS. Willingness to be vaccinated against COVID-19: An exploratory online survey in a Portuguese cohort of multiple sclerosis patients. Vol. 51, Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. 2021. p. 102880.
- 6. Alley SJ, Stanton R, Browne M, To QG, Khalesi S, Williams SL, et al. As the Pandemic Progresses, How Does Willingness to Vaccinate against COVID-19 Evolve? Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021 Jan;18(2).
- 7. Garjani A, Middleton RM, Hunter R, Tuite-Dalton KA, Coles A, Dobson R, Duddy M, Hughes S, Pearson OR, Rog D, Tallantyre EC, das Nair R, Nicholas R, Evangelou N. COVID- 19 is associated with new symptoms of multiple sclerosis that are prevented by disease modifying therapies. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2021 Jul;52:102939. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.102939. Epub 2021 May 5. PMID: 34010764.
- 8. Wei F-C. Multiple sclerosis. Vol. 37, Biomedical journal. United States; 2014. p. 33.



### Burnout, depression and anxiety among healthcare workers

#### **Authors**

Anastasija Kajandere

University of Latvia

Rolands Ivanovs

University of Latvia

#### Introduction

Burnout is defined as a syndrome that consists of emotional exhaustion, cynicism, and reduced personal efficacy at work. [1] The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the working conditions of healthcare workers. During the COVID-19 emergency in the spring of 2021, one in four physicians has had depressive symptoms. [7] Healthcare workers are at high risk for burnout. [2] According to Medscape 2020 report, 42% of physicians reported that they are burned out [3] According to study of US physicians, 54.4% of population reported at least one symptom of burnout [4] Up to now, in Latvia, there has been little research done on burnout; its prevalence among physicians was last studied in 2015 [5], among nurses in 2021 [6] Depression and anxiety have burnout-like manifestations and can be considered as diagnoses associated with burnout syndrome. [2]

#### Aim

To study the prevalence of burnout symptoms, clinically significant depressive and anxiety symptoms among healthcare workers at National Rehabilitation Centre "Vaivari". To evaluate the correlation of burnout syndrome, depression and anxiety.

#### Methods

This cross-sectional study was carried out in the January 2022. During one month period healthcare workers in person were invited to complete the socio-demographic questionnaire, burnout syndrome questionnaire (Maslach Burnout Survey - General Survey), the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) and the Generalized Anxiety Disorder questionnaire (GAD-7). Maslach Burnout Survey consists of three subscales, which were analyzed separately – emotional exhaustion subscale, cynicism subscale, professional efficacy scale. Statistical analysis using IBM SPSS Statistics V26.0 was



performed, using descriptive statistical methods, correlation methods.

#### Results

98 people, 13 men (13.3%) and 85 (86.7%) women participated in the study. A high level of emotional exhaustion was found in 27.6% of respondents, an average level in 27.6% of respondents. High level of cynicism was found in 22% of respondents, average in 44%. Low professional efficacy was found in 16.3% of respondents. Clinically significant depression was observed in 19.6% of respondents, clinically significant anxiety in 14.1%. Depression had a moderate correlation with emotional exaustion, a Spearman coefficient of 0.538 (p <0.001), and a weak correlation with cynicism (r = .387, p <0.001). There is a weak statistically significant correlation between anxiety and exhaustion (r = 0.300, p <0.001).

#### **Conclusions**

Burnout symptoms were detected in up to 27,6% of respondents.

A statistically significant association between emotional exhaustion and clinical symptoms of depression and anxiety was found. These results may be used in planning preventive strategies to reduce mental health problems among healthcare workers.

- 1. Maslach C, Leiter MP. Understanding the burnout experience: Recent research and its implications for psychiatry [Internet]. Wiley Online Library. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2016 [cited 2022Feb16]. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/wps.20311
- 2. Zārde I, Zīle I, Ivaščenko T, Ķīvīte A, Kirņičanska A. Izdegšanas sindroms, tā ārstēšanas un profilakses iespējas ārstniecības personām. 2015.
- 3. Medscape ziņojums par ārstu izdegšanu 2020 [Internet]. Doctus.lv. 2020 [cited 17 February 2022]. Available from: <a href="https://www.doctus.lv/raksts/zinas/jaunumi-pasaule/medscape-zinojums-par-arstu-izdegsanu-2020-4325/">https://www.doctus.lv/raksts/zinas/jaunumi-pasaule/medscape-zinojums-par-arstu-izdegsanu-2020-4325/</a>
- 4. Patel R, Bachu R, Adikey A, Malik M, Shah M. Factors Related to Physician Burnout and Its Consequences: A Review. Behavioral Sciences. 2018;8(11):98.
- 5. Avota M, Millere A. Izdegšanas sindroms praktizējošiem ārstiem Latvijā [Internet]. Rsu.lv. 2015 [cited 17 February 2022]. Available from: https://www.rsu.lv/zinatniskie-raksti/izdegsanas-sindroms-praktizejosiem-



#### arstiem-latvija

- 6. Kasmiņina L. Izdegšanas sindroms stacionāros praktizējošām operāciju māsām [Bachelor thesis]. University of Latvia; 2021.
- 7. RSU doktorante: Covid-19 laikā medicīnas personāla psihiskās veselības rādītāji krītas [Internet]. RSU. 2020 [cited 17 February 2022]. Available from: <a href="https://www.rsu.lv/aktualitates/rsu-doktorante-covid-19-laika-medicinas-personala-psihiskas-veselibas-raditaji-kritas">https://www.rsu.lv/aktualitates/rsu-doktorante-covid-19-laika-medicinas-personala-psihiskas-veselibas-raditaji-kritas</a>

# How asthma symptoms are associated with the quality of life among LUHS students

#### **Authors**

#### Vesta Kubiliūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### leva Dereškevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Liveta Sereikaitė

Department of Ophthalmology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Asthma is the most common chronic respiratory illness that affects more than 300 million people worldwide [1,2]. Symptoms are non-specific, but the most common ones include wheezing, shortness of breath, chest tightness, and cough [3,4]. Difficulties with self- management are associated with reduced quality of life [5].

#### Aim

To evaluate if asthma symptoms have association on quality of life among LUHS students.



#### Methods

The study was approved by the Kaunas regional biomedical research ethics committee (No. BEC-MF-335). There were 361 study participants aged between 19-41 who completed a self-administered anonymous questionnaire, which consisted of questions about gender, age, asthma symptoms and quality of life (5 questions: current wellbeing, restriction of daily activities, sleep disorders, fatigue during the day, emotional state). 24 (6.6%, p=<0,001,  $x^2$ =271,38) of participants had a confirmed diagnosis of asthma. 337 (93,4%, p=<0,001,  $x^2$ =271,38) of participants had not confirmed diagnosis of asthma. Research objectives  $x^2$  criteria was used. The results are statistically reliable when p<0.05. The statistical analysis was performed by using Microsoft Excel and statistical software SPSS 17.0.

#### Results

Among confirmed diagnosis of asthma, there was a statistical significance between the respondents who selected their well-being as bad(n=1, 4,2%), responders who picked their well-being as great(0%). Among those without allergic asthma, there were statistically significantly more respondents who rated their health as excellent(n=45, 13.4%) than as

poor(1, 0,3%).In statistically significantly confirmed diagnosis of asthma group we found that the greater number of respondents stated that they did not experienced restriction of daily activities(n=9, 37,5%),among those without allergic asthma, there were also statistically significantly more respondents who stated that these complaints did not restrict their daily activities(n=223, 66.2%) than slightly(n=100, 29.7%) or severely restrict them(n=14, 4.2%). No suffering from sleep disorders(n=12, 50,0%). Also, among those who did not have confirmed allergic asthma, there were statistically significantly more respondents who stated that they did not experience sleep disorders due to the above complaints(n=270, 80.1%) than slightly(n=53, 15.7%). No fatigue during the day (n=11, 45,8%), among those who did not have confirmed allergic asthma, there were statistically significantly more respondents who stated that they did not feel tired during the day due to the above-mentioned complaints(n=235, 69.7%) than they felt very much(n=31, 9.2%). Although, no strong correlation was observed about emotional state between different groups.

#### **Conclusions**

Our data suggest that diagnosis of asthma is not necessarily related to the reduced quality of life. It could be presumed that the students have enough knowledge about disease andways of controlling it.



#### References

- 1. Schoettler N, Strek ME. Recent Advances in Severe Asthma: From Phenotypes to Personalized Medicine. Chest [Internet]. Chest; 2020 [cited 2022 Feb 18];157:516–28. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31678077/
- 2. Stern J, Pier J, Litonjua AA. Asthma epidemiology and risk factors. Seminars in immunopathology [Internet]. Semin Immunopathol; 2020 [cited 2022 Feb 18];42:5–15. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32020334/
- 3. Cloutier MM, Dixon AE, Krishnan JA, Lemanske RF, Pace W, Schatz M. Managing Asthma in Adolescents and Adults: 2020 Asthma Guideline Update From the National Asthma Education and Prevention Program. JAMA [Internet]. JAMA; 2020 [cited 2022 Feb 18];324:2301–17. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33270095/
- 4. Papi A, Brightling C, Pedersen SE, Reddel HK. Asthma. Lancet (London, England) [Internet]. Lancet; 2018 [cited 2022 Feb 18];391:783–800. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29273246/
- 5. Netz M, Fedele DA, Sweenie R, Baker D, Light M, McQuaid EL. Asthma Management Responsibility, Control, and Quality of Life Among Emerging Adolescents. Journal of Pediatric Psychology. Oxford Academic; 2020;45:40–9

### Comparison of incidence from burns in Lithuania by place of residence, gender and age

#### **Authors**

#### Saulius Knystautas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Deimantė Andriuškevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Olga Meščeriakova

Department of Health Management, Faculty of Public Health, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Loreta Pilipaitytė



Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

A burn is an injury to the skin or other tissue primarily caused by flame or hot fluids or due to radiation, radioactivity, electricity, or contact with chemicals. Every day, over 30,000 people suffer new burns worldwide, severe enough to warrant medical attention, equating to an estimated 11 million new burns each year globally [1,2]. In addition, burn injury cause physical and mental health damage which leads to worsened quality of life [3]. Burn prevention programmes are the most efficient solution to reach significant reductions in the incidence of burns. Burn prevention requires adequate knowledge of the epidemiological characteristics and associated risk factors [4].

#### Aim

The aim of the study is to analyze changes in incidence of burns in Lithuania by place of residence, gender, age and their changes in Lithuania in 2001 – 2019.

#### Methods

A retrospective review of data (aged 0+) on incidence from burns (ICD-10 codes T20-T32) in 2001-2019 was obtained from Hygiene Institute The Health Indicators of Lithuania database. Incidence rates from burns by place of residence, gender and age were calculated per 100,000 population. For the assessment of the trends of incidence during 2001-2019, Joinpoint regression analysis was applied. Average annual percent change considered statistically significant when P < 0.05.

#### Results

In 2001 – 2019 incidence rate of burns increased more rapidly in rural area (on average by 2.19% per year [95% CI 0.88 – 3.51], P < 0.01) compared to urban area (on average by 1.12% per year [95% CI 0.37 – 1.87], P < 0.01). In 2001 – 2019 incidence rates of burns changes were similar in females (on average by 1.65% per year [95% CI 0.73 – 2.59], P < 0.001) and males (on average by 1.18% [95% CI 0.25 – 2.12] per year, P < 0.01). According to statistical data in 2001 – 2019 incidence rates increased the most in the age group 0 – 17 years (on average by 3.68% per year [95% CI 2.66 – 4.72], P < 0.000001). Incidence of burns increased on average by 1.5% per year [95% CI 0.39 – 2.61] in the age group 18 – 44 years, P < 0.01. Besides, incidence rates increased: on



average by 0.22% per year [95% CI -0.68 - 1.12] among adults aged 45 - 64 years and on avegare by 0.47% per year [95% CI -0.41 - 1.36] among adults  $\geq$  65 years, P > 0.05.

#### **Conclusions**

During 2001 - 2019 incidence of burns have been increased in rural and urban areas. Incidence rates among females and males were similar in 2001 - 2019. Moreover, the highest incidence rates of burns were in age group 0 - 17 years.

#### References

- 1. World Health Organization. Factsheet on Burns. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/burns.
- 2. World Health Organization. EESC Global Database. Available from: http://www.who.int/surgery/eesc\_database/en/.
- 3. Abouzeid CA, Wolfe AE, Ni P, Carrougher GJ, Gibran NS, et al. Are Burns a Chronic Condition? Examining Patient Reported Outcomes up to 20 Years after Burn Injury A Burn Model System National Database Investigation. Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery. 2022.
- 4. Price K, Chear LK, Woolley K, Falk H, Peck M, Lilford R, Moiemen N. Burn injury prevention in low- and middle- income countries: scoping systematic review. Burns & Trauma. 2021; 9.

# Radiology



### The influence of angiographic factors on the treatment tactics of acute superior mesenteric artery occlusion

#### **Authors**

#### Ramona Matusevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Dominykas Kaupas**

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Rytis Stasys Kaupas

Interventional Radiology Unit, Department of Radiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Acute mesenteric ischemia is a dangerous condition which is linked to high mortality rates [1]. Recent studies suggest that endovascular treatment (EVT) in most cases should be the initial approach [2]. Acute superior mesenteric artery (SMA) occlusion can be caused by both thrombotic changes due to atherosclerosis of the arteries (usually in the ostium) and embolism (usually more distally) [3].

#### Aim

The aim is to assess the influence of different etiologies and the level of occlusion on treatment tactics when treating acute SMA occlusion.

#### Methods

We retrospectively analysed 80 patients diagnosed with acute SMA occlusion who underwent EVT at the Hospital of LSMU Kauno Klinikos during the 3-year-period from 2018 to 2020. Based on the findings of computed tomography angiography (CTA) and digital subtraction angiography (DSA), we classified all cases by the number of SMA large branches that remained non-occluded: ostial occlusion (0 patent branches), proximal occlusion (1, 2 or 3 patent branches), distal occlusion (4, 5 or 6 patent



branches). Moreover, by analysing CTA and DSA results we defined the etiology of occlusions.

#### Results

Thrombotic etiology was identified in 25,0% and embolic in 75,0% of patients. Thrombosis was associated with more proximal (less patent large branches) occlusion, while embolism was related to more distal occlusion (p<0,001). Ostial occlusion was present in 23,8%, proximal occlusion in 47,5% and distal occlusion in 28,7% of patients. Mechanical aspiration thrombectomy was performed statistically significantly more frequently, when more non- occluded large branches were present, whereas PTA/stenting was performed in cases with fewer intact large branches (H=15,49; p<0,001). In all cases of embolism, mechanical thrombectomy was the technique of choice, 21,7% of embolism cases required secondary PTA/stenting. In case of thrombosis, EVT techniques dispersed equally: a half of patients received mechanical thrombectomy with subsequent PTA/stenting, while for the other half PTA/stenting was the primary and only treatment performed.

#### **Conclusions**

The most commonly observed etiology was embolic and the most frequent SMA obstruction site was proximal occlusion. Mechanical aspiration thrombectomy was performed more frequently, when more non-occluded large branches were present and etiology was embolic, whereas PTA/stenting in cases with fewer patent large branches and thrombotic etiology.

#### References

- Freitas B, Bausback Y, Schuster J, Ulrich M, Bräunlich S, Schmidt A, et al. Thrombectomy Devices in the Treatment of Acute Mesenteric Ischemia: Initial Single- Center Experience. Ann Vasc Surg [Internet]. 2018 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Feb 16];51:124–31. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29455017/
- 2. Kärkkäinen JM, Acosta S. Acute mesenteric ischemia (Part II) Vascular and endovascular surgical approaches. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2017 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Feb 16];31(1):27–38. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28395785/
- 3. Acute mesenteric arterial occlusion UpToDate [Internet]. [cited 2022 Feb 16]. Available from: https://www-uptodate-



com.ezproxy.dbazes.lsmuni.lt/contents/acute- mesenteric-arterial-occlusion?search=acutemesenteric ischemia&source=search\_result&selectedTitle=2~150&usage\_type=default&display\_ra nk=2

#### An Overview of Single-Centre Experience in Endovascular Therapy for Acute Superior Mesenteric Artery Occlusion

#### **Authors**

#### **Dominykas Kaupas**

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Ramona Matusevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Rytis Stasys Kaupas

Interventional Radiology Unit, Department of Radiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Acute superior mesenteric artery (SMA) occlusion is a life-threatening condition associated with high mortality rate. Even though endovascular and surgical treatment of this condition is constantly improving and overall survival has been increasing in recent years, perioperative mortality still varies between 31 and 62% [1,2].

#### Aim

To evaluate technical success, failures, complications and intrahospital mortality of endovascular therapy (EVT) for acute SMA occlusion at Kauno Klinikos during the 3-year-period from 2018 to 2020.



#### Methods

We retrospectively assessed 80 patients, which were presented to EVT due to acute SMA occlusion. Restored flow to the SMA stem and all large branches was considered to be a technical success. Restored stem flow with at least one large occluded branch was assumed as a partial success. Failure to restore blood flow in SMA stem was defined as a failure. Success rate was calculated by combining fully and partially successful cases.

#### Results

Three endovascular treatment pathways were registered: the most frequent was mechanical thrombectomy (MT) alone (58,8%), then followed MT with subsequent PTA/stenting (28,7%) and PTA/stenting alone (12,5%). Success rate (full and partial success combined) for each type of procedure were 83,0%, 69,5% and 90,0% accordingly, however the difference was statistically insignificant (p=0,175). In general, 67,5% of cases were technically successful, 12,5% were partially successful and 20% (n=16) were a failure (success rate - 80%). In 5 of the latter cases the reason for failure was unsuccessful access due to proximal occlusion of the SMA. In 7 other cases EVT failed due to long thromboembolic segments of the artery. In 4 cases, difficult vascular anatomy was the main reason for a technical failure. There were two serious complications related to EVT (total complication rate - 2,5%): inguinal haematoma and bleeding from left common iliac artery after unsuccessful access to the SMA. Overall intrahospital mortality among all patients was 58,8%. The more successful EVT was, the lower intrahospital mortality rates were (Mann-Whitney U= 532,50; p=0,004). In case of EVT being a failure, intrahospital mortality was 87,5%, in case of partial success - 70,0% and in case of technical success - 48,1%.

#### **Conclusions**

Our study revealed that overall technical success rate was 80%, failures occurred mostly due to complexity of the occlusion or difficult vascular anatomy and complications were rare, while intrahospital mortality significantly depended on EVT technical success.

#### References

1. Kühn F, Schiergens TS, Klar E. Acute Mesenteric Ischemia. Visc Med [Internet]. 2020 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Feb 14];36(4):256–63. Available from: https://www.karger.com/Article/FullText/508739



Acute mesenteric arterial occlusion - UpToDate [Internet]. [cited 2022 Feb 10]. Available from: https://www-uptodate-com.ezproxy.dbazes.lsmuni.lt/contents/acute- mesenteric-arterial-occlusion?search=acutemesenteric ischemia&source=search\_result&selectedTitle=2~150&usage\_type=default &display\_ra nk=2#H1407067

#### Assessing burnout in radiologists

#### **Authors**

#### Justina Spaičytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Domantas Vingrys**

Department of Internal Diseases, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Inga Zaborienė

Department of Radiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

A work related burnout is a multifactorial syndrome, which is consists of three fundamental symptoms – emotional exhaustion, cynicism and decreased profesional efficacy. Recent studies suggest that burnout may erode professionalism, influence quality of care, increase the risk for medical errors.

#### Aim

To examine the prevalence and associated factors of professional burnout syndrome in radiologists.



#### Methods

A 23-item anonymous survey, including seven original questions and the 16-item scale Maslach Burnout Inventory – General Survey (MBI-GS) was handed out to Radiology doctors and resident doctors in Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas Clinics, Department of Radiology. Original questions assessed included data on personal characteristics and workplace. MBI-GS scale is divided in three subscales that measure work related burnout – exhaustion, cynicism and professional efficacy. Burnout was measured in 5 profiles (burnout – high exhaustion, high cynicism, low professional efficacy, overextended – high exhaustion, ineffective – low professional efficacy, disengaged – high cynicism, engaged – low exhaustion, low cynicism, high professional efficacy). All calculations were performed using ©SPSS for Windows 24.0 ™ software and ©Microsoft Excel 16™. The P-value less or equal to 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### Results

Data of 71 respondents was collected including 49.3% doctors and 50.7% resident doctors. 37.5% were men and 62.5% were women. Mean respondent age 33.48  $\pm$  10.18. Average work experience was 8.48  $\pm$  8.94. 46.5% were married and 50.7% were not married. 48.6% of all respondents were satisfied with work environment and only 27.8% were satisfied with salary. The burnout rate in study population was 19.7%, 26.8% felt overextended, 19.7% respondents were ineffective, 4.2% were disengaged, 31% respondents were engaged, meaning no symptoms of burnout. Burnout was identified in 64.3% resident doctors and in 35.7% of all doctors. The incidence of overextent within resident doctors was 25% and within doctors 28.6% of all respondents. Lower satisfaction in salary associated with greater rate of burnout (p=0.007,  $\chi$ 2=9.99). Lower satisfaction in work environment also associated with greater rate of burnout (p=0.005,  $\chi$ 2=10.66). Shorter work experience associated with burned out respondents (p=0.02, PI 95%). No associations with gender, marital status among burnout profiles were found.

#### **Conclusions**

Twenty percent of radiologists suffer from burnout syndrome and another twenty five percent of them experience high exhaustion. Only a third of respondents experiencing no symptoms of burnout. Factors such as work experience, salary and work environment were significantly related to burnout syndrome.



#### References

- 1. A.L. Chetlen, Tiffany L. Chan, D.H. Ballard, , L.A. Frigini, A. Hildebrand, S. Kim, J.M. Brian, E.A. Krupinski and D. Ganeshan. Addressing Burnout in Radiologists. Acad Radiol. 2019;26(4):526–533.
- 2. C. Maslach, S. E. Jackson, M. P. Leiter. 2018. Maslach Burnout Inventory Manual. Fourth Edition.
- 3. R.S. Patel, R. Bachu, A. Adikey, M. Malik, and M. Shah. Factors Related to Physician Burnout and Its Consequences: A Review. 2018;8(11):98.

### The added value of SPECT/CT over planar images of lung perfusion scintigraphy in the diagnosis of pulmonary embolism

#### **Authors**

#### Vaiva Cechanovičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Donatas Vajauskas**

Department of Radiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno Klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Pulmonary embolism (PE) is a frequently underdiagnosed condition potentially leading to death [1]. For proper evaluation of PE, nuclear medicine imaging techniques are widely implemented [2]. One of the main diagnostic methods used for the assessment of PE is lung perfusion scintigraphy, which provides data about the physiological performance of the respiratory system [3]. However, in comparison to planar imaging technique, a hybrid modality, known as a single-photon emission computed tomography/computed tomography (SPECT/CT), allows simultaneous acquisition of physiological and anatomical views, therefore, is expected to improve markedly the diagnostic efficacy for PE over planar scintigraphy [4].



#### Aim

To evaluate the diagnostic performance of SPECT/CT in comparison with planar scintigraphy in patients with suspected PE.

#### Methods

The analysis of 61 patients imaging data, who arrived at the Department of Nuclear Medicine of the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno Klinikos from September 2021 to January 2022 due to a suspect of pulmonary embolism (PE), for lung perfusion scintigraphy. All patient underwent planar lung perfusion scintigraphy and SPECT/CT of the lungs. Planar anterior/posterior scintigraphic imaging and chest / SPECT/CT was performed on a Mediso Anyscan SPECT/CT gamma camera after injection of 135.6  $\pm$  20.3 MBq of  $^{99m}$ Tc-MAA over several breaths. Imaging results data were analysed using SPSS Statistics version 25.0 (IBM SPSS, USA). Non-parametric data were shown as median with interquartile ranges (IQR), whereas categorical variables as a number and percentage. Chi-square was used to analysed categorical data. A p-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

#### Results

Out of 61 patients, 37 (62.3%) were females (p=0.073). The median age was 68 (IQR 55.5-77.5) years. PE was observed in 26 (42.6%) patients. The sensitivity and specificity for planar scintigraphy were 69.2% and 94.3% (p<0.001). The sensitivity and specificity for SPECT/CT were 96.2% and 100% (p<0.001). The prevalence of both false-positive (FP) and false-negative (FN) results were higher within planar scintigraphy (10% and 19.5%, respectively) compared to SPECT/CT (0% and 2.8%, respectively). The positive predictive value (PPV) and negative predictive value (NPV) of each method were as follows: for planar scintigraphy 90% and 80.5%, and for SPECT/CT 100% and 97.2%. SPECT/CT showed better accuracy compared to planar scintigraphy (98.4% vs. 83.6%).

#### Conclusions

The SPECT/CT has better diagnostic efficacy in the diagnosis of PE compared to planar scintigraphy. Therefore, in order to achieve the most accurate diagnosis, a wider implementation of SPECT/CT in the context of suspected PE should be considered.



#### References

- 1. Turetz M, Sideris AT, Friedman OA, Triphathi N, Horowitz JM. Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and Natural History of Pulmonary Embolism. Semin Intervent Radiol. 2018;35(2):92-98. doi:10.1055/s-0038-1642036
- 2. Worsley DF, Alavi A. Radionuclide imaging of acute pulmonary embolism. Semin Nucl Med. 2003 Oct;33(4):259-78.
- 3. Mazurek A, Dziuk M, Witkowska-Patena E, Piszczek S, Gizewska A. The Utility of Hybrid SPECT/CT Lung Perfusion Scintigraphy in Pulmonary Embolism Diagnosis. Respiration. 2015;90(5):393-401.
- 4. Bajc M, Schümichen C, Grüning T, Lindqvist A, Le Roux PY, Alatri A, Bauer RW, Dilic M, Neilly B, Verberne HJ, Delgado Bolton RC, Jonson B. EANM guideline for ventilation/perfusion single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) for diagnosis of pulmonary embolism and beyond. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2019 Nov;46(12):2429-2451.

## Incidence of SPECT/CT findings non-related to pulmonary embolism in patients referred for lung perfusion scintigraphy with suspected pulmonary embolism

#### **Authors**

#### Vaiva Cechanovičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Donatas Vajauskas**

Department of Radiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno Klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Pulmonary embolism (PE) gives a burden on the respiratory system leading to its functional damage [1]. However, non-thrombotic lung diseases could also disrupt pulmonary perfusion and mimic perfusion defects seen in PE [2]. Such similarity between PE and non-PE findings on pulmonary perfusion scintigraphy may result in a



misleading diagnostic yield as well as inadequate treatment, therefore determination of the origin of the abnormal findings should be fundamental. A hybrid imaging modality combined of single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) and low-dose computed tomography (CT), known as SPECT/CT, precisely characterizes the physiological and anatomical components of the lung perfusion, therefore is capable to differentiate the cause of the perfusion defects [3].

#### Aim

To assess the incidence and type of lung perfusion abnormalities non-related to PE using SPECT/CT in patients with suspected PE.

#### Methods

The retrospective analysis of 61 patients imaging data, who arrived at the Department of Nuclear Medicine of the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno Klinikos from September 2021 to January 2022 due to a suspect of pulmonary embolism (PE) for lung perfusion imaging. All patients underwent lung perfusion SPECT/CT after the injection of 135.6  $\pm$  20.3 MBq of  $^{99\rm m}$ Tc-MAA over several breaths. SPECT/CT was performed on Mediso Anyscan SPECT/CT gamma camera. Imaging results data were analysed using SPSS Statistics version 25.0 (IBM SPSS, USA). Non-parametric data were shown as median with interquartile ranges (IQR), whereas categorical variables as a number and percentage. Chi-square was used to analyse categorical data. A p-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

#### Results

Out of 61 patients, 37 (62.3%) were females (p=0.073). The median age was 68 (IQR 55.5-77.5) years. PE was observed in 26 (42.6%) patients. A total incidence ratio of findings non-related to PE was 29.5%. The most common CT finding mimicking PE on lung perfusion SPECT, non-related to the PE was lung parenchyma consolidation, which was detected in 11.5% of patients. Three other pathologies, including lung foci, high diaphragm arcus, and pleural effusion individually showed the same incidence ratio of 4.9%. Less common pathological findings were atelectasis and ground-glass appearance, which individually accounted for 3.3%. Emphysematous bullae were found in 1.6% of patients. None of these findings were related to PE (p>0.05).



#### **Conclusions**

Structural changes in the lungs, that resemble defects caused by PE, can be assessed by SPECT/CT imaging. Findings non-related to the PE occur in almost one-third of patients with suspected PE. However, the incidence ratio of findings individually is not high, with consolidation being the most common abnormality occurring in approximately 1 of 10 patients with suspected PE. Therefore, the usage of low-dose CT for the diagnosis of PE reduces false positive findings on lung scintigraphy imaging.

#### References

- 1. Tarbox AK, Swaroop M. Pulmonary embolism. Int J Crit Illn Inj Sci. 2013;3(1):69-72.
- 2. Bowman AW, Albers BK, Jain MK. Acquired Whole-lung Mismatched Perfusion Defects on Pulmonary Ventilation/Perfusion Scintigraphy. Indian J Nucl Med. 2018;33(4):312-316. doi:10.4103/ijnm.IJNM\_60\_18
- 3. Bajc M, Schümichen C, Grüning T, Lindqvist A, Le Roux PY, Alatri A, Bauer RW, Dilic M, Neilly B, Verberne HJ, Delgado Bolton RC, Jonson B. EANM guideline for ventilation/perfusion single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) for diagnosis of pulmonary embolism and beyond. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2019 Nov;46(12):2429-2451

#### Crohn's disease activity indices reflecting treatment response

#### **Authors**

#### Augustina Gylienė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vestina Strakšytė

Department of Radiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania



#### Introduction

Crohn's disease is a lifelong illness that affects the entire gastrointestinal tract. It manifests with fatigue, fever, abdominal pain, weight loss, and diarrhea [1]. The response to treatment starts to diminish in some cases [2]. Various indices are used to evaluate treatment effectiveness and disease activity.

#### Aim

To evaluate Crohn's disease patients' responsiveness to treatment using disease activity indices.

#### Methods

Medical data of thirty-seven patients with active Crohn's disease, who underwent repeated magnetic resonance enterocolonography (MR-EC), endoscopy, and blood tests after six months of treatment, was collected prospectivelly. According to Crohn's disease activity index (CDAI) score, they were divided into two groups: the non-responders' group was described as patients whose CDAI score decreased or increased by less than 70 points, the responders' group consisted of patients who achieved remission and/or whose CDAI score decreased by 70 or more points. Evaluated MR-EC indices included magnetic resonance index of activity global (MaRIA-G), modified magnetic resonance index of activity global (mMaRIA-G), and Clermont global index (Clermont-G). Activity indices in the blood test included C reactive protein (CRP) and white blood cell count (WBC). Other activity parameters were Crohn's disease endoscopic index of severity (CDEIS), Lemann index, and inflammatory bowel disease questionnaire (IBDQ). All indices were collected for all patients.

#### Results

Changes in CDAI after the therapy in the non-responders' group (n=21) were not significant 136.89 (65.46) vs. 167.74 (72.42) (p=0.166). MaRIA-G, mMaRIA-G, and Clermont-G indices also decreased insignificantly in this group after the treatment 63.93 (21.32) vs. 61.12 (23.84) (p=0.126), 57.62 (17.53) vs. 55.15 (19.99) (p=0.095), 88.38 (17.55) vs. 86.11 (20.02) (p=0.106) points, respectively. The patient's quality of life slightly increased after treatment based on the IBDQ score 158.42 (27.52) vs. 163.42 (27.8) (p=0.332) points. Other evaluated indices also did not change significantly before and after treatment. In the responders group (n=16), CDAI and MR-EC indices reduced significantly CDAI: 224.44 (69.5) vs. 105.94 (47.4) points



(p<0.001), MaRIA-G: 67.27 (15.45) vs. 42.22 (11.3) (p<0.001), mMaRIA-G: 58.1 (13.63) vs. 36.63 (10.8) (p<0.001), Clermont-G: 89.91 (14.34) vs. 66.2 (12.02) (p<0.001). A significant decrease was noted in CDEIS 5.48 (4.03) vs. 4.86 (3.28) (p=0.05), as well as in CRP and WBC count 39.38 (37.16) vs. 1.93 (2.11) mg/L (p=0.001) and 9.84 (3.22) vs. 6.6 (2.41)  $\times$  109/L (p=0.002), respectively. IBDQ increased significantly in this group 149.19 (21.05) vs. 165.13 (28.15) (p=0.05). Lemann index decreased minimally 3.36 (4.2) vs. 3.33 (4.64) (p=0.945).

#### Conclusions

Only the responders' group achieved a significant increase in life quality and decreased MR-EC, endoscopic, and serum Crohn's disease activity indices after the therapy. In both groups, Lemann index scores changed minimally.

#### References

- 1. Cushing K, Higgins PDR. Management of Crohn Disease: A Review. JAMA. 2021 Jan 5;325(1):69–80.
- 2. Sobrado CW, Leal RF, Sobrado LF. THERAPIES FOR CROHN'S DISEASE: a clinical update. Arq Gastroenterol. 2016 Jul 1;53(3):206–11.

# Surgery



### Applicability of five risk prediction models for patients after the repair of ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm

#### **Authors**

#### Saulė Bikauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Rokas Kireilis**

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Linas Velička

Department of Cardiac, Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) is associated with a high rate of mortality which only increases in the presence of rupture, comorbidity, and older age [1]. V-POSSUM, Glasgow aneurysm score (GAS), Edinburgh Ruptured Aneurysm Score (ERAS), Hardman index, and Vascular Study Group of New England (VSGNE) risk score were developed to predict outcomes and estimate pre-operative risk after repair of ruptured AAA [2,3].

#### Aim

To evaluate the applicability of existing risk prediction models in the clinical practice for patients who underwent ruptured AAA repair.

#### Methods

The approval (No.: BEC-MF-08) for the research was granted by the Centre for Bioethics of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences. This retrospective study analyzed 118 patients who underwent a repair of ruptured AAA between January 2010 and December 2020 in the Hospital of LUHS Kaunas Clinics. The pre-operative risk was calculated using formulas of five different risk prediction models. The statistical



analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics software (v. 23.0). Results are presented as medians, interpercentile ranges, and Mann-Whitney U statistics. Data differences were considered statistically significant at  $p \le 0.05$ . The score  $\ge 50$ th percentile was considered to indicate a higher risk for fatal outcomes.

#### Results

Statistically significant differences were observed only in four risk prediction models in the group of males from 65 to 74 years old. V-POSSUM Mortality rates of survived patients (Mdn = 70.55; 51.53 – 88.3) were statistically significantly lower than those of deceased patients (Mdn = 95.4; 85.75 – 98.1), U = 25; p < 0.001. The corresponding results were established in ERAS (Mdn = 0; 0 – 1 vs. Mdn = 1; 1 – 2), U = 40; p = 0.009, Hardman index (Mdn = 0.5; 0 – 1 vs. Mdn = 2; 1 – 2), U = 32.5; p = 0.003, and VSGNE risk scores (Mdn = 0; 0 – 1.25 vs. Mdn = 1; 0.5 – 3), U = 46.5; p = 0.029. No statistically significant differences were observed in GAS between any groups. Only VSGNE risk scores of the group of males from 75 to 84 years old were statistically significant. Pre-operative risk scores of survived patients (Mdn = 2; 0.5 – 2.5) were statistically significantly lower than those of deceased patients (Mdn = 3; 2 – 4), U = 102; p = 0.025.

#### Conclusions

In our study, existing risk prediction models were not relevant for female patients. However, we found that V-POSSUM (risk increases when mortality rate  $\geq$  95.4), ERAS (risk increases when score  $\geq$  1), Hardman index (risk increases when score  $\geq$  2), and VSGNE risk score (risk increases when score  $\geq$  1) statistically significantly reflect the outcomes for males from 65 to 74 years old. For the elderly patients from 75 to 84 years old only VSGNE risk score (risk increases when score  $\geq$  3) is relevant.

#### References

- 1. Lo, R.C.; Bensley, R.P.; Hamdan, A.D.; Wyers, M.; Adams, J.E.; Schermerhorn, M.L. Gender differences in abdominal aortic aneurysm presentation, repair, and mortality in the Vascular Study Group of New England. J Vasc Surg. 2013, 57(5), 1261-1268.
- 2. Krenzien, F.; Wiltberger, G.; Hau, H.M.; Matia, I.; Benzing, C.; Atanasov, G.; Schmelzle, M.; Fellmer, P.T. Risk Stratification of Ruptured Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms in Patients Treated by Open Surgical Repair. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2016, 51(1), 30–6.



3. Lijftogt, N.; Luijnenburg, T.W.F.; Vahl, A.C.; Wilschut, E.D.; Leijdekkers, V.J.; Fiocco, M.F.; Wouters, M.W.J.M.; Hamminget, J. F. Systematic review of mortality risk prediction models in the era of endovascular abdominal aortic aneurysm surgery. Br J Surg. 2017, 104(8), 964–76.

### The influence of different cardioplegia on the development of postoperative lung complications after open-heart surgery

#### **Authors**

#### Gediminas Mačys

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Viktorija Vasiukevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Tadas Lenkutis**

Department of Anaesthesiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuani

#### Introduction

Respiratory system complications are one of the most common forms of postoperative problems after open-heart surgeries [1-3]. There are not many studies that compare the effects of Cold Crystalloid Cardioplegia (CCC) and Warm Blood Cardioplegia (WBCP) on post-operative pulmonary complications. It is crucial to determine if the type of cardioplegia used has a significant role in pulmonary complications development. That could help anaesthesiologists to choose between CCC and WBCP taking into consideration other patients' risk factors.

#### Aim

To determine and assess the impact of cardioplegia used during the open-heart surgeries to development of pulmonary complications.



#### Methods

The Bioethics Center of the Lithuanian University of Health Sciences gave its approval to the research. This is a retrospective study. At the Cardiac, Thoracic, and Vascular Surgery Department of the Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics, 287 patients (209 men, 78 women) had open-heart surgery with CCC or WBCP and normothermic cardiopulmonary bypass during the period of 2019 11–2021 06. CCC was given to 246 people, while WBCP was given to 41. We have evaluated the X-rays taken on the first and the fifth day post-surgery. To analyse the data, we used SPSS 28.0. The chi-square ( $\chi^2$ ) test was used to analyse differences between the variables. All p values <0,05 were deemed statistically significant.

#### Results

On the first day after the surgery the observed X-rays showed venous stasis to 135, atelectasis to 18, infiltration to 43 and pleural effusion to 143 patients. Patients who received WBCP had more complications of venous stasis compared to the ones who received CCC (accordingly 58,8% vs. 45,1%). All the other complications occurred more often in patients who had CCC compared to people who received WBCP: atelectasis (7,3% vs. 0%), infiltration (15% vs. 14,6%), pleural effusion (51,2% vs. 41,5%). However, the statistical relation wasn't significant, and all the p values were >0,05. X-rays taken on the fifth day after surgery indicated venous stasis in 98 patients, atelectasis in 21, infiltration in 47, and pleural effusion in 132. Those who received WBCP experienced more frequent venous stasis complications when compared to those who received CCC (accordingly 41,5% vs. 32,9%). All the other complications occurred more often in patients who had CCC compared to people who received WBCP: atelectasis (7,7% vs. 4,9%), infiltration (17,9% vs. 7,3%), pleural effusion (50% vs. 22%). Patients who received CCC statistically were more likely to develop pleural effusion on the fifth day (p=0,001) post-surgery. Nevertheless, other results didn't show statistical significance (p>0,05).

#### **Conclusions**

This study demonstrates a significant relation that patients who received CCC were more liable to develop pleural effusion post-surgery.

#### References

1. Brueckmann B, Villa-Uribe JL, Bateman BT, Grosse-Sundrup M, Hess DR, Schlett CL, Eikermann M. Development and validation of a score for



- prediction of postoperative respiratory complications. Anesthesiology. 2013 Jun;118(6):1276-85. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e318293065c. PMID: 23571640.
- 2. Sakornpant P, Kojaranjit V. First National Congenital Cardiac Surgical Database Report: Demonstrating "Practice of Congenital Cardiac Surgery in Thailand: Analysis of Performance and Outcome". Bangkok, Thailand: The Society of Thoracic Surgeons of
- 3. Thailand; 2014. PMID: 25057533.
- 4. Tanner TG, Colvin MO. Pulmonary Complications of Cardiac Surgery. Lung. 2020 Dec;198(6):889-896. doi: 10.1007/s00408-020-00405-7. Epub 2020 Nov 11. PMID: 33175990: PMCID: PMC7655908.

### The influence of co-morbidities and smoking on respiratory system complications after open-heart surgeries

#### **Authors**

#### Viktorija Vasiukevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Gediminas Mačys

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Tadas Lenkutis

Department of Anaesthesiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Pulmonary complications are common after cardiac surgeries [1-3]. Clarifying which patients are more likely to have postoperative pulmonary difficulties can aid in the development of efficient measures to avoid or minimize these complications.



#### Aim

To determine and evaluate the impact of co-morbidities and smoking addiction on respiratory system complications following open-heart surgeries.

#### Methods

The study was approved by the Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Bioethics Center. The study is retrospective. During the period of 2019 11–2021 06, 287 patients (209 men, 78 women) underwent open-heart surgery with normothermic cardiopulmonary bypass at the Cardiac, Thoracic, and Vascular Surgery Department of the Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics. The current investigation is focused on patients with smoking addiction (105 smokers and 182 non-smoker) and their co-morbidities, i.e., asthma, heart failure (CHF), kidney failure, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH). We have analysed X-rays performed on the first and the fifth day after the surgery. We have used the SPSS 28.0 to analyse data. Differences between the variables assessed using the chi-square (  $\chi$  2) test. All p values <0,05 were considered statistically significant.

#### Results

First day after the surgery non-smokers had more complications of infiltration (p=0,021). Smokers on the first day (p=0,033) and the fifth day (p=0,017) post-surgery statistically had more complications of pleural effusion. On the first day after the surgery, patients with PAH (p=0,023) and asthma (p=0,018) were more likely to develop pleural effusion. People with COPD (p=0,036) and CHF (p=0,05) were more liable to infiltration. Patients with kidney failure were more prone to venous stasis (p=0,005). On the fifth day post- surgery, patients with asthma (p=0,039) and CHF (p=0,002) were more likely to develop pleural effusion. Venous stasis was more prevalent among patients with left heart failure (p=0,007).

#### **Conclusions**

This study demonstrates a significant relation ( $p \le 0.05$ ) that smokers, also patients with PAH and asthma are more prone to develop pleural effusion. Non-smokers, people with COPD, asthma and CHF more frequently developed infiltration after the cardiac surgery. Patients with kidney failure and left heart failure were more liable to develop venous stasis.



#### References

- 1. Ji Q, Mei Y, Wang X, Feng J, Cai J, Ding W. Risk factors for pulmonary complications following cardiac surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass. Int J Med Sci. 2013 Sep 10;10(11):1578-83. doi: 10.7150/ijms.6904. PMID: 24046535; PMCID: PMC3775118.
- 2. Haines KL, Agarwal S. Postoperative Pulmonary Complications-A Multifactorial Outcome. JAMA Surg. 2017 Feb 1;152(2):166-167. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2016.4102. PMID: 27829075.
- 3. Tanner TG, Colvin MO. Pulmonary Complications of Cardiac Surgery. Lung. 2020 Dec;198(6):889-896. doi: 10.1007/s00408-020-00405-7. Epub 2020 Nov 11. PMID: 33175990; PMCID: PMC7655908.

### Postoperative hypophosphatemia as a prognostic factor for postoperative pancreatic fistula: a systematic review

#### **Authors**

#### leva Grikytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Rūta Jaliniauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Povilas Ignatavičius

Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Postoperative pancreatic fistula (POPF) is one of the most challenging complications after pancreatic resection, associated with prolonged hospital stay and high mortality [1, 2]. Early identification of pancreatic fistula is important for the treatment to be effective. Several prognostic factors have been identified, although it is not clear which one is the most significant [2]. Some studies show that post-pancreatectomy hypophosphatemia may be associated with the development of POPF [3].



#### Aim

To perform a systematic literature review on postoperative hypophosphatemia as a prognostic factor for postoperative pancreatic fistula.

#### Methods

The systematic literature review was performed according to preferred reporting items for systematic reviews (PRISMA) statements and was registered in the International prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO). The PubMed, ScienceDirect and Web of Science databases were systematically searched up to 31st of January 2022 for studies analyzing postoperative hypophosphatemia as a prognostic factor for postoperative pancreatic fistula. Data including study characteristics, patient characteristics, operation type, definitions of postoperative hypophosphatemia and postoperative pancreatic fistula were extracted.

#### Results

Initially, 149 articles were retrieved. After screening and final assessment, 3 studies with 3022 patients were included in this review. Association between early postoperative hypophosphatemia and the postoperative pancreatic fistula was found in all included studies. Patients undergoing distal pancreatectomies were more likely to develop severe hypophosphatemia compared to proximal pancreatectomy patients [4,5]. More severe hypophosphatemia following distal pancreatectomies was associated with surgical technique, pancreatic duct size and texture of remnant pancreas [4]. At least 1 complication was present for patients whose nadir serum phosphate levels were recorded during POD 2 and 3 [4,5,6]. Serum phosphate levels on POD 4 and POD 5 remained significantly lower in patients who developed leak related complications showing a slower recovery of hypophosphatemia from POD 3 through POD 7 [5,6]. It is considered, that continued pancreatic injury due to POPF development leads to continued protease and phosphaturin activation, causing prolonged and more severe hypophosphatemia – this association may be relevant development [3, 5]. Moreover, body mass index (BMI) higher than 30 kg/m², soft pancreatic tissue, abnormal white blood cell count on POD 3 and shorter surgery time were associated with leak related complications and lower phosphate levels [5,6].

#### **Conclusions**

The results indicate that early postoperative hypophosphatemia might be used as a



marker for early identification for postoperative pancreatic fistula. However, more studies are needed to better identify significant cut-off levels of postoperative hypophosphatemia and changes in phosphorus levels during the postoperative period.

#### References

- 1. van der Gaag NA, Harmsen K, Eshuis WJ, et al. Pancreatoduodenectomy associated complications influence cancer recurrence and time interval to death. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40:551–558.
- 2. Yang YM, Tian XD, Zhuang Y, Wang WM, Wan YL, Huang YT. Risk factors of pancreatic leakage after pancreaticoduodenectomy. World J Gastroenterol 2005; 11(16): 2456-2461.
- 3. Sadot E, Roach L, McIntyre C, Allen P, Eaton A, D'Angelica M, et al. eds. (2015) Early post-operative hypophosphatemia as a novel predictor of anastomotic failure after pancreatic resection: a risk-prediction tool. Oral Presentation. Miami, FL: AHPBA. [4]. Wong P, White M, Tozzi F, Warner SG, Woo Y, Singh G, et al. Implications of Postpancreatectomy Hypophosphatemia. Am Surg [Internet]. SAGE Publications Inc.; 2021;87:61–7.
- 4. Mueller JL, Chang DC, Fernandez-Del Castillo C, Ferrone CR, Warshaw AL, Lillemoe KD, et al. Lower phosphate levels following pancreatectomy is associated with postoperative pancreaticfistula formation. 2018 [6]. Sadot E, Zheng J, Srouji R, Strong VE, Gönen M, Balachandran VP, et al. Hypophosphatemia as a Predictor of Organ-Specific Complications Following Gastrointestinal Surgery: Analysis of 8,034 Patients. World J Surg [Internet]. NIH Public Access; 2019;43:385.

### Percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy: indications, complications and outcomes

#### **Authors**

#### Gintarė Jurgutytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania



#### Greta Janulytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Tadas Urbonas**

Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy (PEG) is formed for feeding and nutritional support in patients with a functional gastrointestinal system who require long-term enteral nutrition. Besides its well-known advantages over parenteral nutrition, PEG offers superior access to the gastrointestinal system over surgical methods. The main indications of PEG-tube placement are enteral feeding and stomach decompression. It is considered to be a safe procedure, however, there is also a risk for minor or major complications.

#### Aim

The main objective of this study was to evaluate indications and complications of PEG-tube placements at the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences.

#### Methods

A retrospective study at the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences in 2021 in which 150 cases with described PEG-tube placements were analysed. Permission for the research was granted by the Bioethics center (No. BEC-MF-254).

#### Results

150 cases with performed PEG-tub placement were analysed. Among those 60 were female patients and 90 – male. The average age of the patients was 65 years. The main indications of PEG-tube placement for patients were oncology (cancers of hypopharynx, oropharynx, tongue, larynx and esophageal cancer) in 44 (29,33%) cases, traumatic brain injuries – 35 (23,33%), ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke – 29 (19,33%), neurological degenerative diseases – 16 (10,67%), other disorders of consciousness – 15 (10%), other causes of dysphagia – 5 (3,33%) and in 6 (4%) cases were other disorders. Complications can be divided into 2 separate groups: early and late term.



First PEG-tube placement early complications were bleeding in 8 (5,33%) cases (1-hemoperitoneum, 7-incision site bleeding), infection – 7 (4,67%), pneumoperitoneum – 1 (0,67%), inadvertent PEG removal – 4 (2,67%) and late term complications were PEG-tube leakage in 2 (1,33%) cases, buried bumper syndrome – 2 (1,33%), the dysfunction of PEG-tube – 3 (2%), persistent gastric fistula – 3 (2%) and in 120 (80%) cases there were no complications. The total risk of complications was 20%, a concise conclusion on what had the biggest impact of them occurring cannot be made due to the lack of data. The main risk of experiencing complications is to have to repeat the PEG-tube placement procedure which was done in 13 (8,67%) cases, the main reason was inadvertent PEG-tube removal – 4 (30,8%), followed by dysfunction – 3 (23,1%) and persistent gastric fistula – 3 (23,1%). After the PEG-tube replacement there were no complications. Also, 78 (52%) patients had antimicrobial therapies during this procedure. Antibiotics were prescribed to treat infections and this was not empiric therapy for this procedure.

#### **Conclusions**

The most frequent indications for PEG formation are oncology, traumatic brain injuries, ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke. The most common complications were bleeding, infection, inadvertent tube removal, dysfunction or leakage of PEG-tube and a persistent gastric fistula.

#### References

- 1. Ata A Rahnemai-Azar et al. Percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy: Indications, technique, complications and management. World Journal Gastroenterology 2014 June 28; 20(24): 7739-7751.
- 2. Gyu Young Pih et al. Risk factors for complications and mortality of percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy insertion. BMC Gastroenterology. 2018 June 28;18(1):101.



### Early outcomes of open surgical treatment of stenosing tenosynovitis

#### **Authors**

#### Saulius Knystautas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Karolis Varkalys

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Ernest Zacharevskij

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Stenosing tenosynovitis also known as Trigger finger is a common condition which may cause significant functional impairment of the hand. Repetitive use of flexor tendon-sheath complex results in chronic inflammation response. In addition, chronic inflammation induces thickening of flexor tendon which causes clinical manifestation of pain and locking of the finger movement [1]. Percutaneous or open release of the A1 pulley is considered the treatment of choice in management of stenosing tenosynovitis when conservative treatment is inefficient [2].

#### Aim

To evaluate early outcomes of open surgical treatment of stenosing tenosynovitis.

#### Methods

A prospective study was conducted on patients with isolate stenosing tenosynovitis of II, III, IV or V fingers. Patients were included only after they met all inclusion criteria of research: patient is older than 18 years and diagnosed with isolate stenosing tenosynovitis of II, III, IV or V fingers without surgical treatment of fingers in past medical history. Pregnant women and all patients with autoimmune diseases were



excluded. All patients were treated in plastic and reconstructive surgery department of Kaunas clinics. Open surgical release of A1 pulley was used for the treatment of patients. Valid QuickDASH questionnaire was used to measure patient hand function. For the short- term functional outcomes QuickDASH questionnaire was applied one week and three months after the surgical treatment. Evaluation of early postoperative complications were recorded at each follow-up visit. Analysis was performed using SPSS 22.0 software package. For the statistical analysis a non-parametric related samples Friedman's test was used.

#### Results

17 patients with stenosing tenosynovitis were included in the trial over the course of 6 months. For the evaluation of short-term functional outcomes 10 patients answered QuickDASH questionaire one week and three months after the surgical treatment The median pain (VAS) and hand function (QuickDASH) score before the surgery was 4 (IQR 4) and 58 (IQR 36) respectively. One week after the surgery median VAS 2.5 (IQR 6), median QuickDASH 56 (IQR 19). Three months after the surgery median VAS 1.5 (IQR 3), median QuickDASH 3.5 (IQR 23). Pain (VAS) and hand function (QuickDASH) score difference at different time points (before surgery, one week and three months after surgery) was statistically significant (p = 0.021) and (p = 0.001) respectively. None of early postoperative complications were recorded at patients follow-up visits.

#### **Conclusions**

Patients assessment of pain (VAS) decreased and hand function (QuickDASH) improved within a period of three months. Decreased VAS and QuickDASH scores indicates successful short-term recovery of hand after open surgical treatment of stenosing tenosynovitis. Moreover, none of early postoperative complications were found during follow-up visits. Technique of open release of the A1 pulley is an effective procedure in achieving at least short-term resolution of trigger finger.

#### References

- 1. Jeanmonod R, Harberger S, Waseem M. Trigger Finger. Essent Orthop Rev Quest Answers Sr Med Students. 2021 November 7;79–80. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK459310/
- 2. Brozovich, Nikolas MD; Agrawal, Devandra PhD, MBA; Reddy, Gangadasu MD, MS, FACS A Critical Appraisal of Adult Trigger Finger: Pathophysiology, Treatment, and Future Outlook, Plastic and
- 3. Reconstructive Surgery Global 2019;7(8). Available from: https://journals.lww.com/prsgo/Fulltext/2019/08000/A\_Critical\_Appraisal\_of\_Adu lt\_Trigger\_Finger\_.18.aspx

## **Posters**

## Anaesthesiology& Intensive Therapy



### Does paracetamol in adjunct to NSAIDS reduce analgesia demand in children undergoing surgery

#### **Authors**

#### Džiuginta Paulėkaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Danguolė Česlava Rugytė

Department of Anaesthesiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Opioid medications are very often an important component of pediatric postoperative pain treatment but have been associated with perioperative complications such as nausea, vomiting, constipation, physical dependence, tolerance and respiratory depression [1]. Extensive efforts have been made toward reducing postoperative opioid use in children [2]. Multimodal postoperative analgesia is widely used but lacks evidence of benefit [3].

#### Aim

Our aim is to perform a systematic review and find out if a single dose of paracetamol (enteral or intravenous) given in addition to NSAIDs results in a reduced need for opioid based rescue analgesia compared to NSAID alone in children within 1–4 h after general/orthopedic, oral and maxillofacial surgery.

#### Methods

The type of this study is a systematic review of the literature that was conducted based on PRISMA guidelines. Search and analysis of scientific publications were performed using the PubMed. Keywords applied: paracetamol, NSAID, opioid, child, surgery. Double- blind randomized clinical trials, published 2002 - 2022 years were included in the analysis. Study participants – patients aged 1-18 years, study groups: the first group - patients receiving NSAIDs and placebo or NSAID alone, the second group - patients receiving NSAIDs + paracetamol (no dose restriction), types of operations – general/orthopedic surgery, oral, maxillofacial surgery.



#### Results

We identified 121 records; 104 were removed - publications older than 20 years, not suitable research groups and types of surgeries, literature reviews, meta-analysis. 17 records were screened. 9 records excluded – not suitable study groups were compared, patients - younger than 1 year and older than 18. A total of 8 articles, 606 patients of whom 301 received NSAIDs + paracetamol, were included in this systematic review of the literature. Assessing the need of rescue analgesia, that was opioid based (morphine/hydromorphone/tramadol/meperidine) within 1-4 hours after surgery in children treated with NSAIDs: ibuprofen [4,5], diclofenac [6,7], ketorolac [8], or ketoprofen [9,10,11] with additional doses of paracetamol rectally (4 studies 40-60 mg/kg) or intravenously (4 studies 10 mg/kg-48 mg/kg/d, max 2,4 g). The reduced need of rescue analgesia was observed in 3 out of 8 articles [6,10,11]. The longer time to the first dose of opioid was also reported in 2 studies where the time to the first dose was evaluated [7,10].

#### **Conclusions**

The majority of included double-blind randomized clinical trials do not report the evidence for the significant benefits in reduced need for opioid based rescue analgesia in the immediate postoperative period, when rectal or intravenous paracetamol was given in adjunct to NSAIDs after general/orthopedic, oral or maxillofacial surgery in 1-18 year old children. Due to the small number of articles included, these results should be treated with caution, meta-analysis is required to clarify the evidence of superiority of NSAID andparacetamol combination over NSAID alone.

#### References

- 1. Ferland CE, Vega E, Ingelmo PM. Acute pain management in children: challenges and recent improvements. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol [Internet]. 2018

  Jun [cited 2022 January 19];31(3):327-332. Available from: 10.1097/ACO.000000000000579. PMID: 29432292.
- Lee HM, Park JH, Park SJ, Choi H, Lee JR. Comparison of Monotherapy Versus Combination of Intravenous Ibuprofen and Propacetamol (Acetaminophen) for Reduction of Postoperative Opioid Administration in Children Undergoing Laparoscopic Hernia Repair: A Double-Blind Randomized Controlled Trial. Anesth Analg [Internet]. 2021 Jul 1 [cited 2022 January 19];133(1):168-175. Available from: 10.1213/ANE.0000000000005284.PMID: 33181557.
- 3. Thybo KH, Hägi-Pedersen D, Dahl JB, Wetterslev J, Nersesjan M, Jakobsen JC, Pedersen NA, Overgaard S, Schrøder HM, Schmidt H, Bjørck JG, Skovmand K,



Frederiksen R, Buus- Nielsen M, Sørensen CV, Kruuse LS, Lindholm P, Mathiesen O. Effect of Combination of Paracetamol (Acetaminophen) and Ibuprofen vs Either Alone on Patient-Controlled Morphine Consumption in the First 24 Hours After Total Hip Arthroplasty: The PANSAID Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA [Internet]. 2019 Feb 12 [cited 2022 January 19]; 321(6):562-571. Available from: 10.1001/jama.2018.22039. PMID: 30747964; PMCID: PMC6439592.

- 4. Viitanen H, Tuominen N, Vääräniemi H, Nikanne E, Annila P. Analgesic efficacy of rectal acetaminophen and ibuprofen alone or in combination for paediatric day-case adenoidectomy. Br J Anaesth [Internet]. 2003 Sep [cited 2022 January 16]; 91(3):363-7. Available from:10.1093/bja/aeg196. PMID: 12925475.
- 5. Merry AF, Edwards KE, Ahmad Z, Barber C, Mahadevan M, Frampton C. Randomized comparison between the combination of acetaminophen and ibuprofen and each constituent alone for analgesia following tonsillectomy in children. Can J Anaesth [Internet]. 2013 Dec [cited 2022 January 16]; 60(12):1180-9. Available from: 10.1007/s12630-013-0043-3. Epub 2013 Oct 23. PMID: 24150660.
- 6. Riad W, Moussa A. Pre-operative analgesia with rectal diclofenac and/or paracetamol in children undergoing inguinal hernia repair. Anaesthesia [Internet]. 2007 Dec [cited 2022 January 16]; 62(12):1241-5. Available from:10.1111/j.1365-2044.2007.05248.x. PMID: 17991260.
- 7. Mireskandari SM, Makarem J. Effect of rectal diclofenac and acetaminophen alone and in combination on postoperative pain after cleft palate repair in children. J Craniofac Surg [Internet]. 2011 Sep [cited 2022 January 16]; 22(5):1955-9. Available from: 10.1097/SCS.0b013e31822ea7fd. PMID: 21959480.
- 8. Sola R Jr, Desai AA, Gonzalez KW, Doyle NM, Weaver KL, Poola AS, Fraser JD, St Peter SD, Millspaugh DL. Does Intravenous Acetaminophen Improve Postoperative Pain Control after Laparoscopic Appendectomy for Perforated Appendicitis? A Prospective Randomized Trial. Eur J Pediatr Surg [Internet]. 2019 Apr [cited 2022 January 16]; 29(2):159-165. Available from: 10.1055/s-0037-1615276. Epub 2018 Jan 2. PMID: 29294507.
- 9. Rugytė D, Gudaitytė J. Intravenous Paracetamol in Adjunct to Intravenous Ketoprofen for Postoperative Pain in Children Undergoing General Surgery: A Double-Blinded Randomized Study. Medicina (Kaunas) [Internet]. 2019 Apr 1 [cited 2022 January 16]; 55(4):86. Available from: 10.3390/medicina55040086. PMID: 30939851; PMCID: PMC6524359.



- 10. Hiller A, Meretoja OA, Korpela R, Piiparinen S, Taivainen T. The analgesic efficacy of acetaminophen, ketoprofen, or their combination for pediatric surgical patients having soft tissue or orthopedic procedures. Anesth Analg [Internet]. 2006 May [cited 2022 January 16]; 102(5):1365-71. Available from:10.1213/01.ane.0000204278.71548.bf. PMID:
- 11.16632811.
- 12. Platzer M, Likar R, Stettner H, Jost R, Wutti C, Leipold H, Breschan C. Tonsillotomien und Adenotomien im Kindesalter. Studie zu postoperativen Schmerztherapie [Tonsillotomy and adenotonsillectomy in childhood. Study on postoperative pain therapy]. Anaesthesist [Internet]. 2011 Jul [cited 2022 January 16]; 60(7):625-32. German. Available from: 10.1007/s00101-011-1855-6. Epub 2011 May 15. PMID: 21607780.

# Effect of anterior femoral nerve branches block on early functional recovery after total knee arthroplasty: a pilot study

# **Authors**

# Goda Aldakauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Mantė Eidininkienė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Arūnas Gelmanas

Department of Anaesthesiology, Faculty of Medicine, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

Total knee arthroplasty (TKA) is one of the most common joint replacement surgeries [1]. Despite the undeniable benefits, patients experience severe to moderate pain in the post- operative period [2]. Peripheral nerve blocks are gaining increasing attention and new techniques are being introduced. Some studies have shown that blocking the



anterior branches of femoral nerve (FN) in combination with the femoral triangle (FT) and adductor canal (AC) might increase patients' satisfaction and improve early ambulation [3]. We share our insights from a pilot study with patients who underwent TKA.

# Aim

The aim was to pilot functional recovery in patients after primary TKA by comparing distal FT (dFT) and distal AC (dAC) block with block of the proximal FT (pFT), dAC and anteriorFN branches.

# Methods

The data for this prospective, double-blind, randomised pilot study was collected at the Department of Anaesthesiology, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (LUHS) Kauno Klinikos. 10 patients undergoing TKA under spinal anaesthesia were blindly randomised into two groups of 5 patients each. Group A (A) underwent block of the pFT, dAC and anterior FN branches, group B (B) underwent dFT and dAC block. The extent of motor block (Bromage scale) was assessed 3, 6, 24 and 48 hours after the surgery, and the ability of early ambulation (Timed Up and Go (TUG) test) - 24 and 48 hours after the surgery.

#### Results

10 patients were tested: 3 men and 7 women, aged between 47 and 79 years. The mean age of A was 60 (8.631) years and that of B 72.20 (6.535), p = 0.036. 3 hours after surgeryonly 1 patient in A was able to fully move the leg (Bromage scale 0), while the others could not move the leg at all (Bromage scale 3), p > 0.05. Meanwhile, in B 60 % of patients were able to move the leg freely, while the rest moved their leg partially -20 % could only move the ankle, and another 20 % could bend the knee as well, p > 0.05. After 6 hours 90 % of all patients were able to move freely, except for 1 person in B, who was still unable to lift the leg upwards, p > 0.05. After 24 hours, the results remained the same. After 48 hours, all patients regained the ability to raise the leg straight up. The mean TUG test scores at 24 and 48 hours were 43.61 (18.649) and 41.46 (18.544) seconds in A and 35.64 (3.375) and 34.26 (3.438) seconds in B, respectively, p > 0.05.



#### **Conclusions**

The extent of motor block and the ability of early ambulation did not differ statistically significantly between groups. Further research with a larger sample is therefore needed.

# References

- 1. Canovas F, Dagneaux L. Quality of life after total knee arthroplasty. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2018 Feb;104(1S):S41-S46. doi: 10.1016/j.otsr.2017.04.017. Epub 2017 Nov 26. PMID: 29183821.
- 2. Zeni JA Jr, Flowers P, Bade M, Cheuy V, Stevens-Lapsley J, Snyder-Mackler L. Stiff knee gait may increase risk of second total knee arthroplasty. J Orthop Res. 2019 Feb;37(2):397-402. doi: 10.1002/jor.24175. Epub 2018 Dec 17. PMID: 30387528.
- 3. Bjørn S, Nielsen TD, Moriggl B, Hoermann R, Bendtsen TF. Anesthesia of the anterior femoral cutaneous nerves for total knee arthroplasty incision: randomized volunteer trial. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2019 Dec 10:rapm-2019-100904. doi: 10.1136/rapm-2019-100904. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 31826920.

Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with cytoreductive surgery: anesthesiologist perspective of 2-year experience in Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas Clinics

# **Authors**

# Kristina Liaudanskytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Dovilė Stonienė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania



# **Andrius Macas**

Department of Anaesthesiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) and cytoreductive surgery (CRS) is atwo-step procedure used to treat certain tumors with abdominal metastasis. CRS is performed to remove cancerous tumors and the heated chemotherapy drugs are applied directly inside the abdominal cavity to eliminate the remaining cancerous cells [1,2]. From the 2000s all over the world, HIPEC with or without CRS has been gaining popularity for different neoplastic diseases that involve the peritoneal surface [3].

#### Aim

This study aim is to retrospectively review and assess the 2 years of HIPEC treatment experience in the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas Clinics.

# Methods

After ethics committee approval (BEC-MF-263) retrospective study was conducted on patients treated in the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas Clinics. From January of 2020 to December of 2021 all cases of HIPEC with or without CRS were analyzed. Data including patient demographics, indications for multimodal therapy (HIPEC + CRS), duration of the anesthesia, and postoperative complications were collected. Analysis was performed using SPSS 27.0 software package. Normality of data checked by the Shapiro-Wilk test. Normally distributed variables are reported as mean and standard deviation (SD).

#### Results

We analyzed 43 patients who were treated with CRS and HIPEC. There were more femalepatients (n=30, 69.77%) than men (n=13, 30.23%). The mean age was 53.42 (SD 10.99). To evaluate a patient's physical status and predict perioperative risk, the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) class was given. In most cases, classification was III (n=34, 79.07%). The most common indication for this treatment among women was ovary cancer (n=11, 25.58%) and between men – gastric cancer (n=8, 18.60%). Usually during HIPEC treatment anesthesia lasts from 7 to 10 hours



(n=26, 60.47%). In other cases, anesthesia lasts from 4 to 7 hours (n=17, 39.53%). In 41.86% of cases (n=18) multimodal therapy was performed under general anesthesia and in 25 cases (58.14%) under combined (general and epidural) anesthesia. CRS was performed for thirty-eight patients (88.37%). The most frequent adverse events in the postoperative period were electrolyte disturbance (n=39, 90.70%), hypoalbuminemia (n=29, 67.44%), and hematological problems such as anemia, or thrombocytopenia (n=14, 32.56%).

# **Conclusions**

From our 2 years of experience, we can conclude that patients who undergo CRS with or without HIPEC are usually suffering from severe disease, which limits their activity but is not incapacitating. Usually, in these cases, anesthesia lasts longer, so the anesthesiologist should be prepared for prolonged anesthesia risks such as deep vein thrombosis, hypothermia, sore ulcers, and others. In the postoperative period, almost all patients suffer from electrolyte disturbances, hypoalbuminemia, anemia, or thrombocytopenia, so laboratory tests should be performed and evaluated daily.

- 1. Helderman RFCPA, Löke DR, Tanis PJ, Tuynman JB, Ceelen W, de Hingh IH, et al. Preclinical In Vivo-Models to Investigate HIPEC; Current Methodologies and Challenges. Cancers (Basel). 2021;13(14).
- 2. Flood M, Narasimhan V, Waters P, Ramsay R, Michael M, Warrier S, et al. Survival after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal metastases: A systematic review and discussion of latest controversies. Surgeon. 2021;19(5):310–20.
- 3. Manzanedo I, Pereira F, Serrano Á, Pérez-Viejo E. Review of management and treatment of peritoneal metastases from gastric cancer origin. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2021;12 (Suppl 1):S20–9.



# Influence of Epidural Analgesia on Pregnant Women with Cardiovascular Disease

# **Authors**

# Deimantė Krutulytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Dovilė Banaitytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vilda Baliulienė

Department of Anaesthesiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Maternal morbidity and mortality because of cardiovascular disease (CVD) are increasing in the western world [1]. During labor, the blood pressure increases, the activation of sympathetic nerves and increased venous return can cause arrhythmias [2]. Epidural analgesia reduces labor pain and can be beneficial for blood pressure control. Moreover, the frequency of arrhythmias decreases due to sympathetic blockade [3]. Thus, it is very important to evaluate the effect of epidural analgesia on the mother and fetus.

# Aim

To evaluate the effect of epidural analgesia on hemodynamic parameters, maternal and neonatal outcomes of pregnant women with CVD.

#### Methods

A retrospective study of 112 women with CVD that gave birth at the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics from 2017 to 2020 was performed. The following data were analyzed: age, gestational age, CVD, hemodynamic parameters (first recorded systolic blood pressure (sBP), the maximal recorded sBP), maternal outcomes (spontaneous vaginal delivery rate, duration of labor, blood loss



(<500; 500-1000; >1000 ml), neonatal outcomes (Apgar's score and pH of umbilical cord). Patients were divided into two groups: epidural group (E) and no-epidural group (NE). Statistical analysis was processed using IBM SPSS Statistics 25. Quantitative variables were described as mean with standard deviation (SD) or median and interquartile range (IQR). Differences between the groups were analyzed using  $\chi$  2 test of independence, Student's t and Mann Whitney's U tests and considered statistically significant when p<0.05.

# Results

112 patients were identified with mean age 28.6 years old (SD=5.5) and median gestational age 39 weeks (IQR=2). The most common CVD was congenital heart disease n=44(39.3%). There were 50(44.6%) cases in the E group and 62(55.4%) in the NE group. No cardiovascular events were observed. There was no significant difference in the first recorded sBP between E(Mdn=123.5, IQR=15.25) and NE group (Mdn=123.5, IQR=13); U=1390.5, z=-0.935, p=0.35. The maximal sBP was significantly lower in the E group (M=124.56, SD=12.58) vs NE group (M=129.87, SD=12.22); t(110) = 2.26, p=0.026. The duration of labor (measured in minutes) was significantly longer in the E group (M=794.7,SD=423.21) versus NE group (M=588.69, SD=288.76); t(99) =-2.894, p=0.005. Maternal blood loss and spontaneous vaginal birth rate did not differ between groups,  $\chi$ 2(2, 112) =2.573, p=0.276 and  $\chi$ 2(1,112) =1.033, p=0.309, respectively. Apgar's score at 1 min did not differ between the E (Mdn=9, IQR=1) and NE (Mdn=9, IQR=1) group, U=1471.5, z= -0.497, p=0.619. The pH was not significantly different in the E(N=19, Mdn=7.29, IQR=0.139) and NE group (N=15, Mdn=7.24, IQR=0.197), U=123.5, z=-0.659, p=0.52.

# **Conclusions**

The most common CVD was congenital heart disease. The maximal sBP during labor was lower and the duration of labor was longer in the epidural group. There were no other significant differences between hemodynamic, maternal, or neonatal outcomes.

- 1. Regitz-Zagrosek V, Roos-Hesselink JW, Bauersachs J, Blomström-Lundqvist C, Cífková R, de Bonis M, et al. 2018 ESC Guidelines for the management of cardiovascular diseases during pregnancy. European Heart Journal. 2018 Sep 7;39(34):3165–241.
- 2. Sanghavi M, Rutherford JD. Cardiovascular physiology of pregnancy. Circulation



[Internet]. 2014 [cited 2022 Mar 16];130(12):1003-8. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1161/circulationaha.114.009029

3. Lewis NL, Dob DP, Yentis SM. UK registry of high-risk obstetric anaesthesia: arrhythmias, cardiomyopathy, aortic stenosis, transposition of the great arteries and Marfan's syndrome. International Journal of Obstetric Anesthesia. 2003 Jan 1;12(1):28–34.

# The effects of low dose ketamine on postoperative pain and adverse events after intraoperative remifentanil infusions

# **Authors**

# Darija Savinova

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Viltė Jocaitytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Aurika Karbonskienė

Department of Anaesthesiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

In modern surgery, with the rapid introduction of new surgical techniques and enhanced recovery protocols, it is particularly important to maintain acceptable postoperative pain intensity using the lowest possible doses of morphine. The search for methods for reduction of postoperative opioid requirements is constantly evolving [1]. Ketamine is one of the most attractive additives to achieve these goals, but the exact dose of ketamine is still not accurate [2,3].

# Aim

Assess the significance of low dose ketamine (0,3mg/kg by LBM (lean body mass)) for postoperative morphine requirements and side effects in patients after remifentanil anaesthesia in bariatric surgery.



#### Methods

A prospective, randomized (random number generator), double-blind, placebo-controlled study. The study included 47 patients, who underwent bariatric surgery at HLUHS. Following informed consent adult obese patients up to ASA class III undergoing laparoscopic gastric bypass with remifentanil anaesthesia were given equal volume (5 ml) of study medication: single dose of ketamine 0,3 mg/kg (test, group K=30) or saline (control, group S=17) at anaesthesia induction. Study medication was prepared by anaesthesia provider not involved in postoperative care of patients. Postoperatively pain intensity, morphine requirements and side effects were recorded every 15min up to 155 minutes in postanaesthesia care unit.

### Results

The pain intensity was similar in both groups in all points of observation (p=0,05-0,973). K and S groups did not differ in demografic values such as BMI ( $45.3\pm6.4$  vs.  $43.7\pm6.1$ ), age ( $42\pm12$  vs.  $46\pm10$ ) or gender – majority of patients were female (K = 73,3% vs. S = 70,6%). Morphine consumption was lower in the test group (group K - median 6 (25% = 5; 75% = 9) mg, group S - median 10 (25% = 9, 75% = 11,5) mg, p<0,001). The incidence of side effects was similar in both groups (p=0,613).

### **Conclusions**

The 0,3 mg/kg (LBM) ketamine dose reduces postoperative morphine consumption without impact on postoperative side effects in bariatric patients.

- 1. Chou R, Gordon DB, de Leon-Casasola OA, et al. Management of postoperative pain: a clinical practice guideline from the American Pain Society, the American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine, and the American Society of Anesthesiologists' Committee on Regional Anesthesia, Executive Committee, and Administrative Council. J Pain. 2016 Feb;17(2):131-57. Brinck EC, Tiippana E, Heesen M et al. Perioperative intravenous ketamine for acute postoperative pain in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018 Dec 20;12(12).
- 2. Hung KC, Wu SC, Chang PC et al. Impact of intraoperative ketamine on postoperative analysis requirement following bariatric surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Obes Surg. 2021 Dec;31(12):5446-5457.



# Atrial fibrillation rate and relations between complications after a coronary bypass grafting surgery

#### **Authors**

# Modestas Šaulys

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Paulius Meškauskas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Judita Andrejaitienė

Department of Cardiac, Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Medical academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is one of the most common complications after cardiac surgery. Based on the literature, the incidence of AF has been found to be 25% after isolated coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) and 40-50% in complex CABG / heart valve replacement surgery [1,2]. Despite the advances in modern cardiac surgery, the mortality and morbidity associated with AF after cardiac surgery remain unchanged [3]. The results of individual studies on the association of AF with postoperative complications are debatable and controversial and a more accurate analysis of treated cases is needed to assess the effectiveness of treatment to analyze and understand these trends.

### Aim

To determine the frequency of perioperative atrial fibrillation and its association with postoperative complications and duration of hospitalization in patients undergoing CABG.

#### Methods

The research was carried out with the permission of the LUHS Center of Bioethics (No. BEC-MF-302) from January 1st, 2021 to February 28th, 2021. Clinical and laboratory



data of 100 patients were collected retrospectively and analysed who underwent cardiac CABG with cardiac pulmonary bypass (CPB) that were treated in the LUHS Kaunas Clinics, Clinic of Cardiothoracic and Vascular Surgery. Patients were divided into 2 groups: Group I with AF in perioperative period (n=45), Group II (n=55) with no AF cases in perioperative period. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 22.0 software. The value of p <0.05 was considered as significant.

# Results

The study population was 100 patients: 57 male and 43 females. The mean age was 66.3 ( $\pm$  10.2) years old. There were 13% of patients operated as a matter of urgency, 87% were scheduled. Atrial fibrillation (AF) after CABG is a common complication, accounting for a total of 45% of patients, of whom 36% were new AF episodes. There was a positive, weakstatistically significant association between AF and age (r=0.40; p=0.045), indicating that the incidence of AF in the postoperative period increases significantly among older ages. There was no statistically significant difference between male and female groups (p=0.49). The duration of CPB in group I was 102.0 min ( $\pm$  58.0), in group II 91.0 ( $\pm$  60.0), p=0.6. The infectious complications were identified in group I -7%, in group II 3%, p=0.22. Postoperative renal failure was 8% in group I and 2% in group II, p=0.06. Pulmonary complications developed in group I - 7%, in group II - 5%, p=0.53. Pts with a new AF episode were significantly longer stay in ICU for 3.4 days ( $\pm$  1.5) compared with pts without an AF episode (p<0.05).

# Conclusions

This study suggests that AF is a common complication after heart surgery in older than 65 years. Patients with AF episode have significantly longer stay in ICU. The identification of higher-risk patients enables early diagnosis and application of recovery protocols, which is more likely to contribute to a significant reduction in the use of healthcare resources bythese pts.

# References

1. Burrage PS, Low YH, Campbell NG, O'Brien B. New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in Adult Patients After Cardiac Surgery. Curr Anesthesiol Rep. 2019; 9(2): 174–193. 10.1007/s40140-019-00321-4.D'Agostino RS, Jacobs JP, Badhwar V, Fernandez FG, Paone G, Wormuth DW, et al. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons adult cardiac surgery database: 2018 update on outcomes and quality. Ann Thorac Surg. 2018;105(1):15–23. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2017.10.035.



2. Boons J, Van Biesen S, Fivez T, Van de Velde M, Tmimi LA. Mechanisms, Prevention, and Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation After Cardiac Surgery: A Narrative Review. Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2021;35(11):3394-3403. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2020.11.030.

# **Basic Sciences**



# Morphological findings at autopsy of people who died from alcoholic liver steatosis and liver cirrhosis

#### **Authors**

# Gabija Baldauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Vaiva Kaktaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Dalius Banionis**

Department of Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

According to Lithuanian Institute of Hygiene, in 2020 liver diseases (K70-K76) were the third leading cause of death among working-age adults. WHO warns that health systems may face a significant increase in treatment demand for alcoholic liver diseases and their complications. Stickel et al. found that alcoholic liver disease is a clinically silent disease with little or no signs in the early stages. In some patients any complications of cirrhosis might be the first symptom of alcoholic liver disease, in others alcoholic steatohepatitis is the primary manifestation.

# Aim

To analyze tendencies of morphological organ changes and relations between different organ systems dysfunctions in individuals who died from alcoholic liver steatosis and liver cirrhosis.

# Methods

A retrospective analysis was performed on data of people who died from alcoholic liver disease (steatosis and cirrhosis) and underwent autopsy in Kaunas Department of The State Forensic Medicine Service from 2014 to 2018. Alcoholic liver steatosis and cirrhosis were underlying diseases in these individuals. Autopsy findings used for the



study include age, sex, cardiovascular, digestive and immune systems abnormalities. Descriptive observational study was performed. Examination reports of 162 individuals were examined: 91 cases of alcoholic liver steatosis and 71 of liver cirrhosis. Statistical analysis was done with Excel and IBM SPSS Statistics 26 software. Descriptive analysis methods were used to analyze collected data, demographic statistics. Differences between variables assessed using chi-square criteria, Mann-Whitney tests, tests of normality. Results were statistically significant when p < 0.05.

# Results

Age mean for alcoholic liver steatosis was 57,3 ( $\pm$  10,5) years, cirrhosis – 54,3 ( $\pm$  8,9). Among the deaths from alcoholic liver steatosis there were 69 % men, 31 % women, among liver cirrhosis – 55 % and 45 % respectively. Ascites was significantly more common in the group of liver cirrhosis (p < 0,05), so was the esophageal varices (p < 0,05) and jaundice ( $\chi^2$  = 30,754; df= 2; p < 0,05). The enlarged spleen has been found more often in the group of liver cirrhosis (median 227,5g; range 60-2310) than in the group of alcoholic liver steatosis (median 130g; range 30-570) (p<0,05). The enlarged heart was detected more commonly in the liver cirrhosis group (median 410g; range 210-720) than in the other group (median 380g; range 220-610) (p<0,05). Overall no complications including ascites, esophageal varices, jaundice\* were detected on 43,8 % of examined bodies, one for 24,7 %, two - 21,6 %, three - 9,9 %.

\*for 13 corpses jaundice has not been evaluated.

#### **Conclusions**

Men were the most dominant gender in groups of alcoholic liver steatosis and liver cirrhosis. The age mean was similar in both groups and does not differ significantly. Complications such as ascites, esophageal varices, jaundice were more common in the group of liver cirrhosis. Enlarged spleen and heart were detected more often in the liver cirrhosis group.

- 1. Health Information Centre of Institute of Hygiene. Causes of death 2020. Vilnius; 2021.
- 2. World Health Organization. Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. Geneva; 2018.
- 3. Stickel F, Datz C, Hampe J, Bataller R. Pathophysiology and Management of



Alcoholic Liver Disease: Update 2016. Gut Liver [Internet]. 2017 Mar 15;11(2):173–88.

- 4. Paik Y-H. KASL clinical practice guidelines for liver cirrhosis: Ascites and related complications. Clin Mol Hepatol [Internet]. 2018 Sep 1;24(3):230–77.
- 5. Roerecke M, Vafaei A, Hasan OSM, Chrystoja BR, Cruz M, Lee R, et al. Alcohol Consumptionand Risk of Liver Cirrhosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2019Oct 1;114(10):1574–86.
- 6. Lackner C, Tiniakos D. Fibrosis and alcohol-related liver disease. Vol. 70, Journal of Hepatology. Elsevier B.V.; 2019. p. 294–304.

# Autopsy findings in motor vehicle occupants involved in fatal traffic accidents

#### **Authors**

# Ignas Velionis

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Vilius Kaupas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Dalius Banionis**

Clinical Department of Pathological Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

Car drivers and passengers was the largest group of traffic accident fatalities and accounted for 44,2% of road deaths in the European Union in 2019 [1]. According to Lithuanian Traffic Police Service, between 2017 and 2020 in road traffic accidents died 726 people and, among those, 422 were motor vehicle occupants [2]. However, there is a lack of studies which would evaluate injury patterns of car crash victims, traumas indicating instant death at the scene and prevalence of driving under the influence of alcohol.



# Aim

The goal of the study is to assess autopsy findings in motor vehicle occupants involved in fataltraffic accidents.

### Methods

A retrospective analysis of The State Forensic Medicine Service Kaunas Department data of fatally injured motor vehicle occupants from 2017 to 2020. Autopsy findings used for this study include age, sex, site of death, traffic participation mode, injured body regions, toxicological investigation results. Statistical analysis will be conducted using statistical software IBM SPSS Statistics. Chi-square test was used to compare qualitative data between groups. Data differences were considered statistically significant at p < 0.05.

Permission for the research was obtained by the Bioethics center (No. BEC-MF-246).

# Results

The total of 53 fatally injured motor vehicle occupants were included in this study. Among those, 81,1% (n=43) were male and 18,9% (n=10) were female. The average age of road trafficaccident victims was 43,33 y.o. (SD 20,125). Polytrauma occurred in 50 of all cases (94,3%). 75,5% of victims died at the scene of an accident (n=40), while 24,5% (n=13) were transported to the hospital and died later. The most common site of injury was rib cage (73,6%, n=39) followed by the skull vault (41,5%, n=22), brain (35,8%, n=35,8), skull base (34%, n=18), lower extremities (30,2%, n=16), upper extremities (20,8%, n=11), spine (17%, n=9), pelvis (17%, n=9). Among those, who died at the scene, 77,5% (n=31) suffered rib cage fractures, 50% (n=20) - skull vault fractures and 40% (n=16) - skull base fractures. In addition to that, 45% (n=18) were under the influence of alcohol. A significant correlation between skull vault fractures and death at scene was found (p=0,028). In addition,  $\chi$  2 test of independence found significant association between driving under the influence of alcohol and death at the scene (p=0,015).

#### **Conclusions**

The most common sites of trauma among fatally injured motor vehicle occupant were rib cage and skull. Furthermore, skull vault fractures and driving under the influence of alcohol were associated with death at the scene.



#### References

- Road accident fatalities statistics by type of vehicle. [Internet]. Europa.Eu. [cited 2022 Feb 9]. Available from: <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Road\_accident\_fatalities\_-">https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Road\_accident\_fatalities\_-</a>\_-statistics\_by\_type\_of\_vehicle
- 2. Eismo įvykių Lietuvoje statistika [Internet]. Lrv.lt. [cited 2022 Feb 9]. Available from:https://lkpt.policija.lrv.lt/lt/statistika/eismo-ivykiu-lietuvoje-statistika

# Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Cartilage Tissue Regeneration in Osteoarthritis

# **Authors**

#### Michelle Amadi

Faculty of General Medicine, Medical Academy, Bogolomets National Medical University, Kyiv, Ukraine

# Karen Amadi

Taras Shevchenko Institute of Biology and Medicine, Kyiv, Ukraine

### Introduction

Tissue regeneration is the process of renewal and growth to repair or replace damaged or infected tissues  $^1$ . Adipose tissue-derived stem cells are mesenchymal cells with the capacity for self-renewal and multipotential differentiation  $^2$ . They provide a promising future in tissue regeneration due to their wide availability and ability to differentiate into other tissue types of the mesoderm  $^3$ . In osteoarthritis, they prove to be effective in slowing down cartilage tissue degeneration.

# Aim

This study aims to systematically review the role of AdMSCs in cartilage tissue regeneration, particularly in osteoarthritis.



# Methods

We conducted a systematic review searching MEDLINE (PubMed) for all relevant articles dealing with AdMSCs in tissue regeneration published in the last five years. The search criteria being ((("tissue regeneration") OR ("regenerative medicine")) AND (("Adipose tissue") OR (AdMSCs) OR (Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells) OR (Adiposederived stromal cells) OR (ADSCs))) NOT ((Periodontal) OR (dental)).

# Results

We analysed 21 articles, and ten studies met the inclusion criteria. It is a relatively harmless procedure, and all results showed no serious adverse effects in using AdMSCs for regenerating cartilage tissues in  $\mathsf{OA}^{5,8}$ . There are no known complications. Knee function and pain levels (as measured by WOMAC) improved  $^{4,5,9}$ , and there was no significant change in cartilage defect of  $\mathsf{OA}$  in most patients9. However, during observation, the clinical outcomes deteriorated after a year for patients who received the low-medium dosage (0.5-5.0 x 107 AdMSCs) and after two years for patients given the high dosage (of about 5-100 x 107 AdMSCs)  $^{5,7,8,10}$ . Other treatments (NSAIDs and corticosteroids) target symptoms, mainly pain relief. The option of surgery exists but is not advisable depending on factors such as age and activities- rehabilitation is also a point to reconsider as it is a long, painful process.

# **Conclusions**

Some studies showed no significant changes in the cartilage volume, whereas some showed that AdMSCs could potentially prevent OA progression by increasing the cartilage volume of the joint, as seen in MRI results  $^{5,6,8}$ . However, there are concerns about the durability- after 1 or 2 years, the disease does not get worse, but it also does not get significantly better  $^{5}$ .

- 1. Nanostructures for Cancer Therapy, 2017.
- 2. Adipose tissue stem cells in regenerative medicine. Vanesa Verónica Miana and Elio A Prieto González. 2018. doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2018.822
- Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells: Biology and Potential Applications. Danielle Minteer, Kacey G. Marra and J. Peter Rubin. 2012. DOI: 10.1007/10\_2012\_146



- 4. Cartilage Regeneration in Humans with Adipose Tissue-Derived Stem Cells and Adipose Stromal Vascular Fraction Cells: Updated Status. Jaewoo Pak, Jung Hun Lee, Natalie Pak, Yoon Pak, Kwang Seung Park, Jeong Ho Jeon, Byeong Chul Jeong, and Sang Hee Lee. 2018. doi: 10.3390/ijms19072146
- 5. Intra-articular Injection of Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Osteoarthritis of the Knee: A 2-Year Follow-up Study. Chris Hyunchul Jo, Jee Won Chai, Eui Cheol Jeong, Sohee Oh, Ji Sun Shin, Hackjoon Shim, Kang Sup Yoon. 2017. DOI: 10.1177/0363546517716641
- 6. Regeneration of Cartilage in Human Knee Osteoarthritis with Autologous Adipose Tissue-Derived Stem Cells and Autologous Extracellular Matrix. Jaewoo Pak, Jung Hun Lee, Kwang Seung Park, Byeong Chul Jeong, Sang Hee Lee. 2016. DOI: 10.1089/biores.2016.0024
- 7. Human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells for osteoarthritis: a pilot study with long-term follow-up and repeated injections. Yang Song, Hui Du, Chengxiang Dai, Li Zhang, Suke Li, David J Hunter, Liangjing Lu, Chunde Bao. 2018. DOI: 10.2217/rme- 2017-0152
- 8. Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell therapy in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis: a randomized controlled trial. Julien Freitag, Dan Bates, James Wickham, Kiran Shah, Leesa Huguenin, Abi Tenen, Kade Paterson, Richard Boyd. 2019. DOI: 10.2217/rme-2018-0161
- 9. Intra-Articular Injection of Autologous Adipose Tissue-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Knee Osteoarthritis: A Phase IIb, Randomized, PlaceboControlled Clinical Trial. Woo-Suk Lee, Hwan Jin Kim, Kang-II Kim, Gi Beom Kim, Wook Jin. 2019. DOI: 10.1002/sctm.18-0122
- 10. Intra-articular injection of autologous adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis. Duško Spasovski, Vesna Spasovski, Zoran Baščarević, Maja Stojiljković, Miša Vreća, Marina Anđelković, Sonja Pavlović. 2018. DOI: 10.1002/jgm.3002



# ERK5 AND H2AX EXPRESSION IN MONOCYTES AND MACROPHAGES EXPOSED TONANOPARTICLES AND AIR POLLUTANTS; EXPERIMENTAL STUDY

#### **Authors**

# Maciej Rosłan

Faculty of Pharmacy, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

# Agata Niechoda

Faculty of Pharmacy, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

# Katarzyna Maciorowska

Faculty of Pharmacy, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

# Joanna Rosłan

Faculty of Pharmacy, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

#### Adam Hołownia

Faculty of Pharmacy, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

#### Introduction

Fine inhalable particulate matter (PM) triggers an inflammatory response in the airways. Unfortunately, the health risk of accumulated exposure cannot be predicted using physical monitoring systems. In experimental models, exposure of lung epithelial cells and monocytes to PM resulted in oxidative stress, DNA damage, and proinflammatory activation.

#### Aim

Our study aimed to use the human monocyte-macrophage cell line (THP-1 cells) and assess the effect of PM on cell scatter within the binary fluorescence distribution system, specific for DNA damage and inflammation.

### Methods

The THP1 cells grown in ATCC-formulated RPMI 1640 medium were used in this study. Culturemedia supplemented with PMs were prepared using urban dust (UD),



nanoparticle carbon (NPCB), or coarse carbon black (CB) used as a reference. Particles were suspended in a cell culture medium at a concentration of 30  $\mu$ g/mL (24h). As a positive control (monocyte- macrophage transition inducer) phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA, 200 ng/mL) was used. The transition was confirmed by CD11b/CD18, CD14, and CD68 expression. ERK5 and H2AX proteins were quantified by flow cytometry using specific rabbit monoclonal AlexaFluor 647 and 488 antibodies. Statistics were done with Statistica 6.0.

#### Results

UD and NPCB but not CB increased oxidative stress, CD14, CD11a/CD18 expression, and highlystimulated PMA-induced activation, but was without effect on cell transition. Scatterplots of H2AK and ERK5 expression were shifted toward H2AX, mostly in polarised cells, binary distributed, and co-existed with oxidative stress.

#### **Conclusions**

Our data indicate that UD and NACB can stimulate cell adhesion and, to some extent, also monocyte / macrophage transition and DNA damage.

- 1. Xing Y. Xu Y. Shi M. Lian Y. The impact of PM2.5 on the human respiratory system. JThorac Dis. 2016 Jan; 8(1): E69–E74.
- 2. Daigneault M, Preston J, Marriott H, Whyte M, Dockrell D. The identification of markers of macrophage differentiation in PMA-stimulated THP-1 cells and monocyte-derived macrophages. PLoS One. 2010 Jan 13;5(1):e8668.
- 3. R M Mróz, R P F Schins, H Li, E M Drost, W Macnee, K Donaldson. Nanoparticle carbon black driven DNA damage induces growth arrest and AP-1 and NFkappaB DNA bindingin lung epithelial A549 cell line. J Physiol Pharmacy. 2007 Nov; 58 Suppl 5(Pt 2):461-70.
- 4. A Holownia, A Niechoda, J Lachowicz, E Golabiewska, U Baranowska. Phagocytosis and Autophagy in THP-1 Cells Exposed to Urban Dust: Possible Role of LC3Associated Phagocytosis and Canonical Autophagy. Adv Exp Med Biol.2019;1133:55-63.



# Toxic effects of alcohol on cells of the central nervous system

# **Authors**

# Maksymilian Kłosowicz

Department of Morphological Sciences, Medical College of Rzeszow University, University of Rzeszow

# Julia Inglot

Department of Morphological Sciences, Medical College of Rzeszow University, University of Rzeszow

# Jadwiga Inglot

Department of Morphological Sciences, Medical College of Rzeszow University, University of Rzeszow

#### Karol Bednarz

Department of Morphological Sciences, Medical College of Rzeszow University, University of Rzeszow

# Agata Wawrzyniak

Department of Morphological Sciences, Medical College of Rzeszow University, University of Rzeszow

# Introduction

Alcohol is toxic to many different organs, but its effects of particular importance in the central nervous system (CNS) (1,2,3). According to one hypothesis, atrophy of the cerebral cortex and corpus callosum may result from the neurotoxic effects of alcohol therefore in alcoholics may develop permanent or transient cognitive deficits. Moreover ethanol exposure in brain results in disturbances in the structure of neuroglia, to impair diverse aspects of neuronal function (4).

### Aim

Due to the important role played by the cerebral cortex and the corpus callosum in CNS, it was decided to perform a morphological analysis of neurons and glial cells in the brains of people who abused alcohol.



# Methods

Sections of the cerebral cortex and corpus callosum from the brains of six adult men with alcohol addiction (there were concomitant diseases) were collected for the study. The comparison was a control group, derived from the brain sections of a person who died of natural causes. The collected material was subjected to the standard histological procedure. Observation of morphological changes and photographs were made in the Olympus BX43 light microscope.

#### Results

Morphological changes were observed on the slides from cerebral cortex and corpus callosum in people in the research group. The comparison between the study groups was only qualitative. In the area of the corpus callosum on the slides, the pale color of the myelin was observed, which was associated with the disappearance of white matter. Moreover changes in the morphology and arrangement of oligodendrocytes were observed in the area of the corpus callosum. In cortex cerebri in the group of alcoholics, changes around the blood vessels, such as proliferation of endothelial cells, lesions of neurons and neuroglia with visible swelling and vacuolization were observed. Only in some samples in control group they could also be seen but were very rarely.

# **Conclusions**

The study concerned only morphological changes and the obtained results are consistent with the literature data. Ethanol causes direct injury to neurons and glial cells. Major consequences include impaired function of neuroglia, leading to neuronal pathology. White matter pathology ranges from dysmyelination, to demyelination to myelin degeneration, and it occurs in all forms of alcohol-related CNS pathology. The nature, severity, and distribution of CNS lesions vary with age, timing of exposure, and ethanol dose. We hope that the growing availability of knowledge on the effects of ethanol on the nervous system, combined with morphological and biochemical studies, will allow for a better assessment of the effects of ethanol on the nervous system.

- 1. Oscar-Berman M., Marinkovic K.: Alcoholism and the brain: an overview. Alcohol ResHealth. 2003;27(2):125-33.
- 2. Nutt D, Hayes A, Fonville L, Zafar R, Palmer EOC, Paterson L, Lingford-Hughes A.: Alcohol and the Brain. Nutrients. 2021 Nov 4;13(11):3938. doi: 10.3390/nu13113938. PMID: 34836193; PMCID: PMC8625009.



- 3. Kapogiannis D., Kisser J., Davatzikos Ch., Ferrucci L., Metter J., Resnick S.: Alcohol consumption and premotor corpus callosum in older adults. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2012; 22(10): 704–710.
- 4. Miguel-Hidalgo JJ.: Molecular Neuropathology of Astrocytes and Oligodendrocytes in Alcohol Use Disorders. Front Mol Neurosci. 2018 Mar 20;11:78. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2018.00078. PMID: 29615864; PMCID: PMC5869926.

# Urban dust cytotoxicity in human alveolar epithelial cells (A549) with depleted glutathione

#### **Authors**

# Joanna Rosłan

Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmacology, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

# Maciej Rosłan

Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmacology, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

# Katarzyna Maciorowska

Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmacology, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

# Agata Niechoda

Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmacology, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

#### Adam Hołownia

Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmacology, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

# Introduction

Exposure to air pollutants causes many health problems including asthma, cardiopulmonary diseases, lung cancer, and birth defects, but the exact mechanisms remain unclear. To assess the effects of air pollutants on the lung epithelium, a human



lung epithelial cell line (A549 cells) was exposed to standardized urban dust in vitro.

# Aim

In this experiment, we concentrated on cytotoxicity (MTT test), oxidative stress (DCF/FC-Flow Cytometry), DNA damage (PI/FC), necrosis/apoptosis (FC), and autophagy (LC3 expression; WB/FC) triggered by urban dust(UD) in naïve a549 cells and cells with reduced glutathione (GSH).

# Methods

The A549 cells were grown in F12K/ FCS media supplemented with coarse carbon black (CB; Huber 990; 260 nm diameter; 200 ug/ml) or urban dust (UD; Standard Reference Materials; 200 ug/ml) for 24 h. To deplete intracellular glutathione (GSH), I-buthionine-(S, R)-sulfoximine (BSO; 100 mM; 24 h) was used. In some experiments, cells were double-stained and analyzed by flow cytometry to assess the co-incidence of changes.

#### Results

Pre-treatment with BSO depleted the cellular GSH by about 30%. A similar effect was noticed after UD. The CB was without any effects on the parameters tested, except for LC3 expression (autophagy), which increased by about twofold. However, UD decreased cell viability by about 27%, decreased cell proliferation in BSO pre-treated cells, increased ROS production, and increased both Hsp70 and LC3 proteins by about twofold, but most changes were unrelated to ROS-mediated GSH depletion.

# **Conclusions**

UD increased oxidative stress and depleted GSH in A549 cells, however other mechanisms are also involved.

- 1. Carnevali S, Petruzzelli S, Longoni B, Vanacore R, Barale R, Cipollini M, Scatena F, Paggiaro P, Celi A, Giuntini C (2003) Cigarette smoke extract induces oxidative stress and apoptosis in human lung fibroblasts. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 284:955–963
- 2. Chen ZH, Kim HP, Sciurba FC, Lee SJ, Feghali–Bostwick C, Stolz DB, Dhir R, Landreneau RJ, Schuchert MJ, Yousem SA, Nakahira K, Pilewski JM, Lee JS, Zhang



- Y, Ryter SW, Choi AM (2008) Egr-1 regulates autophagy in cigarette smoke-induced chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. PLoS One 3:e3316
- 3. Aghapour M, Raee P, Moghaddam SJ, Hiemstra PS, Heijink IH (2018) Airway epithelial barrier dysfunction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: role of cigarette smoke exposure. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 58:157–169

# Implications of miR-9 in cigarette smoke effects in naïve and desialylated human alveolarepithelial cells (A549)

### **Authors**

# Katarzyna Maciorowska

Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmacology, Medical University of Bialystok. Bialystok, Poland

# Maciej Rosłan

Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmacology, Medical University of Bialystok. Bialystok, Poland

# Joanna Rosłan

Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmacology, Medical University of Bialystok. Bialystok, Poland

# Agata Niechoda

Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmacology, Medical University of Bialystok. Bialystok, Poland

# Adam Hołownia

Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmacology, Medical University of Bialystok. Bialystok, Poland

### Introduction

Long-term exposure to cigarette smoke (CS) increases the risk for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and lung cancer but the mechanisms of CS-induced airway inflammation and biochemical pathways related to malignant transformation of respiratory system cells are unknown.



# Aim

The purpose of the study was to quantify miR-9 in naïve and desialylated.

#### Methods

A549 cells grown in CS-conditioned medium under pro-inflammatory (LPS) and antiinflammatory (DEX) stimuli and analyze changes in miR-9 with cell proliferation. Cells were additionally treated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and/or dexamethasone.

#### Results

Proliferation positively correlated with miR-9 levels in both naïve and desialylated cells. Cigarette smoke decreased miR-9 levels in both cell types by about three-fold but there was no significant correlation between both parameters. Dexamethasone was without substantial effect on cigarette smoke-induced changes in proliferation of naïve cells, but some normalization was observed in desialylated cells. Dexamethasone increased miR-9 levels in both cell types grown in cigarette smoke-medium but the effect was stronger in desialylated cells. LPS increased cell proliferation and miR-9 by more than six-fold only in naïve cells, while the correlation coefficient for both parameters in the cigarette smoke- LPS group was 0.41.

# **Conclusions**

Herein we identify miR-9 as the cigarette smoke (decrease) and LPS-responsive but dexamethasone- unresponsive microRNA. Increased miR-9 levels in naïve A549 cells treated with LPS may be related to the activation of Toll-like 4 receptors. Moreover, differences in cell response (both miR-9 and proliferation) to dexamethasone in naïve and desialylated cells maypoint to non-genomic dexamethasone effects.

- 1. Brown RD, Linden MD, Mackowiak P, Kubus JJ, Zarbo RJ, Rabinovitch PS (1996) The effect of number of histogram events on reproducibility and variation of flow cytometric proliferation measurement. Am J Clin Pathol 105:696–704
- 2. Cohen A, Burgos-Aceves MA, Smith Y (2016) A potential role for estrogen in cigarette smoke-induced microRNA alterations and lung cancer. Transl Lung Cancer Res 5:322–330
- 3. Holownia A, Wielgat P, Kwolek A, Jackowski K, Braszko JJ (2015) Crosstalk between co-cultured A549 cells and THP1 cells exposed to cigarette smoke. Adv Exp Med Biol 858:47–55



# The efficacy of nusinersen treatment in spinal muscular atrophy: a systematic review

#### **Authors**

# Gintarė Butenytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medicine Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# **Agnius Vazgys**

Faculty of Medicine, Medicine Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Rasa Traberg

Department of Genetics and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno Klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) is an autosomal recessive neuromuscular disorder, with an incidence of approximately 1 in 10000 live births, caused by a deletion in exon 7-8 of SMN1 gene, located at chromosome 5q13. The absence of SMN protein leads to loss of motor neurons. SMA's presentation varies from early infantile death to weakness of the muscles progressing during adulthood. [1] A therapeutic agent nusinersen – an antisense oligonucleotide, targeting the SMN2 gene, is being used to increase the amount of functional SMN protein. [2] Based on numerous trials demonstrating the effectiveness of nusinersen in SMA – we performed a systematic review on the efficacy of treatment.

# Aim

To review the literature analyzing the efficacy of nusinersen in treating children and adults with SMA.

# Methods

This systematic review was conducted complying with PRISMA reporting standards. The PubMed database was used. Studies published from 2016-2021 were selected. We



identified 508 articles using specific key-words. We included retrospective and prospective studies that analyzed the clinical efficacy of nusinersen based on motor function (determined by particular assessment scales). We excluded ineligible trials, nonfull text articles, non-English articles, duplicates or articles focused on different topics, literature reviews and abstracts from conferences - 23 articles were included in this review.

# Results

In this study, we analyzed a total number of 977 children and adults with genetically confirmed SMA type 1-4. Interval of post-treatment follow-up – 6-36 months. We evaluated the improvement in motor function that was determined by positive slope changes in CHOP-INTEND, HMFSE, RULM, 6MWT, HINE-2 scales. Our systematic review showed a pattern of the level of improvement based on the diagnosed type of SMA. The strongest effect was exhibited in younger children, generally diagnosed with type-1. The impact was apparent on all of the performed age dependent motor function tests. Across SMA type 2-4 there were both children and adults being evaluated. [3,4] During the assessment, while the motor function scores vary, the use of nusinersen is still seen to have a positive response in both age groups. While in children improvements are undoubtful, in adults the results show the preservation of motor abilities and the advancement is minimal. [4]

# **Conclusions**

Nusinersen had a positive effect on the motor function of patients diagnosed with SMA across all types. The response to medication appears to be linked to the onset of the disease and treatment – best response exhibited in the youngest children, less apparent in adults.

- 1. Burr P, Reddivari AKR. Spinal Muscle Atrophy. 2021 Aug 11. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 Jan-. PMID: 32809522
- 2. Li Q. Nusinersen as a Therapeutic Agent for Spinal Muscular Atrophy. Yonsei Med J. 2020 Apr;61(4):273-283. doi: 10.3349/ymj.2020.61.4.273
- 3. Albrechtsen SS, Born AP, Boesen MS. Nusinersen treatment of spinal muscular atrophy a systematic review. Dan Med J. 2020 Aug 7;67(9):A02200100



- 4. Duong T, Wolford C, McDermott MP, Macpherson CE, Pasternak A, Glanzman AM, et al. Nusinersen Treatment in Adults With Spinal Muscular Atrophy. Neurol Clin Pract. 2021 Jun;11(3):e317-e327. doi: 10.1212/CPJ.000000000001033
- 5. Milella G, Introna A, D'Errico E, Fraddosio A, Scaglione G, Morea A, et al. Cerebrospinal Fluid and Clinical Profiles in Adult Type 2-3 Spinal Muscular Atrophy Patients Treated with Nusinersen: An 18-Month Single-Centre Experience. Clin Drug Investig. 2021 Sep;41(9):775-784. doi: 10.1007/s40261-021-01071-0
- 6. Pera MC, Coratti G, Bovis F, Pane M, Pasternak A, Montes J, et al. Nusinersen in pediatric and adult patients with type III spinal muscular atrophy. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2021 Aug;8(8):1622-1634. doi: 10.1002/acn3.51411
- 7. Modrzejewska S, Kotulska K, Kopyta I, Grędowska E, Emich-Widera E, Tomaszek K, et al. Nusinersen treatment of Spinal Muscular Atrophy Type 1 results of expanded access programme in Poland. Neurol Neurochir Pol. 2021;55(3):289-294. doi: 10.5603/PJNNS.a2021.0020
- 8. Pane M, Coratti G, Sansone VA, Messina S, Catteruccia M, Bruno C, et al. Type I SMA "new natural history": long-term data in nusinersen-treated patients. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2021 Mar;8(3):548-557. doi: 10.1002/acn3.51276
- 9. Faravelli I, Meneri M, Saccomanno D, Velardo D, Abati E, Gagliardi D, et al. Nusinersen treatment and cerebrospinal fluid neurofilaments: An explorative study on Spinal Muscular Atrophy type 3 patients. J Cell Mol Med. 2020 Mar;24(5):3034-3039. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.14939
- 10. Johannsen J, Weiss D, Daubmann A, Schmitz L, Denecke J. Evaluation of putative CSF biomarkers in paediatric spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) patients before and during treatment with nusinersen. J Cell Mol Med. 2021 Sep;25(17):8419-8431. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.16802
- 11. Osmanovic A, Ranxha G, Kumpe M, Müschen L, Binz C, Wiehler F, et al. Treatment expectations and patient-reported outcomes of nusinersen therapy in adult spinal muscular atrophy. J Neurol. 2020 Aug;267(8):2398-2407. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-09847-8
- 12. Chan SH, Chae JH, Chien YH, Ko TS, Lee JH, Lee YJ, et al. Nusinersen in spinal muscular atrophy type 1 from neonates to young adult: 1-year data from three Asia-Pacific regions. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2021 Nov;92(11):1244-1246. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-324532
- 13. Coratti G, Pane M, Lucibello S, Pera MC, Pasternak A, Montes J, et al. Age related treatment effect in type II Spinal Muscular Atrophy pediatric patients treated with nusinersen. Neuromuscul Disord. 2021 Jul;31(7):596-602. doi:



# 10.1016/j.nmd.2021.03.012

- 14. De Wel B, Goosens V, Sobota A, Van Camp E, Geukens E, Van Kerschaver G, et al. Nusinersen treatment significantly improves hand grip strength, hand motor function and MRC sum scores in adult patients with spinal muscular atrophy types 3 and 4. J Neurol. 2021 Mar;268(3):923-935. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-10223-9
- 15. Bianchi L, Sframeli M, Vantaggiato L, Vita GL, Ciranni A, Polito F, et al. Nusinersen Modulates Proteomics Profiles of Cerebrospinal Fluid in Spinal Muscular Atrophy Type 1 Patients. Int J Mol Sci. 2021 Apr 21;22(9):4329. doi: 10.3390/ijms22094329
- 16. Finkel RS, Chiriboga CA, Vajsar J, Day JW, Montes J, De Vivo DC, et al. Treatment of infantile-onset spinal muscular atrophy with nusinersen: a phase 2, openlabel, dose-escalation study. Lancet. 2016 Dec 17;388(10063):3017-3026. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31408-8
- 17. Finkel RS, Mercuri E, Darras BT, Connolly AM, Kuntz NL, Kirschner J, et al. Nusinersen versus Sham Control in Infantile-Onset Spinal Muscular Atrophy. N Engl J Med. 2017 Nov 2;377(18):1723-1732. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1702752
- 18. Pechmann A, Langer T, Schorling D, Stein S, Vogt S, Schara U, et al. Evaluation of Children with SMA Type 1 Under Treatment with Nusinersen within the Expanded Access Program in Germany. J Neuromuscul Dis. 2018;5(2):135-143. doi: 10.3233/JND-180315
- 19. Aragon-Gawinska K, Seferian AM, Daron A, Gargaun E, Vuillerot C, Cances C, et al. Nusinersen in patients older than 7 months with spinal muscular atrophy type 1: A cohort study. Neurology. 2018 Oct 2;91(14):e1312-e1318. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0000000000006281
- 20. Farrar MA, Teoh HL, Carey KA, Cairns A, Forbes R, Herbert K, et al. Nusinersen for SMA: expanded access programme. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2018 Sep;89(9):937-942. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2017-317412
- 21. Olsson B, Alberg L, Cullen NC, Michael E, Wahlgren L, Kroksmark AK, et al. NFL is a marker of treatment response in children with SMA treated with nusinersen. J Neurol. 2019 Sep;266(9):2129-2136. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09389-8
- 22. Pane M, Coratti G, Sansone VA, Messina S, Bruno C, Catteruccia M, Sframeli M, et al. Nusinersen in type 1 spinal muscular atrophy: Twelve-month real-world data. Ann Neurol. 2019 Sep;86(3):443-451. doi: 10.1002/ana.25533
- 23. LoMauro A, Mastella C, Alberti K, Masson R, Aliverti A, Baranello G. Effect of Nusinersen on Respiratory Muscle Function in Different Subtypes of Type 1



Spinal Muscular Atrophy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2019 Dec 15;200(12):1547-1550. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201906-1175LE

- 24. Mercuri E, Darras BT, Chiriboga CA, Day JW, Campbell C, Connolly AM, et al. Nusinersen versus Sham Control in Later-Onset Spinal Muscular Atrophy. N Engl J Med. 2018 Feb 15;378(7):625-635. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1710504
- 25. Darras BT, Chiriboga CA, Iannaccone ST, Swoboda KJ, Montes J, Mignon L, et al. Nusinersen in later-onset spinal muscular atrophy: Long-term results from the phase 1/2 studies. Neurology. 2019 May 21;92(21):e2492-e2506. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0000000000007527
- 26. Walter MC, Wenninger S, Thiele S, Stauber J, Hiebeler M, Greckl E, et al. Safety and Treatment Effects of Nusinersen in Longstanding Adult 5q-SMA Type 3 A Prospective Observational Study. J Neuromuscul Dis. 2019;6(4):453-465. doi: 10.3233/JND-190416

# Impact of experimental hyperglycemia on blood lactate changes in healthy anesthetized swine

# **Authors**

# Eglė Jonušaitė

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Veterinary Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences. Kaunas. Lithuania

# Vilma Zigmantaitė

Department of Animal Research Center, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Veterinary Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Audrius Kučinskas

Department of Animal Research Center, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Veterinary Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

In biomedical sciences, swine is widely used as an animal model in preclinical research or experimental surgery. [1] Blood lactate and glucose intraoperative values are used as a monitoring tool, prognostic indicator [2;3] and strongly correlate with morbidity and mortality. [3;4] High blood lactate levels can result from tissue hypoperfusion (type A



hyperlactatemia), but could also rise with normal tissue perfusion (type B hyperlactatemia). [5] In this situation, hyperlactatemia may be related to hyperglycemia. [6] General anesthesia is associated with hyperglycemia which alters the finely regulated balance between hepatic glucose production and utilization. [3] Leading to the imbalance between lactate production, breakdown, and clearance are reflected in circulating lactate concentration. [7]

#### Aim

The purpose of this study was to describe the relationship between experimental hyperglycemia and blood lactate changes in healthy pigs undergoing general anesthesia.

#### Methods

The approval (No. G2-171) for the research, conducted in January 2021, was permitted by the State Food and Veterinary Service of Lithuania. This was an experimental study involving 10 clinically healthy female Lithuanian White crossbred (Sus scrofa) pigs of average age 45 days and weight 35 kg. Pigs were premedicated, intubated, and underwent general anesthesia with adequate mechanical ventilation. To induce hyperglycemia (>126  $\rm mg/dL^{-1}$ ) [8] all swines received a continuous intravenous 20 % glucose solution (Glucose, Fresenius Kabi, Germany) administered 50 ml h. Blood lactate concentration range was set from 0.5 to 5.5 mmol L. [9] Venous blood samples were taken every hour throughout the experiment to analyze changes: T0 taken before glucose infusion, T1 after one hour, T2 after two hours, and finally at T3 after three hours of glucose infusion. T0 measurements of each pig were used to analyze the change of control and T1-3 as an experimental group. Data were presented to statistical analysis Pearson's r correlation test and t-test were performed to compare two different groups, the significant level was set at (p<0.05).

#### Results

Hyperglycemia was induced in 10 out of 10 pigs. A significant increase in glucose levels was found in 90% of the blood samples from the experimental group (p=0.00017). Glucose values increased between 123.5 and 341.1 mg dL<sup>-1</sup> with the start of glucose infusion compared to control measurements, which ranged between 57.51 and 113.69 mg dL<sup>-1</sup>. After induced hyperglycemia, the blood lactate concentration increased by 86.67 %. In T1T3 samples serum lactate levels increased by 0,37 - 1,75 mmol L compared to T0 values of 0,44 - 0,86 mmol L (p=0.0064). The study a showed strong correlation between glucose and lactate values (0,78  $\pm$  0,1) (p=0.0000001).



# **Conclusions**

This study demonstrates a direct relationship between experimental hyperglycemia and blood lactate changes. However, induced hyperglycemia increased blood lactate concentrations in pigs to within clinical limits.

- 1. Redant S, Hussein H, Mugisha A, Attou R, De Bels D, Honore PM, Hald LA, Sonne C, Alstrup AK. Blood lactate and glucose concentrations in the femoral artery and three different veins during anesthesia of healthy laboratory pigs. Scandinavian Journal of Laboratory Animal Science. 2021 Mar;47(1):110612-https://doi.org/10.23675/sjlas.v47i1.1061Klee P, Rimensberger PC, Karam O. Association between lactates, blood glucose, and systemic oxygen delivery in children after cardiopulmonary bypass. Front. Pediatr. 2020 Jun;8:332. DOI: 10.3389/fped.2020.00332
- 2. Duggan EW, Carlson K, Umpierrez GE. Perioperative Hyperglycemia Management: An Update Anesthesiology. 2017 Mar;126(3):547-560. DOI:10.1097/ALN.000000000001515
- 3. Naik R, George G, Karuppiah S, Philip MA. Hyperlactatemia in patients undergoing adult cardiac surgery under cardiopulmonary bypass: Causative factors and its effect on surgical outcome. Ann Card Anaesth. 2016 Dec;19(4):668-675. DOI: 10.4103/0971- 9784.191579
- 4. De Laet CC. Differentiating Hyperlactatemia Type A From Type B: How Does the Lactate/pyruvate Ratio Help? J Transl Int Med. 2019 Jul;7(2):43-45. DOI: 10.2478/jtim-2019-0010
- 5. Chioléro RL, Revelly JP, Leverve X, Gersbach P, Cayeux MC, Berger MM, Tappy L. Effects of cardiogenic shock on lactate and glucose metabolism after heart surgery. Crit Care Med. 2000 Dec;28(12):3784-3791. doi:10.1097/00003246-20001200000002.
- 6. Claus P, Gimenes AM, Castro JR et al. Blood lactate concentration in diabetic dogs. Can Vet J. 2017 Aug;58(8):817-822.
- 7. Dwight A. Bellinger, Elizabeth P. Merricks, Timothy C. Nichols, Swine Models of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Insulin Resistance, Glucose Tolerance, and Cardiovascular
- 8. Complications. ILAR J. 2006;47(3):243-258. https://doi.org/10.1093/ilar.47.3.243
- 9. Hofmaier F, Dinger K, Braun R, Sterner-Kock A. Range of blood lactate values in farm pigs prior to experimental surgery. Laboratory Animals. 2013;47(2):130-132.
- 10. DOI:10.1177/0023677213476857

# Cardiology



## The heart failure patients' functional condition impact on the changes in cardiac biomarkers

#### **Authors**

#### Simona Dužinaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Olesia Ivanova

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Jolanta Laukaitienė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno Klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

In patients with heart failure (HF), long-term follow-up strategies after inpatient treatment could improve quality of life, laboratory findings, while reducing the frequency of visits to the emergency department and the requirement for rehospitalization [1]. One of the main management strategies is the HF program. This management program includes different types of tests, emphasizes the importance of self-care, which is measured by the European heart failure self-care behavior scale [2]. Moreover, educating about HF has an impact on functional condition based off of the self-care on cardiac severity degree and the results of the NT-proBNP [3].

#### Aim

The aim is to investigate the self-care behavior scale and NT-proBNP results before and after 4 visits of the HF program and the correlation between the scale and NT-proBNP.

#### Methods

The study was approved by the Bioethics center of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (Nr. BEC-MF-184). It included 99 patients with HF who had completed all 4



visits of the HF program. The data was retrospectively enrolled into the study from the first and last visits. Patients were divided into two groups ( $\geq$ 60 years and <60 years). The results of the self- care behavior scale and their changes during the first and fourth visits were evaluated. Cardiac dysfunction was also analyzed according to NT-proBNP at the first and fourth visits. Additionally, the correlation between the questionnaire results and NT-proBNP was evaluated. The statistical analysis was performed with a statistical tool (SPSS version 28.0.1) and the result was stated as statistically significant at p<0.05.

#### Results

There were 99 participants overall, 56.6% (n=56)  $\geq 60$  year patients and 43.4% (n=43) < 60 year patients. First visit self-care behavior scale median score in the < 60 years age group was 30 (12-27 points - good, 28-43 points - sufficient, 44-60 points - bad self-care), it decreased significantly to 22 on the fourth visit (p<0.05). First visit self-care behavior scale median score in the  $\geq 60$  years age group was 29, it decreased significantly to 24 on the fourth visit (p<0.05). First visit NT-proBNP median score in the < 60 years age group was 921.5pg/mL (norm < 125pg/mL), it decreased significantly to 614.5pg/mL on the fourth visit (p<0.05). First visit NT-proBNP median score in the  $\geq 60$  years age group was 1961pg/mL, it decreased significantly to 1526pg/mL on the fourth visit (p<0.05). Additionally, a weak correlation was found between self-care behavior scale and NT-proBNP result changes during 4 visits of the HF program in patients older than 60 years (r=0.29, p<0.05).

#### **Conclusions**

The relationship between the self-care questionnaire and NT-proBNP results at the first and last visits was found to be statistically significant in both age groups. Additionally, self-care behavior scale result changes weakly correlate with NT-proBNP changes in patients older than 60 years.

- 1. McDonagh TA, Metra M, Adamo M, Gardner RS, Baumbach A, Böhm M et al; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2021 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J. 2021 Sep 21;42(36):3599-3726. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab368. Erratum in: Eur Heart J. 2021 Oct 14;: PMID: 34447992.
- 2. Sedlar N, Lainscak M, Farkas J. Self-care perception and behaviour in patients



- with heart failure: A qualitative and quantitative study. ESC Heart Fail. 2021 Jun;8(3):2079-2088. doi: 10.1002/ehf2.13287. Epub 2021 Mar 15. PMID: 33719209; PMCID: PMC8120357.
- 3. Cao Z, Jia Y, Zhu B. BNP and NT-proBNP as Diagnostic Biomarkers for Cardiac Dysfunction in Both Clinical and Forensic Medicine. Int J Mol Sci. 2019 Apr 12;20(8):1820. doi: 10.3390/ijms20081820. PMID: 31013779; PMCID: PMC6515513.

## Analysis of patients diagnosed with Covid 19 virus after cardiac surgery in HLUHS

#### **Authors**

#### Karolina Kemešytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Monika Kazlauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vilius Venckus

Department of Cardiac, Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Loreta Jankauskienė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

The severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) had been declared a worldwide pandemic by the World Health Organization and had caused a large worldwide impact on health system work.(1-2) All patients before elective surgeries were tested by mandatory order and even though these precautions were strictly followed, it was impossible to prevent Covid 19 infection between patients after surgery.



#### Aim

The purpose of this study is to compare non infected patients preoperative, intraoperative and postoperative data with those who got infected with Covid 19 after cardiac surgery in HLUHS.

#### Methods

Retrospective study was performed by observing the patient's case history data: 95 men underwent cardiac surgery during the emergency quarantine period from 2020-11-06 to 2021-02-25 and 14 of them became infected with Covid 19. Inclusion criteria were male gender, because there were no females infected with Covid-19 during our chosen period of time. The analysis included general characteristics, preoperative, intraoperative and postoperative data, Covid-19 infection clinical symptoms and treatment. Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS 20.0 software. The value of p<0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

#### Results

14 (14.7%) of 95 patients were diagnosed with the Covid 19 virus after surgery, the average time of diagnosis of the Covid- 19 virus was 13 days after surgery. Covid 19 infected patients mean age was  $67 \pm 7.7$  years. Preoperative and intraoperative data did not differ between Covid 19 infected and non-infected patients (p>0.05). Statistically significant differences between groups were found in the frequency of wound infection (3 (21.4%) vs 12 (14.8%), p=0.013), longer duration of hospitalization after surgery ( $26.4 \pm 20.4$ days vs  $15.3 \pm 8.9$  days, p=0.008) and requirement of resternotomy due to bleeding (2 (14.3%) vs 0(0%), p=0.018). Infected patients had ordinary Covid 19 infection symptoms: 9 (64.2%) patients had temperature >37.5°C, 3 (21.4%) - dry cough, 6(42.8%) patients required for extra oxygen. 3 (21.4%) patients were readmitted to ICU because of Covid 19 disease, 2(14.3%) of them were reintubated. Infected patients laboratory tests showed higher ferritin, LDH, white blood cells and CRB levels compared with non-Covid patients. 9 (64.2%) infected patients were treated with antibiotics, 6 (42.8%) - with dexamethas one or remdesivir. Donor plasma with antibodies was used for 1(7.1%) patient's treatment, who had a severe form of Covid-19 infection with pneumonia and acute respiratory failure as complications, but 67 days after surgery he died because of sepsis.

#### **Conclusions**

Preoperative and intraoperative data did not differ between Covid 19 infected and non-



infected patients, it can be concluded that patients became infected with Covid 19 regardless of their health condition and comorbidities. Infected patients had mostly mild or moderate course of the disease. Covid 19 infected group was associated with higher rate of postoperative complications.

#### References

- 1. Bonalumi G, Di Mauro M, Garatti A, Barili F, Gerosa G, Parolari A. The COVID-19 outbreak and its impact on hospitals in Italy: The model of cardiac surgery. Eur J Cardio-thoracic Surg. 2020;57(6):1025–8
- 2. Sharma, Atul et al. "Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2): a global pandemic and treatment strategies." International journal of antimicrobial agents vol. 56,2 (2020): 106054
- 3. Keizman E, Ram E, Kachel E, Sternik L, Raanani E. The impact of COVID-19 pandemic on cardiac surgery in Israel. J Cardiothorac Surg. 2020;15(1):1–6.
- 4. Sanders J, Akowuah E, Cooper J, Kirmani BH, Kanani M, Acharya M, et al. Cardiac surgery outcome during the COVID-19 pandemic: a retrospective review of the early experience in nine UK centres. J Cardiothorac Surg. 2021;16(1):1–10.

## Assessment of the inhibitors of connexins-43 using Quantitative structure-activity relationship (QSAR) model

#### **Authors**

#### Ramona Matusevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences

#### Eglė Ignatavičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences

#### Vytautas Raškevičius

Institute of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vytenis Arvydas Skeberdis



Institute of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Gap junctions (GJs) are transmembrane channels which enable electrical wave spread and are crucial for electrical interaction between cardiac myocytes as well as synchronized contraction in the heart [1]. GJs consist of connexin family proteins, connexin-43 (Cx43) is the most prevalent isoform expressed in human heart tissue [2]. The quantitative structure- activity relationship (QSAR) is one of the most widely used computational modeling method to detect connections between structural characteristics of chemical compounds and biological activities [3]. Activation or inhibition of Cx43 could be useful for the future treatment of cardiac arrhythmias and dysfunction [2].

#### Aim

The aim is to find a method to assess the activity of the connexins-43 inhibitors using the QSAR model.

#### Methods

We researched data bases for the studies about the inhibitory concentrations of various substances on GJs made of Cx43. We managed to find 13 different substances and their half maximal inhibitory concentrations (IC $_{50}$ ) [4-7]. We used the Avogadro molecular editor program to construct 3D structures with molecular mechanics and PaDEL Descriptor program [8] to receive information about chemical and physical properties of those 13 substances. The information we calculated was mathematical representations of molecules' properties that are generated by algorithms. Those representations are numerical values and are called molecular descriptors. Then we used the QSAR model and managed to find correlation between those 13 molecules and their IC $_{50}$  using Excel data analysis. The total of 1443 descriptors were obtained and 2 of them were chosen as they strongly correlated with the IC $_{50}$  of the molecules we studied. We used multiple regression statistics in Microsoft Excel and calculated R² values.



#### Results

Descriptor-1 (nHBDon\_Lipinski) value is counted as the number of nitrogen-hydrogen and oxygen-hydrogen bonds, descriptor-2 (nHeavyAtom) value is the count of all the atoms in the substance that are not hydrogen. The experimental IC50 was used from previous studies [4-7] and converted into Log(IC50). The predicted Log(IC50) was calculated using multiple linear regression equation: (x1 x descriptor-1 value) + (x2 x descriptor-2 value) + b, where x1=-0,425, x2=-0,027, b=3,715 (x1, x2 and b values counted from regression analysis). Linear regression between experimental and predicted Log(IC50) was calculated (R2=0,809). The study data represents that the substance which had the highest hydrogen bonds count (nHBDon\_Lipinski) and heavy atoms count (nHeavyAtom) inhibited Cx43 with the lowest IC50 value (phorbol-12,13-dibutyrate) and vice versa.

#### **Conclusions**

 $IC_{50}$  of Cx43 inhibitors can be assessed by counting the number of nitrogen-hydrogen, oxygen-hydrogen bonds, heavy atoms and entering values into our predicted equation.

- Del Ry S, Moscato S, Bianchi F, Morales MA, Dolfi A, Burchielli S, et al. Altered expression of connexin 43 and related molecular partners in a pig model of left ventricular dysfunction with and without dipyridamole therapy. Pharmacol Res [Internet]. 2015;95–96:92–101. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1043661815000547.
- Lucero, C.M., Andrade, D.C., Toledo, C. et al. Cardiac remodeling and arrhythmogenesis are ameliorated by administration of Cx43 mimetic peptide Gap27 in heart failure rats. Sci Rep 10, 6878 (2020). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-63336-6">https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-63336-6</a>.
- 3. Kwon, S., Bae, H., Jo, J. et al. Comprehensive ensemble in QSAR prediction for drug discovery.BMC Bioinformatics 20, 521 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-019-3135-4.
- 4. Burnham MP, Sharpe PM, Garner C, Hughes R, Pollard CE, Bowes J. Investigation of connexin 43 uncoupling and prolongation of the cardiac QRS complex in preclinical and marketed drugs. Br J Pharmacol. 2014 Nov;171(21):4808-19. doi: 10.1111/bph.12554. Epub 2014 Aug 13. PMID: 24328991; PMCID: PMC4294106.



- 5. Picoli C, Nouvel V, Aubry F, et al. Human Connexin Channel Specificity of Classical and New Gap Junction Inhibitors. Journal of Biomolecular Screening. 2012;17(10):1339-1347. doi:10.1177/1087057112452594.
- 6. Choi EJ, Yeo JH, Yoon SM, Lee J. Gambogic Acid and Its Analogs Inhibit Gap Junctional Intercellular Communication. Front Pharmacol. 2018;9:814. Published 2018 Jul 30. doi:10.3389/fphar.2018.00814.
- 7. Salameh A, Dhein S. Pharmacology of gap junctions. New pharmacological targets for treatment of arrhythmia, seizure and cancer?. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2005;1719(1-2):36-58. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2005.09.007.
- 8. Yap, C.W. (2011), PaDEL-descriptor: An open source software to calculate molecular descriptors and fingerprints. J. Comput. Chem., 32: 1466-1474. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcc.21707

### Evaluation of cardiac conduction abnormalities and arrhythmia in patients with pulmonary hypertension

#### **Authors**

#### Eglė Labanauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Jūratė Kazlauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vilius Kviesulaitis

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Eglė Ereminienė

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania



#### Introduction

Pulmonary hypertension (PH) is a potentially devastating clinical condition [1] associated with remodeling and impairment of cardiac electric structures [2]. Conduction disorders and arrhythmia are common complications of the disease marking the deterioration of the condition and requiring intense managing [3].

#### Aim

To evaluate the prevalence of conduction disorders and arrhythmia in pulmonary hypertension patients treated in the LUHS Kaunas Clinics during 1 year.

#### Methods

Research was approved by the Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (LUHS) Bioethics center. Retrospective study included patients treated in the LUHS Kaunas Clinics in 2020-2021. Inclusion criteria were age  $\geq 18$  years, diagnosis of PH, performed echocardiography. Case histories were studied. Data was collected on prevalence of conduction disorders and arrhythmia, echocardiographic measurements and biometrics. Patients were divided into groups according to the etiology and mechanism of PH. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 22.6 software. P value < 0.05 was considered significant.

#### Results

Total of 81 patients were included, 61 (75.3%) female and 20 (24.7%) men. There was no statistically significant distribution of arrhythmias and conduction abnormalities between the genders. Mean age was 64.14 ± 15.209 years. Most cases were idiopatic – 37 (45.7%), 25 (30.9%) were caused by pulmonary embolism, 8 (9.8%) by systemic scleroderma, 7 (8.6%) by Eisenmenger syndrome, 2 (2.5%) had atrial septal defect and 2 (2.5%) portopulmonary hypertension. The most common (28.4%) arrhythmia was atrial fibrillation (AF). It depended on mechanism of PH: 65.2% were in precapillary group, 37.9% were in postcapillary group (p=0.026). Left atrium (LA) diameter (49.5 vs 38.8, p<0.001) and left ventricle (LV) end – diastolic volume index (26.3 vs 23.8, p=0.018) was higher in patients with AF, other measurements did not correlate significantly. The most common conduction disorder was right bundle branch block (RBBB) (42%). It did not correlate with the mechanism of PH (p>0.05). It occurred in patients with a significantly enlarged right ventricles (RV) (49.0 vs 45.1, p=0.034). Other arrhythmias were less prominent: 16 patients had ventricular and 10 patients had atrial extrasystols, 4 patients had atrial flutter although these did not correlate with the etiology or severity of the disease.



#### **Conclusions**

The most common arrhythmia in the study population was AF. RBBB was the most common conduction disorder. Both conditions were associated with a significant cardiac remodeling in advanced stages of PH.

- 1. Reddy SA, Nethercott SL, Khialani BV, Grace AA, Martin CA Management of arrhythmias in pulmonary hypertension. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2021; 62:219–229.
- 2. Medi C, Kalman JM, Ling L-H, Teh AW, Lee G, Lee G, Spence SJ, Kaye DM and Kistler PM Atrial electrical and structural remodeling associated with longstanding pulmonary hypertension and right ventricular hypertrophy in humans. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2012; Vol. 23, pp. 614-620.
- 3. Middleton JT, Maulik A, Lewis R, Kiely DG, Toshner M, Charalampopoulos A, Kyriacou A and Rothman A Arrhythmic Burden and Outcomes in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. Front.Med. 2019; 6:169.

# **Internal Medicine**



### Long Covid-19 Syndrome: a systematic literature review

#### **Authors**

#### Erika Fabijonavičė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Gabrielė Bartkutė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Kristina Ziutelienė

Department of Family Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Since scientists detected SARS- CoV-2 (CoV-2) in December 2019 in Wuhan, China, it has caused a worldwide pandemic with high hospitalization and mortality rates [1]. There are 351 million confirmed cases of CoV-2, and The World Health Organization stated that patients feel the impact of acute CoV-2 infection days or months after being considered covid-free [2,3]. Sources have indicated long-term symptoms after recovery that are now known as Long Covid Syndrome (LCS).

#### Aim

To review the most common symptoms, risk factors, and diagnostic challenges of LCS.

#### Methods

A systematic review using Cochrane methodology and PRISMA guidelines was conducted. The literature was searched in English and indexed in MEDLINE, ScienceDirect, and ClinicalKey databases. The search terms included terms related to Long Covid syndrome. Eligibility criteria: COVID-19 survivors experiencing symptoms for >4 weeks after recovery, age 18-65 y/o, study designs: observational/cohort studies, cross-sectional and case-control studies. The risk of bias was assessed with the RoBANS tool.



#### Results

The research strategy identified 5976 results. After excluding duplicates (n=212), studies that did not meet inclusion criteria, and the research objectives (n=5680), only 49 were included for evaluation. After a thorough assessment, 15 publications were included [4–18]. The main symptoms were chronic fatigue (up to 68.0%), shortness of breath (up to 59.5%), dry cough, chest, and musculoskeletal pain. Most patients reported neurological symptoms which included headaches (up to 68.0%), anosmia, partial olfactory dysfunction, and vertigo. LCS usually manifests in psychiatric disorders, such as depression, anxiety, insomnia, and mood changes. Few studies determined possible risk factors, however, COVID-19 related such as hospitalization in ICU, intubation, and preexisting pathologies -smoking, obesity, diabetes and hypertension are some of the few confirmed.

The challenge of LCS lies in how to diagnose these patients. Studies suggest approaching diagnosis by ruling out processes unrelated to CoV-2 infection and pre-existing pathologies. Follow-ups with complimentary testing may be scheduled, so a physician could identify whether it is persisting LCS or not [19]. Studies suggest possible non-LCS-related issues should be investigated and referred to as per local guidelines. Face-to-face assessment including anamnesis, examination, and tests such as full blood count, renal markers, C-reactive protein, liver markers, thyroid function, hemoglobin A1c, vitamin D, magnesium, B12, folate, ferritin, and bone studies should be included [20]. No unified worldwide guidelines have been obtained so far.

#### **Conclusions**

Studies have shown the most common LCS symptoms were chronic fatigue, dyspnoea, pain, and neuropsychological revelations. Risk factors may include smoking, obesity, hospitalization in ICU, intubation, and comorbidities. Currently, there are no guidelines or diagnostic protocols to differentiate LCS from other pathologies.

- 1. C Chippa V, Aleem A, Anjum F. (2021) Post-Acute Coronavirus (COVID-19) Syndrome. StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK570608/
- 2. Rajan S, Khunti K, Alwan N, Steves C, Greenhalgh T, Macdermott N, et al. In the wake of the pandemic Preparing for Long COVID HEALTH SYSTEMS AND POLICY ANALYSIS 2021.
- 3. Al-Jahdhami I, Al-Naamani K, Al-Mawali A. The Post-acute COVID-19 Syndrome



- (Long COVID). Oman Medical Journal 2021;36:e220. https://doi.org/10.5001/OMJ.2021.91.
- 4. Moreno-Pérez O, Merino E, Leon-Ramirez J-M, Andres M, Ramos JM, Arenas-Jiménez J, et al. Post-acute COVID-19 syndrome. Incidence and risk factors: A Mediterranean cohort study. The Journal of Infection 2021;82:378. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JINF.2021.01.004.
- 5. Huang C, Huang L, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Gu X, Kang L, Guo L, Liu M, Zhou X, Luo J, Huang Z, Tu S, Zhao Y, Chen L, Xu D, Li Y, Li C, Peng L, Li Y, Xie W, Cui D, Shang L, Fan G, Xu J, Wang G, Wang Y, Zhong J, Wang C, Wang J, Zhang D, Cao B. (2021) 6- month consequences of COVID-19 in patients discharged from hospital: a cohort study. Lancet. 6;397(10270):220-232. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32656-8. Epub 2021 Jan 8. PMID: 33428867; PMCID: PMC7833295.
- 6. Kashif A, Chaudhry M, Fayyaz T, Abdullah M, Malik A, Anwer JMA, et al. Follow-up of COVID-19 recovered patients with mild disease. Scientific Reports 2021;11:13414. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-92717-8.
- 7. Menges D, Ballouz T, Anagnostopoulos A, Aschmann HE, Domenghino A, Fehr JS, et al. Burden of post-COVID-19 syndrome and implications for healthcare service planning: A population-based cohort study. PLOS ONE 2021;16:e0254523. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0254523.
- 8. Sykes DL, Holdsworth L, Jawad N, Gunasekera P, Morice AH, Crooks MG. Post-COVID-19 Symptom Burden: What is Long-COVID and How Should We Manage It? Lung 2021;199:1. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00408-021-00423-Z.
- 9. Gaber TA-ZK, Ashish A, Unsworth A. Persistent post-covid symptoms in healthcare workers. Occupational Medicine (Oxford, England) 2021;71:144–6.https://doi.org/10.1093/OCCMED/KQAB043.
- Bell ML, Catalfamo CJ, Farland L v., Ernst KC, Jacobs ET, Klimentidis YC, et al. Post-acute sequelae of COVID-19 in a non-hospitalized cohort: Results from the Arizona CoVHORT. PLOS ONE 2021;16:e0254347. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0254347.
- 11. Osikomaiya B, Erinoso O, Wright KO, Odusola AO, Thomas B, Adeyemi O, et al. 'Long COVID': persistent COVID-19 symptoms in survivors managed in Lagos State, Nigeria. BMC Infectious Diseases 2021;21. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12879-020-05716-X.
- 12. Xiong Q, Xu M, Li J, Liu Y, Zhang J, Xu Y, Dong W. (2020) Clinical sequelae of COVID-19 survivors in Wuhan, China: a single-centre longitudinal study. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2021 Jan;27(1):89-95. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2020.09.023. Epub Sep 23. PMID: 32979574; PMCID: PMC7510771



- 13. Carfi A, Bernabei R, Landi F, Group for the GAC-19 P-ACS. Persistent Symptoms in Patients After Acute COVID-19. JAMA 2020;324:603–5. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.2020.12603.
- 14. Townsend L, Dyer AH, Jones K, Dunne J, Mooney A, Gaffney F, O'Connor L, Leavy D, O'Brien K, Dowds J, Sugrue JA, Hopkins D, Martin-Loeches I, Ni Cheallaigh C, Nadarajan P, McLaughlin AM, Bourke NM, Bergin C, O'Farrelly C, Bannan C, Conlon N. (2020) Persistent fatigue following SARS-CoV-2 infection is common and independent of severity of initial infection. PLoS One. 2020 Nov 9;15(11):e0240784. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0240784. PMID: 33166287; PMCID: PMC7652254.
- 15. Carvalho-Schneider C, Laurent E, Lemaignen A, Beaufils E, Bourbao-Tournois C, Laribi S, Flament T, Ferreira-Maldent N, Bruyère F, Stefic K, Gaudy-Graffin C, Grammatico-Guillon L, Bernard L. Follow-up of adults with noncritical COVID-19 two months after symptom onset. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2021 Feb;27(2):258-263. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2020.09.052https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33031948/
- 16. Graham EL, Clark JR, Orban ZS, Lim PH, Szymanski AL, Taylor C, et al. Persistent neurologic symptoms and cognitive dysfunction in non-hospitalized Covid- 19 "long haulers." Annals of Clinical and Translational Neurology 2021;8:1073–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/ACN3.51350.
- 17. Dennis A, Wamil M, Alberts J, Oben J, Cuthbertson DJ, Wootton D, et al. Multiorgan impairment in low-risk individuals with post-COVID-19 syndrome: A prospective, community-based study. BMJ Open 2021;11. https://doi.org/10.1136/BMJOPEN-2020-048391. González-Hermosillo JA, Martínez-López JP, Carrillo-Lampón SA, Ruiz-Ojeda D, Herrera-Ramírez S, Amezcua-Guerra LM, et al. Post-Acute COVID-19 Symptoms, a Potential Link with Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome: A 6-Month Survey in a Mexican Cohort. Brain Sciences 2021, Vol 11, Page 760 2021;11:760. https://doi.org/10.3390/BRAINSCI11060760.
- 18. Davis HE, Assaf GS, McCorkell L, Wei H, Low RJ, Re'em Y, et al. Characterizing long COVID in an international cohort: 7 months of symptoms and their impact. EClinicalMedicine 2021;38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101019.
- 19. Nurek M, Rayner C, Freyer A, Taylor S, Jarte L, MacDermott N, et al. Recommendations for the recognition, diagnosis, and management of long COVID: a Delphi study. British Journal of General Practice 2021;71:e815–25. https://doi.org/10.3399/BJGP.2021.0265.



## Associations between dyspepsia and obesity in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease patients

#### **Authors**

#### Monika Šataitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University Of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Sigita Gelman

Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

The presence of obesity has been associated with upper gastrointestinal disorders, such as gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), functional dyspepsia (FD) and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). NAFLD may be linked to GERD, as both diseases are frequently associated with metabolic syndrome and evidently obesity evaluated by the BMI is closely related to the severity of GERD in NAFLD patients. Clinical features of NAFLD along with obesity include intensity of disease course with a predominance of dyspeptic syndrome, therefore, it is essential to determine the link between obesity and dyspepsia in NAFLD patients

#### Aim

The aim of this study was to determine the association between dyspepsia and obesity in patients with NAFLD.

#### Methods

We performed a retrospective study including 186 patients diagnosed with NAFLD at the LUHS KC Department of Gastroenterology in 2020. Inclusion criteria were diagnosis of NAFLD and measured body mass index (BMI). The cause of dyspepsia was confirmed by upper digestive endoscopic and histological findings. Diagnosis of HP infection was based on the results of serum anti-HP IgG antibody test and histology. Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS 28.0 Statistics software. Pearson's Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used to analyze data between



groups. Data differences were considered statistically significant at p<0.05.

#### Results

Out of 186 patients with NAFLD 77 (41,4%) were men and 109 (58,6%) were women. Mean age of the participants was 52,7 years (SD 13,1). We divided our population according to BMI: 1 patient was underweight (0,5%), 16 had normal weight (8,6%), 43 were overweight (23,1%), 66 had class I obesity (36%), 38 had class II obesity (20,4%), 22 had class III obesity (11,8%). In total, 168 patients with NAFLD had hypersthenic body type (90,3%) and the average BMI was  $32.6 \pm 6.2$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>. 88 patients experienced dyspepsia (47,3%), which was caused by GERD in 52 (28,0%) patients, gastritis - 49 (26,3%), FD - 9 (4,8%), peptic ulcers - 2 (1,1%) and gastric carcinoma - 1 (0,5%); 45 patients (24,2%) had Helicobacter pylori infection. The prevalence of dyspepsia in NAFLD patients with hypersthenic body type was statistically significant - more patients with dyspepsia had higher BMI (p=0,025). BMI differed significantly among patients with dyspepsia (p=0.005), higher rates of patients with dyspepsia were among those, who were overweight and among those with class II-III obesity, additionally, more people without dyspepsia had normal weight. Among BMI classes and the cause of dyspepsia, only the prevalence of GERD varied significantly between BMI groups although more patients without GERD were either overweight or obese, but none of the patients with GERD had normal weight (p=0,004).

#### **Conclusions**

Almost 70% of patients with NAFLD are obese and nearly half of them suffer from dyspepsia. Hypersthenic body type and higher BMI is associated with dyspepsia in NAFLD patients. Higher BMI is also associated with GERD in NAFLD patients.

- 1. Emerenziani S, Pier Luca Guarino M, Trillo Asensio LM, Altomare A, Ribolsi M, Balestrieri P, Cicala M. Role of Overweight and Obesity in Gastrointestinal Disease. Nutrients. 2020; 12(1):111. doi:10.3390/nu12010111
- 2. Wijarnpreecha K, Panjawatanan P, Thongprayoon C, Jaruvongvanich V, Ungprasert P. Association between gastroesophageal reflux disease and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: A meta-analysis. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2017;23:311-7. doi:10.4103/sjg.SJG\_161\_17;
- 3. Tomeno W, Imajo K, Takayanagi T, Ebisawa Y, Seita K, Takimoto T, Honda K, Kobayashi T, Nogami A, Kato T, Honda Y, Kessoku T, Ogawa Y, Kirikoshi H,



Sakamoto Y, Yoneda M, Saito S, Nakajima A. Complications of Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Extrahepatic Organs. Diagnostics (Basel). 2020 Nov 7;10(11):912. doi: 10.3390/diagnostics10110912.

- 4. Fujiwara M, Eguchi Y, Fukumori N, Eguchi H, Tomonaga M, Yoshioka T, Hyakutake M, Sakanishi Y, Kyoraku I, Sugioka T, Fujimoto K, Kusano M, Yamashita S. The Symptoms of Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease Correlate with High Body Mass Index, the Aspartate Aminotransferase/Alanine Aminotransferase Ratio and Insulin Resistance in Japanese Patients with Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Internal Medicine. 2015;54(24):3099-3104. doi:10.2169/internalmedicine.54.4297
- 5. Filippova, A. Non-alcoholic and alcoholic fatty liver disease in patients suffering from biliary tract pathology and obesity: clinical and functional aspects. Modern Science. 2015;4: 134-149.

### Correlation between Health and Demographic Peculiarities of Patients Suffering from Chronic Rheumatic Diseases and Attitude towards Remote Consulting by Rheumatologists

#### **Authors**

#### **Dominykas Antinis**

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Jurgita Sabaliauskienė

Department of Rheumatology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Chronic rheumatic diseases require constant and continuous observation and treatment of patients [1]. Following the COVID-19 pandemic reducing the accessibility to health services, a need for remotely provided services has emerged [2;3]. Since the success of telemedicine is considered to be best assessed through the indicator of patient satisfaction with remote consultations [4], it is essential to identify



the key health and demographic factors that are related to positive and negative attitudes towards such consultations of patients [5].

#### Aim

To investigate correlations between health and demographic characteristics of patients suffering from chronic rheumatic diseases, and positive and negative attitudes towards remote consulting by a rheumatologist.

#### Methods

The sample of the study consists of 207 patients suffering from various chronic rheumatic diseases, mostly spondyloarthritis (n=83) and diseases of connecting tissue (n=53): 177 (85.5 %) women and 30 (14.5 %) men,  $M_{\rm age}$ = 39.4,SD=11.76. An original questionnaire was designed for the study to assess the attitude towards remote consulting by rheumatologists. Descriptive statistics was used in the study and Mann-Whitney and Kruskall-Wallis tests were applied.

#### Results

The study has shown that men select remote consulting more often than women (p $\leq$ 0,05). Patients experience greatest satisfaction when they describe their symptoms of the illness as weak, while least satisfaction is experienced when symptoms are of average severity ( $\chi^2$ =8,36, p=0,016). Analogous negative attitudes towards remote consulting were obtained: the greatest dissatisfaction is among patients experiencing average severity and least dissatisfaction is identified among patients experiencing weak symptoms ( $\chi^2$ =11,31, p=0,003). Patients suffering from diseases of connecting tissue experience greatest negative attitude and fears about remote consulting while patients with spondyloarthritis experience the smallest negative attitude ( $\chi^2$ =9,69, p=0,021). Demographic indicators show that subjects with higher non-university education experience the greatest distrust and fears about remote consulting, while subjects with a university degree experience the lowest degree of fears ( $\chi^2$ =13,60, p=0,003). The greatest fears of doctors not understanding the patient's complaints were observed in the age group of 37–40, while in the age group of 18-25 the said fears were the smallest (p=0,016,  $\chi^2$ =15,7).

#### **Conclusions**

It has been found that the attitude of patients with rheumatic diseases towards



remote consulting is statistically significantly related with the peculiarities of the disease, e.g., strength of the symptoms, character of the disease, etc. and various demographic characteristics of patients, such as age, education, etc.

#### References

- 1. Kernder A, Morf H, Klemm P, Vossen D, Haase I, Mucke J, et al. Digital rheumatology in the era of COVID-19: results of a national patient and physician survey. RMD Open. 2021 Feb 7(1): e001548.
- 2. Opinc A, Łukasik Z, Makowska J. The attitude of Polish rheumatology patients towards telemedicine in the age of the COVID-19 pandemic. Rheumatologia 2020 Jun 29; 58, 3: 134–141.
- 3. Song Y, Bernard L, Jorgensen C, Dusfour G, Pers YM. The Challenges of Telemedicine in Rheumatology. Front Med (Lausanne). 2021 Oct 13;8: 746219.
- 4. Granja C, Janssen W, Johansen MA. Factors Determining the Success and Failure of eHealth Interventions: Systematic Review of the Literature. J Med Internet Res. 2018 May 1; 20(5):e10235.
- 5. Phenicie R, Acosta Wright R, Holzberg J. Patient Satisfaction with Telehealth During COVID-19: Experience in a Rural County on the United States-Mexico Border. Telemed J E Health. 2021 Aug;27(8): 859-865.

## Changes in the mortality from peptic ulcer disease in Lithuania during 1985-2018

#### **Authors**

#### Vita Karpavičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Gediminas Kiudelis

Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania



#### Introduction

Peptic ulcer disease (PUD) is associated with two main factors: *Helicobacter pylori* infection and the use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (1). The main complications of PUD are perforation, gastric obstruction, penetration and bleeding, which in some cases can be fatal (1, 2). The risk of complications in patients with chronic PUD has decreased rapidly over the last two decades in the Western world due to the eradication of *H. pylori* and the widespread use of drugs that reducegastric acid secretion (3). New and accurate information on the prevalence of *H. pylori* in Central and Eastern Europe is scarce, however a study conducted in Lithuania showed that the seroprevalence of *H. pylori* in students has decreased significantly over the last 25 years (4). Nevertheless, mortality trends over a long period of time in Lithuania have not yet been analyzed and compared with mortality trends in European Union (EU) Member States.

#### Aim

The aim of this study was to examine trends in mortality from PUD over the period 1985-2018 and to compare Lithuanian data with mortality trends in the EU.

#### Methods

A secondary data analysis was performed. Age-standardized data on mortality from gastric and duodenal ulcers per 100 000 population in Lithuania and EU countries over the period 1985-2018 were obtained from the World Health Organization (WHO) (5). Joinpoint regression was used to calculate the average annual percentage change (AAPC) and to identify changes in mortality trends in Lithuania and EU Member States, males and females (6).

#### Results

In 2018, mortality rates for PUD in Lithuania were significantly higher than the EU average mortality rate, with a ratio of 4.1:1. In 1992, the age-standardized mortality rate in Lithuania exceeded the European mortality rate and has been higher than the EU average ever since throughout the study period. The mortality rate in Lithuania increased over the study period from 3.67 in 1985 to 6.5/100~000 in 2018, while in the EU Member States it decreased from 4.42 to 1.58/100~000. During 1985-2018, mortality rates in Lithuania increased by an average of 2.1% per year (p<0.001), while in the EU rates decreased by 3.1% per year (p<0.001). Over the entire study period, the mortality rate of men from PUD was higher than women both in Lithuania and



Europe (female to male ratio 1:2). However, in Europe there is a trend towards a decreasing gender gap, while in Lithuania the gender gap remains: in 2018, the gender gap in the EU was  $1/100\ 000$  and in Lithuania it was  $5.8/100\ 000$ .

#### **Conclusions**

The results show that mortality from PUD is steadily increasing in Lithuania, while in most other EU countries it is continuously decreasing. The main concern is the persistently high male mortality rate in Lithuania. However, the declining prevalence of *H. pylori* and daily clinical practice suggest that there may be inconsistencies in the coding of death causes in Lithuania, which is why the data provided by the WHO may not reveal the real situation in Lithuania.

- 1. Narayanan M, Reddy KM, Marsicano E. Peptic Ulcer Disease and Helicobacter pylori infection. Mo Med [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Feb 11];115(3):219-24. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6140150/
- 2. Kamada T, Satoh K, Itoh T, Ito M, Iwamoto J, Okimoto T, et al. Evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for peptic ulcer disease 2020. Journal of Gastroenterology [Internet]. 2021 Apr [cited 2022 Feb 6];56(4):303-22. Available from: <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8005399/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8005399/</a>
- 3. Lanas A, Chan FKL. Peptic ulcer disease. The Lancet [Internet]. 2017 Aug 5 [cited 2022 Feb 11];390(10094):613–24. Available from: http://www.thelancet.com/article/S0140673616324047/fulltext
- 4. Jonaityte IR, Ciupkeviciene E, Jonaitis P, Kupcinskas J, Petkeviciene J, Jonaitis L. Changes in the Seroprevalence of Helicobacter pylori among the Lithuanian Medical Students over the Last 25 Years and Its Relation to Dyspeptic Symptoms. Medicina [Internet].2021 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Feb 6];57(3):254. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8001799/
- 5. European Health Information Gateway. Available from: https://gateway.euro.who.int/en/indicators/hfamdb\_820-sdr-ulcer-of-
- 6. stomach-and-duodenum-per-100-000/visualizations/#id=31468&tab=notes
- 7. Joinpoint Regression Program, Version 4.8.0.1 April 2020; Statistical Methodology and Applications Branch, Surveillance Research Program, National Cancer Institute. Available from: <a href="https://surveillance.cancer.gov/joinpoint/">https://surveillance.cancer.gov/joinpoint/</a>



### THE VALUE OF METFORMIN IN PANCREATIC DUCTAL ADENOCARCINOMATREATMENT

#### **Authors**

#### **Urte Andriusaityte**

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania

#### Elena Babonaite

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania

#### Aiste Kielaite-Gulla

Institute of Clinical Medicine, Clinic of Gastroenterology, Surgery, Nephrourology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Vilnius University Santaros Clinics, Vilnius, Lithuania.

#### **Kestutis Strupas**

Institute of Clinical Medicine, Clinic of Gastroenterology, Surgery, Nephrourology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Vilnius University Santaros Clinics, Vilnius, Lithuania.

#### Introduction

Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) remains among the most aggressive forms of neoplastic diseases, having a dismal prognostic outcome. Metformin possesses beneficial effects in pancreatic cancer, including reducing the risk of developing the disease and enhancing survival in PDAC patients. Altogether, the recent findings provide that usage of metformin may serve as a promising chemotherapeutic agent which provides potentially superior oncological outcomes for PDAC patients.

#### Aim

Herein we aimed to investigate the possible preventive and curative effect of metformin in combination with chemotherapy and targeted agents in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma.

#### Methods

A systematic literature review was prepared based on PRISMA systematic review criteria by two independent authors. Computer bibliographic databases of medicine



(PubMed, MEDLINE) were selected for the review. The period of 2017 – 2022 was chosen for the articles' publication. "Pancreatic ductal carcinoma" or "PDAC" or "pancreatic cancer" and "metformin" were used as the main combination keywords, following MeSH Terms. Filters used in the database: English, humans. Correspondingly to the PICOS model of data selection the main clinical question, inclusion and exclusion criteria were formed.

#### Results

During the search period 48 scientific articles were found. Based on PRISMA inclusion and exclusion criteria, 14 articles were included in the further analysis (9 literature review. 2 systematic review and meta-analysis, 3 observational studies). Literature review was conducted to systematically evaluate metformin significance for the treatment of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Since there is accumulating evidence that metformin inhibits epithelial mesenchymal transition and downregulates the mTOR pathway, metformin use was associated with favorable outcomes among pancreatic cancer patients.

#### **Conclusions**

The current study shows that metformin adjuvant treatment is associated with survival benefit in pancreatic cancer as it inhibited PDAC metastatic potential and suppressed tumorigenic processes, suggesting a potentially promising option for the treatment. The perspectives of enhancing survival of pancreatic cancer patients by the usage of metformin deserve more attention in future research and clinical practice, thus further investigation is needed.

- 1. Rawla P, Sunkara T, Gaduputi V. Epidemiology of Pancreatic Cancer: Global Trends, Etiology and Risk Factors. World J Oncol 2019;10:10–27. https://doi.org/10.14740/wjon1166.
- 2. Wei M, Liu Y, Bi Y, Zhang Z-J. Metformin and pancreatic cancer survival: Real effect or immortal time bias? Int J Cancer 2019;145:1822–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/IJC.32254.
- 3. Broadhurst PJ, Hart AR. Metformin as an Adjunctive Therapy for Pancreatic Cancer: A Review of the Literature on Its Potential Therapeutic Use. Dig Dis Sci 2018;63:2840–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-018-5233-y.



- 4. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018;68:394–424. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21492.
- 5. Chandana SR, Babiker HM, Mahadevan D. Therapeutic trends in pancreatic ductal
- 6. adenocarcinoma (PDAC). Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2019;28:161–77. https://doi.org/10.1080/13543784.2019.1557145.
- 7. Hessmann E, Buchholz SM, Demir IE, Singh SK, Gress TM, Ellenrieder V, et al. Microenvironmental determinants of pancreatic cancer. Physiol Rev 2020;100:1707–51. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00042.2019.
- 8. Chen K, Qian W, Jiang Z, Cheng L, Li J, Sun L, et al. Metformin suppresses cancer initiation and progression in genetic mouse models of pancreatic cancer. Mol Cancer 2017;16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-017-0701-0.
- 9. Schernthaner G, Schernthaner GH. The right place for metformin today. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2020;159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107946.
- 10. Duan W, Qian W, Zhou C, Cao J, Qin T, Xiao Y, et al. Metformin suppresses the invasive ability of pancreatic cancer cells by blocking autocrine TGF-&1 signaling. Oncol Rep 2018;40:1495–502. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2018.6518.
- 11. Ma M, Ma C, Li P, Ma C, Ping F, Li W, et al. Low glucose enhanced metformin's inhibitory effect on pancreatic cancer cells by suppressing glycolysis and inducing energy stress via up-regulation of miR-210-5p. Cell Cycle 2020;19:2168 81. https://doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2020.1796036.
- 12. Suzuki K, Takeuchi O, Suzuki Y, Kitagawa Y. Mechanisms of metformin's antitumor activity against gemcitabine-resistant pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Int J Oncol 2019;54:764–72. https://doi.org/10.3892/IJO.2018.4662.
- 13. Eibl G, Rozengurt E. Metformin: review of epidemiology and mechanisms of action in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2021 Sep;40(3):865-878. doi: 10.1007/s10555-021-09977-z. Epub 2021 Jun 17. PMID: 34142285; PMCID: PMC8556217.
- 14. Akula SM, Candido S, Libra M, Abrams SL, Steelman LS, Lertpiriyapong K, Ramazzotti G, Ratti S, Follo MY, Martelli AM, Murata RM, Rosalen PL, Bueno-Silva B, Matias de Alencar S, Montalto G, Cervello M, Gizak A, Rakus D, Mao W, Lin HL, Lombardi P, McCubrey JA. Abilities of berberine and chemically



modified berberines to interact with metformin and inhibit proliferation of pancreatic cancer cells. Adv Biol Regul. 2019 Aug;73:100633. doi: 10.1016/j.jbior.2019.04.003. Epub 2019 Apr 21. PMID: 31047842.

- 15. Wu BU. Diabetes and pancreatic cancer: recent insights with implications for early diagnosis, treatment and prevention. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2021 Sep 1;37(5):539-543. doi: 10.1097/MOG.000000000000763. PMID: 34387256.
- 16. Ma X, Cui Z, Du Z, Lin H. Transforming growth factor- $\beta$  signaling, a potential mechanism associated with diabetes mellitus and pancreatic cancer? J Cell Physiol. 2020 Sep;235(9):5882-5892. doi: 10.1002/jcp.29605. Epub 2020 Feb 3. PMID: 32017070.
- 17. Chen PH, Zhu GZ, Li L, Chen Y, Dai HQ, Su WJ, Wu Y, Zhou J. Distinct effects of anti-diabetic medications on liver cancer risk and patient survival. J BUON. 2020 Sep- Oct;25(5):2147-2153. PMID: 33277829.
- 18. Dankner R, Roth J. More recent, better designed studies have weakened links between antidiabetes medications and cancer risk. Diabet Med. 2020 Feb;37(2):194- 202. doi: 10.1111/dme.14179. Epub 2020 Jan 3. PMID: 31769894.
- 19. Frouws MA, Mulder BGS, Bastiaannet E, Zanders MMJ, Van Herk-Sukel MPP, De Leede EM, et al. No association between metformin use and survival in patients with pancreatic cancer. Med (United States) 2017;96. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000000006229.

### Thoracic endometriosis syndrome: a systematic literature review

#### **Authors**

#### Lina Navickaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Saulė Kržčonavičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Aida Kaštelianovaitė



Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Deimantė Hoppenot

Department of Pulmonology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno Klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Endometriosis affects 10-15 % of reproductive-age women [1]. Thoracic endometriosis syndrome (TES) is a rare condition characterized by functional endometrium in lung parenchyma, pleurae and (or) diaphragm [2]. TES usually manifests between the age of 30-34; it is later than pelvic endometriosis, which is commonly diagnosed around 24-29. Studies show that 50-84 % of women with pelvic endometriosis are usually diagnosed with TES within 5 years. Because of these findings the pathogenetic association between these two conditions is undeniable [3]. However, the rarity of this syndrome leads to the late diagnosis and fewerscientific articles.

#### Aim

To systematically review the latest scientific data concerning pathogenesis, clinic, diagnosis, and treatment of thoracic endometriosis.

#### Methods

A systematic literature review was conducted obtaining articles of TES characteristics. The study was performed using online scientific databases (PubMed, Science Direct) with publications selected by keywords: "thoracic endometriosis", "hemothorax", "pathogenesis of endometriosis", etc. An analysis of 28 articles was performed and duplicate or clinically irrelevant articles were removed. 22 full articles have been selected. Most of the studies have been published in the last 5 years, but the citation period was not limited.

#### Results

Widely accepted theories of TES pathogenesis are Retrograde Menstruation, Coelomic Metaplasia, Lymphatic and Hematogenous Dissemination, Prostaglandin. Studies indicate that none of the theories fully explain the occurrence of foci of



endometriosis, hence, the development of TES is a multifactorial phenomenon [3 - 8]. TES manifests in four different forms depending on location of TES foci: pneumothorax and catamenial hemothorax (pleural lesions), hemoptysis and lung nodules (bronchopulmonary lesions) [3, 5, 9]. Gil et al. suggest that chest radiography and CT are used for diagnosing pneumothorax and hemathorax, while contrast-based CT and MRI are standard for pleural and diaphragmatic lesions diagnosis [10]. Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS) is considered the gold standard [5]. In about half of the patients TES and pelvic endometriosis are found together, therefore some authors recommend combining VATS and laparoscopy for the best treatment results [5, 11]. The goal of postoperative medication therapy (GnRH agonists are the most commonly chosen) is to inhibit the production of ovarian steroid hormones and to reduce the recurrence rate of TES [11].

#### **Conclusions**

The pathogenesis of TES is multifactorial. The most accepted explanation is Retrograde Menstruation Theory. The clinical symptoms can range from asymptomatic disease to catamen pneumothorax as well as depend on the anatomical location of the foci of TES. For diagnosis VATS is considered the gold standard. There is no standard treatment for TES. Combined surgical and postoperative medications are the most commonly chosen. Treatment tactics may depend on the clinical manifestation of the syndrome.

- 1. Parasar P, Ozcan P, Terry KL. Endometriosis: Epidemiology, Diagnosis and Clinical Management. Curr Obstet Gynecol Rep [Internet]. 2017 Mar;6(1):34. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5737931/
- 2. Kalbi DP, Sbihi AF AI, Manasrah N, Chaudhary AJ, Iqbal S. A Thoracic Endometriosis-Related Catamenial Hemopneumothorax in a Woman With Premature Ovarian Failure. Cureus [Internet]. 2021 Aug 12;13(8). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8436833/
- 3. Joseph J, Sahn SA. Thoracic endometriosis syndrome: New observations from an analysis of 110 cases. Am J Med. 1996 Feb 1;100(2):164–70.
- 4. Nezhat C, Nezhat F, Nezhat C. Endometriosis: ancient disease, ancient treatments. Fertil Steril [Internet]. 2012 Dec 1;98(6):S1–62. Available from: http://www.fertstert.org/article/S0015028212019553/fulltext
- 5. Nezhat C, Lindheim SR, Backhus L, Vu M, Vang N, Nezhat A, et al. Thoracic



- Endometriosis Syndrome: A Review of Diagnosis and Management. JSLS J Soc Laparoendosc Surg [Internet]. 2019 Jul 1;23(3). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6684338/
- 6. Troncon JK, Zani ACT, Vieira ADD, Poli-Neto OB, Nogueira AA, Rosa-e-Silva JC. Endometriosis in a Patient with Mayer-Rokitansky-Küster-Hauser Syndrome. Case Rep Obstet Gynecol [Internet]. 2014;2014(3):141–3. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4293785/
- 7. Rei C, Williams T, Feloney M. Endometriosis in a Man as a Rare Source of Abdominal Pain: A Case Report and Review of the Literature. Case Rep Obstet Gynecol [Internet]. 2018;2018:1–6. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5833878/
- 8. Sharma I, Dhaliwal LK, Saha SC, Sangwan S, Dhawan V. Role of 8-iso-prostaglandin F2alpha and 25-hydroxycholesterol in the pathophysiology of endometriosis. Fertil Steril [Internet]. 2010 Jun;94(1):63–70. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19324352/
- 9. Topbas Selcuki NF, Yilmaz S, Kaya C, Usta T, Kale A, Oral E. Thoracic Endometriosis: A Review Comparing 480 Patients Based on Catamenial and Noncatamenial Symptoms. J Minim Invasive Gynecol [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1;29(1):41–55. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34375738/
- 10. Gil Y, Tulandi T. Diagnosis and Treatment of Catamenial Pneumothorax: A Systematic Review. J Minim Invasive Gynecol [Internet]. 2020 Jan 1;;27(1):48–53. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31401265/
- 11. Ciriaco P, Muriana P, Lembo R, Carretta A, Negri G. Treatment of Thoracic Endometriosis Syndrome: A Meta-Analysis and Review. Ann Thorac Surg [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1;113(1):324–36. Available from: <a href="http://www.annalsthoracicsurgery.org/article/S0003497520321172/fulltext">http://www.annalsthoracicsurgery.org/article/S0003497520321172/fulltext</a>



### COVID-19 infection impact on urogenital system: a systematic literature review.

#### **Authors**

#### leva Dereškevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Eglė Gulbinaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### **Andrius Macas**

Department of Anesthesiology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

COVID-19 is accompanied by multiorgan disfunction [1]. Virus enters the target host cells via the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) and causes viral pathogenicity and organ damage[2]. It is reported that ACE2 are expressed in kidneys and male genitalia organs [3,4].

#### Aim

To review COVID-19 infection impact on male urogenital system.

#### Methods

We performed a systematic literature study in Pubmed, Web of Science following the PRISMA guidelines. In the current narrative review databases were searched to identify all the related reports discussing the impact of COVID-19 on the urogenital field. Keywords: urogenital system, COVID-19, secondary damage. Analysis of 657 articles was performed. We excluded articles of children, female patients, non-English language, non-full text articles focused on other topics.



#### Results

Titles and abstracts were screened of 657 publications. Selection criteria were applied and only 7 [5-11] publications were selected. One of the key points about COVID-19 impact on urogenital system is its effect on kidneys. Direct viral kidney injury occurs because virus-induced ACE2 infects glomerular endothelial cells, podocytes infection follows and the virus enters the tubular fluid, consequently binds to its receptors in proximal tubules. That can result in acute kidney injury (AKI). There are a few indirect kidney injury mechanisms. For example, cardiorenal syndrome - right ventricular failure secondary to COVID-19 pneumonia, might lead to kidney congestion and subsequent AKI. Similarly, cytokine release syndrome-induced cardiomyopathy and acute viral myocarditis may lead to low cardiac output, arterial underfilling, hypotension and renal hypoperfusion, contributing to a reduction in glomerular filtration rate, AKI in patients with COVID-19. Another key point is COVID-19 interferes with the protective function of ACE2. This could lead to infection, loss of protective effects, which can disrupt spermatogenesis and cause infertility. The bloodtestis-barrier (BTB) is not efficient enough to limit the virus, it can disrupt normal BTB function, resulting in interference of spermatogenesis. Based on reference values the semen characteristics of recovered COVID-19 males were within the lower reference limits. Compared with age-matched healthy men recovered COVID-19 patients had a significantly lower sperm count and total motility. Patients with longer recovery time had a significantly lower total sperm count compared to those with shorter ones. Last study showed that COVID-19 patients had higher serum LH compared to the age-matched healthy men. Moreover, the ratio of T:LH was significantly lower in the study group. Elevated LH and decreased T:LH ratio can be caused by testes dysfunction.

#### **Conclusions**

COVID-19 has a direct and indirect effect on urogenital system: can cause AKI via ACE2 infection or via secondary damage, disturb normal male gonad function by effecting spermatogenesis and sex-related hormone ratio. In these studies, a longer period of follow up is needed.

- 1. Mokhtari T, Hassani F, Ghaffari N, Ebrahimi B, Yarahmadi A, Hassanzadeh G. COVID-19 and multiorgan failure: A narrative review on potential mechanisms. Journal of Molecular Histology [Internet]. 2020 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Feb 18];51(6):613. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7533045/
- 2. Lukassen S, Chua RL, Trefzer T, Kahn NC, Schneider MA, Muley T, et al. SARS-



- CoV-2 receptor ACE2 and TMPRSS2 are primarily expressed in bronchial transient secretory cells. The EMBO journal [Internet]. 2020 May 18 [cited 2022 Feb 18];39(10). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32246845/
- 3. Ahmadian E, Hosseiniyan Khatibi SM, Razi Soofiyani S, Abediazar S, Shoja MM, Ardalan M, et al. Covid-19 and kidney injury: Pathophysiology and molecular mechanisms. Reviews in medical virology [Internet]. 2021 May 1 [cited 2022 Feb 18];31(3). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33022818/
- 4. Sheikhzadeh Hesari F, Hosseinzadeh SS, Asl Monadi Sardroud MA. Review of COVID-19 and male genital tract. Andrologia [Internet]. 2021 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Feb 18];53(1):e13914.

  Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/and.13914
- 5. Rabb H. Kidney diseases in the time of COVID-19: major challenges to patient care. The Journal of clinical investigation [Internet]. 2020 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Feb 18];130(6):2749–51. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32250968/
- 6. Perico N, Perico L, Ronco C, Remuzzi G. COVID-19 and the Kidney: Should Nephrologists Care about COVID-19 rather than Maintaining Their Focus on Renal Patients? Contributions to Nephrology [Internet]. 2021 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Feb 18];199:229. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8450831/
- 7. Edenfield RC, Easley CA. Implications of testicular ACE2 and the renin– angiotensin system for SARS-CoV-2 on testis function. Nature Reviews Urology 2021 19:2 [Internet]. 2021 Nov 26 [cited 2022 Feb 18];19(2):116–27. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41585-021-00542-5
- 8. Ruan Y, Hu B, Liu Z, Liu K, Jiang H, Li H, et al. No detection of SARS-CoV- 2 from urine, expressed prostatic secretions, and semen in 74 recovered COVID-19 male patients: A perspective and urogenital evaluation. Andrology [Internet]. 2021 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Feb 18];9(1):99–106. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33150723/
- 9. Pan F, Xiao X, Guo J, Song Y, Li H, Patel DP, et al. No evidence of severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus 2 in semen of males recovering from coronavirus disease 2019. Fertility and sterility [Internet]. 2020 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Feb 18];113(6):1135–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32482249/
- 10. Wang S, Zhou X, Zhang T, Wang Z. The need for urogenital tract monitoring in COVID-19. Nature reviews Urology [Internet]. 2020 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Feb 18];17(6):314–5. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32313110/
- 11. Werion A, Belkhir L, Perrot M, Schmit G, Aydin S, Chen Z, et al. SARS- CoV-2 causes a specific dysfunction of the kidney proximal tubule. Kidney international [Internet]. 2020 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Feb 18];98(5):1296–307. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32791255/



### Patients' knowledge about modifiable risk factors of GERD

#### **Authors**

#### leva Stainytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Neringa Umaraitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Jaunė leva Lukošienė

Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) is among the most common gastrointestinal disorders. Risk factors associated with GERD can be categorised into non-modifiable (e.g. age, sex, ethnicity) and modifiable (e.g. body weight, lifestyle and dietary habits) [1]. Lifestyle and dietary changes are commonly recommended as a first line treatment, therefore, patients' understanding of aforementioned modifiable risk factors is of particular importance [2].

#### Aim

To evaluate GERD patients' knowledge about the modifiable risk factors of this disease.

#### Methods

The study was conducted between 1st of December 2021 and 10th of March 2022 at the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics. It included adult patients with GERD who completed an original questionnaire on our considered modifiable risk factors for GERD, including nutrition and lifestyle aspects. Statistical analysis was performed using MS Excel and SPSS programmes. Chi-square and Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were used to compare answers between respondents.



Statistically significant findings were assumed with p<0.05.

#### Results

The study included 70 patients: 46 (65.7%) women and 24 (34.3%) men, mean age of respondents was 45.64 (SD=13.83) years. The majority of participants had higher education (64.3%). However, there was no significant dependence between educational status and patients' knowledge. 7 out of 10 recommended and 12 out of 17 non-recommended products were statistically significantly known in patients with GERD (p<0.05). Significantly more respondents (75.7%) were unaware that natural juice is recommended for patients with GERD (p=0.001). Even more respondents (80%) did not know that seafood should be avoided (p=0.001). The majority of patients were aware that lifestyle factors such as wearing tight clothing over a stomach (p=0.001), frequent use of NSAIDs (p=0.001), smoking (p=0.001) and lying down immediately after a meal (p=0.001) are not recommended, whereas frequent eating in small portions is considered to be beneficial (p=0.001). It has been known that lifestyle and dietary changes should be applied in conjuction with medication (p=0.017). Furthermore, significantly more participants did not know that physical activity 1 hour after a meal is not recommended (p=0.001). Also, respondents were not aware that abdominal obesity has negative impact on GERD (p=0.001). Patients' knowledge about diet was significantly better compared to knowledge about lifestyle recommendations (p=0.001). Most of the patients (65.7%) indicated that they obtained information about modifiable risk factors of GERD by searching on their own.

#### Conclusions

Our study revealed that GERD patients' knowledge about the investigated modifiable risk factors is not comprehensive. Patients know more about the recommended diet than about lifestyle aspects. Educational status did not affect participants' awareness. Evidently, more detailed counsel by the attending physician on the importance of diet and physical activity is needed.

#### References

1. Taraszewska A. Risk factors for gastroesophageal reflux disease symptoms related to lifestyle and diet. Rocz Panstw Zakl Hig [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Feb 13];72(1):21–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33882662/



- 2. UpToDate [Internet]. Uptodate.com. [cited 2022 Feb 13]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/gastroesophageal-reflux-disease-in-children-and-adolescents-beyond-the-basics?search=Winter%20S.%20H.%20Patient%20education:%20Gastroesophageal%20reflux%20disease%20in%20children%20and%20adolescents%20(Beyond%20the%20Basics)&source=search\_result&selectedTitle=1~150&usage\_type=default&display\_rank=1
- 3. Sethi S, Richter JE. Diet and gastroesophageal reflux disease: Role in pathogenesis and management. Curr Opin Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2022 Feb 13];33(2):107–11. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/cogastroenterology/Abstract/2017/03000/Diet\_and\_gastroesophageal\_reflux\_disease\_\_role\_in.9.aspx

# Neurosciences



# The relation between cerebrospinal fluid oligoclonal bands status and disease related features in multiple sclerosis patients.

#### **Authors**

#### Radvilė Stankevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Emilija Aleksandravičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Renata Balnytė

Department of Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) has a highly variable disease course, from barely visible disability to severe changes in patients life [1]. While the global prevalence of MS is rising, a cure is still undiscovered and the etiology remains incompletely understood [2]. When MS is suspected, presence of oligoclonal bands (OCBs) together with clinical picture and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings are considered to be the basis of MS diagnostics [3]. Positive cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) OCBs are found in up to 95% of MS patients. [4]. However, the relation between the presence of positive CSF OCBs and disease related features remains unclear [5].

#### Aim

To establish the relation between cerebrospinal fluid oligoclonal bands status and features related to the disease and its onset in multiple sclerosis patients.

#### Methods

A retrospective medical record data analysis was performed with patients hospitalized in LUHS (Lithuanian University of health sciences) Kaunas Clinics with multiple sclerosis from January 1,2019 to December 31, 2020. Obtained data included patient



age, sex, course of the disease, Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) scores and their change, MRI data and its change, CSFOCBs postivity status. Chi-squared test was used to compare categorical variables. MannWhitney U test and t-test were used for comparison between independent samples. The results were considered as statistically significant when p-value < 0.05. Bioethics approval Nr. BECMF-50 was obtained from LUHS Bioethics center.

#### Results

A total of 100 patients were included in the study (71 (71%) female and 29 (29%) male). Positive CSF OCBs were found in 72 (72%) patients, the remaining 28 (28%) had negative CSF OCBs. Mean age at diagnosis was 39.23  $\pm 12.062$ , the mean age of first symptoms was 32.83  $\pm 11.639$ . Males were found to have positive CSF OCBs more often (n=25, 86.2%) when compared with females (n=47, 66.2%,  $\chi^2$ =4.089, p=0.043). No relations were observed between positive CSF OCBs and patient age at first symptoms (Z=-0.85, p=0.933) and at the diagnosis (t=0.004, p=0.997), course of the disease ( $\chi^2$ =0,573, p=0,751), EDSS score at the first visit (Z= 0,183, p=0.855) and the last visit (Z=-0.605, p=0.545) and its change ( $\chi^2$ =0,079, p=0,779), MRI demyelinating lesions localisations (periventricular  $\chi^2$ =1,000, p=0,317, callosal  $\chi^2$ =0,979, p=0,323, brainstem  $\chi^2$ =3,636, p=3,636, cerebellar  $\chi^2$ =0,219, p=0,640, spinal cord  $\chi^2$ =0,921, p=0,337, other  $\chi^2$ =0,038, p=0,844) and MRI data change ( $\chi^2$ =0,553, p=0,457). The distribution of age difference between first symptoms and diagnosis was different between OCBs positive (Median =3 (0-46) and negative (Median =4 (0-28) patients (Z= -2.075, p=0.038).

#### **Conclusions**

Male patients were more likely to have positive CSF OCBs when compared with females. No relation was found between OCBs positivity status and patient age, course of the disease, EDSS scores and their change, MRI data. Patients with positive CSF OCBs were found to receive MSdiagnosis earlier than OCBs negative patients.

- 1. Thompson AJ, Hobart JC. Multiple sclerosis: assessment of disability and disability scales. 1998;189–96.
- 2. Walton C, King R, Rechtman L, Kaye W, Leray E, Marrie RA, et al. Rising



prevalence of multiple sclerosis worldwide: Insights from the Atlas of MS, third edition. Mult Scler J. 2020;26(14):1816–21.

- 3. Link H, Huang YM. Oligoclonal bands in multiple sclerosis cerebrospinal fluid: An update on methodology and clinical usefulness. J Neuroimmunol. 2006;180(1–2):17–28.
- 4. Correale J, De los Milagros Bassani Molinas M. Oligoclonal bands and antibody responses in Multiple Sclerosis. J Neurol. 2002;249(4):375–89.
- 5. Dobson R, Ramagopalan S, Davis A, Giovannoni G. Cerebrospinal fluid oligoclonal bands in multiple sclerosis and clinically isolated syndromes: A meta-analysis of prevalence, prognosis and effect of latitude. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;84(8):909–14.

### Oligoclonal bands in relation to paraclinical features in patients with the clinically isolated syndrome

#### **Authors**

#### Miglė Malciūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Radvilė Stankevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### leva Čelpačenko

Department of Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Renata Balnytė

Department of Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) usually manifests as a clinically isolated syndrome (CIS).



Positive cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) oligoclonal bands (OCBs) is a well-established predictor of CIS conversion to MS and the latest 2017 McDonald Criteria defined it as a criterion for dissemination in time [1]. Given MS subtle and heterogeneous onset [2], it is usually diagnosed more than a year after its first clinical manifestation [3]. Delayed MS treatment results in higher rates of disability [4], therefore, establishing a clear association between positive OCBs and paraclinical features is crucial.

#### Aim

To determine the relation between OCBs in CSF and paraclinical features among CIS patients.

#### Methods

This study is a retrospective data analysis of medical records collected in the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences (LUHS) Kaunas Clinics between 1st January 2015 and 1st January 2020. It included patients with ICD-10 (International Classification of Diseases Version 10) codes G37.8 (other specified demyelinating diseases of central nervous system) and G37.9 (demyelinating disease of central nervous system, unspecified), which are considered as CIS in a clinical setting. Prevalence of related to MS magnetic resonance lesions (MRI) lesions, findings of evoked potentials tests was determined and analyzed in relation to OCBs findings. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 24.0. Chi-squared test was employed for comparison between categorical variables. Independent-samples t-test was used for comparison between groups. Results were interpreted as statistically significant, when p- value < 0,05.

#### Results

138 CIS patients were enrolled in the study: 92 (64.5%) females and 46 (35.5%) males. 49 patients converted to MS, 89 patients either remained with CIS diagnosis or were diagnosed with other diseases. Patients with non-specific brain MRI lesions were more likely to have negative OCBs in CSF ( $\chi$  2 =11.854, p < 0.001), whereas spinal lesions in MRI were associated with positive OCBs in CSF ( $\chi$  2 =6.134, p=0.013). Patients with positive OCBs in CSF were also more likely to present with positive OCBs in blood serum ( $\chi$  2 =8.587, p=0.003). Normal Brainstem Auditory Evoked Potentials (BEAP) findings were found to be linked with negative OCBs in CSF ( $\chi$  2 =5.045, p=0.025).



#### **Conclusions**

Spinal lesions in MRI and positive OCBs in the blood serum are linked with positive OCBs in CSF, whereas non-specific brain lesions in MRI and normal BEAP findings are associated with negative OCBs in CSF.

#### References

- 1. Mantero V, Abate L, Balgera R, la Mantia L, Salmaggi A. Clinical application of 2017 McDonald diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis. Journal of Clinical Neurology (Korea). 2018Jul 1;14(3):387–92.
- 2. Rzepiński Ł, Zawadka-Kunikowska M, Maciejek Z, Newton JL, Zalewski P. Early clinical features, time to secondary progression, and disability milestones in Polish multiple sclerosis patients. Medicina (Lithuania). 2019 Jun 1;55(6).
- 3. Ghiasian M, Faryadras M, Mansour M, Khanlarzadeh E, Mazaheri S. Assessment of delayed diagnosis and treatment in multiple sclerosis patients during 1990–2016. Acta Neurologica Belgica. 2021 Feb 1;121(1):199–204.
- 4. Kappos L, Freedman MS, Polman CH, Edan G, Hartung H-P, Miller DH, Montalbán X, Barkhof F, Radü E-W, Bauer L, Dahms S, Lanius V, Pohl C, Sandbrink R. Eff ect of early versus delayed interferon beta-1b treatment on disability after a first clinical event suggestive of multiple sclerosis: a 3-year follow-up analysis of the BENEFIT study [Internet]. Vol. 370, 2007.

# Suicide rates inside penitentiary institutions in Lithuania, the UK, the USA and Australia: anarrative literature review

#### **Authors**

#### Matas Tamošiūnas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vainius Zajankauskas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Algirdas Musneckis



Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Suicide remains a major public health issue, resulting in 800 000 deaths every year; while it is the second main cause of death among adults aged 15 to 29, it is the most common reason of death in penitentiary institutions – suicide rates are three times higher for men and nine times higher for women, compared to the general population [1, 2]. Findings across various countries show increasing suicide rates in prisons [3, 4, 5, 6]. Causes for this could be unsatisfactory living conditions and poor psychological support [2]. Some studies, on the contrary, show decreasing suicide numbers. This study aims to investigate the changing suicide numbers in prisons and the reasons behind it, while also naming ways to battle increasing statistics.

#### Aim

The goal of this review is to summarize the findings in selected up-to-date articles in order to identify causes that lead to suicide inside prisons in Lithuania and globally, while also identifying the reasons behind increasing or decreasing numbers over time in various countries and ways to improve statistics.

#### Methods

Research material was gathered via PubMed indexing system; articles older than 2012 were excluded. Used keywords: "suicide", "prison", "penitentiary". Out of 306 articles, the selected articles analyze suicidal tendencies in prisoners and comment on their shifting prominence over time.

#### Results

Suicide primarily affects those who are most disadvantaged [7]. High suicide rates in prisons are attributed to overcrowding – 119 of 205 countries currently exceed their prison capacity – this results in lower staff engagement [2]. Research has drawn conclusions that prisoners display high rates of psychiatric disorders and violent tendencies – these conditions are linked with elevated suicide rates [8], and are rarely resolved due to aforementioned issues [9, 10]. According to the Lithuanian Prison department, suicide rates in prisons have increased from 2 in 2017, to 7 in 2020. This increase could be related to a decrease in psychologists in penitentiary institutions,



due to legal changes. A study performed in Switzerland showed similar tendencies – a 57% increase in suicide risk among incarcerated citizens; statistics in the US and UK show an increase in suicide numbers as well [5, 6]. The Australian Institute of Criminology display the opposite - while 50% of prison deaths from 1980 to 1998 were suicidal, since 2004 this number was reduced to a quarter. Reasons for this may be an increase in natural deaths and improvements in handling issues mentioned above [11].

#### **Conclusions**

Suicide in penitentiary institutions is a prevalent issue - its increasing numbers in Lithuania, UK and the USA are associated to overcrowding, prevalent mental disorders and staff cuts, while the decrease in Australia is a result of dealing with said problems. Prison suicides are caused by synergistically interacting factors, hence, a comprehensive approach ought to be taken, namely controlling prison populations and promoting a healthier mental environment.

- 1. Bukten A, Stavseth M. Suicide in prison and after release: a 17-year national cohort study. European Journal of Epidemiology. 2021;36(10):1075-1083.
- 2. Fazel S, Ramesh T, Hawton K. Suicide in prisons: an international study of prevalence and contributory factors. The Lancet Psychiatry. 2017;4(12):946-952.
- 3. Nelaisvėje daugiau bandymų žudytis Oficialiosios statistikos portalas [Internet]. Stat.gov.lt. Available from: https://www.stat.gov.lt/web/guest/straipsnis- nelaisvejedaugiau-bandymu-zudytis
- 4. Gétaz L, Wolff H, Golay D, Heller P, Baggio S. Suicide attempts and Covid-19 in prison: Empirical findings from 2016 to 2020 in a Swiss prison. Psychiatry Research. 2021;303:114107.
- Ministry of Justice. Self-inflicted deaths in prison custody [Internet]. Ethnicity-factsfigures.service.gov.uk. Available from: https://www.ethnicity-factsfigures.service.gov.uk/crime-justice-and-the-law/prison-and-custody-incidents/selfinflicted-d



# Mental health literacy - definition, importance, associations with sociodemographic factors: a systematic literature review

#### **Authors**

#### Matas Tamošiūnas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vainius Zajankauskas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Algirdas Musneckis

Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Many persons with mental illnesses do not seek treatment, which leads to poor clinical and social results [1]. Current definitions of mental health literacy (MHL) are perceived as: an understanding of how to acquire and maintain positive mental health; understanding mental disorders and their treatment; reducing stigma associated with mental disorders; and increasing the efficiency of seeking help [2]. We find that research repeatedly reveal that the general population has a poor understanding of the signs of mental health issues and prefers self-help over standard medical therapy. Furthermore, we discover that MHL has age, gender, educational, urban-rural, and cross-cultural disparities, which may effect rates of help-seeking differently in various circumstances [3].

#### Aim

The aim of this review is to determine the importance and definition of mental health literacy. Also to evaluate the associations between MHL and sociodemographic factors from available literature.

#### Methods

Data search was conducted using PubMed database. Keywords used for the research:



mental health literacy, sociodemographic factors, mental disorder. Of the 2100 results, only those which specifically identified the definition of MHL, its importance and its relationship to certainsociodemographic factors were collected.

#### **Results**

Mental health literacy research to date has shown that many people do not seek help due to a variety of personal and structural barriers, such as fear of stigma related to depression or other mental illness or inability to recognize symptoms [3]. Since the definition of MHL was first proposed, researchers have drawn considerable public attention to the latter's low levels of MHL and there is growing evidence that recognition of widespread mental disorders is lowin various developed and developing countries. In the U.S., for example, depression is recognized by <50% of teens and college students [4]. There is also evidence to suggest that gender, race, age, education, and overall cognitive functioning at the beginning are significantly related to MHL levels. Male MHL scores were lower than women's, and African American population had lower MHL scores than Caucasian. Older participants had lower MHL scores than those with higher education [5]. Receiving more social support, having higher degrees of depression, and being married were all associated with a better mental health attitude among males [6].

#### **Conclusions**

According to research, age, gender, race, level of education, general cognitive functioning are related to human MHL.

The ultimate goal of MHL education is a modern society in which people with mental disorders take urgent action to seek professional help from appropriate professionals (psychologists, psychiatrists, psychotherapists, etc.) to obtain and adhere to evidence-based treatment, take the necessary preventive actions to prevent mental illness.

- 1. Bonabi H, Müller M, Ajdacic-Gross V, Eisele J, Rodgers S, Seifritz E, Rössler W, Rüsch N.Mental Health Literacy, Attitudes to Help Seeking, and Perceived Need as Predictors of Mental Health Service Use: A Longitudinal Study. J Nerv Ment Dis. 2016 Apr;204(4):3214. doi: 10.1097/NMD.000000000000000488. PMID: 27015396.
- 2. Kutcher, S, Bagnell, A, Wei, Y. Mental health literacy in secondary schools: a Canadian approach. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am. 2015;24(2):233–244.



- 3. Furnham, Adrian & Swami, Viren. (2018). Mental Health Literacy: A Review of What It Is and Why It Matters. International Perspectives in Psychology: Research, Practice, Consultation. 7. 10.1037/ipp0000094.
- 4. Klineberg E, Gunnell D, Biddle L, Donovan J. Symptom recognition and help seeking for depression in young adults: a vignette study. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2010;2010(46):11.
- 5. Verney SP, Gibbons LE, Dmitrieva NO, et al. Health literacy, sociodemographic factors, and cognitive training in the active study of older adults. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2019;34(4):563-570.
- 6. Lee HY, Hwang J, Ball JG, Lee J, Yu Y, Albright DL. Mental Health Literacy Affects Mental Health Attitude: Is There a Gender Difference? Am J Health Behav. 2020 May 1;44(3):282-291. doi: 10.5993/AJHB.44.3.1. PMID: 32295676.

# Nursing and Rehabilitation



#### Assessment of patient awareness and satisfaction

#### **Authors**

#### Monika Petraitytė

Faculty of Nursing, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas Lithuania

#### Aurelija Blaževičienė

Faculty of Nursing, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas Lithuania

#### Introduction

In order for patients to make an informed decision, the information provided to them must be sufficient and comprehensible [1]. Research shows that improperly presented and/or understood information can increase the risk of medical errors and is associated with lower patient satisfaction [2]. Such practices also increase preoperative anxiety and adverse nocebo effects experienced by the patients, which directly complicates anesthesia and increases the risk of postoperative anesthesia complications [3,4,5,6]. Studies have shown that patient satisfaction is closely related to patient awareness and could be increased by providing them sufficient and appropriate information about anesthesia in the preoperative period [7,8,9,10].

#### Aim

The purpose of this study was to assess patient awareness and satisfaction with general anesthesia.

#### Methods

A one-time quantitative study was conducted between March and June of 2021 at the University Hospital's Department of General Surgery in Lithuania using a questionnaire survey and included 350 patients who underwent general anesthesia. The questionnaire was based on the scientific literature analysis and two other questionnaires: Patient satisfaction and experience with anesthesia (ASA) and Health literacy and anesthesia: patients' knowledge of anesthesiologist roles and information desired in the perioperative visit [11,12]. Results were calculated using arithmetic mean, standard deviation, median, minimum and maximum values, nonparametric Chi-square, ANOVA



and Bonferroni post-hoc tests. The significance level of p=0.05 was used to form statistical conclusions.

#### Results

The majority of women (n=178; 74.8%) and men (n=90, 80.4%) indicated that health care professionals provided sufficient information about anesthesia during the preoperative period. All factors characterizing satisfaction with provided anesthesia services before and after the surgery were evaluated with relatively high scores, the overall quality of care in the institution  $(5.5\pm0.6)$  was rated the highest, however the amount of information provided by anesthesia specialists  $(5,1\pm1,2)$  and information on how patients would feel after the anesthesia  $(4,9\pm1,3)$  were rated the lowest. Study results also indicated that patients who were older, male gender and patients who underwent a higher number of surgeries in the past were significantly more satisfied with anesthesia (p<0,05). Patients who had more previous surgeries expressed a lower need for information related to anesthesia during the perioperative period (in all cases p<0,05). The majority of women (n=157, 63.5%) and men (n=82, 59.9%) preferred to receive anesthesia-related information verbally.

#### **Conclusions**

Although patients reported that they were provided with enough information, they were not sufficiently aware of the most common anesthesia-related adverse events. Even though the overall satisfaction with anesthesia services was high, patients were the least satisfied with information provision.

- 1. Ozhan MÖ, Süzer MA, Comak I, Caparlar CÖ, Aydın GB, Eşkin MB. Do the patients read the informed consent? Balkan medical journal. 2014; 31 (2): 132-136.
- 2. Boztaş N, Özbilgin Ş, Öçmen E, Altuntaş G, Özkardeşler S, Hancı V. Evaluating the readibility of informed consent forms available before anaesthesia: a comparative study. Turkish journal of anaesthesiology and reanimation. 2014; 42 (3):140-144.
- 3. Cyna AM, Simmons SW. Guidelines on informed consent in anaesthesia: unrealistic, unethical, untenable. British journal of anaesthesia. 2017; 119 (6): 1086-1089.
- 4. Usichenko TI, Hacker H, Hesse T. Nocebo effect of informed consent: circulatory collapse before elective caesarean section. International journal of obstetric anesthesia. 2016; 27: 95-96.
- 5. Ruan X, Kaye AD. Nocebo effect of informed consent in interventional procedures. The clinical journal of pain. 2016; 32 (5): 460-462.



- 6. Abbes W, Feki I, Boujelbene M, Frikha M, Ben touhemi D, Baati I. Evaluation of preoperative anxiety. European psychiatry. 2015; 30 (1): 1110.
- 7. Puro H, Pakarinen P, Korttila K, Tallgren M. Verbal information about anesthesia before scheduled surgery contents and patient satisfaction. Patient education and counseling. 2013; 90 (3): 367-371.
- 8. Andemeskel YM, Elsholz T, Gebreyohannes G, Tesfamariam EH. Patient satisfaction with peri-operative anesthesia care and associated factors at two National Referral Hospitals: a cross sectional study in Eritrea. BMC health services research. 2019; 19 (1): 669.
- 9. El-Nasser GA, Mohamed N. Patient satisfaction with preoperative care and its relationship with patient characteristics. The medical journal of Cairo university. 2013; 81: 2.
- 10. Gebremedhn EG, Nagaratnam V. Assessment of patient satisfaction with the preoperative anesthetic evaluation. Patient related outcome measures. 2014; 5: 105-10.
- 11. Garcia-Marcinkiewicz AG, Long TR, Danielson DR, Rose SH. Health literacy and anesthesia: patients' knowledge of anesthesiologist roles and information desired in the preoperative visit. Journal of clinical anesthesia. 2014; 26 (5): 375-382.
- 12. Supplementary Satisfaction with Anesthesia Services Questions (Appendix D). Patient satisfaction and experience with anesthesia. ASA white paper. 2014.

#### A study of the experiences of loved ones involved in decisionmaking at the and of life

#### **Authors**

#### Kristina Buržinskaitė-Špringelė

Faculty of Nursing, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Aurelija Blaževičienė

Faculty of Nursing, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

In most cases, the condition of patients in intensive care units is critical when no improvement is expected and the prognosis is poor. Relatives often experience waves



of hope associated with improvement, but at the same time there is a constant risk of deterioration and possible loss of the patient. In the end-of-life period, the decision-making process is critical from both a patient and loved one perspective. It is important to form a team based on mutual trust between doctors, nurses, the patient and / or the loved one, for the benefit of the patient.

#### Aim

To evaluate the experience of patients' relatives involved in terminal patient care.

#### Methods

Using a semi-structured interview, we enrolled 10 relatives who care about patients in terminal condition. A qualitative study was conducted in April – July, 2021. All interview data were recorded on audio tape (using a dictaphone) and, for accuracy, were recorded in the investigator's notes with the prior consent of the informants. The permission of the Lithuanian University of Health Science Bioethics Center to perform the study in the selected health careinstitution was obtained.

#### Results

It is extremely difficult for relatives to accept the relative existence of a relative due to certain psychological factors, and it is extremely difficult to come to terms with the fact of death.

In addition, there was a lack of co-operation between nurses providing end-of-life care and relatives - relatives reluctantly or not at all involved in the care process. Some feel fearful, others refuse and distance themselves from hospital care, and sometimes distrust of relatives in health care hinders the effective care of terminal patients.

#### **Conclusions**

Thus, the help of other people is important for the relatives in the care of the terminal patient, as well as the psychological factors that the relatives face.

- 1. Lind R, Lorem G, Nortvedt P, Hevrøy O. Intensive care nurses' involvement in the end-of- life process perspectives of relatives. Nursing Ethics. 2012;19(5):666-676.
- 2. Stewart F, Goddard C, Schiff R, Hall S. Advanced care planning in care homes



for older people: a qualitative study of the views of care staff and families. Age and Ageing. 2011;40(3):330-335.

- 3. Gjerberg E, Lillemoen L, Førde R, Pedersen R. End-of-life care communications and shared decision-making in Norwegian nursing homes experiences and perspectives of patients and relatives. BMC Geriatrics. 2015;15(1).
- 4. Lind R. Sense of responsibility in ICU end-of-life decision-making: Relatives' experiences. Nursing Ethics. 2017;26(1):270-279.
- 5. Sarabia-Cobo C, Pérez V, de Lorena P, Nuñez M, Domínguez E. Decisions at the end of lifemade by relatives of institutionalized patients with dementia. Applied Nursing Research. 2016;31:e6-e10.
- 6. Reeves M, Myers L, Williams L, Phipps M, Bravata D. Do-not-resuscitate orders, quality of care, and outcomes in veterans with acute ischemic stroke. Neurology. 2012;79(19):1990-1996.
- 7. Holloway R, Arnold R, Creutzfeldt C, Lewis E, Lutz B, McCann R et al. Palliative and End-of-Life Care in Stroke. Stroke. 2014;45(6):1887-1916.
- 8. Cowey E, Smith LN, Stott DJ, McAlpine CH, Mead GE, Barber M, Walters M. Impact of a clinical pathway on end-of-life care following stroke: a mixed methods study. Palliat Med. 2015;29(3):249–259.
- 9. Burton CR, Payne S, Turner M, Bucknall T, Rycroft-Malone J, Tyrrell P, Horne M, Ntambwe LI, Tyson S, Mitchell H et al. The study protocol of: 'Initiating end of life care in stroke: clinical decision-making around prognosis'. BMC Palliat Care. 2014;13(1).
- 10. Sophie Pautex, Claudia Gamondi, Yves Philippin, Grégoire Gremaud, François Herrmann, Cristian Camartin, Petra Vayne-Bossert. Advance directives and endof-life decisions in Switzerland: role of patients, relatives and health professionals. BMJ Supportive & Palliative care. 2018;8(4):1-10.



# Nurses attitude to the safe administration of medicines during inpatient treatment.

#### **Authors**

#### Rasa Dudavičienė

Faculty of Nursing, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas Lithuania

#### Aurika Vanckavičienė

Faculty of Nursing, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas Lithuania

#### Introduction

The errors when administrating medicaments are one of the most common medical errors in a healthcare system [1, 2]. Globally, the cost associated with medicines errors has been estimated at \$42 billion annually [3]. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), medicines administration errors can occur at any stage of administration [4]. The existing procedures when administrating medicaments, the lack of responsibility from nurses and the risky environmental factors affects the safety of medicaments. However, nurses must ensure their safety. Therefore, it is important to know the factors that cause errors and also know the ways how to avoid this type of situations [5].

#### Aim

The aim of research is to determine the attitude of nurses towards the safe administration of medicines during inpatient treatment.

#### Methods

Data for this research were collected by a quantitative research - anonymous questionnaire survey conducted in 2020 from January to February. A research subjects were 86 part - time nursing students from Lithuanian University of Health Sciences facing the administration of medicaments in their work practices. The rate of responses was 85,1%. The reliability of questionnaire is acceptable as described by measures of internal consistency ( $\alpha=0.762$ ). Averages (M) and standard deviations (SD) were calculated for the data expressed on the five-point (0-4) Likert



scale. The Kruskal - Wallis H criterion was used to compare results between nurses with different experiences. Statistical significance p<0.05. The protocol of research was approved by Committee on Bioethics at the Lithuanian University of Health Sciences.

#### Results

The mean age of nurses was  $32,27(\pm 9,40)$ , the length of service was  $9,13(\pm 9,04)$  years. The results of the study revealed that the most common errors were the wrong dose of the medicines – average score 2,74 ( $\pm 0,84$ ). Nurses with up to 2 years of experience were significantly more likely to report an incorrect dose to the patient than nurses with more experience (H=9.81, p=0.020<0.05). According to the nurses, errors occur because of the environmental stress 3,74 ( $\pm 0,54$ ), high workload 3,69 ( $\pm 0,49$ ) and unclear prescription sheet 3,48 ( $\pm 0,71$ ). Nurses with up to 2 years work experience were significantly more likely to report incorrect medicines calculations (H=12,26, p=0,007<0,05). The remaining errors in the administration of medicines were assessed similarly by nurses with shorter and longer experiences (p>0,05).

#### **Conclusions**

Environmental stress, excessive workload, unclear doctor's prescription sheet are the main factors influencing the administration of medicines. The study found that nurses with up 2 years work experience indicated an incorrect calculation of the medicines as the main cause of errors in the administration of medicines. The remaining causes of medicines administration errors were assessed similarly by nurses with shorter or longer experience.

- 2. C L Tolley, N W Watson, A Heed, J Einbeck, S Medows, L Wood, LCampbell, S P Slight, The Impact of a Bedside Medication Scanning Device on Administration Errors in the Hospital Setting: a Prospective Observational Study, International Journal of Pharmacy Practice, Volume 29, Inssue Supplement\_1, April 2021, Page i9, https://doi.org/10.1093/ijpp/riab016.011
- 3. WHO. WHO launches global effort to halve medication-related errors in 5 years March 29, 2017. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/



- releases/2017/medication-related-errors/en/ (accessed March 12, 2022)
- 4. Scott L. Medication errors. Vol. 30, Nursing standard (Royal College of Nursing (GreatBritain): 1987). 2016: 61–62.
- 5. Wondmieneh, A., Alemu, W., Tadele, N. et al. Medication administration errors and contributing factors among nurses: a cross sectional study in tertiary hospitals, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. BMC Nurs 19, 4 (2020). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-020-0397-0">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-020-0397-0</a>

# Effect of anti-fatigue mat on muscle electric activity in legs and gluteal region

#### **Authors**

#### Laura Gelderina

Faculty of Medicine, Faculty of Rehabilitation, Riga Stradiņš University, Riga, Latvia

#### Monta Blumberga

Riga Stradiņš university, Faculty of Rehabilitation

#### Anna Regina Knoka

Faculty of Medicine, Faculty of Rehabilitation, Riga Stradiņš University, Riga, Latvia

#### Jelena Reste

Institute of Occupational Safety and Environmental Health, Riga Stradiņš university, Riga, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Prolonged daily standing or sitting is involved in many professions such as health care workers, teachers, retailers. This static posture can cause a variety of health problems, such as discomfort and pain in legs, feet, and lower back, and can lead to more serious problems such as venous disorders. [1] Specific anti-fatigue mats have been invented to decrease discomfort caused by prolonged standing. Some studies have been carried out comparing the effectiveness of these mats, but the data obtained were not convincing. Some research showed that extremely soft mats cause higher discomfort than comparably harder mats. [2]



#### Aim

The aim of the study was to investigate lower leg and gluteal muscle electric activity variations when standing on a hard floor compared to office and industrial anti-fatigue mats.

#### Methods

The study involved 13 healthy volunteers aged 18-25 years. Participants worked with a computer placed on a height-adjustable table standing for 20 minutes on each of three different surfaces – a hard floor, an office anti-fatigue mat and an industrial anti-fatigue mat. Muscle tension was measured bilaterally on tibialis anterior, peroneal, and gluteus medius muscles by surface electromyography with wireless electrodes (BTS FREEMG 1000, BTS Bioengineering). Signal was processed in specialized computer program provided by the manufacturer. After 14 minutes, a 1-minute long sEMG recording was captured. Then a 20- second sEMG fragment without artifacts was excised, from which the data were analyzed in programs MS Excel and SPSS 26, using non-parametric statistical hypothesis Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

#### Results

The lowest muscle activity was determined while standing on the floor. The mean frequency of electric activity in peroneal muscles was  $122.19\pm22.34$  Hz while standing on the floor,  $129.04\pm25.36$  Hz – standing on the industrial anti-fatigue mat (p=0.004), but on the office anti-fatigue mat–  $135.68\pm17.98$  Hz (p=0.001). While standing on the office anti-fatigue mat, muscle activity in lower leg muscles was the highest among surfaces. The mean frequency of tibialis anterior muscle was  $120.23\pm19.50$  Hz while standing on the floor, but on the office anti-fatigue mat–  $137.91\pm22.73$  Hz (p=0.002). Comparing gluteus medius muscles, no statistically significant differences were found, but the tendency of higher muscle activity while standing on both of the anti-fatigue mats remained. The mean frequency of gluteus medius while standing on the floor was  $109.37\pm19.87$  Hz, standing on the industrial anti- fatigue mat–  $121.19\pm12.05$  Hz (p=0.016), but on the office anti-fatigue mat–  $122.39\pm20.02$  Hz (p=0.019).

#### **Conclusions**

The study has shown that increased muscle activity while standing on an anti-fatigue mat is more prominent in lower leg muscles. In gluteal muscles, significant difference was not found, but a tendency for electric activity to be increased on soft surfaces still existed.



#### References

 Wiggermann N, & Keyserling WM. Effects of anti-fatigue mats on perceived discomfort and weight-shifting during prolonged standing. Human factors 2013 Aug; 55(4): 764–775. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/0018720812466672 [Internet], [cited 2022 Feb 10]. 2. Aghazadeh J, Ghaderi M, Azghani MR, Khalkhali HR, Allahyari T, Mohebbi I. Anti-fatigue mats, low back pain, and electromyography: An interventional study. International journal of occupational medicine and environmental health 2015 July;28(2): 347-356. Available https://doi.org/10.13075/ijomeh.1896.00311 [Internet], [cited 2022 Feb 10]

#### Nurse managers' emotional intelligence and leadership styles

#### **Authors**

#### Goda Barzdienė

Department of Nursing, Faculty of Nursing, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Olga Riklikienė

Department of Nursing, Faculty of Nursing, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

In today's complex, volatile, and unpredictable healthcare environment nurse managers are expected to influence registered nurses' job satisfaction, create a good work environment [1]. Nurse managers are involved in countless interactions requiring the display of leadership behaviour, including emotional intelligence [2]. Effective leadership of nurse managers is important for nurses' performance and educational, organizational, staff and patient outcomes [3]. Emotional intelligence is one of the predictors of nursing leadership and successful nursing management [4]. The concept of emotional intelligence might be an important factor for effective leadership in the nursing professions, especially in nursing management, and requires further exploration.



#### Aim

The aim was to assess the relationship between emotional intelligence and leadership stylesof nurse managers.

#### Methods

The Profile of Emotional Competence (PEC) [5, 6] and Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ) Form 5X [7] surveys were applied with the Likert scale format used for the items. Emotional intelligence and leadership styles of nurse managers were analyzed and compared using descriptive statistics with non-parametric correlation analysis to explore the relationship between specific variables. The study was conducted with 149 nurse managers at the Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas clinics with the response rate of 67.7 %. The survey was conducted via Google Forms from October through November 2021.

#### Results

A strong statistically significant positive relationships were found between (r=0.643,),transformative leadership style and global intrapersonal (r=0.609), interpersonal (r=0.592) emotional intelligence and interpersonal of emotions (r=0.525) as well as between transactional leadership dimension contingent reward and global emotional intelligence (r=0.531), emotional intelligence (r=0.513) and interpersonal use of emotions interpersonal (r=0.523). A weak statistically significant negative relationships were found between Laissez-faire and intrapersonal identification of emotions (r= -0.229), interpersonal identification of emotions (r = -0.216) and interpersonal expression of emotions (r = -0.216)0.265). No statistically significant relationships were noted between emotional intelligence and the outcomes of leadership (extra effort, effectiveness and satisfaction).

#### **Conclusions**

Emotional intelligence improves with the development of transformative leadership style and reduces with the development of laissez-faire leadership style. Nurse managers should focus on professional behaviour based on leadership and emotional intelligence to improve better nursing management performance.



- 1. Tyczkowski B, Vandenhouten C, Reilly J, Bansal G, Kubsch S, Jakkola R. Emotional intelligence (EI) and nursing leadership styles among nurse managers. Nursing Administration Quarterly. 2015;39(2):172-180.
- 2. Alloubani A, Akhu-Zaheya L, Abdelhafiz I, Almatari M. Leadership styles' influence on the quality of nursing care. International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance. 2019;32(6):1022-1033.
- 3. Spano-Szekely L, Quinn Griffin M, Clavelle J, Fitzpatrick J. Emotional intelligence and transformational leadership in nurse managers. JONA: The Journal of Nursing Administration. 2016;46(2):101-108.
- 4. Carragher J, Gormley K. Leadership and emotional intelligence in nursing and midwifery education and practice: a discussion paper. Journal of Advanced Nursing. 2016;73(1):85-96.
- 5. Brasseur S, Grégoire J, Bourdu R, Mikolajczak M. The profile of emotional competence (PEC): development and validation of a self-reported measure that fits dimensions of emotional competence theory. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(5).
- 6. Skarbalienė A, Skarbalius E, Mikolajczak M.. Emocinės kompetencijos profilis (PECIt): emocinės kompetencijos įsivertinimo instrumento validavimas. Biologinė psichiatrija ir psichofarmakologija. 2019;21(1):15-20.
- 7. Batista-Foguet J, Esteve M, van Witteloostuijn A. Measuring leadership an assessmentof the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire. PLoS ONE. 2021;16(7).

# Obstetrics & Gynaecology Neonatology and Paediatrics



#### Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome and its relation to pregnancy

#### **Authors**

#### Marija Vatikevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Saulė Kržčonavičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vytautas Abraitis

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Ovarian Hyperstimulation Syndrome (OHSS) is an iatrogenic complication manifested by supraphysiological ovarian stimulation. This syndrome is commonly related to assisted reproduction [1]. OHSS has been associated with an increased risk of miscarriage, multiple pregnancies, and more severe clinical course of the syndrome [2]. However, there are only few studies examining the relationship between OHSS and pregnancy, and more consistent studies are needed.

#### Aim

To discuss manifestations and treatment of OHSS as well as its possible links with pregnancy complications.

#### Methods

A systematic literature review was conducted. Articles examining ovarian overstimulation syndrome and its links with pregnancy were selected. The systematic literature review was performed using the PubMed (Medline) scientific database, selecting publications in English and Lithuanian while using keywords: "ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome", "OHSS treatment", "pregnancy". An analysis of 40 articles was performed and duplicates have been removed as well as articles and summaries



that did not match the topic. The full texts of these publications have been examined and 23 articles have been selected. The effort was to focus on publications from the last 5 years, however, citation period was not limited.

#### **Results**

Studies show that OHSS prevention is selected individually based on risk factors, antimüllerian hormone concentration, and number of tertiary follicles [3,4]. It is indicated that the most common initial symptom of OHSS usually is bloating caused by increased measurements of ovaries [5]. More severe cases include symptoms such as renal failure or ascitis due to increased permeability of blood vessels [5]. Mild to moderate OHSS may regress spontaneously and treatment is not always necessary [6]. Patients who develop signs of severe OHSS should be hospitalized and treated (or) surgically [7]. Nastri et al. suggest that in case of unclear conservatively and pathogenesis of the disease, only symptomatic treatment is possible [6]. Despite the fact that IVF is considered a safe pregnancy measure, OHSS compared to natural conception [8]. Recent study, conducted in 2020, increased indicates a correlation between OHSS and an increased risk of miscarriage, preterm birth, gestational hypertension and low birth weight [2].

#### **Conclusions**

OHSS is an iatrogenic complication that can occur at different stages and degrees due to variety of risk factors and prevention. Mild to moderate OHSS is often a transient condition, however, severe OHSS can be potentially life-threatening. Miscarriage and preterm birth are associated with OHSS. Links have also been found between this syndrome and gestational hypertension as well as low birth weight.

- 1. Mathur RS, Tan BK. British Fertility Society Policy and Practice Committee: prevention of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome. Hum Fertil (Camb). 2014;17(4):257–68.
- 2. Kulkarni AD, Zhang Y, Kawwass JF, Boulet SL, Kissin DM. Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome after assisted reproductive technologies: trends, predictors, and pregnancy outcomes. Fertil Steril. 2020;114(3):567–78.
- 3. Namavar Jahromi B MD, Parsanezhad ME MD, Shomali Z MD, Bakhshai P MD, Alborzi M MD, Moin Vaziri N MD PhD, et al. Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome: A narrative review of its pathophysiology, risk factors, prevention, classification,



and management. Iran J Med Sci. 2018;43(3):248–60.

- 4. Nastri CO, Ferriani RA, Rocha IA, Martins WP. Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome: pathophysiology and prevention. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2010;27(2–3):121–8.
- 5. Petrenko AP , Castelo-Branco C, Marshalov DV , Salov IA, Shifman EM. Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome. A new look at an old problem. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2019;35(8):651–6.
- 6. Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome: pathophysiology, staging, prediction and prevention: Pathophysiology, staging, prediction and prevention of OHSS. Nastri CO, Teixeira DM, Moroni RM, Leitão VM, Martins WP. *Ultrasound Obstet. Gynecol.*, 2015 Review in journal
- 7. Current medical strategies in the prevention of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome Kasum M. Acta Clin. Croat., 2017 Journal article
- 8. Schirmer DA 3rd, Kulkarni AD, Zhang Y, Kawwass JF, Boulet SL, Kissin DM. Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome after assisted reproductive technologies: trends, predictors, and pregnancy outcomes. Fertil Steril. 2020;114(3):567–78.

# Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes of Post-COVID-19 Multisystem Inflammatory Syndrome in Children: A Systematic Review

#### **Authors**

#### Aistė Šidlauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Gabija Raižytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Pediatric inflammatory multisystem syndrome temporally associated with SARS-CoV-2



is a new, post-infectious hyper-inflammatory complication of SARS-CoV-2 infection in children [1]. In Europe, it has been reported in healthy children since April 2020 and the syndrome itself is clinically reminiscent of Kawasaki disease and toxic shock syndrome [2]. MIS-C is not common but a highly critical complication of COVID-19 infection in pediatrics resulting inlife-threatening illnesses [3].

#### Aim

The aim of this study was to determine the most common clinical features and treatment as well as severity of MIS-C post Covid-19 infection in relation to the number of patients requiring intensive care and their mortality.

#### Methods

A systematic review was conducted according to the PRISMA guidelines by two independent researchers. Electronic search was carried out from 2020-2022 on PubMed and Science Direct platforms. Search keywords were "Multisystem Inflammatory Syndrome in Children", "MIS-C"," Covid-19", "SARS-CoV-2". Inclusion criteria: hyperinflammatory syndrome meeting the case definition of MIS-C in children with a temporal association with confirmed COVID- 19, English language. Exclusion criteria: patients with incomplete MIS-C criteria, studies concerning adults or lacking necessary data. The risk of bias was assessed using the Cochrane Risk of Bias Tool [4].

#### Results

After an initial search in electronic databases, 132 articles were shown, and 13 articles were included in this review with a total of 696 patients [1; 5-16]. The average days for hospitalization were 8.38 days. The most common clinical presentation was fever (90,7%), followed by gastrointestinal symptoms (81%), rash (41%) and conjunctivitis (40%). 62% of patients out of 9 articles experienced shock and 42% out of 11 articles respiratory symptoms. Echocardiographic abnormalities were present in 40% of patients, the most common ones were coronary artery dilatation or aneurysm, left ventricle dysfunction and pericardial effusion. 73% of children were given IVIG and 57% received corticosteroids, 29% needed inotropic support, 25% required mechanical ventilation. Out of 549 children included in 10 studies, 67% were hospitalized in the PICU and required intensive care. The average length of stay in the intensive care unit were 6.1 days and we noticed that children treated in the PICU had significantly greater levels of troponin, NT-proBNP and D dimer as well as more arrhythmias and left ventricle dysfunctions. They also had lower numbers of albumin, hemoglobin, and



platelets. Mortality rate reached 16 out of 696 with more deaths occurring in the lower-income nations.

#### Conclusions

Fever, gastrointestinal and respiratory symptoms, rash, conjunctivitis, and echocardiographic abnormalities are the most common symptoms in children with MIS-C. They must be carefully identified and monitored over time, as more than half of MIS-C patients go into shock, and are admitted to the PICU, and unfortunately, 2% of them die.

- 1. Whittaker E, Bamford A, Kenny J, et al. Clinical characteristic of 58 children with a pediatric inflammatory multisystem syndrome temporally associated with SARS- CoV-2. JAMA;2020; 324: 259–69.
- 2. Norvilė Jotautaitė, Goda Laucaitytė, Lina Jankauskaitė. Vaikų daugiasisteminio uždegiminio atsako sindromas (MIS-C). Health Sci. J.; 2021; 31(4); 162-164.
- 3. Yacop B, Helmi M, Saleh M: Multisystem Inflammatory Syndrome in Children with COVID-19-Positive Antibodies. Dubai Med J 2021;4:376-381.
- 4. Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.1 (updated September 2020). Cochrane, 2020.
- 5. Jonat B, Gorelik M, Boneparth A, Geneslaw AS, Zachariah P, Shah A et al. Multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children associated with coronavirus disease 2019 in a children's hospital in new york city: Patient characteristics and an institutional protocol for evaluation, management, and follow-Up. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 202;22(3):178-191.
- 6. Hameed S, Elbaaly H, Reid CEL, Santos RMF, Shivamurthy V, Wong J, et al. Spectrum of imaging findings at chest radiography, US, CT, and MRI in multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children associated with COVID-19. Radiology. 2021;298(1):1-10.
- 7. Patnaik S, Jain MK, Ahmed S, Dash AK, P RK, Sahoo B et al. Short-term outcomes in children recovered from multisystem inflammatory syndrome associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection. Rheumatol Int. 202;41(11):1957-1962.
- 8. Tolunay O, Çelik Ü, Arslan İ, Orgun A, Demir H, Demir O et al. Multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children (MIS-C) associated with COVID-19: A case



- series experience in a tertiary care hospital of southern Turkey. J Trop Pediatr. 2021;67(2):60-87
- 9. Kurz H, Gombala T. Multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children (MIS-C)-a case series in december 2020 in Vienna, Austria. Front Pediatr. 2021;10;9:656768.
- 10. Justin Penner, Omar Abdel-Mannan, Karlie Grant, Sue Maillard, Filip Kucera, Jane Hassell et al 6-month multidisciplinary follow-up and outcomes of patients with pediatric inflammatory multisystem syndrome (PIMS-TS) at a UK tertiary pediatric hospital: a retrospective cohort study.Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2021;5:473–82.
- 11. Ozsurekci Y, Gürlevik S, Kesici S, Akca UK, Oygar PD, Aykac K et al. Multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children during the COVID-19 pandemic in Turkey: first report from the Eastern Mediterranean. Clin Rheumatol. 2021 Aug;40(8):3227-3237.
- 12. Torres JP, Izquierdo G, Acuña M, et al. Multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children (MIS-C): Report of the clinical and epidemiological characteristics of cases in Santiago de Chile during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Int J Infect Dis. 2020;100:75-81.
- 13. Jain S, Sen S, Lakshmivenkateshiah S, Bobhate P, Venkatesh S, Udani S et al. Multisystem Inflammatory Syndrome in Children With COVID-19 in Mumbai, India. Indian Pediatr. 2020 Nov 15;57(11):1015-1019.
- 14. Acevedo L, Piñeres-Olave BE, Niño-Serna LF, Vega LM, Gomez IJA, Chacón S et al. Mortality and clinical characteristics of multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children (MIS-C) associated with covid-19 in critically ill patients: an observational multicenter study (MISCO study). BMC Pediatr. 2021 Nov 18;21(1):516.
- 15. Patrick Davies, Claire Evans, Hari Krishnan Kanthimathinathan, Jon Lillie, Joseph Brierley, Gareth Waters et al. Intensive care admissions of children with paediatric inflammatory multisystem syndrome temporally associated with SARS-CoV-2 (PIMS-TS) in the UK: a multicentre observational study. Lancet Child Adolesc. Health. 2020; 4: 669–77.
- 16. Leora R. Feldstein, Erica B. Rose, Steven M. Horwitz, Jennifer P. Collins, Margaret M. Newhams, Mary Beth F. Son et al. Multisystem Inflammatory Syndrome in U.S. Children and Adolescents. N Engl J Med. 2020; 383:334-346



# An analysis of communication between obstetric specialists and primary care providers during postpartum care in Manitoba, Canada

#### **Authors**

#### Roaa Elmahi

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Christy Pylypjuk

Univeristy of Manitoba, Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology & Reproductive Sciences

#### Introduction

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) and hypertensive disorders of pregnancy (HDP) are known to increase the risk of adverse perinatal outcomes, and there is emerging data about possible long-term cardiovascular and metabolic health risks for these patients beyond pregnancy<sup>1,2</sup>. Yet little is known about access to primary care providers (PCPs) outside of pregnancy for these patients, especially since patients in Manitoba, Canada don't need a referral from a PCP to see an obstetrician. Moreover, the COVID-19 pandemic has affected patients' access to PCPs.<sup>3</sup>

#### Aim

The overall goal of this study was to evaluate access to primary care for GDM & HDP patients, who are at high risk for long-term health complications outside pregnancy. Our secondary objectives were to determine if the COVID-19 pandemic had an influence on access to PCP for these patients.

#### Methods

This was a cross-sectional study of pregnant patients delivering at Health Sciences Center Women's Hospital in Winnipeg, Canada (July 2019 to December 2020). Two time periods were compared: pre-COVID (July 2019-December 2019) and COVID (November 2020-December 2020). All pregnancies complicated by HDP and/or GDM and delivered at the regional referral center (~5500 births/year) were identified using delivery record books<sup>4</sup>. Information about maternal & neonatal characteristics was collected using



standardized data collection sheets. Electronic hospital discharge summaries were then reviewed for all post-partum patients with GDM and/or HDP to collate information about communication between specialist OB/Gyns and PCPs, access to PCPs, and recommendations for future pregnancy and long-term healthcare outside pregnancy. Descriptive and inferential statistics were used to evaluate outcomes between groups. Temporal trends were also evaluated between time periods.

#### Results

453 pregnancies were eligible for inclusion; 360 in preCOVID & 93 in the COVID time period. About 50.5% of the patients had GDM, 36.4% had HDP, and 13.1% had both. There was a significant increase in the medical management of GDM pre-COVID (27.5%) compared to 16% during COVID (p=0.0274). Overall, 32.6% of the high-risk patients did not have a PCP; 34.2% preCOVID vs 26% during COVID (p=0.139). Only 12.9% of these high-risk patients were recommended to have closer postpartum follow-up and 4% were recommended to have outpatient investigations during the postpartum period. No discharge summaries mentioned future pregnancy complications or risk of long-term health complications for mothers or offspring.

#### **Conclusions**

Almost one-third of the GDM & HDP patients with risk of long-term health complications following pregnancy do not have a PCP and for others, communication about these future risks is lacking. Access to care and communication between OB/Gyns and PCP needs to improve to promote better short and long-term health outcomes for mothers and offspring. The influence of the COVID pandemic on access to care also needs closer evaluation in these high-risk groups.

- Shou, Chong; Wei, Yu-Mei; Wang, Chen; Yang, Hui-Xia. Updates in Long-term Maternal and Fetal Adverse Effects of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. Maternal-Fetal Medicine [Internet]: 2019 Oct [cited 2021, October 1]; Volume 1(Issue 2): p
   91-94. Available from: https://medcentral.net/doi/full/10.1097/FM9.00000000000000019
- 2. Thornburg KL, Drake R, Valent AM. Maternal hypertension affects heart growth in offspring. Journal of the American Heart Association [Internet]. Published 2020, April [cited 2021, October 1]. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/JAHA.120.016538.



- 3. Marshall EG, Breton M, Cossette B, Isenor J, Mathews M, Ayn C, et al. Problems in coordinating and accessing primary care for attached and unattached patients exacerbated during the COVID-19 pandemic year (The puppy study): Protocol for a longitudinal mixed- methods study. JMIR Research Protocols. JMIR Publications Inc., Toronto, Canada; [Internet] 2021 10 [cited 2022Mar11]. Available from: https://www.researchprotocols.org/2021/10/e29984
- 4. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Hospitalization and Childbirth Quick Stats Metadata. Ottawa, ON: CIHI; 2021

# Effect of delayed cord clamping on neonatal bilirubin levels, jaundice, phototherapy and polycythemia. Systematic review and meta-analysis

#### **Authors**

#### Agnė Pinauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Vilius Kaupas

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Eglė Savukynė

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Hyperbilirubinemia is considered a potential disadvantage of delayed cord clamping (DCC). Due to increased volume of neonatal blood after DCC, the risk of neonatal jaundice and polycythemia increases too [1]. Because of that, The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists recommends delaying cord clamping at least 30-60 s after the birth under a well-established monitoring and treatment system for neonatal jaundice [2].



#### Aim

To assess the effect of delayed cord clamping on bilirubin levels, neonatal jaundice, polycythemia and the necessity of phototherapy.

#### Methods

The approval (No.: BEC-MF-201) for the research was granted by the Centre for Bioethics of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences. This systematic review and meta-analysis adhered to the PRISMA statement. Four electronic research databases were searched - PubMed, Cochrane Library, EMBASE and Oxford Academic Journals. Keywords included "delayed cord clamping", "early cold clamping", "bilirubin", "jaundice", "hyperbilirubinemia", "polycythemia". Randomized controlled trials, access to full-text articles were the inclusion criteria. Conference abstracts, systematic reviews, case reports, meta-analyses were not included in this review. Statistical analysis was performed using Review Manager version 5.4. Standard mean differences and fixed effect were selected for meta-analysis. Cochran's Q test and Higgins' I² were used to assess the heterogenicity of the study.

#### Results

21 articles that met the criteria were found [1,3-22]. Most of the trials included healthy women (except 1 trial with HIV-positive women and 2 with diabetes mellitus) with both mature and premature pregnancies. Results show that DCC increases the levels of bilirubin (SMD -0.06, 95% CI -0.09 to -0.03, P <0,00001), increases the risk of neonatal jaundice (SMD 1.57, 95% CI 1.40 to 1.75, P < 0,0001) and polycythemia (SMD 3.03, 95% CI 2.38 to 3.84, P < 0,0001). However, there is no significant difference in the need for phototherapy between groups (SMD 1.07, 95% CI 0.98 to 1.17, P = 0,14).

#### **Conclusions**

DCC increases the levels of bilirubin, the risk for it to result in hyperbilirubinemia and the number of neonatal jaundice cases. However, even with the increased number of jaundice cases, DCC does not increase the need for phototherapy. It makes DCC a reasonably safe method to use in the prevention of newborns anemia. Although, DCC also increases the risk of polycythemia, so neonathologists should be aware of performed DCC.



- 1. Qian, Y.; Lu, Q.; Shao, H.; Ying, X.; Huang, W.; Hua, Y. Timing of umbilical cord clamping and neonatal jaundice in singleton term pregnancy. Early Hum Dev. 2020, 142, 104948.
- 2. ACOG. Delayed Umbilical Cord Clamping After Birth. Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 2017, 136(6), 100-106.
- 3. Shao, H.; Gao, S.; Lu, Q.; Zhao, X.; Hua, Y.; Wang, X. Effects of delayed cord clamping on neonatal jaundice, phototherapy and early hematological status in term cesarean section. Ital J Pediatr. 2021, 47, 115.
- 4. Shinohara, E.; Kataoka, Y.; Yaju, Y. Effects of timing of umbilical cord clamping on preventing early infancy anemia in low-risk Japanese term infants with planned breastfeeding: a randomized controlled trial. Matern Heal Neonatol Perinatol. 2021, 7(1), 1–12.
- 5. Bennett, C.; Munoz, J.L.; Yao, M.; Singh, K. Effects of delayed cord clamping on neonatal hyperbilirubinemia in pre-gestational diabetes at term. J Matern Neonatal Med. 2021, 1-9.
- 6. Güner, S.; Saydam, B.K. The Impact of Umbilical Cord Clamping Time on the Infant Anemia: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Iran J Public Health. 2021, 50(5), 990–998.
- 7. Shao, H.; Qian, Y.; Gao, S.; Dai, D.; Hua, Y. Effect of delayed cord clamping on jaundice andhypoglycemia in the neonates of mothers with gestational diabetes mellitus. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2021, 156(1), 77-81.
- 8. Mohammad, K.; Tailakh, S.; Fram, K.; Creedy, D. Effects of early umbilical cord clamping versus delayed clamping on maternal and neonatal outcomes: a Jordanian study. J Matern Neonatal Med. 2021, 34(2), 231–237.
- 9. Rana, N.; Ranneberg, L.J.; Målqvist, M.; Ashish, K.C.; Andersson, O. Delayed cord clamping was not associated with an increased risk of hyperbilirubinaemia on the day of birth or jaundice in the first 4 weeks. Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr. 2020, 109(1), 71–77.
- 10. Songthamwat, S.; Witsawapaisan, P.; Saenpoch, S.; Tanthawat, S.; Summart, U.; Songthamwat, M. Comparison of Incidence of Neonatal Anemia in Different Timing of Delayed Cord Clamping; at 30 Seconds, 1 Minute and 2 Minutes in Term Vaginal Delivery: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Assoc Thail. 2020, 103(12), 1255–1261.
- 11. Perretta, L.J.; Spaight, M.; Yap, V.; Perlman, J. Randomized Study of Delayed Cord Clamping of 30 to 60 Seconds in the Larger Infant Born Preterm. J Pediatr.



- 2020, 224, 153–157. Mercer, J.S.; Erickson-Owens, D.A.; Deoni, S.C.L.; Dean, D.C.; Collins, J.; Parker, A.B. Effects of Delayed Cord Clamping on 4-Month Ferritin Levels, Brain Myelin Content, and Neurodevelopment: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Pediatr. 2018, 203, 266-272.
- 12. Mercer, J.S.; Erickson-Owens, D.A.; Collins, J.; Barcelos, M.O.; Parker, A.B.; Padbury, J.F. Effects of delayed cord clamping on residual placental blood volume, hemoglobin and bilirubin levels in term infants: A randomized controlled trial. J Perinatol. 2017, 37(3), 260–264.
- 13. Ghirardello, S.; Crippa, B.L.; Cortesi, V.; Francesco, E.D.; Consonni, D.; Colombo, L. Delayed cord clamping increased the need for phototherapy treatment in infants with ABO alloimmunization born by cesarean section: A retrospective study. Front Pediatr. 2018, 6, 241.
- 14. Chopra, A.; Thakur, A.; Garg, P.; Kler, N.; Gujral, K. Early versus delayed cord clamping in small for gestational age infants and iron stores at 3 months of age a randomized controlled trial. BMC Pediatr. 2018, 18(1), 1–6.
- 15. Chen, X.; Li, X.; Chang, Y.; Li, W.; Cui, H. Effect and safety of timing of cord clamping on neonatal hematocrit values and clinical outcomes in term infants: A randomized controlled trial. J Perinatol. 2018, 38(3), 251–257.
- 16. Cernadas, C.; Maria, J. Timing of umbilical cord clamping of term infants. Arch Argent Pediatr. 2017,115(2), 188–194.
- 17. Carvalho, O.M.C.; Augusto, M.C.C.; Medeiros, M.Q.; Lima, H.M.P.; Viana, Junior A.B.; Araujo, Júnior E. Late umbilical cord clamping does not increase rates of jaundice and the need for phototherapy in pregnancies at normal risk. J Matern Neonatal Med. 2019, 32(22), 3824–3829.
- 18. Garabedian, C.; Rakza, T.; Drumez, E.; Poleszczuk, M.; Ghesquiere, L.; Wibaut, B. Benefits of delayed cord clamping in red blood cell alloimmunization. Pediatrics. 2016, 137(3), 2015-3236.
- 19. Nouraie, S.; Akbari, A.A.; Vameghi, R.; Baghban, A.A. The Effect of the Timing of Umbilical Cord Clamping on Hemoglobin Levels, Neonatal Outcomes and Developmental Status in Infants at 4 Months Old. Iran J child Neurol. 2019, 13(1), 45–55.
- 20. Tiemersma, S.; Heistein, J.; Ruijne, R.; Lopez, G.; Van Lobenstein, J.; Van Rheenen, P. Delayed cord clamping in South African neonates with expected low birthweight: a randomised controlled trial. Trop Med Int Health. 2015, 20(2), 177–183.
- 21. Mukherjee, S.; Saha, A.K.; Bulsara, J.S.; Das, M.K.;, Gupta, B.; Waratakar, Y. Is



22. Delaying Cord Clamping until Placenta Delivery Beneficial? Oxygen Saturation and Heart RateTransition during the Initial 5 Minutes after Delivery in Indian Healthy Newborns. Am JPerinatol. 2020, 37(7), 738–744.

# The effect of melatonin on ovarian function and IVF outcomes: a systematic literature review

# **Authors**

# Greta Butkutė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Gabija Raižytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

It is known that reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generated within the follicles naturally [1]. However, the overproduction of ROS is a significant cause of poor oocyte quality and, therefore, poor outcomes in assisted reproductive technologies [2-4]. Melatonin (MT), due to its oxygen scavenging and antioxidant properties, plays an important role in preventing cellular damage [5-7]. Produced by the granulosa cells, MT exists in the follicular fluid (FF) taking a part in ovarian function in various mammals, including humans [6, 8-13]. Research with animals has proven the beneficial effect of exogenous MT on ovarian function, thereby suggesting it may be useful in the management of human infertility [9, 10, 7, 13, 14].

# Aim

To present the latest research on the effect of MT on ovarian function and IVF outcomes.



# Methods

This review was done according to PRISMA guidelines. A search in Pubmed and Researchgate was conducted using keywords "melatonin AND fertility" and filters "human, female". In order to provide the most up-to-date information, studies older than 5 years were not included. Most significant studies were selected, of which backward and forward citations were inspected. A total of 11 studies were included in the analysis. The results presented were considered statistically significant at p<0,05.

### Results

Following results were obtained by oral MT supplementation (3 mg once daily before sleep) or by evaluating MT concentrations in FF or MT-containing media. Higher MT levels in FF are linked to increased follicle size and antral follicle count [15, 16]. Also, MT concentration positively correlates with higher mean follicular count [16]. Administration of MT increased the average number of retrieved and fertilized oocytes [14-18]. On the contrary, according to Fernando et al. (2018), MT did not affect oocyte and embryo count [19]. In terms of oocyte quality and maturation, MT successfully decreased ROS levels in FF, protecting the oocytes from oxidative stress [14, 20]. Also, MT improves oocyte quality by raising estradiol levels [16, 17, 21]. MT promoted oocyte maturation and early embryo development by increasing clathrinmediated endocytosis [22]. Five studies proved MT's ability to significantly improve embryo quality [16-18, 21, 23]. Therefore, more embryos were suitable for transplantation [14, 18]. MT was able to increase progesterone levels, influence the balance of luteotrophic and luteolytic factors and improve corpus luteum function [24]. Positive correlation between follicular MT and serum anti-Müllerian hormone level was found, making follicular MT a relevant biomarker of ovarian reserve [16, 18]. Lastly, higher MT levels in the FF correlated with higher IVF success rates [14, 18].

# **Conclusions**

MT levels in the FF have positive correlation with IVF outcomes. This can be explained by MT's antioxidant and ROS scavenging properties, also by its ability to improve follicle, oocyte, and embryo quality. Also, intrafollicular MT may be used as an ovarian reserve marker.

# References

1. He C, Wang J, Zhang Z, Yang M, Li Y, Tian X, et al. Mitochondria synthesize melatonin to ameliorate its function and improve mice oocyte's quality under in



vitro conditions. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(6):939.

- 2. Unfer V, Raffone E, Rizzo P, Buffo S. Effect of a supplementation with myo-inositol plus melatonin in oocyte quality in women who failed to conceive in previous in vitro fertilization cycles for poor oocyte quality: a prospective, longitudinal, cohort study. *Gynecol Endocrinol*. 2011;27(11):857–861.
- 3. Agarwal A, Aponte-Mellado A, Premkumar BJ, Shaman A, Gupta S. The effects of oxidative stress on female reproduction: a review. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol*. 2012;10:49.
- 4. Batioglu AS, Sahin U, Gurlek B, Ozturk N, Unsal E. The efficacy of melatonin administration on ocyte quality. *Gynecol Endocrinol.* 28(2):91–93.
- 5. Zhang HM, Zhang Y. Melatonin: a well-documented antioxidant with conditional pro-oxidant actions. *J Pineal Res.* 2014;57(2):131–146.
- 6. Reiter RJ, Tan DX, Rosales-Corral S, Galano A, Zhou XJ, Xu B. Mitochondria: central organelles for melatonin's antioxidant and anti-aging actions. *Molecules*. 2018;23(2):509.
- 7. Tamura H, Jozaki M, Tanabe M, Shirafuta Y, Mihara Y, Shinagawa M. Importance of melatonin in assisted reproductive technology and ovarian aging. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21(3):1135.
- 8. Reiter RJ, Tamura H., Tan DX, Xu XY. Melatonin and the circadian system: contributions to successful female reproduction. *Fertility and sterility*. 2014; *102*(2):321–328. Yang M, Tao J, Chai M, Wu H, Wang J, Li G, et al. Melatonin improves the quality of inferior bovine oocytes and promoted their subsequent ivf embryo development: mechanisms and results. *Molecules*. 2017;22(12):2059.
- 9. Zhang M, Lu Y, Chen Y, Zhang Y, Xiong B. Insufficiency of melatonin in follicular fluid is a reversible cause for advanced maternal age-related aneuploidy in oocytes. *Redox Biol.* 2020;28:101327.
- 10. Saeedabadi S, Abazari-Kia AH, Rajabi H, Parivar K, Salehi, M. Melatonin improves the developmental competence of goat oocytes. *Int J Fertil Steril*. 2018;12(2):157–163.
- 11. Zhao XM, Wang N, Hao HS, Li CY, Zhao YH, Yan CL, et al. Melatonin improves the fertilization capacity and developmental ability of bovine oocytes by regulating cytoplasmic maturation events. *J Pineal Res.* 2018;64(1)
- 12. Nishihara T, Hashimoto S, Ito K, Nakaoka Y, Matsumoto K, Hosoi Y, et al. Oral melatonin supplementation improves oocyte and embryo quality in women



- undergoing in vitro fertilization-embryo transfer. *Gynecol Endocrinol.* 2014:30(5):359–362.
- 13. Espino J, Macedo M, Lozano G, Ortiz A, Rodriguez C., Rodriguez AB, et al. Impact of melatonin supplementation in women with unexplained infertility undergoing fertility treatment. *Antioxidants*. 2019;8(9):338.
- 14. Mokhtari F, Akbari Asbagh F, Azmoodeh O, Bakhtiyari M, Almasi-Hashiani A. Effects of melatonin administration on chemical pregnancy rates of polycystic ovary syndrome patients undergoing intrauterine insemination: a randomized clinical trial. *Int J Fertil Steril*. 2019;13(3), 225–229.
- 15. Zheng M, Tong J, Li WP, Chen ZJ, Zhang C. Melatonin concentration in follicular fluid is correlated with antral follicle count (AFC) and in vitro fertilization (IVF) outcomes in women undergoing assisted reproductive technology (ART) procedures. *Gynecol Endocrinol.* 2018;34(5):446-450.
- 16. Jahromi BN, Sadeghi S, Alipour S, Parsanezhad ME, Alamdarloo SM. Effect of melatonin on the outcome of assisted reproductive technique cycles in women with diminished ovarian reserve: a double-blinded randomized clinical trial. *Iran J Med Sci.* 2017;42(1):73-78.
- 17. Tong J, Sheng S, Sun Y, Li H, hang C, Chen ZJ. Melatonin levels in follicular fluid as markers for IVF outcomes and predicting ovarian reserve. *Reproduction*. 2017;153(4):443-451.
- 18. Fernando A, Wallace EM, Vollenhoven B, Lolatgis N, Hope N, Wong M, et al. Melatonin in assisted reproductive technology: a pilot double-blind randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Front Endocrinol.* 2018;9:545. Zou H, Chen B, Ding D, Gao M, Chen D, Liu Y, et al. Melatonin promotes the development of immature oocytes from the COH cycle into healthy offspring by protecting mitochondrial function. *J Pineal Res.* 2020;68(1):e12621.
- 19. Khan HL, Bhatti S, Abbas S, Kaloglu C, Qurat-Ul-Ain Zahra S, Khan YL, et al. Melatonin levels and microRNA (miRNA) relative expression profile in the follicular ambient microenvironment in patients undergoing in vitro fertilization process. *J Assist Reprod Genet*. 2021;38(2):443-459.
- 20. Li Y, Liu H, Wu K, Liu H, Huang T, Chen ZJ, et al. Melatonin promotes human oocyte maturation and early embryo development by enhancing clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *JPineal Res.* 2019;67(3):e12601.
- 21. Hosseini FS, Shamsipour M, Yazdekhasti H, Akbari-Asbagh F, Shahraki Z, Aghaee- Bakhtiari SH. The effect of oral melatonin supplementation on MT-ATP6 gene expressionand IVF outcomes in Iranian infertile couples: a



- nonrandomized controlled trial. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol.* 2021;394(7):1487-1495.
- 22. Scarinci E, Tropea A, Notaristefano G, Arena V, Alesiani O, Lanzone A, et al. "Hormone of darkness" and human reproductive process: direct regulatory role of melatonin in human corpus luteum. *J Endocrinol Invest*. 2019;42(10):1191-1197.

# Impact of gestational thrombocytopenia on prevalence of postpartum hemorrhage and blood transfusion

# **Authors**

# Nida Alkevičiūtė-Zenkevičienė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Eligija Teleišytė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas. Lithuania

# Miglė Semėnaitė

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

Gestational thrombocytopenia is the second most common hematological pathology in pregnancy after anemia, affecting approximately 9 million women each year [1]. The American Society of Hematologists define gestational thrombocytopenia as a condition directly related to pregnancy when the platelet count of the pregnant woman is <  $150 \times 10^9$ /I and other conditions causing thrombocytopenia are excluded [2]. There are three degrees of thrombocytopenia: mild (platelet count  $150\text{-}100 \times 10^9$ /I), moderate  $(100\text{-}50 \times 10^9$ /I), and severe  $(<50 \times 10^9$ /I) [3]. Blood loss during a caesarean section is usually greater compared to vaginal delivery, which may be further increased in the case of severe thrombocytopenia. The risk of spontaneous bleeding is increased if the platelet count is  $<20 \times 10^9$ /I [4].



# Aim

To compare prevalence of postpartum hemorrhage and blood transfusion between women with gestational thrombocytopenia and control group.

# Methods

The case-control study analyzed 402 case-histories of women who delivered in the Hospital of LSMU Kaunas Clinics in the period of 2010–2020. The case group (G1) contained 181 women who had gestational thrombocytopenia (GT) and the control group (G2) consisted of 221 randomly selected women. Patients were selected based on the prevalence of GT diagnosis from the Delivery department register database (bioethics approval No. BEC-MF- 69). Inclusion criteria for case group - platelet count <150x109/I and no thrombocytopenia- related syndrome or disease. 18 women initially placed in control group based on the absence of GT diagnosis had platelet count <150x109/I and were excluded from the study. For statistical analysis, Chi-square and Student T test were used. Data analysis was performed using SPSS version 26.0. Results were considered significant at p<0.05.

### Results

There were a total of 35400 deliveries in the Hospital of LSMU Kaunas Clinics during the study period. The average age of women (G1 29,36±5,30  $\nu s$ . G2 29,90±5,54;  $\rho$ =0.320), gestational age (G1 38,88±1,9  $\nu s$ . G2 38,72±2,12;  $\rho$ =0.343), newborn weight (G1 3486.59±629.98  $\nu s$ . G2 3591.52±2378.381,  $\nu s$ =0.753) did not differ in both groups. Twin pregnancies were statistically more common in G1  $\nu s$ =0.021. There were no cases of polyhydramnios. Postpartum hemorrhage occurred in 12 women in G1 (1 in mild, 11 in moderate, 0 in severe degree) and 7 - in G2  $\nu s$ =0.155. In the analysis of the causes of postpartum hemorrhage, uterine atony was similar in both groups ( $\nu s$ =1.00), placental abruption occurred only in the G2 ( $\nu s$ <0.05). Misoprostol was used statistically significantly more frequently for prophylaxis and treatment of postpartum hemorrhage in the G1 (G1 20.1% ( $\nu s$ =36) and G2 9.0% ( $\nu s$ =20),  $\nu s$ =0.002). Blood transfusions were performed for 8 (4.42%) women in G1 (0 in mild, 7 in moderate, 1 in severe degree) and 0 (0%) in G2,  $\nu s$ =0.02.

# **Conclusions**

There was no statistically significant difference between the groups regarding postpartum hemorrhage, however blood transfusion, treatment with misoprostol was performed more frequently in G1.



- 1. Fogerty AE. Thrombocytopenia in Pregnancy: Mechanisms and Management. Transfus Med Rev. 2018 Oct; 32(4):225-229.
- 2. Cines DB, Levine LD. Thrombocytopenia in pregnancy. Blood. 2017; 130(21):2271-2277. 3. Zutshi V, Gupta N, Arora R, Dhanker S. Prevalence of gestational thrombocytopenia and its effect on maternal and fetal outcome. Iraqi Journal of Hematology 2019 January-June; 8 (1): 21-24.
- 3. Bugra C, Selçuk E, Ozgu-Erdinc, A.Seval. Emergency caesarean section with severe thrombocytopenia (8000/mm<sup>3</sup>). The Kuwait medical journal: KMJ: the official journal of the Kuwait Medical Association. 2020; 52: 443-445.

# Odontology & Maxillofacial Surgery



# Orthodontic malocclusions and craniocervical posture: a systematic review

### **Authors**

# Klaudija Urbutytė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Kristina Lopatienė

Department of Odontology, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

## Gintarė Zokaitė

Department of Odontology, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

Increased number of body posture changes in growing children is found, it causes deviations in craniocervical posture. Clinical trials are performed to evaluate the relationship between head and neck posture and orthodontic malocclusions, however, the results vary (1,2).

# Aim

The purpose is to analyze the relationship between craniocervical posture and Class I, II and III orthodontic malocclusions.

# Methods

The systemic review was carried out according to protocol and PRISMA statement. The electronic search by 3 independent researchers was performed from 16 October till 16 December 2021 in databases: PubMed, Wiley Online Library and Cochrane Clinical Trials Register. Following keywords were used: craniocervical posture, head posture,

cephalometry, orthodontic malocclusion, Class II malocclusion. Inclusion criteria for the articles were: published less than 5 years ago, written in English, subjects human beings, craniocervical posture was evaluated performing cephalometric analysis.



Exclusion criteria were the following: case reports, systemic or literature reviews, meta-analysis, studies with patients, having craniofacial syndromes or clefts, previous surgical, orthodontic, or physical therapy treatment.

# Results

After an initial search in electronic databases, following an examination of 438 initially identified articles 17 articles were assessed for eligibility and after applying the selection criteria 6 studies were included. Three studies were retrospective, two cross sectional and one pilot randomized controlled trial. In total 421 patients aged from 8 to 16 were involved. Studies (3,4) showed significant differences in OPT-SN (this angle shows postero- superior point and postero-inferior point of odontoides proportion with skull base line) (Class II (100.80°  $\pm$  1.10)> Class I (94.06°  $\pm$  1.81) and Class III (94.59°  $\pm$  1.80), p< 0.05) and CVT-SN (Class II (106.00°  $\pm$  8.10) > Class III (101.52°  $\pm$  7.18), p< 0.05; ClassI (103.03°  $\pm$  7.77), n.s.) angles. One (5) of two (5,6) studies found a significant increase in OPT-SN angle in untreated Class II subjects (p≤ 0.05), while both studies found no significant difference in OPT-SN and CVT-SN in treated Class II subjects. Two studies (7,8) that evaluated oral and nasal breathers reported that subjects with higher values of ANB angle showed higher OPT-SN and CVT-SN angles, however, it was not statistically significant.

# **Conclusions**

Based on a present systematic review, patients with class II orthodontic malocclusion tend to have higher craniocervical angles than patients with class III orthodontic malocclusion. Class II orthodontic treatment may have a positive impact on craniocervical posture. Nasal and oral breathers show no significant differences in their craniocervical posture and interjaw relationship.

- 1. Szczygieł E, Fudacz N, Golec J, Golec E. The impact of the position of the head on the
- 2. functioning of the human body: a systematic review. Int J Occup Med Environ Health.2020 Sep 17;33(5):559-568. doi: 10.13075/ijomeh.1896.01585. Epub 2020 Jul 23.
- 3. Mahmoud NF, Hassan KA, Abdelmajeed SF, Moustafa IM, Silva AG. The Relationship Between Forward Head Posture and Neck Pain: a Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med.2019Dec;12(4):562-



577.doi: 10.1007/s12178-019-09594-y.

- 4. Liu Y, Sun X, Chen Y, Hu M, Hou X, Liu C. Relationships of sagittal skeletal discrepancy, natural head position, and craniocervical posture in young Chinese children. Cranio J Craniomandib Pract. 2016 May;34(3):155–62.
- 5. Vukicevic V, Petrovic D. Relationship between head posture and parameters of sagitalposition and length of jaws. Med Pregl. 2016 Sep;69(9–10):288–93.
- 6. Kamal AT, Fida M. Evaluation of cervical spine posture after functional therapy with twin-block appliances: A retrospective cohort study. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop Off Publ Am Assoc Orthod Its Const Soc Am Board Orthod. 2019 May;155(5):656–61.
- 7. Alsheikho HO, Jomah DH, Younes M, Tizini M, Hassan H, Khalil F. Evaluation of head and cervical spine posture after functional therapy with Twin-Block and Bionator appliances: A pilot randomized controlled trial. Cranio J Craniomandib Pract. 2021 Apr 11;1–10.
- 8. El Aouame A. Nasal breathing and the vertical dimension: A cephalometric study.Int Orthod.Int Orthod.2016 Dec;14(4):491-502. doi:10.1016/j.ortho.2016.10.009. Epub 2016 Nov 8th.
- 9. Chambi-Rocha A, Cabrera-Domínguez ME, Domínguez-Reyes A. Breathing mode influence on craniofacial development and head posture. J Pediatr (Rio J). 2018 Apr;94(2):123–30.

# Morphological features of impacted maxillary central incisors: a systematic review

# **Authors**

### Gustė Klimaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Guoda Mockutė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Dalia Smailienė



Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

The prevalence of impacted maxillary central incisors (ICI) is approximately 0.03-2.1% of the human population [1-3]. Missing front teeth significantly affect facial aesthetics, function, speech, and self-esteem [4,5]. Affected incisors tend to have different morphological characteristics such as crown length, root length and root dilaceration compared to normally erupted contralateral central incisors (CCI). Evaluating impacted maxillary central incisors' localization and morphology is crucial for rational treatment planning, appropriate therapeutic timing and protocol, as well as the possibility of a spontaneous eruption [6,7].

# Aim

This systematic review aims to assess and compare the morphology of impacted maxillary central incisors and unimpacted contralateral incisors.

# Methods

The systematic review was conducted according to the PRISMA guidelines and registered in PROSPERO. Literature search was carried out using PubMed, ProQuest, Cochrane Library, Web of Science, and Science Direct electronic databases with no publication date restrictions up to July 2021. Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms used were "impacted maxillary central incisors" combined with "crown length", "root length", "root morphology", "root dilaceration". Randomized, prospective, and retrospective studies that presented records of patients diagnosed with unilateral impaction of maxillary central incisors were included. Data assessing morphology of unilaterally ICI evaluated with CBCT was extracted and quality of studies was evaluated using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale. Crown length, root length, and root dilaceration of ICI were compared with equivalent measurements of CCI.

### Results

Database search yielded 287 articles. Selection criteria were applied and 21 articles were selected for full-text analysis. Four retrospective studies with 205 patients were included in the systematic review [8-11]. Results of the studies revealed a slight crown length reduction of ICI in comparison to their contralaterals (0.15-0.56 mm) [8,10]. In



contrast, root lengths of ICI were significantly shorter compared to CCI from 2.13 mm [10] to 3.22 mm [8]. None of the included studies analysed the dilaceration measurements of contralateral incisors, therefore the comparison was not possible. However, the size of dilaceration angle was considerably larger by 32.75° in the early dental age group in comparison to the late dental age group [10]. Lyu et al. [11] indicated the differences in dilaceration angle among nasal, labial and palatal impaction groups. The highest dilaceration angle was found in labially impacted incisors. A link between dilaceration incidence and patient age was observed: half of the early dental age group were presented with dilacerations while in the late dental age group they were twice as frequent (95.5%) [10].

### **Conclusions**

The impacted maxillary central incisors' root lengths were considerably shorter compared to contralateral incisors. Root dilaceration frequency and severity increased as dental ageincreased.

- 1. PS Grover, L Lorton. The incidence of unerupted permanent teeth and related clinical cases, Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 59 (1985) 420-425.
- 2. IG Gisakis, FD Palamidakis, ER Farmakis, G Kamberos, S Kamberos. Prevalence of impacted teeth in a Greek population, J Investig Clin Dent. 2 (2011) 102-109.
- 3. H Al-Zoubi, AA Alharbi, DJ Ferguson, MS Zafar. Frequency of impacted teeth and categorization of impacted canines: A retrospective radiographic study using orthopantomograms, Eur J Dent. 11 (2017) 117-121.
- 4. Gautam R, Nene P, Mehta K, Nene S, Hegde A, Jaju R. Treatment strategies for missing maxillary central incisor-an orthodontist's perspective. J Prosthodont. 2014; 23(6):509-13.
- 5. Singh H, Kapoor P, Sharma P, Dudeja P, Maurya RK, Thakkar S. Interdisciplinary management of an impacted dilacerated maxillary central incisor. Dental Press J Orthod. 2018;23(3):37-46.
- 6. Pavoni C, Mucedero M, Laganà G, Paoloni V, Cozza P. Impacted maxillary incisors: diagnosis and predictive measurements. Ann Stomatol (Roma). 2012;3(3-4):100-105.
- 7. Sun H, Hu R, Ren M, Lin Y, Wang X, Sun C, Wang Y. The treatment timing of labial inversely impacted maxillary central incisors: A prospective study. Angle



Orthod. 2016;86(5):768-74.

- 8. S Rizzatto, LM de Menezes, P Rabin, RC Petersen, FD Mattiello, EM de Lima. Crown and Root Lengths of Impacted Maxillary Central Incisors and Contralateral Teeth Evaluated with Cone Beam Computed Tomography, Pesqui Bras Odontopediatria Clin Integr. 17 (2017).
- 9. X Shi, X Xie, J Quan, X Wang, X Sun, C Zhang, et al. Evaluation of root and alveolar bone development of unilateral osseous impacted immature maxillary central incisors after the closed-eruption technique, Am. J. Orthod. Dentofac. Orthop. 148 (2015) 587-598.
- 10. H Sun, Y Wang, C Sun, Q Ye, W Dai, X Wang, et al. Root morphology and development of labial inversely impacted maxillary central incisors in the mixed dentition: a retrospective cone-beam computed tomography study, Am. J. Orthod. Dentofac. Orthop. 146 (2014) 709-716.
- 11. J Lyu, Y Lin, H Lin, P Zhu, Y Xu. New clues for early management of maxillary impacted central incisors based on 3-dimensional reconstructed models, Am. J. Orthod. Dentofac. Orthop. 154 (2018) 390-396.

# Comparison of students' and dentists' knowledge of the impact systemic diseases have on the dental extraction procedure

# **Authors**

# Radvilė Raubaitė

Vilnius University, Faculty of Medicine, Institute of Odontology

# Rūta Rastenienė

Vilnius University, Faculty of Medicine, Institute of Odontology

#### Introduction

Students are confident to perform dental extraction procedures (DEP) on healthy patients, but they do not feel prepared to treat patients with systemic diseases (SD) [1, 2, 3]. This may result in increased numbers of referrals to secondary care, with most treatments performed within oral surgery departments considered to be routine oral surgery [1]. It is crucial to be aware of SD while performing invasive procedures as



postoperative bleeding, delayed wound healing and hypoglycemic shock are some of the most common complications encountered in some patients [4].

### Aim

The aim of the study was to assess and compare the knowledge of dental students and practitioners of the influence SD have on DEP.

# Methods

A survey was presented to a voluntary response sample of  $4^{th}$  year and  $5^{th}$  year Lithuanian dentistry students and dental practitioners. It was not possible to distribute the survey by hand as the Covid-19 pandemic led to restricted access to university facilities. We collected responses of all  $4^{th}$  and  $5^{th}$  year students who were accessible electronically. We collected a similar amount of dentists' responses electronically on voluntary basis.

Type of study: cross-sectional survey research.

Statistical data analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 23. The threshold for statistical significance was set at  $p \le 0.05$ . Student's t, Shapiro – Wilk tests, Bonferroni adjustment, Kolmogorov-Smirnov criteria were used for data analysis.

#### Results

A total of 184 people participated in the study. The knowledge of the 5<sup>th</sup> year students on the influence of hypertension and diabetes on DEP was significantly better than 4<sup>th</sup> year students' (p = 0.0002). Students' knowledge of the influence of diabetes on DEP was significantly better than dentists' (p = 0.0372). The knowledge of dentists about the influence of hypertension on DEP was significantly better than students' (p = 0.041). The knowledge of dentists with 0-5 years of experience was significantly better than those with 16-20 years of experience (p = 0.001). Students' knowledge was found to be better than dentists' who have graduated before 2005 (p = 0.04). The knowledge of students and dentists who indicated further interest in oral surgery by attending conferences, training courses or by reading scientific literature at least once a year was significantly better than those students' and dentists' who did not (p<sub>students</sub> = 0,017, p<sub>dentists</sub> = 0,014). 96% of respondents claimed the need for practical guidelines to perform DEP on patients with SD.



# **Conclusions**

5<sup>th</sup> year students' knowledge about some systemic diseases impact on DEP was significantly better than 4<sup>th</sup> year students', while the knowledge of dentists' was similar regardless of the years of practice. Showing further interest in surgical interventions contributed to better respondents' knowledge. Respondents expressed the need for practical guidelines on this topic. The results obtained from this study could be applied when reviewing study programs across Lithuanian dental schools.

### References

- Shah S, Halai T, Patel J, Sproat C. Perceived confidence and experience in oral surgery among final year undergraduate students in a UK dental school. British Dental Journal. 2018;224(3):177-182. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bdj.2018.41.
- 2. Cabbar F, Burdurlu M, Ozcakir Tomruk C, Bank B, Atalay B. Students' perspectives on undergraduate oral surgery education. BMC Medical Education. 2019;19(1):265-274. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-019-1703-y.
- 3. Al-Dajani M. Dental students' perceptions of undergraduate clinical training in oral and maxillofacial surgery in an integrated curriculum in Saudi Arabia. Journal of Educational Evaluation for Health Professions. 2015;12:45–45. Available from: doi:10.3352/jeehp.2015.12.45.
- 4. Prabhav Kumar Iyer, Dr. Deepika Rajendaran, Dr. Sarvana Dinesh S.P. Knowledge and awareness of dental students in managing hyperglycemic patients indicated for extraction. European Journal of Molecular & Clinical Medicine. 2020;7(1):660-676. Available from: https://ejmcm.com/article 2235.html.

# Evaluation of microleakage of light-curing composite used in orthodontic after thermal cycles. An in vitro study.

# **Authors**

#### Benedikta Palesik

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania



# Kristina Lopatienė

Department of Orthodontics, Department of Odontology, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

During orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances, one of the main problems is bracket detachment, because several factors affect the bond strength of orthodontic composite to tooth enamel [1-3]. However, a little research has been done on the effect of the thermal cycles on the microleakage of orthodontics composite.

# Aim

To evaluate the effect of a thermal cycles on the microleakage of a composite used for bonding brackets.

# Methods

Bioethical approval was obtained from the University's Bioethical Committee, No. BEC-OF-05. 40 recently extracted first molars, were randomly divided into two groups of 20: experimental group (affected by thermal cycles) and control group. Buccal surface of each tooth was polished, etched with 37% phosphoric acid, coated with primer and bonded with a layer of light-curing composite (HIGH-Q-BOND BRACKET) (length 3mm, width 4 mm, thickness 1mm). According to study protocol, before the experiment all samples were tested with a stereomicroscopy (ZEISS Stemi 2000-CS) with camera (ZEISS AxioCam MRc 5) and submerged into 37°C saline for 24h until the start of the experiment. The experimental group teeth were dipped 2,000 times in saline at 5°C and at 55°C (immersion time in each bath was 30s, transfer time 2-3s). Temperatures were selected according to ISO agreements as such thermal changes are detected while eating [4]. The control group was kept throughout the study in 37°C saline. Before the test with stereomicroscopy all teeth were immersed in saline with dye and divided bucco-lingually through the centre of the composite. Penetration depths of dye between the tooth and the light-curing composite were divided into 4 group (0-no penetration, 1-penetration \( \frac{1}{4} \) of distance, 2-penetration \( \frac{1}{2} \) of distance, 3penetration 3/4 of distance, 4-penetration all of distance. Statistical analysis was performed with the SPSS. Chi-square test was usedto calculate and compare the results.



# Results

Before the experiment no micro lesions were observed on composite surfaces in both sample groups. After thermal cycles in the composite surface of experimental group the micro lesions were detected. No micro lesions were observed on composite surfaces in all teeth of the control group. 20 control group teeth (100%) had no penetration of dye. Evaluating composite surface of the experimental group, the results were the following: 2 teeth (10%) had  $\frac{1}{2}$  of distance penetration, 8 teeth (40%) had penetration of dye  $\frac{3}{4}$  of distance, 10 teeth (50%) had dye penetrate all of distance.

Comparing the results of the test in experimental group and control group, statistically high significance was found ( $c^2$ =40; df=3; p<0.001.). Thermal cycles have a significant effect on the frequency of microleakage between the tooth surface and the composite.

### **Conclusions**

Thermal cycles increase the risk of microleakages in the composite used in orthodontic. This study shows that thermal cycles damages the surface of the orthodontic composites, which can impact on adhesion of the brackets to the tooth surface.

- 1. Almosa N, Zafar H. Incidence of orthodontic brackets detachment during orthodontic treatment: A systematic review. Pak J Med Sci. 2018 May-Jun;34(3):744-750. doi: 10.12669/pjms.343.15012. PMID: 30034451; PMCID: PMC6041531.
- 2. Akarsu S, Buyuk SK, Kucukekenci AS. Effects of adhesive systems at different temperatures on the shear bond strength of orthodontic brackets. J Dent Res Dent Clin Dent Prospects. 2019;13(2):103-108. doi:10.15171/joddd.2019.016
- C Maganur PD, Prabhakar AR, S S, Namineni S. Evaluation of Microleakage of RMGIC and Flowable Composite Immersed in Soft Drink and Fresh Fruit Juice: An in vitro Study. International Journal of Clinical Pediatric Dentistry. 2010 Sep-Dec;3(3):153- 161. DOI: 10.5005/jp-journals-10005-1071. PMID: 27616837; PMCID: PMC4993821.
- 4. ISO/TS 11405. 2015. Dentistry testing of adhesion to tooth structure, 3rd ed. Geneva, Switzerland: International Standard Organization



# Force degradation of latex and non-latex orthodontic elastics: systemic review

# **Authors**

#### Benedikta Palesik

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Paulina Grigaravičiūtė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Kristina Lopatienė

Department of Orthodontics, Department of Odontology, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

One of the disadvantages of elastics used in orthodontics is that the elasticity of force decreases over time, so it is important that the force of elastic is sufficient for the orthodontic movement of the tooth [1-5]. However, little is known about the force degradation of the rubber and latex orthodontic elastics.

# Aim

To determine the degradation of latex and non-latex orthodontic elastics force.

# Methods

Systematic review was conducted in compliance with PRISMA requirements. An electronic search with keywords: "orthodontic elastics", "force", "degradation", "loss", "decay", "in vitro", "strength" was performed up to February 10, 2022 in PubMed, Science Direct, Wiley Online Library, The Cochrane Library, Medline. The inclusion criteria were: full text, trials in vitro, written in English language, randomized controlled, prospective and retrospective studies published from 2012 to 2022, studies that assessed the force loss of rubber and latex orthodontic elastics. The articles were included with the consent of 2 authors, if opinions differed, the final decision was made by the third.



# Results

After initial search in electronic databases and applying selection criteria 265 articles were displayed, after duplicate removal 205 were left, after analyzing full-texts 9 articles were included in this review. All studies were performed in vitro. In all studies 2795 orthodontic elastics were included. Elastics were divided by material: latex [1-5,7-9] and non-latex [2-3,5-7]. Studies were performed in dry conditions [1-2,4,6,8], artificial saliva [1-4,6-7,9], distilled water [5,8]. Studies [4,9] including latex and studies [3,7] including non-latex elastics found the biggest loss of force after 12h (p<0.05). Studies [1,3,7] including latex and studies [5-6] including non-latex elastics mention that the biggest loss of force was seen after 24h and later (p < 0.05). One study [5] found the biggest loss of latex elastics force after 1h (p<0,05). Studies [1,3,5-7] found no statistically significant difference in force degradation in latex and non-latex elastics after 48h (p>0,05). Studies [2,5,7] showed greater force loss in non-latex elastics in comparison to latex elastics (p<0,05). One study [3] found greater force degradation in latex elastics when compared to non-latex elastics (p < 0.05). Studies [1,2,4] found that more significant changes in force decay were in wet environment (p<0.05). The degradation rate of latex elastics with large diameter was slower than that of elastics with smaller diameters [3-5,9]. Smallest diameter-1/8" - recorded smallest force decay, the biggest force decay was in the - 5/16" [1].

#### **Conclusions**

The tensile force of latex and non-latex elastics decreases over time. Latex elastics have better mechanical performance than non-latex elastics. The force loss of the elastics was greater in wet than in dry environment. The larger diameter of the elastic the slower the force decayed.

- Kardach H, Olszewska A, Firlej E, Bogdanowicz A, Golusińska-Kardach E, Szponar- Żurowska A, Biedziak B. Force decay of intermaxillary orthodontic elastics: in vitro study. JMS [Internet]. 2019 Jun. 30
- 2. López, N., Vicente, A., Bravo, L. A., Calvo Guirado, J. L., & Canteras, M. (2012). In vitro study of force decay of latex and non-latex orthodontic elastics. European journal oforthodontics, 34(2), 202–207. https://doi.org/10.1093/ejo/cjq188
- Ardani, I., Susanti, B., & Djaharu'ddin, I. (2018). Force degradation trend of latex and nonlatex orthodontic elastics after 48 hours stretching. Clinical, cosmetic and investigational dentistry, 10, 211–220. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2147/CCIDE.S173648">https://doi.org/10.2147/CCIDE.S173648</a>



- 4. Yang, L., Lv, C., Yan, F., & Feng, J. (2020). Force degradation of orthodontic latex elastics analyzed in vivo and in vitro. American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics: official publication of the American Association of Orthodontists, its constituent societies, and the American Board of Orthodontics, 157(3), 313–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajodo.2019.03.028
- 5. Vieira, Camilla Ivini Viana, et al. "In vitro comparison of the force degradation of orthodontic intraoral elastics from different compositions." RSBO Revista Sul-Brasileira de Odontologia 10.1 (2013): 40-48.
- 6. Alavi, S., Tabatabaie, A. R., Hajizadeh, F., & Ardekani, A. H. (2014). An In-vitro Comparison of Force Loss of Orthodontic Non-Latex Elastics. Journal of dentistry (Tehran, Iran), 11(1), 10–16.
- 7. Kamisetty, S. K., Nimagadda, C., Begam, M. P., Nalamotu, R., Srivastav, T., & Gs, S. (2014). Elasticity in Elastics-An in-vitro study. Journal of international oral health: JIOH, 6(2), 96–105.
- 8. Yilmaz BS, Kara M, Seker ED, Yenidünya D. Dowe know how much force we apply with latex intermaxillary elastics? APOS Trends Orthod 2021;11:191-7.
- 9. Seibt, S., Salmoria, I., Cericato, G. O., Paranhos, L. R., Rosario, H. D., & El Haje, O. (2016). Comparative analysis of force degradation of latex orthodontic elastics of 5/16" diameter: an in vitro study. Minerva stomatologica, 65(5), 284–290.

# Relationship between orthodontic malocclusion and fingerprints: systematic review

# **Authors**

# Benedikta Palesik

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Paulina Grigaravičiūtė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Kristina Lopatienė

Department of Orthodontics, Department of Odontology, Faculty of Odontology, Medical



Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

Dermatoglyphics and craniofacial structures form from the same embryonic tissues (ectoderm) during the same embryonic period (the fingerprints form in the sixth week of pregnancy, dental development begins in the sixth week of intrauterine life) [1-3]. Thus, this might indicate a possible association between fingerprints and malocclusions, leading to earlier initiation of prophylactic treatment and possible development of lesser form or overall avoided orthodontic anomaly.

# Aim

To evaluate relationship between orthodontic malocclusion, fingers pattern and preventative treatment need.

### Methods

Systematic review was conducted in compliance with PRISMA requirements. An electronic search with keywords: "fingerprints", "finger marks", "dermatoglyphics", "finger pattern", "occlusion", "malocclusion", "Angle class", "orthodontic" was performed up to February 3, 2022 in PubMed, Science Direct, Wiley Online Library, The Cochrane Library, Medline. The inclusion criteria were: full text, clinical trials with humans, written in English, randomised controlled studies, prospective and retrospective studies published from 2012 to 2022, studies that assessed the relationship between fingerprints and orthodontic malocclusion.

The articles were included with the consent of 2 authors, if opinions differed, the final decision was made by the third.

# Results

After initial search in electronic databases 639 articles were displayed, after duplicate removal 311 were left, after applying selection criteria 13 articles were included in this review.

In all studies 2216 patients were included, age between 6-40.

Fingerprints were recorded using graphite powder [2], ink and roller method [3,5-8,10-11,13], fingerprint scanner [1,4,9,12]. Patients were divided into two [6,10], three [1-2,4,6,10-11,], four [3,8,12-13] or six groups [7] according to Angle's classification. In



two studies, slight differences in fingerprints of different malocclusions were found (p>0.05) [1-2]; nine studies showed significant difference in some fingerprints of different malocclusions [3-11]; two studies showed statistically significant difference in all three groups of malocclusion [12-13].

In an ideal I class occlusion most common fingerprints found are arch form [9-10] or loop [4,13] (p<0,05). In I class malocclusion-arch form [5,11-12] or whorl [8,11,13] (p<0,05). In II class malocclusion-whorl form [4,6-7,12] or loop [3,10-11,13] (p<0,05). In III class malocclusion-loop form [3,5,7-8,12] or arch [6,13] (p<0,05). Better part of analysed studies concluded possible indicated need for early prophylactics or orthodontic treatment based on fingerprint types [3-13].

# **Conclusions**

Most of studies showed that the need for prophylactic treatment at an early age can be determined by the type of fingerprint, as there is a significant association between fingerprints and the type of malocclusion. The difference found between the type of fingerprints and the malocclusion could be due to the fact that the studies were carried out in different countries.

- 1. AlShahrani I, Dawasaz AA, Syed S, Ibrahim M, Togoo RA. Three-dimensional palatal anatomic characteristics' correlation with dermatoglyphic heterogeneity in Angle malocclusions. The Angle Orthodontist. 2019 Jul;89(4):643-650. DOI: 10.2319/091718-675.1. PMID: 30840497; PMCID: PMC8117199.
- 2. Eslami N, Jahanbin A, Ezzati A, Banihashemi E, Kianifar H. Can Dermatoglyphics Be Used as a Marker for Predicting Future Malocclusions? Electronic Physician. 2016 Feb;8(2):1927-1932. DOI: 10.19082/1927. PMID: 27054000; PMCID: PMC4821306.
- 3. Reddy BR, Sankar SG, E T R, Govulla S. A comparative study of dermatoglyphics in individuals with normal occlusions and malocclusions. J Clin Diagn Res. 2013 Dec;7(12):3060-5. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2013/7663.3853. Epub 2013 Dec 15. PMID: 24551728; PMCID: PMC3919374.
- 4. Kaur J, Khokhar V, Pathak A. Dermatoglyphics-as a diagnostic tool in detection of malocclusion. Int J Recent Sci Res. 2016;7(7):12400-4.
- 5. Belludi AC, Sridhara A, Kumar NC, Konde S, Noojadi SR. Dermatoglyphics: A Noninvasive Diagnostic Tool in Predicting Class III Skeletal Malocclusion in Children. International Journal of Clinical Pediatric Dentistry. 2021 Jan-Feb;14(1):63-69. DOI: 10.5005/jp-journals-10005-1934. PMID: 34326586; PMCID: PMC8311768.



- Jindal G, Pandey RK, Gupta S, Sandhu M. A comparative evaluation of dermatoglyphics in different classes of malocclusion. The Saudi Dental Journal. 2015 Apr;27(2):88-92. DOI: 10.1016/j.sdentj.2014.11.012. PMID: 26082575; PMCID: PMC4459115.
- 7. George SM, Philip B, Madathody D, et al. An Assessment of Correlation between Dermatoglyphic Patterns and Sagittal Skeletal Discrepancies. Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research: JCDR. 2017 Mar;11(3):ZC35-ZC40. DOI: 10.7860/jcdr/2017/22688.9538. PMID: 28511506; PMCID: PMC5427432.
- 8. Shetty SS, Li GS, Babji NA, Yusof LS, Yang NN, Jun TD, Magandran K. Dermatoglyphics: A prediction tool for malocclusion. Journal of Datta Meghe Institute of Medical Sciences University. 2019 Jan 1;14(1):27.
- 9. Preetha S. ANALYSIS OF ASSOCIATION OF FINGER RIDGE DERMATOGLYPHIC PATTERNS AND MALOCCLUSION RISK. PalArch's Journal of Archaeology of Egypt/Egyptology. 2020 Nov 28;17(7):1191-203.
- 10. Poudel, P., Dahal, S., Thapa, V. B., Shrestha, A., & Sherchan, P. Dermatoglyphic Pattern and Types of Malocclusion among Individuals visiting A Medical Institution of Nepal.
- 11. Deepti A, Dagrus K, Shah V, Harish M, Pateel D, Shah N. Dermatoglyphics: a plausible role in dental caries and malocclusion?. Indian Journal of Oral Health and Research. 2016 Jan 1;2(1):32.
- 12. Charles A, Ramani P, Sherlin HJ, Dilip S, Srinivas S, Jayaraj G. Evaluation of dermatoglyphic patterns using digital scanner technique in skeletal malocclusion: A descriptive study. Indian J Dent Res. 2018 Nov-Dec;29(6):711-715. doi: 10.4103/ijdr.IJDR\_137\_18. PMID: 30588996.
- 13. Mansata AV, Chawda J, Makwana TR, Lakhani GY, Patel GC, Thakrar MR, Patel KS, Patel ID. Dermatoglyphics and Malocclusion: An Assessment of Fingerprints with Malocclusion in School Children.



# Porcelain Veneers Fracture Resistance Systematic Review

# **Authors**

# Rugilė Bondzinskaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Greta Venskutė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Albertas Kriaučiūnas

Department of Prosthodontics, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Porcelain veneers show excellent aesthetic results and predictable longevity of the treatment. Based on unequivocal properties, comparably low costs and ease of fabrication, porcelain is currently the preferable material for veneers. Ceramic possesses outstanding optical features, acquired by their high translucency rate, also excellent adhesion to resin cement and high mechanical strengths. Determining properties such as resistance to fracture have a prominent influence on its usage in prosthetic dentistry. The selection of materials also plays a crucial role in the lifespan of restorations, as each material has its unique composition and properties.

#### Aim

To review scientific literature and analyse its findings on ceramic materials that are used for laminate veneers manufacturing in regard to their fracture resistance properties.

# Methods

This article follows the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) statement. The literature search was performed in PubMed, Wiley Online Library and ScienceDirect databases. Articles were published between 2016 and 2021 in English language. Search was conducted by using different combinations



of specific keywords. 481 publications were found. After first and secondary screening 349 and 119 publications were excluded out of which 13 were identified as relevant to the topic. Included studies were evaluated for the risk of bias following a preestablished criterion.

The titles and abstracts were analysed by the authors, followed by the selection of complete articles for reviewing and analysis according to the eligibility criteria.

#### Results

There was a noticeable relation between the choice of restoration materials and fracture resistance. After analysation none of the selected studies have shown high risk of bias, 8 showed some concerns while 5 studies indicated low risk of bias. Regardless of differing thermomechanical aging cycles and compressive load it was possible to summarise that zirconia-lithium disilicate exhibited the most favourable results in fracture resistance and so did resin nanoceramic veneers. Ceramic materials, such as zirconium, were used more frequently, due to their superior aesthetic appearance and ability to withstand high functional mastication forces. When comparing with composite, the main difference was the number of sessions as ceramic restorations require more time and precision during situating and cementation stages. Additionally, other factors such as tooth preparation depth, ceramic thickness and cementation material also had an effect on the durability of laminate veneers.

# **Conclusions**

Zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate veneers showed the most favourable outcomes when analysing their resistance to fracture.

The risk of veneering restoration material fractures increases significantly, when anterior veneer preparations are less or equal to 0.5 mm.

Ceramic veneer restoration materials are more prone to fractures, when the preparations include medium to high dentine portions ( $\geq 50\%$ ).

- 1. Lee S, Choi Y. Effect of ceramic material and resin cement systems on the color stability of laminate veneers after accelerated aging. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2018;120(1):99-106.
- 2. Jurado C, AlResayes S, Sayed M, Villalobos-Tinoco J, Llanes-Urias N, Tsujimoto A.A customized metal guide for controllable modification of anterior teeth



- contour prior to minimally invasive preparation. The Saudi Dental Journal. 2021;33(7):518-523. Huang X, Zou L, Yao R, Wu S, Li Y. Effect of preparation design on the fracture behavior of ceramic occlusal veneers in maxillary premolars. Journal of Dentistry. 2020;97:103346.
- 3. SAKER S, ÖZCAN M. Marginal discrepancy and load to fracture of monolithic zirconia laminate veneers: The effect of preparation design and sintering protocol. Dental Materials Journal. 2021;40(2):331-338.
- 4. Saleh A, Al-Ani M, ALRawi T, Al-Edressi G. An in-vitro comparison of fracture resistance of three CAD/CAM Ceramic materials for fabricating Veneer. The SaudiDental Journal. 2021;33(7):745-752.
- 5. Rathi S, Verma A. Material selection for single-tooth crown restorations. Applications of Nanocomposite Materials in Dentistry. 2019;:225-235.
- 6. Jo E, Huh Y, Ko K, Park C, Cho L. Effect of different ceramic materials and substructure designs on fracture resistance in anterior restorations. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2020;.
- 7. Abu-Izze F, Ramos G, Borges A, Anami L, Bottino M. Fatigue behavior of ultrafine tabletop ceramic restorations. Dental Materials. 2018;34(9):1401-1409.
- 8. Al-Akhali M, Kern M, Elsayed A, Samran A, Chaar M. Influence of thermomechanical fatigue on the fracture strength of CAD-CAM-fabricated occlusal veneers. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2019;121(4):644-650.
- 9. Blunck U, Fischer S, Hajtó J, Frei S, Frankenberger R. Ceramic laminate veneers: effect of preparation design and ceramic thickness on fracture resistance and marginal quality in vitro. Clinical Oral Investigations. 2020;24(8):2745-2754.
- 10. Heck K, Paterno H, Lederer A, Litzenburger F, Hickel R, Kunzelmann K. Fatigue resistance of ultrathin CAD/CAM ceramic and nanoceramic composite occlusal veneers. Dental Materials. 2019;35(10):1370-1377.
- 11. Ioannidis A, Bomze D, Hämmerle C, Hüsler J, Birrer O, Mühlemann S. Loadbearing capacity of CAD/CAM 3D-printed zirconia, CAD/CAM milled zirconia, and heat- pressed lithium disilicate ultra-thin occlusal veneers on molars. Dental Materials. 2020;36(4):e109-e116.
- 12. Romanini-Junior J, Hirata R, Bonfante E, Bordin D, Kumagai R, Fardin V et al. Monolithic CAD/CAM laminate veneers: Reliability and failure modes. Dental Materials. 2020;36(6):724-732.
- 13. Ruggiero M, Soares Gomes R, Pedroso Bergamo E, Freitas M, Bonfante E, Del Bel Cury A. Resin-matrix ceramics for occlusal veneers: Effect of thickness on



reliability and stress distribution. Dental Materials. 2021;37(3):e131-e139. Zhang H, Lv P, Du W, Jiang T. Comparison of Fracture Load and Surface Wear of Microhybrid Composite and Ceramic Occlusal Veneers. Journal of Prosthodontics. 2020;29(5):387-393.

14. Al-Akhali M, Chaar M, Elsayed A, Samran A, Kern M. Fracture resistance of ceramic and polymer-based occlusal veneer restorations. Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials. 2017;74:245-250.

# Evaluation of the efficacy of osseodensification in enhancing primary and secondary stability of dental implants

# **Authors**

# leva Pliatkutė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Vykintas Pliavga

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Jan Pavel Rokicki

Department of Maxillofacial Surgery, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Introduction

Restoration of missing teeth using a fixed implant is a reliable option for treatment of partially and fully edentulous patients [1]. The bone quality and quantity, surgical technique (conventional drilling (CD), over- or under- drilling, osteotome, osseodensification (OD), piezosurgery), implant design can influence both primary and secondary stability of dental implants [2-7]. OD technique improves the local bone quality in poor density alveolar ridges, and increases the density of the adjacent bone [8]. Therefore, it was decided to review the efficacy of OD to implant stability.



# Aim

To evaluate the OD technique for implant site preparation and its effect on enhancing primary and secondary stability of dental implants.

# Methods

A systematic review was performed according to the PRISMA guidelines [9]. According to PICO, the focus question was: Does the OD technique increase the primary and secondary stability of dental implants compared to CD? Electronic databases used: PubMed Medline, ScienceDirect, The Cochrane Library. Search keywords: "osseodensification", "dental implant", "stability". Inclusion criteria were: clinical trials with humans published less than 10 years ago, written in the English language. Studies involving patients with immediate implantation or augmentation before implantation were excluded as well as animal studies.

#### Results

73 publications were found. Selection criteria were applied, and 17 studies were selected for full-text analysis. 5 articles were included in this review in which a total of 240 implants were placed in 111 patients. All 5 studies evaluated implant stability values immediately after implantation (primary stability) [7, 10-13]. Implant stability quotients (ISQ) were used in 4 of 5 articles: from  $70.5\pm1.12$  to  $76.00\pm6.41$  in the OD group, while in the CD group results were from  $56.22\pm2.21$  to  $78.88\pm7.18$ . However, a statistically significantly higher stability in the OD group was stated in 3 studies (P<0.001 [7, 10], P<0.05 [11]), while one study stated a statistically insignificant difference between groups (P>0.05) [12]. Selected publications provide a follow-up period for secondary stability from 2 weeks to 6 months. A statistically significant difference of ISQ values between OD and CD groups were observed at 6 weeks (P<0.05) [10, 12] and 4 months post-placement (P<0.001) [7, 11]. The secondary stability was found slightly higher 6 months after surgery in the OD group compared with the CD group, nonetheless, there was no statistically significant difference (P>0.05) [13].

# **Conclusions**

Most studies confirm that the improvement in the primary implant stability is observed using the OD technique compared to the CD technique. The effect on secondary stability remains questionable, as not all studies report a statistically significant enhancement, and there is a lack of studies with longer follow-up periods.



- 1. El-Hawary H. A Novel Osseodensification Technique for Dental Implant Placement in Osteoporotic Patients (A Clinical Prospective Study). Egyptian Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2020;11(4):118-123. Romanos GE. Bone quality and the immediate loading of implants-critical aspects based on literature, research, and clinical experience. Implant Dent. 2009;18:203-209.
- 2. Baires-Campos F, Jimbo R, Bonfante E, Fonseca-Oliveira M, Moura C, Zanetta- Barbosa D et al. Drilling dimension effects in early stages of osseointegration and implant stability in a canine model. Medicina Oral Patología Oral y Cirugia Bucal. 2015;:e471-e479.
- 3. Delgado-Ruiz R, Gold J, Somohano Marquez T, Romanos G. Under-Drilling versus Hybrid Osseodensification Technique: Differences in Implant Primary Stability and Bone Density of the Implant Bed Walls. Materials. 2020;13(2):390.
- 4. Al-Almaie S. Immediate Dental Implant Placements Using Osteotome Technique: A Case Report and Literature Review. The Open Dentistry Journal. 2016;10(1):367-374.
- 5. Kjaergaard M, Nguyen V, Brandt J, Pouchet J, Weigl P. Comparison of Implant Stability Between Conventional Drills and Piezosurgical Implant Bed Preparation Techniques. Journal of Oral Implantology. 2021.
- 6. Ibrahim A, Ayad S, ElAshwah A. THE EFFECT OF OSSEODENSIFICATION TECHNIQUE ON IMPLANT STABILITY (CLINICAL TRIAL). Alexandria Dental Journal. 2020;45(2).
- 7. Inchingolo A, Inchingolo A, Bordea I, Xhajanka E, Romeo D, Romeo M et al. The Effectiveness of Osseodensification Drilling Protocol for Implant Site Osteotomy: A Systematic Review of the Literature and Meta-Analysis. Materials. 2021;14(5):1147.
- 8. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG; PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Int J Surg. 2010;8(5):336-41. [Medline: 20171303] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2010.02.007].
- 9. Bergamo E, Zahoui A, Barrera R, Huwais S, Coelho P, Karateew E et al. Osseodensification effect on implants primary and secondary stability: Multicenter controlled clinical trial. Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research. 2021;23(3):317-328.
- 10. Kumar V, Gupta U, Bhavani M, Kathuria B, Mandale A et al. The effect of Osseodensification Technique on Implant Stability: Clinical Study. Annals of



- 11. the Romanian Society for Cell Biology. 2020;24(1):1069-1080 El Khourazaty N, Fahmy A. Evaluation of primary stability for mandibular implant overdenture after osseodensification using Densah bur. Egyptian Dental Journal. 2019;65(2):1715-1721.
- 12. Sultana A, Makkar S, Saxena D, Wadhawan A, Kusum C. To compare the stability and crestal bone loss of implants placed using osseodensification and traditional drilling protocol: A clinicoradiographical study. The Journal of Indian Prosthodontic Society. 2020;20(1):45.

# Teriparatide administration as an adjunctive treatment in BRONJ patients: a systemic literature review

# **Authors**

# Greta Milvydaitė

Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Abdulla Varoneckas

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

### Marijus Leketas

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Faculty of Odontology, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Introduction

Teriparatide (TPTD) is a synthetic version of the human parathyroid hormone and is currently the only anabolic agent approved by FDA, that directly stimulates bone formation [1]. Findings have reported that TPTD is a clinically viable approach to increase bone regeneration against bone defects and fractures [2]. Several trials have investigated the efficacy of TPTD administration to treat BRONJ (bisphosphonate related osteonecrosis of jaw) and disclosed favourable outcomes.



# Aim

Determine whether administration of TPTD as an adjunct improves bone regeneration in patients diagnosed with BRONJ.

# Methods

Protocol of the review has been executed by using PRISMA approach and was submitted to PROSPERO (registration number: CRD42021242796). Electronic search was carried outin Medline, ScienceDirect, The Cochrane Library and LILACS databases using a combination of following keywords: "BRONJ", "TPTD", "treatment". To be included, the study had to be published less than 10 years ago and written in English. Publications that involved patients who had prior treatment with radiotherapy of head/neck region were excluded, as well as patients who were treated with glucocorticosteroids. The electronic search showed 2096 articles and eventually 8 articles were included. Number of patients in the included studies varied from 6 to 34 (a total of 139 patients in 8 studies) with patients mean age being 75,47 years. 90.5 % of patients received oral BPs, while 9.5 % received intravenous.

### Results

- 1. According to studies by Sim et al. and Kim et al., TPTD was statistically significantly associated with a greater BRONJ lesion resolution, compared to control group (p<0.05) [3,4]. However, the study by Sim et al. showed no significant difference in proportion of resolved lesions (p=0.478). The case report that consisted of 8 patients showed that the administration of TPTD led to complete recovery of BRONJ lesions in 7 patients, while exhibiting coverage of the exposed bone by mucosa [5].
- 2. Regarding the effectiveness of TPTD treatment according to administration frequency, daily injection group showed no significant changes in the clinical stage of BRONJ, no difference in the percentage of bone formation on patients osteolysis, compared to weekly injection group [6].
- 3. Regarding bone resorption/regeneration markers, four of the included studies [1, 3, 4, 7] evaluated s-CTX levels, three of the included studies [1, 4, 7] measured s- OC values. All studies showed that bone resorption markers significantly increased after 3 month TPTD administration. In a multivariate analysis using age, BMI, duration of BP usage, the difference in s-OC values after 3 months of the treatment between TPTD and non-TPTD groups was significant (p<0.05).



# **Conclusions**

Study results have shown that administration of TPTD has a promising effect for BRONJ patients. Administration of TPTD improves resolution of BRONJ lesions, reduces bony defects, increases bone volume and bone resorption/regeneration marker values.

- 1. Kwon YD, Lee DW, Choi BJ, Lee JW, Kim DY. Short-term teriparatide therapy as an adjunctive modality for bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaws. Osteoporos Int. 2012 Nov;23(11):2721-5.
- 2. Morishita K, Yamada SI, Kawakita A, Hashidume M, Tachibana A, Takeuchi N, et al. Treatment outcomes of adjunctive teriparatide therapy for medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw (MRONJ): A multicenter retrospective analysis in Japan. J Orthop Sci. 2020 Nov;25(6):1079-83.
- 3. Sim IW, Borromeo GL, Tsao C, Hardiman R, Hofman MS, Papatziamos Hjelle C, et al. Teriparatide Promotes Bone Healing in Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw: A Placebo-Controlled, Randomized Trial. J Clin Oncol. 2020 09 10;38(26):2971-80.
- 4. Kim KM, Park W, Oh SY, Kim HJ, Nam W, Lim SK, et al. Distinctive role of 6-month teriparatide treatment on intractable bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaw. Osteoporos Int. 2014 May;25(5):1625-32.
- 5. Kakehashi H, Ando T, Minamizato T, Nakatani Y, Kawasaki T, Ikeda H, et al. Administration of teriparatide improves the symptoms of advanced bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaw: preliminary findings. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015 Dec;44(12):1558-64.
- 6. Ohbayashi Y, Iwasaki A, Nakai F, Mashiba T, Miyake M. A comparative effectiveness pilot study of teriparatide for medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw: daily versus weekly administration. Osteoporos Int. 2020 Mar;31(3):577-85.
- 7. Jung J, Yoo HY, Kim GT, Lee JW, Lee YA, Kim DY, et al. Short-Term Teriparatide and Recombinant Human Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2 for Regenerative Approach to Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw: A Preliminary Study. J Bone Miner Res. 2017 Dec;32(12):2445-52.

# Public Health



# Change of electrical injuries in Lithuania in 2016-2020

# **Authors**

# Viljamas Sipavičius

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

# Rytis Rimdeika

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Although electrical injuries are not common, yet these injuries are severe and account for approximately 0.04-5% of all burn injuries in developed countries and up to 27% in developing countries [1]. Electrical injuries are divided into high (> 1000 volts) and low (<1000 volts) voltage injuries. High-voltage electrical injuries are rare, but cause major injuries such as cardiac arrhythmias and deep myonecrosis [2]. Local tissue damage caused by electrical traumatic burns is often deep and severe, which traumatize tendons,nerves, blood vessels, bones, and joints, making the treatment of such wounds extremely difficult [3]. Although electrical injuries are rare among children, but they are considered to be one of the most devastating injuries [4]. Electrical injuries in the adult population primarily affect men and are most often work-related. Furthermore, they are the 4th leading cause of work-related traumatic deaths [1].

#### Aim

To evaluate the change of the number of victims that suffered from electrical injuries in Lithuania from 2016 to 2020.

#### Methods

Data of study was used from the Health Information Center of the Institute of Hygiene and was calculated from the State Health Insurance Fund under the information system SVEIDRA of the Ministry of Health of Lithuania. Statistical methods - electrical injuries were analyzed and percentage was calculated each year during the study period. A comparison was made using the Chi-square criteria between the percentage distributions of electrical injuries during the study period. For verification of significance level, p<0.05 was chosen.



# Results

Analyzing the general trend of changes in electrical injuries during the study period, a decrease in the total number of electrical injuries is being observed from 23.38% up to 14.93% (p>0,05). In the age group of 0 to 17 years, a clear trend of a decrease in the total number of electrical injuries from 27.06% to 11.76% is being observed. In the group of girls, the number of electrical injuries decreased from 31.58% up to 13.16%. The number of electrical injuries in the group of boys decreased from 23.40% up to 10.64%. No statistically significant difference was found between genders (p>0.05). In the age group of 18 and more years, a clear trend of a decrease in the total number of electrical injuries from 22.22% up to 15.93% is also being observed. In the group of women, the number of injuries decreased from 28.30% up to 16.98%. In the group of men, the number of injuries decreased from 20.74% up to 15.67%. No statistically significant difference was found between genders (p>0.05).

# **Conclusions**

After analyzing the change in the number of electrical injuries in Lithuania from 2016 to 2020, it can be stated that a decrease in the number of electrical injuries is being observed. The reduction of electrical injuries is smaller in adults than in children. Preventing potential morbidity and mortality from electrical injuries can be achieved by strengthening safety compliance and raising social awareness.

- 1. Shih J.G., Shahrokhi S., Jeschke M.G. Review of adult electrical burn injury outcomes worldwide: an analysis of low-voltage versus high-voltage electrical injury. J Burn Care Res. 2017; 38:293–298.
- 2. Goyal D., Jagne N., Dhiman A., Patil V., Rattan A. High voltage electrical injuries: outcomes & 1-year follow-up from a level 1 trauma centre. Int J Burns Trauma. 2021; 11:115–122.
- 3. Meng C., Liu Y., Wang H., Sun Y., Lu S., Zhou Y. et al. Lower trapezius myocutaneous flap repairs adjacent deep electrical burn wounds. Eur J Med Res. 2020; 25:63.
- 4. Gurbuz K., Demir M. Patterns and outcomes of high-voltage versus low-voltage pediatric electrical injuries: an 8-year retrospective analysis of a tertiary-level burn center. J Burn Care Res. 2021;178.



## Impact of comorbidity on quality of life among hypertensive patients in LUHS KC Family Medical Clinic

#### **Authors**

#### Vaida Žitinevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Žymantė Grinevičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Ida Liseckienė

Department of Family Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno Klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Chronic diseases have a major influence on person's well-being and quality of life (QoL), and depending on chronic disease, it affects different aspects of life [1,2]. Increasing number of chronic conditions with arterial hypertension (AH) contribute to significant decrease in QoL [3]. Evaluated separately, heart failure (HF) lowers QoL more than other heart diseases [4], meanwhile non-complicated diabetes mellitus (DM) patients do not state any health problems [5], but complications [6] and comorbidity with three or more chronic conditions worsens QoL more than DM alone [7].

#### Aim

To evaluate if hypertensive patients' quality of life depends on concomitant chronic disease and what aspects of life are affected the most.

#### Methods

A cross-sectional study was carried out in LUHS Kaunas Clinics, Family Medical Clinic, where patients answered EQ-5D-5L questionnaire, which involves five dimensions (mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, anxiety/depression) [8]. Patients



evaluated their health out of 100 using Visual Analog Scale (EQVAS) and different dimensions out of 5 (where 1 stands for no problems, 5 indicates extreme problems). Inclusion criteria – patients that have AH and either DM (type 2) or HF, age 45-80. Total of 93 patients with AH and DM and 70 patients with AH and HF were involved in this study. Statistical analysis performed using IBM SPSS 27.0 and MS Excel, Man-Witney, Kruskal Wallis and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests were applied. Study approved by bioethics committee.

#### Results

Evaluating their health in EQVAS, AH with DM mean score was 62.42% (SD 16.17) and AH with HF - 57.24% (SD 15.26). Selfcare is the least affected dimension in both groups of patients whereas pain and discomfort dimension is affected the most. There was no statistical significance for patients OoL in 4 out of 5 dimensions comparing patients with DM and without (p>0.05), on the contrary, patients with HF had lower OoL in 4 out of 5 dimensions (p=0.00). Results show that patients with more than 2 comorbidities evaluate their health statistically significant worse than patients with only 2 comorbidities (AH and DM) (p=0.001). There was no significant difference between working patients and unemployed patients EQVAS score or affected dimensions, and education did not influence OoL (p>0.05). Although still working retiree were statistically significant less affected in self-care dimension that unemployed retirees in both: AH with CD and AH with CF patients (p=0.04; p=0.00). The age over 65 years significantly worsens AH with DM patients' mobility (p=0.02) and overall health (p=0.01) comparing with patients under 65 years old, but the same significance was not found in HF patients.

#### **Conclusions**

Multimorbidity worsens OoL and pain or discomfort is the most significant factor. AH combined with HF lowers patients' OoL significantly, whereas the age of the patient is significant factor for worse mobility and overall health when concomitant disease is DM.

- 1. Merino M, Villoro R, Hidalgo-Vega Á, Carmona C. Health-related quality of life of patients diagnosed with COPD in Extremadura, Spain: results from an observational study. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2019;17(1):1–10.
- 2. Parik PC, Patel VJ. Health-related quality of life of patients with type 2 diabetes



mellitus at a tertiary care hospital in India using EQ 5d 5L. Indian journal of endocrinology and metabolism. 2019;23(4):407.

- 3. Eliza W, Richard LY, Xu H, Cheung AWL. Health-related quality of life in elderly people with hypertension and the estimation of minimally important difference using EQ-5D-5L in Hong Kong SAR, China. The European Journal of Health Economics. 2020;21(6):869–79.
- 4. Aikaterini C, Tzikas S, Lavdaniti M. Assessment of Quality of Life in Patients With Cardiovascular Disease Using the SF-36, MacNew, and EQ-5D-5L Questionnaires. Cureus. 2021;13(9).
- 5. Abedini MR, Bijari, B, Miri Z et al. The quality of life of the patients with diabetes type 2 using EQ-5D-5 L in Birjand. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2020;18(18):1–9.
- 6. Ishii H, Takamura H, Nishioka Y, Langer J, Watanabe M, Kim HR, et al. Quality of life and utility values for cost-effectiveness modeling in Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Therapy. 2020;11(12):2931–43.
- 7. Yi Wong, Eliza Lai, Richard Huan Xu, Annie Wai ling Cheung. Measurement of health- related quality of life in patients with diabetes mellitus using EQ-5D-5L in Hong Kong, China. Quality of Life Research. 2020;29(7):1913–21.
- 8. EuroQol Research Foundation. EQ-5D-5L User Guide, 2019. Available from: https://euroqol.org/publications/user-guides.

# Conspiracy theories and opinions about the origin of pandemic in the student population of Latvia during the COVID-19 outbreak

#### **Authors**

#### Julija Vorobjova

Rīga Stradiņš University, Faculty of Medicine, Latvia

#### Konstantinos N. Fountoulakis

3rd Department of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece. Mental Health Section, Research Institute, Panhellenic Medical Association, Thessaloniki, Greece



#### **Daria Smirnova**

International Centre for Education and Research in Neuropsychiatry (ICERN), Samara State Medical University, Samara, Russia. Samara State Medical University, Department of Psychiatry, Narcology, Psychotherapy and Clinical Psychology

#### Jelena Vrublevska

Rīga Stradiņš University, Department of Psychiatry and Narcology

#### Introduction

During the pandemic fear and uncertainty about the future is a factor that can contribute to the development and belief in conspiracy theories about the origin of virus. Conspiracy theories have the potential to alter public opinion and can negatively impact opinion on health issues and preventive measures (1). Few studies have been conducted to show thoughts about the origin of the COVID-19 and belief in conspiracy theories in the student population.

#### Aim

The aim of this study was to identify the existence of conspiracy theories about the origin of the virus among the student population in Latvia during COVID-19 outbreak.

#### Methods

In this cross-sectional study, Latvian university and college students from various educational institutions and study programs, were asked to fill the self-report questionnaire electronically on a voluntary basis. Students' were classified into three groups depending on their studies, group A included health and biological sciences, group B technical sciences, group C arts, literature, education and related sciences (2). Study is based on a questionnaire developed as part of an international study. The questionnaire was developed to acknowledge students' thoughts and opinion about the origin of the pandemic and other health and public issues. Data were analysed using SPSS Statistics. Descriptive statistical analysis was used to evaluate the results.

#### Results

In total 1047 students filled the questionnaire; 79,08% (n=828) of the respondents were women, 20,25% (n=212) were men, 0,67% (n=7) of the respondents did not want to indicate their gender. The results show that 45,08% (n=472) of the students' believe that COVID-19 was created in a laboratory. Data reveal that 33,14% (n=347) of



respondents think that COVID-19 was created to be used as a biochemical weapon. Data indicate that 19,58% (n=205) of respondents think the recommended measures are an attempt to restrict human rights and lead to dictatorship. Numbers show that 52,54% (n=550) of students believe that many important pieces of information are deliberately hidden from the public for reasons of interest and 21,01% (n=220) of respondents think that vaccines in general are dangerous and should be avoided.

#### **Conclusions**

The present findings confirm that students tend to believe in conspiracy theories about pandemic. Almost one third of the respondents thought that COVID-19 was created as a biochemical weapon, about half of the respondents thoughts that government is hiding information about virus, such beliefs can escalate feeling of threat that the solutions introduced by the government may limit civil rights. A categorical stance against vaccines among students can be a coping mechanism against fear and uncertainty about the future. Further research to find out reasons and correlations why students believe in conspiracy theories about the pandemic needs to be done.

- Ferreira S, Campos C, Marinho B, Rocha S, Fonseca-Pedrero E, Barbosa Rocha N. What drives beliefs in COVID-19 conspiracy theories? The role of psychotic-like experiences and confinement-related factors. Social Science & Medicine [Internet]. 2022 [cited 28 Jan 2022];292:114611. Available from: <a href="https://www-sciencedirect-com.db.rsu.lv/science/article/pii/S0277953621009436">https://www-sciencedirect-com.db.rsu.lv/science/article/pii/S0277953621009436</a>
   DOI: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.so-cscimed.2021.114611">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.so-cscimed.2021.114611</a>
- 2. Patsali M, Mousa D, Papadopoulou E, Papadopoulou K, Kaparounaki C, Diakogiannis I et al. University students' changes in mental health status and determinants of behavior during the COVID-19 lockdown in Greece. Psychiatry Research [Internet]. 2020 [cited 28 Jan 2022];292:113298. Available from: <a href="https://www-sciencedirect-com.db.rsu.lv/science/article/pii/S0165178120319843">https://www-sciencedirect-com.db.rsu.lv/science/article/pii/S0165178120319843</a>
  DOI: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ps\_ychres.2020.113298">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ps\_ychres.2020.113298</a>



### The influence of sleep duration and quality on athletes: a systematic literature review

#### **Authors**

#### Austė Janušauskaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Povilas Valentukonis

Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Šiauliai Rehabilitation Centre, Šiauliai, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Sleep is an integral part of recovery and adaptation processes, and its prolonged duration and improved quality are associated with improved athlete performance and more successful competition in their field [5,11]. Longer and better sleep can reduce athletes' risk of injury and illness and help them participate more effectively in training and competition. Nevertheless, many studies show that athletes do not get enough recommended sleep, thus putting their health and sports performance at risk [4].

#### Aim

To review the most relevant publications on the effects of sleep duration and quality on athletes.

#### Methods

Systematic literature review was performed in PubMed databases published between years 2010 and 2021. During this period, interest in the subject grew and more research was made. MeSH was used for indexing articles with these keywords: Sleep deprivation+athletes. This systematic analysis reporting was adhered to the PRISMA Statement. 260 potentially important articles were identified and reviewed. Unavailable full articles were rejected, as well as those that investigated the effects of sleep deprivation on athletes only as one of the many factors influencing performance. After evaluating the titles and summaries of the articles, 11 articles were included in this study.



#### Results

The sleep requirement of adults is 7-9 hours, but 9-10 hours of sleep is recommended forathletes due to the need for complete recovery after training [3]. However, research reveals that the sleep of professional athletes is shorter and of poorer quality compared to the general population [1,9]. Lack of sleep causes the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, which impairs the function of the immune system, prevents muscle recovery, leads to autonomic imbalance, resulting in slower and less accurate cognitive function as a decision-making [2,5]. Impaired neurocognitive function is perhaps the most important effect of poor sleep on an athlete's performance in competitions where quick decisions must be made. Impairment of response time and cognitive function after lack of sleep may predispose to acute injury [7].

Simple sleep hygiene can prolong the sleep time of athletes and increase sleep productivity [6,10]. If the athlete is unable to get enough sleep at night, a changeover sleep the next day may be helpful [7]. If sleep deprivation is anticipated, "sleep accumulation" (intentional prolongation of sleep due to anticipated sleep deprivation) is recommended to improve an athlete's performance [8]. Based on current research, most agree that an optimal sleep prolongation is 2 hours [9].

#### **Conclusions**

Prolonging sleep and optimizing its quality improves reaction time, accuracy, endurance. The effects on anaerobic capacity, strength, and sprint speed are less clear and remain an important area for future research. Sports medicine physicians and training staff should prioritize proper scheduling, travel protocols, sleep hygiene, as this improves the overall health and performance of athletes.

- 1. Halson SL, Juliff LE. Sleep, sport, and the brain. Prog Brain Res. 2017;234:13-31. doi: 10.1016/bs.pbr.2017.06.006. Epub 2017 Jul 17. PMID: 29031461.
- 2. Vitale KC, Owens R, Hopkins SR, Malhotra A. Sleep Hygiene for Optimizing Recovery in Athletes: Review and Recommendations. Int J Sports Med. 2019 Aug;40(8):535-543. doi: 10.1055/a-0905-3103. Epub 2019 Jul 9. PMID: 31288293; PMCID: PMC6988893.
- 3. Mukherjee S, Patel SR, Kales SN, Ayas NT, Strohl KP, Gozal D, Malhotra A. American thoracic society ad hoc committee on healthy sleep. An official american thoracic society statement: the importance of healthy sleep. Recommendations and future priorities. Am JRespir Crit Care Med 2015; 191:



1450-1458.

- 4. Knowles OE, Drinkwater EJ, Urwin CS, Lamon S, Aisbett B. Inadequate sleep and muscle strength: Implications for resistance training. J Sci Med Sport. 2018 Sep;21(9):959-968. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2018.01.012. Epub 2018 Feb 2. PMID: 29422383.
- 5. Bolin DJ. Sleep Deprivation and Its Contribution to Mood and Performance Deterioration in College Athletes. Curr Sports Med Rep. 2019 Aug;18(8):305-310. doi: 10.1249/JSR.0000000000000001. PMID: 31389873.
- 6. Van Ryswyk E, Weeks R, Bandick L, O'Keefe M, Vakulin A, Catcheside P, Barger L, Potter A, Poulos N, Wallace J, Antic NA. A novel sleep optimisation programme to improve athletes' well-being and performance. Eur J Sport Sci 2017; 17: 144–151.
- 7. P von Rosen P, Frohm A, Kottorp A, et al. Multiple factors explain injury risk in adolescent elite athletes: applying a biopsychosocial perspective. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports. 2017.
- 8. Arnal PJ, Lapole T, Erblang M, Guillard M, Bourrilhon C, Leger D, Chennaoui M, Millet GY. Sleep extension before sleep loss: Effects on performance and neuromuscular function. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2016; 48: 1595–1603.
- 9. Gupta L, Morgan K, Gilchrist S. Does elite sport degrade sleep quality? A systematic review. Sports Med. 2016.
- 10. UCSD Center for Pulmonary and Sleep Medicine. Sleep Hygiene Patient Information Handout [Brochure]. San Diego, CA: University of California San Diego; 2017. Watson AM. Sleep and Athletic Performance. Curr Sports Med Rep. 2017 Nov/Dec;16(6):413-418. doi: 10.1249/JSR.000000000000018. PMID: 29135639.

### Trends in esophageal cancer mortality in Lithuania, 2001-2020

#### **Authors**

#### Vita Karpavičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Aleksandr Marchockij



Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Over the last few decades, the incidence of esophageal cancer has increased dramatically in the Western world (1). According to GLOBOCAN 2018 data, esophageal cancer is the ninth most common cancer worldwide and the sixth most deadly (2). Esophageal cancer is characterized by high mortality, poor prognosis at diagnosis (5-year overall survival is only about 10%) and local variability (3). However, mortality trends by sex, age and place of residence in Lithuania have not been analyzed in detail so far. This type of research is useful for increasing the vigilance of doctors when examining at-risk individuals, as well as for assessing and reducing health inequalities between counties.

#### Aim

The aim of this study was to assess the mortality from esophageal cancer by sex, age and the place of residence in Lithuania during 2001-2020.

#### Methods

A secondary data analysis was performed. Age-standardized data on esophageal cancer mortality (ICD-10 code C15) per 100 000 inhabitants in Lithuania during 2001-2020 were obtained from the Institute of Hygiene, where data were systematized from the Compulsory Health Insurance Information System. Changes in mortality trends by sex, age and the place of residence were assessed using Joinpoint regression (4). Data analysis was conducted using SPSS Statistics 25.0. The correlation between age and mortality was estimated with Spearman correlation ( $\rho$ ).

#### Results

In 2020, the overall mortality rate for esophageal cancer in Lithuania was  $7.84/100\,000$  population. Over the entire study period, men had a higher mortality rate than women, although the difference has slightly decreased over the last two decades: the ratio between men and women has decreased from 9.8:1 in 2001 to 6.6:1 in 2020. However, mortality rates are increasing in both sexes, with an average increase of 2.7% per year in men (p<0.001), and 4.1% per year (p<0.001) in women. The highest mortality rate for



men was in the 65-84 age group (average 16.3/100~000), while the highest mortality rate for women was in the 85+ age group (average 6.7/100~000). The study showed that older age was positively correlated with higher mortality ( $\rho$  =0.9; p=0.037). In 2020, the highest mortality rates for esophageal cancer were in Tauragė, Telšiai and Marijampolė districts, and the lowest in Vilnius, Panevėžys and Alytus districts. During 2001-2020, the highest increase in mortality was observed in Tauragė (7.85% p.a.), Telšiai (5.04% p.a.) and Marijampolė (4.53% p.a.), p<0.001, the growth was slightly lower in Klaipėda, Kaunas, Šiauliai and Panevėžys (p<0.001), while no significant changes were observed in Vilnius, Alytus and Utena, p>0.05.

#### **Conclusions**

The results show that mortality from esophageal cancer is much higher in men than in women, although the gender gap has narrowed slightly in recent years due to a faster increase in female mortality. Also, it was observed, that higher mortality was positively correlated with older age and mortality is steadily increasing in most districts of Lithuania.

- Huang FL, Yu SJ. Esophageal cancer: Risk factors, genetic association, and treatment. Asian Journal of Surgery [Internet]. 2018 May 1 [cited 2022 Mar 13];41(3):210–5.
   Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1015958416302019?via% 3Dih ub
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians [Internet].
   Nov 1 [cited 2022 Feb 2];68(6):394–424. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.3322/caac.21492
- 3. Uhlenhopp DJ, Then EO, Sunkara T, Gaduputi V. Epidemiology of esophageal cancer: update in global trends, etiology and risk factors. Clinical Journal of Gastroenterology 2020 13:6 [Internet]. 2020 Sep 23 [cited 2022 Feb 2];13(6):1010–21. Available from: <a href="https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12328-020-01237-x">https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12328-020-01237-x</a>
- 4. Joinpoint Regression Program, Version 4.8.0.1 April 2020; Statistical Methodology and Applications Branch, Surveillance Research Program, National Cancer Institute [cited 2022 Mar 13]. Available from: https://surveillance.cancer.gov/joinpoint/



### Screening tools for child abuse used in primary health care: a systematic literature review

#### **Authors**

#### Andra Kerševičiūtė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### leva Čalkaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Kristina Lazaravičienė

Department of Family Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kauno Klinikos, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Child abuse is a widespread public health problem that involves physical, emotional abuse, sexual assault, and neglect against children [1,2]. Considering that early detection can stop child abuse and help to limit long-term effects, primary health care physicians are thought key figures in recognizing it [3,4]. There are different screening tools for child abuse; however, there is no consensus on the best screening method. This review focus on presenting different child abuse screening methods used in primary health care.

#### Aim

To appraise the variety of children under 18 years old abuse screening tools used in primary health care.

#### Methods

A systematic literature review was performed according to the PRISMA guidelines. Electronic databases used: PubMed, Science Direct. A combination of keywords: child abuse, child maltreatment, child neglect, screening tools, instrument, screening, measurement, tool, scale, questionnaire, primary health care, general practitioner, were



used. Keywords were confirmed by the Medical Subject Headings dictionary and possible synonyms for the keywords were found. The inclusion criteria: full-text articles in the English language, screening tools designed for use by primary healthcare professionals, research subjects - children under 18 years old screened for abuse. Studies published before 2012, meta-analysis, systematic or literature reviews, case reports were excluded. 6464 articles were found. Selection criteria were applied and 56 studies were selected forfull-text analysis, 9 of them were included in this review. Last search date-2022 02 10. The COSMIN checklist was used to conduct the literature review, and GRADE was adopted to evaluate the quality of evidence of the measurement properties and formulate results.

#### Results

Articles were first screened independently by 2 researchers. 9 publications met the inclusion criteria, and 9 screening tools were selected for further analysis [5-13]. The scales used in the 9 studies consisted of 5-31 questions. Almost all tools are designed to screen physical abuse, minority-for emotional abuse screening. The first group of screening tools is focused on interviews, physical examination, visual findings, the mechanism of injury. Tools assigned into this category: INTOVIAN, BuRN-Tool, Escape, CST risk factor questions, and SPUTOVAMO-R [5-9]. The second group of screening tools (ERPANS, PedHITSS, IPARAN) might be characterized as assessing the parental risk: self- reporting behavior, diseases, or evaluation of home environment [10-12]. The last group is similar to the first one but instrumental examination takes part in injury mechanism evaluation (FIND) [13].

#### **Conclusions**

- 1) 9 child abuse screening tools were used in studies in 2012-2022.
- 2) Most of the scales are relatively short-up to 10 questions.
- 3) Child abuse screening tools focusing on physical abuse and neglect; there is a lack of emotional and sexual assault screening tools; however one tool appropriate for all types of abuse screening not detected.

#### References

1. Louwers ECFM, Korfage IJ, Affourtit MJ, Scheewe DJH, Van De Merwe MH, Vooijs- Moulaert FAFSR, et al. Detection of child abuse in emergency departments: a multi-centre study. Arch Dis Child. 2011 May;96(5):422.



- 2. Talsma M, Boström KB, Ostberg AL. Facing suspected child abuse what keeps Swedish general practitioners from reporting to child protective services? Scand J Prim Health Care. 2015 Mar 1;33(1):21.
- 3. Kuruppu J, Forsdike K, Hegarty K. 'It's a necessary evil': Experiences and perceptions of mandatory reporting of child abuse in Victorian general practice. Aust J Gen Pract. 2018 Oct 1;47(10):729–33.
- 4. Louwers ECFM, Affourtit MJ, Moll HA, De Koning HJ, Korfage IJ. Screening for child abuse at emergency departments: A systematic review. Arch Dis Child. 2010 Mar;95(3):214–8.
- 5. Ezpeleta L, Pérez-Robles R, Fanti KA, et al. Development of a screening tool enabling identification of infants and toddlers at risk of family abuse and neglect: a feasibility study from three South European countries. Child Care Health Dev. 2017;43(1):75-80. doi:10.1111/cch.12416
- 6. Kemp AM, Hollén L, Emond AM, Nuttall D, Rea D, Maguire S. Raising suspicion of maltreatment from burns: Derivation and validation of the BuRN-Tool. Burns. 2018;44(2):335-343. doi:10.1016/j.burns.2017.08.018
- 7. Louwers EC, Korfage IJ, Affourtit MJ, et al. Accuracy of a screening instrument to identify potential child abuse in emergency departments. Child Abuse Negl. 2014;38(7):1275-1281. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.11.005
- 8. Sittig JS, Uiterwaal CS, Moons KG, et al. Value of systematic detection of physical child abuse at emergency rooms: a cross-sectional diagnostic accuracy study. BMJ Open. 2016;6(3):e010788. Published 2016 Mar 22. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010788
- 9. Greenbaum VJ, Livings MS, Lai BS, et al. Evaluation of a Tool to Identify Child Sex Trafficking Victims in Multiple Healthcare Settings. J Adolesc Health. 2018;63(6):745-752.doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.06.032
- 10. Schols MWA, Serie CMB, Broers NJ, de Ruiter C. Factor analysis and predictive validity of the Early Risks of Physical Abuse and Neglect Scale (ERPANS): A prospective study in Dutch public youth healthcare. Child Abuse Negl. 2019;88:71-83. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.10.011
- 11. Shakil A, Day PG, Chu J, Woods SB, Bridges K. PedHITSS: A Screening Tool to Detect Childhood Abuse in Clinical Settings. Fam Med. 2018;50(10):763-769. doi:10.22454/FamMed.2018.778329
- 12. van der Put CE, Bouwmeester-Landweer MBR, Landsmeer-Beker EA, et al. Screening for potential child maltreatment in parents of a newborn baby: The predictive validity of an Instrument for early identification of Parents At Risk



for child Abuse and Neglect (IPARAN). Child Abuse Negl. 2017;70:160-168. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.05.016

13. Paek SH, Jung JH, Kwak YH, et al. Development of screening tool for child abuse in the korean emergency department: Using modified Delphi study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018;97(51):e13724. doi:10.1097/MD.0000000000013724

### Association between study load of the high school graduates and subjective mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic

#### **Authors**

#### **Arminas Zizas**

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Austėja Judickaitė

Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Olga Meščeriakova

Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Academy, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

#### Introduction

Studying in schools during the COVID-19 quarantine took place through remote connection. Studies show that quarantine can affect not only academic performance but also emotional and mental health [1]. There are high prevalence rates of mental health symptoms between students which are associated with social isolation, lack of information about mental health, and symptoms compatible with COVID-19 [2]. We carried out a study on the association between the study load of the high school graduates and subjective mental health problems during the COVID-19 pandemic.



#### Aim

The aim of the study was to evaluate the association between the learning load and subjective mental health of the fourth-grade students in two gymnasiums of Ukmerge.

#### Methods

A survey was conducted from December 2020 to January 2021. Fourth-grade students in two schools of Ukmerge were interviewed using an anonymous questionnaire. The permission was granted by the school principals as well as the bioethics committee. During this time lessons took place remotely, so the questionnaires were distributed by the school principals via digital school diary. 172 students were invited to participate in the study. A total of 119 questionnaires were filled out by the students, of which 87 questionnaires were suitable for the study (response rate – 72%) - 67.8% of the respondents were female, 32.2% were male. Mental health was evaluated using questions from the Behavioural Risk Factor Surveillance System and Eysenck Personality questionnaires. Data analysis was performed using the SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) version 24.0. The chi-square ( $\chi$ 2) criteria, the z-criteria, and the Spearman correlation coefficient (r) were calculated.

#### Results

The workload of students after school is too high, on average students spend from 16 to 22 hours per week on homework. However, the difference in the time spent doing homework between female and male students was not statistically significant. Most students name their study load after school as moderate (40.2%) or high (46%). In addition, the mental health of the students was observed. Stress and anxiety, felt by the female students over a 2-week period distributed to 3–4 days (23.7%), 5–6 days (27.1%), and 7 or more days (23.7%), while male students over the 2-week period experienced stress and anxiety 3–4 days (21.4%) and 7 or more days (42.9%). Lastly, the association between study load and subjective mental health (feeling depressed, stressed, tired) was evaluated and the results showed a statistically significant, moderate correlation between study load and the following: feeling depressed (r = 0.314), stressed, or anxious (r = 0.42), tired (r = 0.393), P < 0.05.



#### **Conclusions**

The study load of students after school is higher than recommended. Respondents often feel stress, anxiety at school. There was a statistically significant moderate correlation between study load during the COVID-19 period and subjective mental health derangements.

- 1. Luo M, Guo L, Yu M, Jiang W, Wang H. The psychological and mental impact of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) on medical staff and general public A systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychiatry Res. 2020;291:113190.
- 2. Wathelet M, Duhem S, Vaiva G, et al. Factors Associated With Mental Health Disorders Among University Students in France Confined During the COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(10):e2025591.